

### Influence des conditions de Robin sur le spectre du Laplacien magnétique

Rayan Fahs

#### ▶ To cite this version:

Rayan Fahs. Influence des conditions de Robin sur le spectre du Laplacien magnétique. Mathématiques générales [math.GM]. Université d'Angers, 2023. Français. NNT: 2023ANGE0015. tel-04316534

### HAL Id: tel-04316534 https://theses.hal.science/tel-04316534

Submitted on 30 Nov 2023

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



## THÈSE DE DOCTORAT

DE L'UNIVERSITÉ D'ANGERS Sous le sceau de LA COMUE ANGERS-LE MANS

ÉCOLE DOCTORALE N° 641 Mathématiques et Sciences et Technologies de l'Information et de la Communication Spécialité : Mathématiques et leurs interactions

Par

## **Rayan FAHS**

## Influence des conditions de Robin sur le spectre du Laplacien magnétique

Thèse présentée et soutenue à l'Université d'Angers, le 12 Juillet 2023 Unité de recherche : LAREMA, UMR CNRS 6093

#### Rapporteurs avant soutenance :

M. Jean-Marc BOUCLETProfesseur des Universités, Université Paul SabatierM. Philippe BRIETProfesseur des Universités, Université de Toulon

#### **Composition du Jury :**

Présidente : Examinateurs :	Mme. Clotilde FERMANIAN KAMMERER M. Jean-Marc BOUCLET M. Philippe BRIET Mme. Sonia FLISS	Professeur des Universités, Université Paris-Est Créteil Professeur des Universités, Université Paul Sabatier Professeur des Universités, Université de Toulon Professeur, ENSTA Paris	
Dir. de thèse : Co-dir. de thèse :	M. Yannick GUEDES BONTHONNEAU M. Frédéric HÉRAU M. Nicolas RAYMOND M. Ayman KACHMAR	Chargé de Recherche CNRS, Université Paris 13 Professeur des Universités, Université de Nantes Professeur des Universités, Université d'Angers Professeur des Universités, Université Libanaise	

#### Influence des conditions de Robin sur le spectre du Laplacien magnétique

**Résumé :** Cette thèse concerne l'étude spectrale dans le régime semi-classique de l'opérateur de Schrödinger en présence d'un champ magnétique sur un domaine borné et régulier avec condition de Robin au bord. L'objectif est de décrire l'influence des conditions de Robin sur le spectre magnétique lorsque le paramètre semi-classique tend vers zéro et lorsque le champ magnétique joue un rôle majeur en concurrence avec la condition de Robin. La description précise des éléments propres passe par la compréhension de différents opérateurs modèles.

Dans la première partie, lorsque le champ magnétique est d'intensité modérée et dans la limite du couplage fort, on montre que les valeurs propres du Laplacien de Robin sont bien approchées par celles d'un opérateur de Schrödinger périodique 1D sur la frontière. Lorsque la courbure a un unique maximum non dégénéré, on estime l'écart spectral entre les valeurs propres successives. Dans le cas du disque, on révèle explicitement la contribution du champ magnétique sur la première valeur propre.

Dans la deuxième partie, on étudie l'effet de Stark en toutes les dimensions. On considère l'opérateur de Laplace avec un champ électrique fort et uniforme et des conditions de Dirichlet sur le bord d'un domaine borné et régulier. Dans la limite du champ électrique fort, on dérive, sous certaines conditions de convexité locale, une description précise des valeurs propres et des fonctions propres associées.

Dans la troisième partie, lorsque le champ magnétique est plus intense, et dans la limite semiclassique, en utilisant la méthode de Grushin et les outils d'analyse microlocale, on établit une description uniforme du spectre du Laplacien magnétique de Robin situé entre les niveaux de Landau, incluant les Laplaciens de Neumann et Dirichlet. De plus, on examine les propriétés de localisation des états fondamentaux. Les estimations ressemblent à celles d'Agmon, mais elles ne sont pas obtenues par des moyens variationnels comme c'est le cas dans de nombreux contextes magnétiques.

**Mots-clés :** Théorie spectrale, Analyse microlocale, Limite semiclassique, Laplacien magnétique, Condition de Robin, Estimation d'Agmon.

#### Influence of Robin's conditions on the spectrum of the magnetic Laplacian

**Abstract :** This thesis concerns the spectral study in the semiclassical regime of the Schrödinger operator in the presence of a magnetic field on a bounded and regular domain with the Robin condition at the boundary. The aim is to describe the influence of the Robin conditions on the magnetic spectrum when the semiclassical parameter tends to zero and when the magnetic field plays an important role in competition with the Robin condition. The precise description of the eigenpairs requires an understanding of effective operators.

In the first part, when the magnetic field is of moderate intensity, we show that the eigenvalues of the Robin Laplacian are well approximated by those of a 1D periodic Schrödinger operator on the boundary. When the curvature has a unique maximum that is not degenerate, we estimate the spectral gap between successive eigenvalues. In the case of the disk, we explicitly display the contribution of the magnetic field to the first eigenvalue.

In the second part, we study the Stark effect in any dimension. We consider the Laplace operator with a strong and uniform electric field and Dirichlet conditions at the boundary of a bounded and regular domain. In the limit of the strong electric field, under certain local convexity conditions, we derive an asymptotic expansion of the low-lying eigenvalues at any order and also study the localization of the ground states.

In the third part, when the magnetic field is stronger, and in the semiclassical limit, we establish a uniform description of the spectrum between the Landau levels, of the magnetic Laplacians including the Neumann and Dirichlet Laplacians, using the Grushin method and microlocal analysis tools. We also investigate the localization properties of the ground states. The estimates look like Agmon's estimates, but they are not obtained via variational methods, as is the case in many magnetic settings.

**Keywords :** Spectral theory, Microlocal analysis, Semiclassical limit, Magnetic Laplacian, Robin condition, Agmon estimates.

" L'apprentissage est la seule chose que l'esprit n'épuise jamais, ne craint jamais et ne regrette jamais."

Léonard de Vinci

"Nous devons savoir, et nous saurons."

David Hilbert

À mes parents,

À ma famille,

À Mahdi,

## Remerciements

Je tiens à exprimer ma profonde gratitude à toutes les personnes qui ont contribué à l'élaboration de cette thèse. Leur soutien et leur collaboration tout au long de mon parcours de recherche ont été inestimables.

Mes premiers remerciements s'adressent bien sûr à Nicolas Raymond. Je suis heureuse et fière d'avoir travaillé ces trois années sous ta direction. Je te remercie pour ton attention de tous les instants sur mes travaux, pour tes conseils avisés et ton écoute qui a été prépondérante pour la bonne réussite de cette thèse. Merci beaucoup de m'avoir suivie pendant le master puis pendant ces trois années de thèse. Je te remercie également pour la confiance que tu m'as témoignée tout au long de ces années et pour tous tes conseils et remarques constructives. Grâce à tes qualités scientifiques, tu m'as donné l'envie d'aller plus loin et de connaître la richesse du métier d'enseignante-chercheuse. Je tiens aussi à te remercier de l'opportunité que tu m'as donnée d'aller en Allemagne, en France et en Italie pour participer à d'importantes conférences sur la théorie spectrale et pour m'avoir permis d'y exposer mes travaux. Ce fut une expérience vraiment très enrichissante. J'ai beaucoup appris à tes côtés et je t'adresse ma gratitude pour tout cela.

J'adresse aussi de chaleureux remerciements à mon co-directeur de thèse, Ayman Kachmar. Merci pour ton encadrement, ton expertise et ta patience. J'ai pu apprécier ta disponibilité au travers de tes observations, tes questions, tes remarques, et ta rigueur scientifique qui m'ont permis de mener à bien ce travail. Merci pour tout ce que tu m'as appris.

J'adresse aussi mes plus vifs remerciements à Jean-Marc Bouclet, ainsi qu'à Philippe Briet, pour l'honneur qu'ils m'ont fait en acceptant d'être rapporteurs de ma thèse et pour le temps consacré à la lecture de mes travaux ainsi que pour leurs remarques qui ont permis d'améliorer la qualité de ce mémoire. Je tiens à leur exprimer mes remerciements pour l'honneur qu'ils me font en participant à ce jury. Je tiens également à exprimer ma reconnaissance envers les membres de mon jury de thèse : Clotilde Fermanian Kammerer, Sonia Fliss, Yannick Guedes Bonthonneau et Frédéric Hérau, pour avoir accepté de participer à ma soutenance de thèse. C'est un honneur et un privilège pour moi de pouvoir soutenir ma thèse devant vous. Je remercie également Fabien Panloup et Fréderic Hérau pour avoir accepté de faire parti de mon comité de suivi de thèse. Leurs remarques constructives et leurs précieux commentaires ont grandement enrichi mes travaux.

Je suis très reconnaissante d'avoir pu faire ma thèse et mon service d'enseignement à l'Université d'Angers. Je souhaite remercier chaleureusement tous mes amis et collègues du LAREMA (Laboratoire Angevin de Recherche en Mathématiques) de l'Université d'Angers, pour leur aide, leur soutien et leur gentillesse. Je souhaite également les remercier pour la confiance dont ils ont fait preuve à mon égard en me laissant m'impliquer au sein de la vie collective de l'équipe. Qu'ils soient tous assurés de ma plus profonde gratitude et estime. Un grand merci à mes co-bureaux Thomas, Théo J., Ouriel, Zhilin et Théo B. pour l'ambiance au bureau; j'ai pris plaisir à discuter à la fois de mathématiques plus générales, car vos sujets de recherche sont très différents des miens, et de sujets plus divers. Merci à vous d'avoir fait de ce bureau un endroit agréable et studieux. Merci à Théo J. pour son aide quant aux questions administratives de début de thèse. Je remercie Mohamed (Maître Latex !) : ce fut un plaisir de pouvoir discuter plus précisément de nos thèmes de recherche. Merci à toi, Thomas et Théo B. pour les discussions mathématiques passionnées et passionnantes

et pour les délicieuses pâtisseries après vos séminaires des doctorant.es. Merci à Zhilin de m'avoir fait découvrir les gâteaux chinois. Je remercie également Maxime et Antoine pour leur aide dans les démarches administratives liées à la soutenance de ma thèse. Merci à Maha A. et à Salima pour les magnifiques moments passés au labo pendant ma deuxième année de thèse et pour toutes les sorties touristiques à Angers. Je remercie également Aurore, Clément, Eric, Eunice, François, Mathieu, Santiago, et Thibault. Bonne chance à tous pour vos continuations que ce soit dans la fin de doctorat, la recherche, l'enseignement ou l'entreprise, mais aussi et particulièrement dans vos vies personnelles. Je tenais à prendre un moment pour exprimer ma profonde gratitude envers les permanents du laboratoire avec qui j'ai eu la chance d'enseigner. Merci pour vos expertises, et vos précieux conseils qui m'ont aidée à améliorer mes propres compétences pédagogiques. Merci, en particulier à la directrice du département de mathématiques, Hélène Maynadier-Gervais. Je tiens à remercier également toute l'équipe du département de mathématiques pour avoir rendu ces trois années si agréables. En particulier, je remercie vivement Moha pour son temps précieux investi dans la discussion, notamment sur la biologie et les systèmes humains. J'ai beaucoup appris avec toi, notamment sur les moyens de me détendre, ce qui m'a beaucoup aidé face à des circonstances difficiles. Merci à Abdallah pour nos discussions enrichissantes à la salle de pause sur le monde de la recherche. Je tiens à exprimer ma gratitude aux informaticiens Jacquelin Charbonnel et François Ducrot, pour leur réactivité à mes questions. François Ducrot, je vous envoie mes prières pour que votre âme soit en paix. J'exprime plus généralement ma gratitude à tous ceux que j'ai croisés là-bas, où j'ai passé de belles années.

Je remercie Alexandra Le Petitcorps pour son aide sans faille, son travail efficace et rapide, pour la réservation des billets d'avion et de train, des nuits d'hôtel pour nos différents déplacements pour les séminaires et conférences. Je remercie aussi Rahma Benaly et Vanessa Rodriguez pour tout leur travail et leur aide pour mes divers problèmes administratifs.

Lors de ma thèse, j'ai eu l'occasion de participer à des conférences et séminaires à Nantes, Bordeaux, Marseille, Oldenburg, Lyon, Orléans, Milan, Rennes, Toulouse, Dijon et Beyrouth, dont certains où j'ai eu la chance de pouvoir présenter mes travaux. J'aimerais adresser un remerciement tout particulier à Bernard Helffer pour les discussions enrichissantes et très profitables à Nantes et Oldenburg. Je suis également très reconnaisante à Vincent Bruneau pour m'avoir invitée au séminaire de physique mathématique et EDP de l'université de Bordeaux. Merci à toi ainsi qu'à Jean-François Bony pour les discussions vraiment intéressantes. Merci à Vincent Bruneau et à Sonia Fliss pour leurs cours à Marseille. Je remercie également Julien Royer pour l'intérêt qu'il a porté à mes travaux. Merci à toutes les personnes qui ont organisé un séminaire ou une conférence à laquelle j'ai participé. Je voudrais remercier tous les mathématiciens que j'ai eu l'occasion de rencontrer et qui m'ont aidée par leurs conseils et leur expertise à me faire découvrir le monde de la recherche. Merci au CHL pour le financement des Rencontres Doctorales, dont j'ai eu la chance d'être membre du comité scientifique et d'organisation en deuxième année de doctorat. Ces rencontres sont vraiment l'occasion de connaître des doctorants du même domaine ou d'autres domaines des mathématiques, et d'échanger des idées dans nos domaines respectifs. Merci au GDR DynQua Quantum Dynamics de m'avoir aidée à aller à une conférence en Allemagne. Merci à Nicolas Raymond et Clotilde Fermanian Kammerer pour avoir financé mes séjours à Marseille et Orléans grâce à leurs projets IUF et High Frequency Analysis (HiFrAn). Je pense bien sûr au Département de Mathématiques et à l'École Doctorale, notamment pour m'avoir permis de participer à ces conférences. Merci en particulier au directeur du LAREMA, Laurent Meersseman, de m'avoir permis d'assister à autant de conférences.

Au-delà du champ universitaire, je suis remplie de reconnaissance pour toutes ces amitiés qui me portent depuis des années. Je souhaite remercier Zeinab K. et Maha A. pour l'attention et le soin que vous m'avez porté depuis mon arrivée à Nantes qui m'ont été tellement précieux. Merci pour vos amitiés qui furent d'une grande aide et pour m'avoir fait croiser la route d'Hala G. Un grand merci à toi Hala G., pour tes précieux conseils, ton aide et ton appui à tous les niveaux. Merci pour tous les bons moments touristiques partagés ensemble à

Nantes ainsi qu'avec Mahdi, Fakhri, Khaled et Ahmad A. Merci à Mahdi et à Khaled pour les magnifiques moments que nous avons passés ensemble à Nantes durant le Master 2. Bonne chance à vous dans la fin de vos doctorats. Je souhaite également remercier tous mes amis à Bordeaux. Je remercie particulièrement Hassan Léna et Zahraa pour les moments précieux inoubliables passés ensemble. Merci à vous et à Mahdi de m'inciter à découvrir de nouveaux plats délicieux à Bordeaux. Merci à Hala et Marwa (et Ali) pour les innombrables bons moments passés avec eux à Bordeaux. Merci à Hala qui m'a poussée à découvrir de nouvelles recettes de desserts, tu es vraiment une cheffe ! Je souhaite exprimer ma reconnaissance pour les moments de détente et de divertissement que nous avons partagés tout au long de cette période intense. Merci à Aya et Kassem pour leur générosité et leur gentillesse. Merci pour ces moments de pâtisserie mémorables. Merci à Badreddine de m'avoir accueillie à Oldenburg et pour le merveilleux moment que nous avons passé ensemble avec Mahdi à Bordeaux. La lutte entre nous concernant Dirac et Schrödinger continue même si je termine mon doctorat :). Un merci particulier à Thomas N. pour le temps passé au CIRM et les discussions scientifiques intéressantes, je te souhaite une bonne fin de thèse et une bonne chance pour ton post-doc à Nantes. Merci à Ahmad (et Fatima) pour tous les bons moments passés aussi avec Mahdi sur le quai de la rivière au Liban. Merci à mes camarades de lycée et d'université qui m'ont suivie pendant longtemps, bien que nos routes aient pris des chemins différents. En particulier, je remercie Maha K. pour sa bonne humeur. Merci à Chourouk, Nour R. et Zeinab T. pour les différentes discussions téléphoniques relaxantes. Je vous souhaite beaucoup de succès dans vos recherches ainsi qu'à Gaëlle et Sara.

Je remercie de tout cœur ma famille et plus particulièrement mes parents. Je tiens à exprimer ma profonde gratitude et mes sincères remerciements à mon père Hassan et ma mère Lina qui ont su croire en moi et qui m'ont apporté toute leur aide quand j'en ai eu besoin. Leur amour, encouragement et soutien constants ont été les piliers sur lesquels je me suis appuyée tout au long de ces trois années. Aucun mot ne suffira à dire combien je vous suis reconnaissante. Je remercie également toute ma famille qui a contribué de près ou de loin à ce que je suis devenue. Merci à mes frères : Abed, Mohamad et Ali et mes sœurs : Khadija, Malak et Nour pour leurs encouragements, leur soutien inconditionnel qui sont une source de motivation et de bonheur. Vos sourires, vos blagues et vos gestes d'affection ont allégé mes journées chargées. Je leurs adresse toute ma gratitude du fond du cœur. Je tiens à exprimer ma sincère gratitude et mes plus chaleureux remerciements à la famille Zreik. Vous avez été une véritable source d'énergie et d'encouragement. Ce que je vous dois dépasse largement ce que je peux exprimer par des mots. Je voudrais adresser tout mon amour à Ahmad, Amira, Marwa et Fatima qui n'ont cessé d'être à mes côtés. Merci pour les moments de joie, de réussite et de bonheur partagés ensemble.

Que cette thèse soit un hommage à mon cher Mahdi pour son soutien quotidien indéfectible et son amour. Merci de m'avoir supportée moi et mon stress en cette fin de doctorat, ta présence à mes côtés rend tout beaucoup plus simple. Merci pour la joie et la bonne humeur que tu as apportées à ma vie. Merci pour ton enthousiasme contagieux à l'égard de mes travaux ainsi que dans la vie en général. Merci de me soutenir de tout cœur. Cette thèse te doit beaucoup plus que tu ne saurais l'imaginer. Mille mercis !

Bien entendu, cette liste n'est pas exhaustive. Que tous ceux qui n'ont pas été cités nommément trouvent ici l'expression de mes remerciements et de ma sincère gratitude.

Merci encore à vous tous ainsi qu'à tous ceux que j'aurais pu oublier.

Rayan Fahs.

## **Table of Contents**

1	Intro	oductio	n générale		17
	1.1	Motivation physique et présentation générale			17
		1.1.1	Première	motivation: théorie de la supraconductivité	17
		1.1.2	Une autre	e motivation	18
			1.1.2.1	Hamiltonien de Stark	19
			1.1.2.2	Laplacien magnétique	20
	1.2	Présen	tation déta	illée: objectifs de la thèse et résultats connus	20
		1.2.1	Laplacier	n magnétique de Robin	20
			1.2.1.1	Cas du champ magnétique modéré et condition de Robin attractive	22
			1.2.1.2	Cas du champ magnétique plus intense et condition de Robin générale	25
		1.2.2	Hamilton	nien de Stark	27
	1.3	Résulta	ats obtenus	et idées de démonstrations	29
		1.3.1	Perturbat	ions magnétiques du Laplacien de Robin dans la limite du couplage fort	
			(chapitre	3)	30
			1.3.1.1	Présentation des résultats	30
			1.3.1.2	Stratégie de la démonstration	32
		semi-classique des opérateurs de Schrödinger avec des potentiels électriques			
			linéaires	sur un domaine borné (chapitre 4)	33
			1.3.2.1	Présentation des résultats	33
			1.3.2.2	Stratégie de la démonstration	35
		1.3.3	États de b	bord pour le Laplacien magnétique de Robin (chapitre 5)	36
			1.3.3.1	Opérateur de de Gennes avec condition de Robin	36
			1.3.3.2	Présentation des résultats	39
			1.3.3.3	Stratégie de la démonstration	43
	1.4	Somm	aire		46
2	Ana	analysis of auxiliary operators			49
	2.1	Robin	Laplacians		50
		2.1.1	Robin La	placian on a half line	50
		2.1.2	Robin La	placian on an interval	50

		2.1.3	Robin Laplacian in a weighted space	51
	2.2	Airy o	perator on a half-line	53
	2.3	Harmo	onic oscillator	54
		2.3.1	A 1-dimensional harmonic oscillator	54
		2.3.2	A d-dimensional harmonic oscillator	54
	2.4	De Ge	nnes operator	54
		2.4.1	Proof of Theorem 2.4.3	57
		2.4.2	Some important relations	64
3	Mag	gnetic p	erturbations of the Robin Laplacian in the strong coupling limit	67
	3.1	Introdu	uction	69
		3.1.1	Magnetic Robin Laplacian	69
		3.1.2	Main results	70
	3.2	Bound	lary coordinates	73
	3.3	Prelim	inaries	74
		3.3.1	Transformation into a semi-classical problem	74
		3.3.2	Agmon estimates	76
		3.3.3	Spectral reduction	82
		3.3.4	The Robin Laplacian in a tubular neighborhood	85
		3.3.5	The rescaled operator	87
	3.4	Asym	ptotics of the eigenvalues of Robin's Laplacian	88
		3.4.1	Robin Laplacian in a weighted space	89
		3.4.2	The corrected Feshbach projection	90
		3.4.3	Approximation of the norm on the weighted space	92
		3.4.4	Upper bound	93
		3.4.5	Lower bound	96
			3.4.5.1 Lower bound of the tangential form	97
			3.4.5.2 Lower bound of the transverse form	98
			3.4.5.3 Proof of Proposition 3.4.8	100
		3.4.6	Proof of the main theorem	100
	3.5	Spectr	um of the effective operator	102
		3.5.1	Location near the point of maximum curvature	104
		3.5.2	Reduction to a flux-free operator	109
		3.5.3	End of the proof	111
	3.6	Unit di		114
4	Sen	ni-class	ical analysis of Schrödinger operators with linear electric potential in a bounded	l
	dom	ains		117
	4.1	Introdu	uction	119
		4.1.1	A Stark electric Laplacian	119

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

		4.1.2	Main result	120
	4.2	Prelim	inaries	123
		4.2.1	Concentration of bound states near the potential minimum	123
		4.2.2	Reduction near the boundary	124
	4.3	Local	boundary coordinates	126
		4.3.1	The coordinates and the metric	126
		4.3.2	The operator in boundary coordinates	130
		4.3.3	Agmon Estimates in Tubular Variables	131
	4.4	Constr	ruction of quasimodes	134
		4.4.1	Rescaling operator	134
		4.4.2	Formal expansion	135
		4.4.3	Construction of trial states	136
		4.4.4	End of the proof	140
	4.5	Lower	bound	140
	4.6	Full as	symptotic expansion of the eigenvalues	144
	4.7	Analys	sis of the effective operator	147
		4.7.1	The model operator	147
		4.7.2	Relation to the Weingarten map	149
5	Edg	o statos	for the Robin magnetic Lonlegian	151
5	5 1	ations and results	151	
	5.1	5 1 1	About the magnetic Robin Laplacian	153
		5.1.2	De Gennes operator with Robin condition	154
		5.1.2	Results	157
		5.1.5	5131 A pseudo-differential framework	157
			5.1.3.2 Main theorem	158
			5.1.3.2 Figenvalues in a regular spectral window	160
			5.1.3.4 Critical values	161
	5.2	Expon	ential localization near the boundary and consequences	163
	0.2	5.2.1	Preliminaries	164
		5.2.2	Proof of Proposition 5.2.1	165
	5.3	An ope	erator on a semi-cylinder	168
	0.0	5.3.1	A model operator	168
		5.3.2	The rescaled operator	169
		5.3.3	Microlocalization of the eigenfunctions of $\mathcal{L}_h$	169
		5.3.4	First spectral estimates	171
	5.4	A Gru	shin problem	172
		5.4.1	Preliminaries	172
		5.4.2	A pseudodifferential operator with operator-valued symbol	174

	5.4.3	Dimensional reduction	176	
5.5 Analysis of the effective operator			181	
	5.5.1	Asymptotic diagonalization and end of the proof of Theorem 5.1.7	181	
5.5.2 Spectral consequences			182	
		5.5.2.1 Proof of Proposition 5.1.8	182	
		5.5.2.2 Proof of Corollary 5.1.11	183	
		5.5.2.3 Proof of Theorem 5.1.10	184	
5.6	Append	lix	185	
	5.6.1 A rough Weyl estimate			
	5.6.2	Spectral analysis of de Gennes operator	186	
	5.6.3	Spectral analysis of an operator on a semi-cylinder	188	
		5.6.3.1 Agmon estimates for $\widetilde{\mathscr{L}_h}$	189	
		5.6.3.2 Preliminary estimates	191	
		5.6.3.3 End of the proof of Agmon estimate	194	
	5.6.4	Agmon estimate with Fourier multiplier	195	
А Арр	endix		199	
A.1	1 Spectral theory			
	A.1.1	Spectrum of self-adjoint operators	199	
	A.1.2	Diamagnetic inequality	199	
	A.1.3	Spectral theorem	200	
	A.1.4	Min-Max principle	200	
A.2	Pseudo	-differential operators with operator valued symbols	201	
Perspec	Perspectives 21			
<b>P</b>				
Publicat	tion		207	
Bibliography			209	

Chapitre 1

### **Introduction générale**

#### **1.1** Motivation physique et présentation générale

#### 1.1.1 Première motivation : théorie de la supraconductivité

Une première motivation qui peut conduire à l'analyse spectrale du Laplacien magnétique découle de la théorie mathématique de la supraconductivité. L'analyse des problèmes mathématiques liés à la théorie de la supraconductivité a été intensivement développée au cours des 30 dernières années (voir [FH10b]). Le comportement macroscopique des matériaux supraconducteurs placés dans un ouvert  $\Omega$  est décrit par les minimiseurs ( $\psi$ ,  $A_0$ ) dans  $H^1(\Omega; \mathbb{C}) \times H^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^2)$  de la fonctionnelle de Ginzburg-Landau  $\mathcal{G}$  (cf. [dG66, BS98, BPT98]) :

$$\mathcal{G}(\psi, A_0) = \int_{\Omega} \left\{ |(\nabla - i\kappa bA_0)\psi|^2 - \kappa^2 |\psi|^2 + \frac{\kappa^2}{2} |\psi|^4 \right\} dx + \kappa^2 b^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |\operatorname{curl} A_0 - 1|^2 dx + \int_{\partial\Omega} \beta |\psi(x)|^2 ds(x).$$
(1.1)

Ici  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  est un ouvert borné régulier,  $\psi$  est appelée le paramètre d'ordre,  $|\psi|^2$  est la densité des paires de Cooper,  $A_0$  est appelé le potentiel magnétique et curl $A_0 = \nabla \times A_0$  est le champ magnétique induit dans un échantillon supraconducteur  $\Omega$ . Le paramètre b > 0 est l'intensité du champ magnétique appliqué à l'échantillon. Le paramètre  $\kappa > 0$  est une caractéristique du matériau et il est appelé le paramètre de Ginzburg-Landau. Dans la littérature physique, on fait généralement la distinction entre les matériaux de type I et les matériaux de type II. Le matériau est dit de type I si  $\kappa$  est suffisamment petit et il est dit de type II, lorsque  $\kappa$  est grand. C'est ce dernier cas que nous considérons ici.

Les minimiseurs de la fonctionnelle de Ginzburg-Landau  $\mathcal{G}$  décriront les propriétés du matériau lorsqu'il est soumis au champ magnétique externe. On distingue traditionnellement trois types de minimiseurs possibles. Nous disons qu'un minimiseur ( $\psi$ , A) est supraconducteur si  $\psi$  ne s'annule jamais, normal si  $\psi$ est identiquement 0, et mixte si  $\psi$  a des zéros, mais ne s'annule pas identiquement. La fonctionnelle  $\mathcal{G}$  a un point critique du type (0, A) "un état normal", avec curlA = 1, qui satisfait le système de Ginzburg-Landau (cf. [GP99]). Il est naturel d'analyser quand cette solution normale est un minimum local de la fonctionnelle. Cela conduit naturellement à la question de la positivité du Hessien de  $\mathcal{G}$ , qui conduit à examiner la dérivée seconde en  $\psi$  de  $\mathcal{G}$  (voir par exemple [FH10b, LP99, LP00, dPFS00, HP03]).

La positivité du Hessien est immédiatement liée à la positivité de l'opérateur

$$(\nabla - i\kappa bA_0)^2 - \kappa^2,$$

avec la condition au bord suivante dite de Gennes<sup>1</sup> (cf. [dG66, Chapitre 3]) :

$$\nu \cdot (\nabla - i\kappa bA_0)\psi + \beta\psi = 0, \quad \text{sur } \partial\Omega \tag{1.2}$$

où  $\nu$  est le vecteur normal extérieur de  $\partial\Omega$  et  $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$  est appelée dans la littérature physique le paramètre de de Gennes<sup>2</sup>. Parsuite, cela amène à analyser l'état fondamental de l'opérateur de Schrödinger avec champ magnétique

$$(\nabla - i\kappa bA_0)^2$$

avec la condition de Robin (1.2) au bord.

Lorsque  $\kappa$  est grand, cela devient un problème semi-classique <sup>3</sup> après le changement de paramètre  $h = \frac{1}{\kappa b}$  et le problème ramène ainsi à l'étude spectrale du Laplacien magnétique de Robin

$$\mathcal{N}_{h,\beta} = -(h\nabla - iA_0)^2,\tag{1.3}$$

défini sur

$$\operatorname{Dom}(\mathcal{N}_{h,\beta}) = \left\{ u \in H^2(\Omega) : \nu \cdot (h\nabla - iA_0)u + \beta hu = 0 \text{ sur } \partial\Omega \right\},$$
(1.4)

lorsque le paramètre h tend vers 0. Le régime semi-classique  $h \to 0$  est maintenant équivalent au  $\kappa \to +\infty$ et/ou  $b \to +\infty$ . Nous souhaitons établir des asymptotiques spectrales précises pour le Laplacien magnétique de Robin  $\mathcal{N}_{h,\beta}$  dans les régimes où le champ magnétique joue un rôle majeur, en concurrence avec la condition de Robin (pour  $\beta = \gamma h^{\frac{-1}{2}}$ , avec  $\gamma$  une constante réelle).

Lorsque  $\kappa = 1$ , l'étude du phénomène de la supraconductivité ramène à l'analyse spectrale du Laplacien magnétique

$$-(\nabla - ibA_0)^2,\tag{1.5}$$

avec les conditions au bord de type Robin, comme (1.2). Une partie du travail présenté ici a pour objet l'étude spectrale de cet opérateur dans le régime de couplage fort ( $\beta \rightarrow \infty$ ) et  $b \rightarrow +\infty$  simultanément. L'analyse spectrale de ces opérateurs fait l'objet des articles [Fah23a, FLTRVuN23].

#### **1.1.2** Une autre motivation

Vers la fin du XIXème siècle, on pensait que l'évolution des systèmes physiques pouvait être décrite dans le cadre de la mécanique classique. Cependant, certaines expériences physiques ont donné des résultats qui ne peuvent pas expliqués par la mécanique classique et qui semblaient même contradictoires entre eux. Les résultats de l'expérience de Bragg (*i.e.* la réflexion de Bragg et la diffraction du rayonnement), la dualité onde-corpuscule de la lumière et la radioactivité du corps noir de Gustav Kirchoff (cf. [Jac07]) sont des phénomènes pour lesquels la mécanique classique ne présente pas d'explications suffisantes. Sur cette base, une nouvelle mécanique a été créée : la mécanique quantique <sup>4</sup>. Le lecteur ou la lectrice intéressée par la construction de la théorie quantique et de son modèle mathématique, peut consulter par exemple les livres [Rob87, Introduction] ou [LL66, FH10a, CTDL21, LL77].

<sup>1.</sup> La condition au bord (1.2) est appelée dans d'autres domaines de la théorie des équations aux dérivées partielles condition de Robin, mais qu'elle a été introduite pour la première fois par Fourier.

<sup>2.</sup> Le physicien de Gennes (cf. [dG66]) a introduit le paramètre  $\beta$  dans le but de modéliser les interfaces entre des matériaux supraconducteurs et normaux et dans ce contexte,  $\beta$  est une constante strictement positive. Les valeurs négatives de  $\beta$  sont aussi considérées dans la littérature physique (cf. [FJ69]) pour modéliser la situation de supraconducteur à côté d'un autre supraconducteur ayant une plus haute température critique. Pour plus de détails, voir par exemple [Kac06a, Kac06b].

<sup>3.</sup> Le lecteur ou la lectrice intéressé par l'analyse semi-classique, peut consulter par exemple les livres [Zwo12, Mar02, DS99].

<sup>4.</sup> La mécanique quantique a permis d'expliquer de nombreuses propriétés physiques jusqu'alors mystérieuses. Les principes fondamentaux de la mécanique quantique ont été établis principalement entre 1922 et 1927 par les physiciens Bohr, Dirac, de Groglie, Heisenberg, Jordan, Pauli et Schrödinger.

Une équation fondamentale de la mécanique quantique non-relativiste est la célèbre "équation de Schrödinger" <sup>5</sup> dépendant du temps :

$$i\hbar \frac{\partial}{\partial t}\psi(x,t) = \mathcal{P}\psi(x,t),$$
(1.6)

où,  $\psi$  est la fonction d'onde avec  $\|\psi(x)\|^2$  est la densité de probabilité de trouver la particule en x. Un exemple très classique de Hamiltonien quantique associé à l'énergie totale du système est :

$$\mathcal{P} = \frac{-\hbar^2}{2m} \Delta + V(x), \tag{1.7}$$

et il décrit une particule non relativiste <sup>6</sup> de masse m (ex :  $m_{\text{electron}} \approx 10^{-31} \text{Kg}$ ) qui se déplace dans un potentiel V, où V(x) est l'énergie potentielle de la particule au point x, et  $\hbar$  est la constante de Planck divisée par  $2\pi$ , et elle vaut  $\hbar \approx 1.054571818 \times 10^{-34}$  Js.

La recherche de solutions harmoniques en temps, *i.e.* de la frome

$$\psi(x,t) = e^{-\frac{iEt}{\hbar}}\psi(x,0),$$

conduit à

$$\frac{-\hbar^2}{2m}\Delta\psi(x,0) + V(x)\psi(x,0) = E\psi(x,0),$$

où E est l'énergie associée à l'état propre  $\psi(x, 0)$ .

La densité de probabilité de présence de la particule est donc indépendante de temps et elle satisfait

$$|\psi(x,t)|^2 = |\psi(x,0)|^2.$$

C'est d'ailleurs la raison pour laquelle ces états sont qualifiés de "stationnaires".

Notons enfin, pour comprendre comment la particule évolue, *i.e.* étudier l'évolution temporelle de la fonction d'onde, il faut étudier le spectre de l'opérateur non-borné  $\mathcal{P}$  sur  $L^2(\Omega)$ ,  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $d \ge 2$ . C'est pourquoi le spectre de  $\mathcal{P}$  joue un rôle tout particulier dans l'étude de (1.6). Plus généralement, n'importe quel opérateur auto-adjoint  $\mathcal{H}$  défini un système dynamique quantique par (1.6).

Dans cette thèse, nous nous intéressons à d'autres types de Hamiltonien  $\mathcal{P}$ , notamment magnétiques ou/et sur des domaines de  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Nous cherchons à décrire le spectre et les fonctions propres de  $\mathcal{P}$  dans certains régimes asymptotiques (grand champ magnétique, grand champ électrique).

#### 1.1.2.1 Hamiltonien de Stark

Considérons une particule chargée soumise à un champ éléctrique uniforme **F**. Dans ce cas, le Hamiltonien qui nous intéresse est alors (agissant sur  $L^2(\Omega)$  et défini avec des conditions de bord de Dirichlet sur  $\partial\Omega$ )

$$\mathcal{H} = \frac{-\hbar^2}{2m} \Delta + q \mathbf{F} \cdot \mathbf{x},\tag{1.8}$$

où

- $-\hbar$  est la constante de Planck divisée par  $2\pi$ ,
- -m est la masse effective de la particule,
- -q est la charge de la particule.

<sup>5.</sup> Erwin Schrödinger(1887-1961) a introduit sa célèbre équation pour la première fois dans l'article [Sch26].

<sup>6.</sup> L'équation de Schrödinger ne tient pas compte des effets de relativité restreinte. Lorsque ces effets sont importants, il faut alors utiliser l'équation de Dirac (1928).

Une partie de cette thèse concerne l'analyse des propriétées spectrales du *Hamiltonien de Stark*  $\mathcal{H}$  défini en (1.8), sur un domaine ouvert, borné, régulier et connexe de  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $d \ge 2$ , lorsque l'intensité du champ électrique est grande. Nous nous intéressons à étudier le comportement asymptotique des valeurs propres de  $\mathcal{H}$ , et les propriétés de localisation des fonctions propres associées ainsi que des approximations pour ces fonctions. L'analyse spectrale de l'opérateur  $\mathcal{H}$  fait l'objet de mon article [Fah23b].

#### 1.1.2.2 Laplacien magnétique

Considérons une particule soumise à un champ purement magnétique qui est mathématiquement modélisé par le *Laplacien magnétique* 

$$\mathcal{P}^b_\beta = -(\nabla - ibA_0)^2,\tag{1.9}$$

où  $A_0$  est un potentiel magnétique et *b* est l'intensité du champ magnétique appliqué. Le domaine de l'opérateur  $\mathcal{P}^b_\beta$  est

$$\operatorname{Dom}(\mathcal{P}^b_\beta) = \{ u \in H^2(\Omega) : \nu \cdot (\nabla - ibA_0)u + \beta \, u = 0 \text{ sur } \partial\Omega \}.$$

Une grande partie de cette thèse concerne l'analyse spectrale de cette famille de laplaciens magnétiques défini en (1.9) sur un domaine ouvert, borné, régulier et simplement connexe de  $\mathbb{R}^2$  dans divers régimes "grand champ magnétique" et/ou "grande condition de Robin". L'analyse spectrale de l'opérateur  $\mathcal{P}^b_\beta$  font l'objet de mes articles [Fah23a, FLTRVuN23].

#### **1.2** Présentation détaillée : objectifs de la thèse et résultats connus

#### 1.2.1 Laplacien magnétique de Robin

La théorie spectrale du Laplacien magnétique de Robin a suscité beaucoup d'intérêt ces dernières années, notamment dans le régime de couplage fort (c'est-à-dire quand le paramètre de Robin est grand). De nombreux auteurs se sont intéressés à l'analyse asymptotique de cet opérateur. Nous allons maintenant définir cet opérateur. Soit  $\Omega$  un ouvert borné connexe de  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . Nous supposons que la frontière  $\Gamma = \partial \Omega$  est  $C^{\infty}$ -régulière. Considérons le problème spectral

$$\mathcal{P}^b_\beta u := -(\nabla - ibA_0)^2 u = Eu \quad \text{sur} \quad \Omega,$$
(1.10)

$$\nu \cdot (\nabla - ibA_0)u + \beta u = 0 \quad \text{sur} \quad \Gamma, \tag{1.11}$$

où

- $-A_0$  est le champ de vecteur,
- $-\nu$  est le vecteur normal unitaire extérieur de  $\Gamma$ ,
- $-\beta \in \mathbb{R}$  est le paramètre de Robin,
- *b* est l'intensité du champ magnétique appliqué,
- E est une valeur propre et u une fonction propre non nulle associée.

Le domaine de l'opérateur  $\mathcal{P}^b_\beta$  est

$$\operatorname{Dom}(\mathcal{P}^b_\beta) = \{ u \in H^2(\Omega) : \nu \cdot (\nabla - ibA_0)u + \beta \, u = 0 \, \operatorname{sur} \Gamma \}.$$

La condition (1.11) est appelée condition de Robin. Elle est dite attractive si  $\beta < 0$  et répulsive si  $\beta > 0$ . Elle peut être considérée comme celle de Neumann lorsque  $\beta = 0$  et celle de Dirichlet lorsque  $\beta = \infty$ .

Le but est d'étudier le comportement asymptotique des valeurs propres lorsque le paramètre  $\beta$  est grand. Le potentiel magnétique défini par

$$A_0(x_1, x_2) = (A_{0_1}, A_{0_2}) = \frac{1}{2}(-x_2, x_1),$$

génère un champ magnétique constant :

$$B := \nabla \times A_0 = \partial_{x_1} A_{0_2} - \partial_{x_2} A_{0_1} = 1$$

Comme div $(A_0) = \nabla \cdot A_0 = \partial_{x_1} A_{0_1} + \partial_{x_2} A_{0_2} = 0$ , alors l'opérateur  $\mathcal{P}^b_\beta$  s'écrit comme suit :

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{P}^b_\beta &= -(\nabla - ibA_0)^2 \\ &= -(\nabla - ibA_0) \cdot (\nabla - ibA_0) \\ &= -\Delta + 2ibA_0 \cdot \nabla + ib\operatorname{div}(A_0) + b^2 \|A_0\|^2 \\ &= -\Delta + 2ibA_0 \cdot \nabla + b^2 \|A_0\|^2. \end{aligned}$$

Pour être plus précis, l'opérateur de Schrödinger magnétique  $\mathcal{P}_{\beta}^{b}$  est défini via le théorème d'extension de Friedrich (voir par exemple [LM54, Thms. 2.1 & 2.2] et [Hel13, Ch. 4]), à partir de la forme quadratique fermée semi-bornée inférieurement, définie sur  $H^{1}(\Omega)$  par la formule

$$\forall u \in H^1(\Omega), \qquad \mathcal{Q}^b_\beta(u) := \int_{\Omega} |(\nabla - ibA_0)u(x)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x + \beta \int_{\Gamma} |u(x)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}s(x),$$

où ds est la mesure de surface standard sur la frontière. Notons que, par l'inégalité dans [BEL14, Lem. 2.6], la trace de u est bien définie comme un élément de  $H^{\frac{1}{2}}(\Gamma)$ , et ensuite la forme quadratique  $\mathcal{Q}^b_\beta$  est bien définie.

**Lemme 1.2.1.** La forme quadratique  $\mathcal{Q}^b_\beta$  est bornée inférieurement.

*Démonstration.* Rappelons que d'après l'inégalité diamagnétique [LL01, Thm. 7.21], pour tout  $u \in H^1(\Omega)$ , on a

$$\|\nabla |u|\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \leq \|(\nabla - ibA_{0})u\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2}.$$
(1.12)

En combinant (1.12) avec l'inégalité dans [BEL14, Lem. 2.6], on obtient que pour tout  $\varepsilon > 0$ , il existe une constante  $C(\varepsilon) > 0$  telle que, pour tout  $u \in H^1(\Omega)$ , on a

$$\|u_{\partial\Omega}\|_{L^2(\partial\Omega)}^2 \leqslant \varepsilon \|(\nabla - ibA_0)u\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 + C(\varepsilon)\|u\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2.$$

$$(1.13)$$

- Si  $\beta \ge 0$ , alors  $\mathcal{Q}^b_{\beta}(u) \ge \|(\nabla - ibA_0)u\|^2 = \mathcal{Q}^b_0(u)$ ,

- Si  $\beta < 0$ , alors  $\mathcal{Q}^b_{\beta}(u) \ge (1 + \varepsilon \beta) \| (\nabla - ibA_0)u \|^2 + C(\varepsilon) \| u \|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 = (1 + \varepsilon \beta) \mathcal{Q}^b_0(u) + C(\varepsilon) \| u \|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2$ , où  $\mathcal{Q}^b_0$  est la forme quadratique correspondant au Laplacien magnétique de Neumann sur  $\Omega$  avec le champ

and  $\mathcal{Q}_0^b$  est la forme quadratique correspondant au Laplacien magnétique de Neumann sur  $\Omega$  avec le champ magnétique constant. La conclusion s'ensuit puisque  $\mathcal{Q}_0^b$  est bornée inférieurement par 0.

Comme  $\Omega$  est borné et régulier, par [CR21, Thm. 4.20] et [Gri11, Section 1.4.4], il existe C > 0 tel que

$$\left(\underbrace{\operatorname{Dom}(\mathcal{Q}^b_{\beta})}_{=H^1(\Omega)}, \sqrt{\mathcal{Q}^b_{\beta}}\left(\cdot\right) + \left(C+1\right) \|\cdot\|_{L^2(\Omega)}\right) \underset{\text{compacte}}{\hookrightarrow} \left(L^2(\Omega), \|\cdot\|_{L^2(\Omega)}\right)$$

ainsi, par [CR21, Proposition 4.24] l'opérateur  $\mathcal{P}_{\beta}^{b} + (C+1) Id_{L^{2}(\Omega)}$  est à résolvante compacte et ensuite l'opérateur  $\mathcal{P}_{\beta}^{b}$  est à résolvante compacte. Et donc, voir e.g. [RS78, Thm. XIII.64], son spectre est purement discret et comme  $\mathcal{P}^b_\beta$  est auto-adjoint et borné inférieurement, il est formé d'une suite de valeurs propres <sup>7</sup>

$$\lambda_1(b,\beta) \leq \lambda_2(b,\beta) \leq \ldots \leq \lambda_n(b,\beta) \leq \ldots \to +\infty$$

où chaque valeur propre est répétée selon sa multiplicité finie, et les fonctions propres associées forment une base orthonormale de  $L^2(\Omega)$ .

Si  $\Omega$  est simplement connexe, la valeur propre  $\lambda_n(b,\beta)$  est indépendante du choix du potentiel vecteur  $A_0$ du champ magnétique. Ceci est une conséquence de l'invariance par changement de jauge; si  $A \in H^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^2)$ et curlA = 1, alors  $A = A_0 + \nabla \phi$  pour une fonction  $\phi \in H^2(\Omega)$  (cf. [FH10b, Props D.1.1 and D.2.1]), et à leur tour

$$e^{ib\phi}(\nabla - ibA_0)^2 e^{-ib\phi} = (\nabla - ibA_0 - ib\nabla\phi)^2 = (\nabla - ibA)^2.$$

Outre son intérêt propre, l'étude du spectre de l'opérateur  $\mathcal{P}^b_\beta$  apparaît dans la modélisation de nombreux problèmes physiques comme l'équation de Schrödinger modélisant l'évolution d'une particule non relativiste (Section 1.1.2) ou encore l'équation des ondes décrivant les vibrations d'une membrane. Le problème aux valeurs propres de Robin (1.10)-(1.11) apparaît dans de nombreuses applications comme l'estimation de la température critique/les champs critiques de certains supraconducteurs entourés d'autres matériaux : [Kac06a, KS20] en dimension 2 et [Mir23, HKR17] en dimension 3, ou encore l'étude des équations de réaction-diffusion en temps longs [LOS98]. D'autre part, les asymptotiques de valeurs propres dans la limite singulière  $\beta \rightarrow -\infty$ , fournissent des contre-exemples dans le contexte de la géométrie spectrale [FK15, PP16], et ont des liens avec l'étude des valeurs propres de Steklov [HK22]. Le cas  $\beta = 0$  correspond au Laplacien magnétique de Neumann, qui a été étudié dans de nombreux articles [Ray17, FH10b]. L'étude des inégalités isopérimétriques a été étendue aux conditions de Robin à paramètre  $\beta$  négatif. L'asymptotique des valeurs propres peut également utilisée pour discuter/généraliser la validité des inégalités isopérimétriques dans le régime  $\beta \rightarrow -\infty$ . Dans le travail récent de Kachmar-Lotoreichik [KL22], pour un paramètre de Robin négatif et un champ magnétique d'intensité modérée, ils ont trouvé que le disque maximise l'énergie de l'état fondamental  $\lambda_1(b, \beta)$  dans une classe admissible de domaines ayant le même périmètre que le disque.

#### 1.2.1.1 Cas du champ magnétique modéré et condition de Robin attractive

En l'absence du champ magnétique (b = 0), l'asymptotique des valeurs propres de l'opérateur  $\mathcal{P}^0_\beta$  a donné lieu à de nombreuses contributions (dans divers contextes géométriques) au cours des dernières années [EMP14, HK17, Ker18, LP08, PP16, Kac16, KKR16].

**Théorème 1.2.1** ([EMP14, Pan13, PP15]). *Pour tout*  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ *, on a* 

$$\lambda_n(0,\beta) = -\beta^2 + \kappa_{max}\beta + o(\beta) \quad lorsque \quad \beta \to -\infty, \tag{1.14}$$

 $a^{h}(\cdot)$ 

où  $\kappa_{max}$  est la courbure maximale du bord  $\Gamma$ .

 $\forall n > 1$ 

$$\lambda_n(b,\beta) = \sup_{\substack{\psi_1,\dots,\psi_{n-1} \\ u \in \operatorname{Vect}\{\psi_1,\dots,\psi_{n-1}\} \perp}} \frac{\inf_{\substack{\mathcal{Q}_{\beta}(u) \\ \|u\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2}}}{\|u\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2},$$

pour n = 1

$$\lambda_1(b,\beta) = \inf_{u \in H^1(\Omega)} \frac{\mathcal{Q}^b_\beta(u)}{\|u\|^2_{L^2(\Omega)}}$$

<sup>7.</sup> La caractérisation variationnelle des valeurs propres par les principes du min-max (voir le Théorème A.1.7 dans l'appendice), appliqué à  $Q^b_\beta$ , nous donne :

Notons que le premier terme de (1.14) avait déjà été obtenu précédemment (voir [LP08] et ses références). Nous remarquons que dans l'estimation (1.14), les propriétés géométriques du bord, et plus particulièrement la courbure, apparaissent, mais le numéro de la valeur propre n'est, par contre, pas visible dans les deux premiers termes. De ce fait, les plus petites valeurs propres sont indistinguables. L'article [HK17] permet de résoudre ce problème en obtenant un développement asymptotique complet de chaque valeur propre  $\lambda_n(0,\beta)$ , lorsque  $\beta \to -\infty$ . Paramétrons la frontière  $\partial\Omega$ , par la longueur de l'arc, que nous notons s. Soit  $\kappa(s)$  la courbure de  $\partial\Omega$  au point défini par la longueur d'arc s, avec la convention que  $\kappa(s) \ge 0$  quand  $\partial\Omega$  est convexe au voisinage de s, et négatif sinon.

**Hypothèse 1.** Supposons que la courbure  $\kappa$  a un unique maximum atteint en un point  $s_0$  et le maximum est non dégénéré :  $\kappa''(s_0) < 0$ . La paramétrisation de la longueur d'arc de la frontière est définie de sorte que  $\kappa(0) = \kappa_{max}$  i.e.  $s_0 = 0$ .

**Théorème 1.2.2** ([HK17]). Sous l'Hypothèse 1, pour tout  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , il existe une suite  $(\gamma_{j,n})_{j\geq 0}$  de nombres réels telle que, pour tout  $M \in \mathbb{N}$  positif, la valeur propre  $\lambda_n(0,\beta)$  a, comme  $\beta \to -\infty$ , le développement asymptotique

$$\lambda_n(0,\beta) = -\beta^2 + \kappa_{max}\beta + (2n-1)\sqrt{\frac{-\kappa''(s_0)}{2}}|\beta|^{1/2} + \sum_{j=0}^M \gamma_{j,n}|\beta|^{-j/2} + o(|\beta|^{-M/2}).$$
(1.15)

En utilisant la localisation des fonctions propres près du point de courbure maximale, la construction de quasi-modes permet d'obtenir une approximation des valeurs propres grâce au théorème spectral. Dans la limite,  $\beta \to -\infty$ , les premiers termes de l'asymptotique sont donnés par l'approximation harmonique (cf. [Ray17, Sections 3.2 et 4.1.2] et [FH10b, Section 7.1]) de l'opérateur  $H^{\text{bnd}} = -\frac{d^2}{ds^2} - \beta^2 + \beta \kappa(s)$  sur le bord. L'opérateur réduit  $H^{\text{bnd}}$  est analysé en remplaçant le potentiel  $-\kappa(s)$  par son approximation quadratique au point de minimum non dégénéré  $s_0$  (par hypothèse). Les termes  $(2n-1)\sqrt{\frac{-\kappa''(s_0)}{2}}$  sont exactement les valeurs propres de l'oscillateur harmonique  $-\frac{d^2}{ds^2} + \frac{-\kappa''(s_0)}{2}s^2$  dans  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ . Par rapport aux opérateurs de Schrödinger semi-classiques existants (voir [HS84]), la courbure agit comme

Par rapport aux opérateurs de Schrödinger semi-classiques existants (voir [HS84]), la courbure agit comme un puits de potentiel. L'hypothèse sur la courbure équivaut au cas d'un seul puits. En cas de symétries, la détermination de l'effet tunnel entre les points de courbure maximale a donné lieu à des travaux. Dans [HKR17], ils ont étudié les valeurs propres basses du Laplacien de Robin dans un domaine symétrique par rapport à un axe. Dans le cas où la courbure de la frontière du domaine atteint son maximum exactement à deux points, ils ont établi une formule asymptotique explicite pour les deux premières valeurs propres. Il s'agit d'une dérivation rigoureuse de l'effet tunnel induit par la géométrie du domaine.

En supraconductivité, imposer une condition de Robin, appelée dans ce contexte condition de de Gennes, modélise un supraconducteur entouré d'un autre matériau normal/supraconducteur, (comme nous avons vu dans la Section 1.1.1). Dans ce contexte, nous sommes naturellement conduits à l'analyse du Laplacien de Robin avec un champ magnétique où différents régimes interviennent en fonction de la comparaison entre l'intensité du champ magnétique et le paramètre de Robin. Une question naturelle se pose :

#### «Quel est l'effet du champ magnétique sur les valeurs propres basses, lorsque $\beta$ tend vers $-\infty$ et b ('' dépend possiblement de $\beta$ '') tend vers $+\infty$ simultanément ? »

L'inégalité de diamagnétique (A.1.3) donne, pour tout  $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$  et b > 0

$$\lambda_1(b,\beta) - \lambda_1(0,\beta) \ge 0^8. \tag{1.16}$$

Lorsque l'intensité du champ magnétique est une constante fixe (c'est-à-dire que le paramètre *b* est indépendant de  $\beta$ ), l'inégalité diamagnétique et le principe min-max impliquent que le développement asymptotique dans (1.14) reste vrai pour  $\lambda_1(b,\beta)$ . Notre intérêt se porte uniquement sur la condition de Robin attractive et dans la suite le paramètre de Robin  $\beta$  est strictement négatif. Cependant, dans la limite  $\beta \to -\infty$ , il est naturel de permettre que *b* dépend de  $\beta$ .

Dans l'article [Kac16], il est prouvé une estimation asymptotique à deux termes pour l'énergie de l'état fondamental magnétique  $\lambda_1(b,\beta)$ , lorsque  $\beta$  tend vers  $-\infty$  et b tend vers  $+\infty$  simultanément.

**Théorème 1.2.3** ([Kac16]). Soit  $0 \le \eta < \frac{3}{2}$  et  $0 < c_1 < c_2$ . On suppose que

 $c_1|\beta|^\eta \leq b \leq c_2|\beta|^\eta$ .

Lorsque  $\beta$  tend vers  $-\infty$ ,

$$\lambda_1(b,\beta) = -\beta^2 + \kappa_{max}\beta + \beta o(1).$$

Dans ce cas, le diamagnétisme est faible et sa contribution est négligeable par rapport à celle du terme de correction de courbure (comparer avec (1.14) pour n = 1). Nous remarquons que dans l'estimation du Théorème 1.2.3, les propriétés géométriques du bord apparaissent, mais le numéro de la valeur propre n'est, par contre, pas visible dans les deux premiers termes. Notre premier objectif est de résoudre ce problème en obtenant un développement asymptotique à trois termes de chaque valeur propre  $\lambda_n(b,\beta)$ , lorsque  $\beta \to -\infty$  et  $b = \mathcal{O}(|\beta|^{\eta})$  pour  $0 \le \eta < \frac{3}{2}$ . De plus, notre objectif est d'améliorer/compléter les estimations antérieures et également de clarifier la contribution du champ magnétique dans l'asymptotique spectrale. En particulier, dans le cas du disque unité, on décrit explicitement la contribution du champ magnétique sur l'asymptotique des basses valeurs propres. Cela fait l'objet du chapitre 3.

#### Transformation en un problème semi-classique :

On va écrire l'opérateur (1.10)-(1.11) sous une forme semi-classique. On montre comment la limite singulière où le paramètre de Robin  $\beta$  tend vers l'infini équivaut à une limite semi-classique impliquant un petit paramètre semi-classique positif h défini par

$$\beta = \gamma h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \,, \tag{1.17}$$

avec  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$  indépendant de h.

La limite  $\beta \to \pm \infty$  est maintenant équivalente à la limite semi-classique  $h \to 0$ . La forme quadratique peut s'écrire

$$\mathcal{Q}^b_\beta(u) = h^{-2} \left( \int_\Omega |(h\nabla - ibhA_0)u(x)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x + \gamma h^{\frac{3}{2}} \int_\Gamma |u(x)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}s(x) \right) := h^{-2} \mathcal{Q}^b_{h,\gamma}(u) + h^{-2} \mathcal{Q}^b_{h,$$

Par conséquent, l'opérateur auto-adjoint dépendant de h associé à la forme quadratique  $\mathscr{Q}_{h,\gamma}^b$  est

$$\mathcal{L}^b_{h,\gamma} = -(h\nabla - ihbA_0)^2, \qquad (1.18)$$

<sup>8.</sup> En termes physiques, cette inégalité fait référence au diamagnétisme, ce qui signifie simplement que l'introduction d'un champ magnétique augmente l'énergie de l'état fondamental.

défini sur le domaine

$$\operatorname{Dom}(\mathcal{L}^{b}_{h,\gamma}) = \{ u \in H^{2}(\Omega) : h\nu \cdot (h\nabla - ibhA_{0})u + \gamma h^{\frac{3}{2}}u = 0 \text{ sur } \Gamma \}.$$
(1.19)

Comme  $\mathcal{P}^b_{\beta} = h^{-2}\mathcal{L}^b_{h,\gamma}$ , alors les spectres des opérateurs  $\mathcal{P}^b_{\beta}$  et  $\mathcal{L}^b_{h,\gamma}$  sont liés par :

$$\operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{P}^b_\beta) = h^{-2} \operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{L}^b_{h,\gamma}).$$
(1.20)

L'opérateur auto-adjoint  $\mathcal{L}_{h,\gamma}^b$  est à résolvante compacte et borné inférieurement. Son spectre est purement discret et formé d'une suite croissante des valeurs propres  $(\mu_n(h, b, \gamma))_{n \in \mathbb{N}^*}$ . L'asymptotique semi-classique des valeurs propres de cet opérateur a fait l'objet d'études récentes.

Mon premier objectif est d'étudier les basses valeurs propres de  $\mathcal{L}_{h,\gamma}^b$  dans le régime semi-classique  $h \to 0$  et l'intensité du champ magnétique  $b \sim h^{\frac{-\eta}{2}}$  pour  $\eta < \frac{3}{2}$  et lorsque  $\gamma < 0$ . Une question naturelle se pose :

#### « Quelle est l'influence d'un champ magnétique intense et d'une condition de Robin générale sur le bas du spectre de $\mathcal{L}^b_{h,\gamma}$ ? »

#### 1.2.1.2 Cas du champ magnétique plus intense et condition de Robin générale

On considère un champ magnétique plus intense

$$b = h^{-1}b_0,$$

avec  $b_0 > 0$ . L'opérateur mis en jeu est alors

$$\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}^{b_0} = -(h\nabla - ib_0A_0)^2, \tag{1.21}$$

défini sur

$$\operatorname{Dom}(\mathscr{L}^{b_0}_{h,\gamma}) = \{ u \in H^2(\Omega) : h\nu \cdot (h\nabla - ib_0A_0)u + \gamma h^{\frac{3}{2}}u = 0 \text{ sur } \Gamma \}.$$
(1.22)

Il s'agit de l'opérateur associé à la forme quadratique, définie pour tous  $\psi \in H^1(\Omega)$  par

$$\mathscr{Q}_{h,\gamma}^{b_0}(\psi) = \int_{\Omega} |(h\nabla - ib_0 A_0)\psi(x)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x + \gamma h^{\frac{3}{2}} \int_{\Gamma} |\psi(x)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}s(x).$$
(1.23)

On peut supposer sans perte de généralité, que  $b_0 = 1$  quitte à remplacer h par  $h/b_0$  et  $\gamma$  par  $\gamma/b_0^2$ . Le paramètre  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$  sert à contrôler la "force" de la condition au bord dans (1.22). Par convention,  $\gamma = +\infty$  correspond à la condition au bord de Dirichlet ( $\psi \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ ).

**Notation 1.2.2.** On note par  $\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}$  l'opérateur  $\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}^{b_0}$  avec  $b_0 = 1$  et par  $\mathscr{Q}_{h,\gamma}$ , la forme quadratique  $\mathscr{Q}_{h,\gamma}^{b_0}$  avec  $b_0 = 1$ .

L'intérêt porté aux basses valeurs propres du Laplacien magnétique de Robin  $\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}$  avec paramètre  $\gamma$ négatif a été non négligeable ces dix dernières années. Cependant, jusqu'à présent, des résultats très précis ne sont disponibles que pour le Laplacien magnétique de Neumann (lorsque  $\gamma = 0$ ). Dans ce cas, les valeurs propres les plus basses ont été analysées en détail dans [FH06] et des estimations uniformes ont été récemment établies dans [BNHR22] où une formule d'effet tunnel purement magnétique a été prouvée. Lorsque  $\gamma \neq 0$ , les seuls résultats connus remontent aux travaux de Kachmar, voir [Kac06b], où seule la première valeur propre a été estimée. Dans le cas  $\gamma = +\infty$ , la localisation de la fonction propre près du bord a été observée dans [GV21], conduisant à une description du spectre dans une fenêtre spectrale très mince, voir [GV21, Corollaire 2.7]. Cependant, la décroissance exponentielle n'a pas été établie. Une question naturelle que l'on peut se demander au vu de ces résultats est alors

# « Si on considère le spectre dans une fenêtre spectrale donnée (et pas seulement les basses valeurs propres), peut-on étudier les propriétés spectrales de $\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}$ dans le régime semi-classique $h \to 0$ , et pour $\gamma \in \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ ? »

Par un simple changement d'échelle, la limite semi-classique  $h \rightarrow 0$  se traduit en un régime quantique où l'intensité du champ magnétique tend vers l'infini. Dans la littérature physique des conducteurs minces ou des gaz d'électrons (approchés par des domaines 2D) soumis à un fort champ magnétique externe, il est bien connu que la présence d'une frontière (ou, plus généralement, d'un champ magnétique changeant brusquement le long d'une courbe) génère un courant le long du bord en raison de la présence de « l'effet rebond » classiquement localisé à une distance  $\sqrt{E}/B$  du bord (E est l'énergie cinétique et B l'intensité magnétique : dans notre cas B = 1), voir par exemple [Hal82]. Ces "états de bord" existent dès que le niveau de Fermi du conducteur se situe strictement entre deux niveaux de Landau consécutifs, et produisent une dynamique balistique le long de la frontière. Si la frontière est compacte, cette dynamique est quantifiée et produit de nouveaux niveaux d'énergie discrets. Ce sont précisément les valeurs propres que nous souhaitons décrire.

D'un point de vue heuristique, la localisation au voisinage de  $\partial\Omega$  est souvent expliquée par les modes de rebond classiques mentionnés ci-dessus, mais elle est également facile à comprendre d'un point de vue quantique. En effet, si nous oublions la condition au bord, l'opérateur agit comme le Laplacien magnétique à champ magnétique constant, sur le plan euclidien,  $\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}^{\mathbb{R}^2}$ . Le spectre de cet opérateur est bien connu et constitué des fameux niveaux de Landau  $\{(2n-1)h, n \ge 1\}$ , qui sont des valeurs propres infiniment dégénérées. Ceci suggère que, si l'on considère des valeurs propres de  $\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}$  dans une fenêtre de la forme  $I_h = [ha, hb]$  avec 2n-1 < a < b < 2n+1 pour un entier n > 0 (pour n = 0, on prend  $a = -\infty$ ), les fonctions propres correspondantes doivent être localisées près de la frontière. Ce phénomène a des applications physiques intéressantes comme l'effet Hall quantique. Une autre application est le confinement de particules dans de petits domaines, ou « quantum dots » (parfois appelés « anti-dots » car on prend B = 0 à l'intérieur du domaine, et B = 1 à l'extérieur), voir [RPM99, LSIC04].

Dans cette partie, nous traitons le cas général  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ . Physiquement, cela correspond à un domaine  $\Omega$  recouvert d'une très fine couche d'un matériau différent (voir par exemple [BL96]). Puisque  $\Omega$  est borné, le spectre dans  $I_h$  est toujours discret et une première estimation grossière montre que le nombre de valeurs propres se trouvant dans  $I_h$ , noté  $N(\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}, I_h)$ , satisfait

**Proposition 1.2.3.** Il existe C > 0, tel que pour tous h > 0 assez petits, on a

$$N(\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}, I_h) \leqslant Ch^{-2}.$$
(1.24)

Démonstration. Cette estimée est très élémentaire à établir. Nous rappelons sa preuve brièvement.

– Pour  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$  : Grâce à l'inégalité de Young, on a, pour tout  $\psi \in H^1(\Omega)$ ,

$$\mathscr{Q}_{h,\gamma}(\psi) \ge \frac{h^2}{2} \|\nabla \psi\|^2 - 2\|A_0\|_{\infty}^2 \|\psi\|^2 + \gamma h^{\frac{3}{2}} \int_{\partial \Omega} |\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}s.$$

– Lorsque  $\gamma \ge 0$ , on obtient que

$$\mathcal{Q}_{h,\gamma}(\psi) \ge \frac{h^2}{2} \|\nabla\psi\|^2 - 2\|A_0\|_{\infty}^2 \|\psi\|^2$$

- Lorsque  $\gamma < 0$ , on utilise un théorème de trace classique : il existe C > 0 tel que, pour tout  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} |\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}s \leqslant \varepsilon \|\nabla\psi\|^2 + C\varepsilon^{-1} \|\psi\|^2.$$

En choisissant  $\varepsilon=-\frac{\sqrt{h}}{4\gamma}>0,$  on en déduit que

$$\mathscr{Q}_{h,\gamma}(\psi) \ge \frac{h^2}{4} \|\nabla \psi\|^2 - 2\|A_0\|_{\infty}^2 \|\psi\|^2 - 4\gamma^2 Ch\|\psi\|^2.$$

Dans les deux cas, il existe  $\tilde{C} > 0$  tel que, pour tout  $h \in (0, 1)$  et tout  $\psi \in H^1(\Omega)$ ,

$$\mathscr{Q}_{h,\gamma}(\psi) \ge \frac{h^2}{4} \|\nabla \psi\|^2 - \tilde{C} \|\psi\|^2.$$

Avec le principe min-max, cela montre que, pour tout  $\lambda$ ,

$$N(\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma},\lambda) \leqslant N\left(-\Delta^{\mathrm{Neu}},4\frac{\lambda+\tilde{C}}{h^2}\right).$$

- Pour  $\gamma = +\infty$ : En appliquant la même stratégie que celle décrite ci-dessus, on obtient que, pour tout  $\lambda$ ,

$$N(\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma},\lambda) \leqslant N\left(-\Delta^{\mathrm{Dir}}, 2\frac{\lambda+\tilde{C}}{h^2}\right).$$

La conclusion découle de l'asymptotique de Weyl pour le Laplacien de Neumann/Dirichlet, voir par exemple [NS05, Introduction].

Notre objectif est d'obtenir une description très précise, dans le régime semi-classique, des éléments spectraux correspondant à l'intervalle  $I_h$ , beaucoup plus précise que la Proposition 1.2.3. Cela inclut aussi la description de la localisation près de la frontière du domaine  $\Omega$  des fonctions propres correspondantes (qui sont des états de bord). C'est l'objet du chapitre 5.

#### 1.2.2 Hamiltonien de Stark

Dans cette partie, nous nous intéressons à l'étude des basses valeurs propres de l'hamiltonien (en dimension N) suivant restreint à un ensemble ouvert  $\Omega$  de  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $N \ge 2$  (c'est l'opérateur défini en (1.8)) :

$$\mathcal{H} = \frac{-\hbar^2}{2m}\Delta + q\mathbf{F} \cdot \mathbf{x} = \frac{-\hbar^2}{2m} \sum_{i=1}^N \partial_{x_i}^2 + q\mathbf{F}x_1, \qquad (1.25)$$

agissant sur un sous-espace dense de  $L^2(\Omega)$  avec des conditions de Dirichlet au bord. Noter que nous avons choisi des coordonnées telles que **F** soit parallèle à l'axe  $x_1$ .

L'hamiltonien en (1.25) décrit un phénomène important en physique des semi-conducteurs <sup>9</sup> qui est l'*effet* Stark confiné quantique <sup>10</sup>. Les dispositifs semi-conducteurs les plus importants sont les puits quantiques,

<sup>9.</sup> Les semi-conducteurs jouent un rôle essentiel dans l'industrie et de nombreux appareils électroniques à base de semiconducteurs sont présents dans notre quotidien : ordinateurs de bureau, tablettes, smartphones, écrans plats, capteurs...

<sup>10.</sup> Le terme "confinement quantique" apparaît principalement si les mouvements des particules d'un semi-conducteur sont limités dans une ou plusieurs dimensions. Physiquement, le confinement peut être réalisé en interfaçant le semi-conducteur avec un isolateur

les fils quantiques et les boîtes quantiques, où le matériau est confiné dans une, deux et trois directions orthogonales, respectivement (voir [HV16, Chap. 8]). L'*effet Stark confiné quantique* a été considéré dans de nombreux travaux, par exemple, dans [BMCE83, MCD<sup>+</sup>84] pour les puits quantiques, dans [SN90, WKH13, WWY07, VdCMS03, LS05, Har09] pour les fils quantiques, et dans [Ped19, WWY08] pour les boîtes quantiques. L'article récent [CKP<sup>+</sup>22b] fournit plus de détails sur les aspects physiques de ce phénomène.

Les plus petites valeurs propres de cet opérateur ont été étudiées, partiellement numériquement, pour différentes géométries dans plusieurs articles tels que dans [SN90, WKH13] pour les carrés, dans [WWY07] pour les rectangles, dans [VdCMS03, LS05, Ped17] pour les disques, et dans [Har09] pour les anneaux. Concernant l'analyse dans le cas des champs électriques imaginaires, le lecteur ou la lectrice pourra aussi considérer par exemple [GH18, AGH19, AGH18].

**Laplacien électrique de Stark.** Soit  $N \ge 1$  et  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$  un ouvert borné régulier et connexe avec une frontière régulier. Nous travaillerons avec l'hypothèse suivante sur le domaine  $\Omega$ , voir Figure 1.1.

**Hypothèse 2.** On suppose qu'il existe un point unique  $A_0 \in \partial \Omega$  tel que la première composante de  $A_0$  soit donnée par :

$$x_{\min} = \inf_{(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_N) \in \Omega} x_1 = \min_{\mathbf{x} \in \overline{\Omega}} x_1.$$

Nous supposons également que  $\Omega$  est strictement convexe près de  $\mathcal{A}_0$ .



#### FIGURE 1.1 – Le domaine $\Omega$ .

Noter qu'en factorisant  $q\mathbf{F} > 0$  dans l'expression de  $\mathcal{H}$  dans (1.25), nous avons le Hamiltonien de Stark équipé des conditions au bord de Dirichlet

$$\mathscr{L}_h := -h^2 \Delta + x_1 = -h^2 (\partial_{x_1}^2 + \ldots + \partial_{x_N}^2) + x_1.$$
(1.26)

ou avec un autre semi-conducteur de plus grand gap [HK09, HV16].

Le domaine de  $\mathscr{L}_h$  est

$$\operatorname{Dom}(\mathscr{L}_h) = H^1_0(\Omega) \cap H^2(\Omega)$$

Cet opérateur apparaît dans la physique des semi-conducteurs où h est donné par

$$h = \frac{\hbar}{\sqrt{2mq\mathbf{F}}}$$

Pour être plus précis, l'opérateur  $\mathscr{L}_h$  est défini via le théorème d'extension de Friedrich (voir par exemple [LM54, Thms 2.1 & 2.2] et [Hel13, Chp.]), à partir de la forme quadratique fermée et semi-bornée

$$\mathscr{Q}_{h}(\varphi) = h^{2} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla \varphi(\mathbf{x})|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} + \int_{\Omega} x_{1} |\varphi(\mathbf{x})|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}, \quad \forall \varphi \in H_{0}^{1}(\Omega).$$

Puisque  $\Omega$  est borné, alors par [CR21, Thm. 4.19], le plongement de  $H_0^1(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^2(\Omega)$  est compact, donc l'opérateur auto-adjoint  $\mathscr{L}_h$  a une résolvante compacte. Son spectre est purement discret et formé d'une suite croissante de valeurs propres

$$\lambda_1(h) \leqslant \lambda_2(h) \leqslant \ldots \leqslant \lambda_n(h) \leqslant \ldots \to +\infty$$

où chaque valeur propre est répétée selon sa multiplicité.

Dans [CKP<sup>+</sup>22a], les auteurs ont trouvé un développement asymptotique à trois termes des valeurs propres  $\lambda_n(h)$  de l'opérateur  $\mathscr{L}_h$  défini en (1.26) sur un domaine  $\Omega$  de  $\mathbb{R}^2$  satisfaisant les conditions de l'Hypothèse 2.

**Théorème 1.2.4** ([CKP+22a]). *Pour tout*  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , *on a* 

$$\lambda_n(h) = x_{\min} + z_1 h^{\frac{2}{3}} + h(2n-1)\sqrt{\frac{\kappa_0}{2}} + \mathcal{O}(h^{\frac{4}{3}}) \quad lorsque \ h \to 0, \qquad (1.27)$$

où  $z_1 \approx 2.338$  est la valeur absolue du plus petit zéro de la fonction Airy et  $\kappa_0$  est la courbure positive en  $\mathcal{A}_0$ .

Heuristiquement, le troisième terme du développement peut être expliqué comme suit : sous un fort champ électrique (petit paramètre semi-classique h), la particule est poussée vers  $x_{\min}$  et se comporte comme un oscillateur harmonique dans la direction perpendiculaire au champ avec une constante élastique proportionnelle à la courbure en  $x_{\min}$ .

Notre but est d'établir l'influence du bord sur les valeurs propres  $\lambda_n(h)$  quelle que soit la dimension, c'est-à-dire de généraliser (1.27) à n'importe quelle dimension et de donner un développement asymptotique complet de  $\lambda_n(h)$ , lorsque  $h \to 0$  (dans la limite d'un fort champ électrique) et d'étudier également la localisation des états fondamentaux. En outre, généraliser nos techniques pour trouver un développement asymptotique complet des basses valeurs propres de l'opérateur plus général  $-h^2\Delta + V(\mathbf{x})$  où h est un petit paramètre et V est un potentiel réel régulier satisfaisant certaines conditions supplémentaires.

#### 1.3 Résultats obtenus et idées de démonstrations

Les travaux de cette thèse portent sur les extensions auto-adjointes et la théorie spectrale semi-classique des opérateurs de Schrödinger agissant sur des domaines bornés, des opérateurs électromagnétiques de Laplace couplés à différentes conditions aux limites (Robin, Neumann et Dirichlet). L'étude spectrale de ces opérateurs de Schrödinger est basée sur une méthode de réduction de dimension, afin d'exprimer le spectre

en fonction de celui d'opérateurs effectifs définis sur le bord. Pour établir cette réduction, j'ai utilisé plusieurs techniques telles que : l'approximation de Born-Oppenheimer, les estimations de localisation de type Agmon, la construction de quasimodes, le théorème spectral, et le principe min-max (pour les chapitres 3 et 4). Dans le chapitre 5, j'ai utilisé une autre méthode de réduction plus avancée, la méthode de Grushin qui nécessite l'analyse microlocale et des techniques de calcul pseudo-différentiel.

Nous allons présenter les résultats par ordre de difficulté/complexité croissante.

## **1.3.1** Perturbations magnétiques du Laplacien de Robin dans la limite du couplage fort (chapitre 3)

L'asymptotique des valeurs propres de l'opérateur  $\mathcal{P}^0_{\beta}$  (sans champ magnétique) dans la limite de couplage fort  $\beta \to -\infty$  a fait l'objet d'études récentes ([EMP14, HK17, Ker18, LP08, PP16, Kac16, KKR16]), et suggère l'existence d'un opérateur effectif sur le bord, faisant intervenir l'opérateur de Laplace-Beltrami ainsi que la courbure moyenne de la frontière. Le problème de la dérivation d'un Hamiltonien effectif a également été abordé pour étudier l'effet tunnel semi-classique en présence de symétries dans [HKR17]. Dans le même esprit, nous étudierons le spectre du Laplacien de Robin  $\mathcal{P}^b_{\beta}$  sur un domaine borné avec la condition de Robin attractive au bord (problème (1.10)-(1.11)).

#### 1.3.1.1 Présentation des résultats

Notre principal résultat est le Théorème 1.3.1 qui implique un opérateur effectif que nous introduisons ci-dessous. On note  $|\Omega|$  l'aire du domaine  $\Omega$  et  $|\partial\Omega|$  la longueur de sa frontière. Paramétrons la frontière  $\partial\Omega$  par la longueur de l'arc, que nous notons s. Nous rappelons que  $\kappa(s)$  est la courbure de  $\partial\Omega$  au point défini par la longueur d'arc s, avec la convention que  $\kappa(s) \ge 0$  quand  $\partial\Omega$  est convexe au voisinage de s, et négatif sinon. Notre opérateur effectif est un opérateur auto-adjoint dans l'espace de Hilbert  $L^2(\partial\Omega)$ , agissant sur des fonctions périodiques, et défini comme suit

$$\mathcal{L}_{\beta,\gamma_0}^{\text{eff}} = -\beta^{-2} (\partial_s - ib\gamma_0)^2 - 1 + \beta^{-1} \kappa(s)$$
  

$$\text{Dom}(\mathcal{L}_{\beta,\gamma_0}^{\text{eff}}) = H^2(\mathbb{R}/|\partial\Omega|\mathbb{Z})$$
(1.28)

avec  $\gamma_0$  le flux du champ magnétique,

$$\gamma_0 = \frac{|\Omega|}{|\partial\Omega|} \,. \tag{1.29}$$

Remarque 1.3.1. Par l'approximation semi-classique standard, on peut établir que

$$\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}^{\text{eff}}_{\beta,\gamma_0}) = -1 + \kappa_{\max}\beta^{-1} + o(\beta^{-1}) \quad \text{lorsque} \quad \beta \to -\infty, \tag{1.30}$$

оù

$$\kappa_{\max} = \max_{\partial \Omega} \kappa(s). \tag{1.31}$$

Nous allons décrire les asymptotiques des valeurs propres négatives de  $\mathcal{P}^b_{\beta}$ , via celles de l'opérateur effectif sur le bord. Plus précisément, la *n*-ième valeur propre de l'opérateur de Laplace  $\mathcal{P}^b_{\beta}$  est approchée par la *n*-ième valeur propre des opérateurs  $\mathcal{L}^{\text{eff}}_{\beta,\gamma_0}$ . Nous utiliserons la notation suivante :

$$M = \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(|\beta|^{\alpha}) \quad \text{ssi} \quad \forall \epsilon > 0, \ M = \mathcal{O}(|\beta|^{\alpha - \epsilon}).$$
(1.32)

**Théorème 1.3.1.** Soit  $0 \le \eta < \frac{3}{2}$  et  $0 < c_1 < c_2$ . On suppose que

$$c_1|\beta|^\eta \leqslant b \leqslant c_2|\beta|^\eta$$

*Pour tout*  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ *, lorsque*  $\beta$  *tend vers*  $-\infty$ *, on a* 

$$|\lambda_n(b,\beta) - \beta^2 \lambda_n(\mathcal{L}^{\text{eff}}_{\beta,\gamma_0})| = \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(\beta^{2(\eta-1)}),$$

où  $\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}^{\text{eff}}_{\beta,\gamma_0})$  est la n-ième valeur propre de l'opérateur effectif introduit en (1.28).

**Remarque 1.3.2.** *Ce théorème est valable sur n'importe quel domaine régulier borné de*  $\mathbb{R}^2$ *. Aucune hypothèse n'est faite sur la géometrie du bord, en particulier sur les points de courbures maximales, en comparaison avec le résultat* (1.15) *par exemple.* 

Il résulte du Théorème 1.3.1 et (1.30),

$$\lambda_n(b,\beta) = -\beta^2 + \kappa_{\max}\beta + \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(\beta^{2(\eta-1)}).$$
(1.33)

Lorsque *b* est une constante fixe (*i.e.*  $\eta = 0$ ), (1.33) est connu dans [KL22, Prop. 5.1] et en l'absence de champ magnétique (*b* = 0) dans (1.14). Noter que le terme de reste est d'ordre inférieur tant que  $\eta < \frac{3}{2}$ . Si  $\eta = \frac{3}{2}$ , on a par [Kac16],

$$\lambda_n(b,eta) = -eta^2 + \left(\kappa_{\max} + rac{b^2eta^{-3}}{4}
ight)eta + o(eta).$$

Dans une situation générique où la courbure a un unique maximum non dégénéré, le Théorème 1.3.1 permet de déterminer le terme d'ordre dominant de l'écart spectral entre les valeurs propres successives. Ceci est valable sous l'Hypothèse 1. Rappelons cette hypothèse :

 $\begin{cases} \kappa \text{ atteint son maximum } \kappa_{\max} \text{ en un point unique;} \\ \text{ le maximum est non dégénéré, } i.e. \ \kappa''(0) < 0 \,, \end{cases}$ 

où  $\kappa_{\max}$  est introduit en (1.31), désigne la courbure maximale le long de la frontière  $\partial\Omega$  et la paramétrisation de la longueur d'arc de la frontière est définie de sorte que  $\kappa(0) = \kappa_{\max}$ .

Sous l'Hypothèse 1, nous pouvons établir via l'approximation harmonique (cf. [Ray17, Sections 3.2 et 4.1.2] et [FH10b, Section 7.1]), l'asymptotique des valeurs propres de l'opérateur effectif :

$$\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{\beta,\gamma_0}^{\text{eff}}) = -1 + \kappa_{\max}\beta^{-1} + (2n-1)\sqrt{\frac{-\kappa''(0)}{2}|\beta|^{-3/2}} + o(|\beta|^{-3/2}).$$
(1.34)

Cela donne le corollaire suivant du Théorème 1.3.1 :

**Corollaire 1.3.1.** Soit  $0 \le \eta < \frac{5}{4}$  et  $0 < c_1 < c_2$ . On suppose que

$$c_1|\beta|^\eta \leqslant b \leqslant c_2|\beta|^\eta \,.$$

Sous l'Hypothèse 1, pour tout  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , quand  $\beta$  tend vers  $-\infty$ , on a

$$\lambda_n(b,\beta) = -\beta^2 + \kappa_{\max}\beta + (2n-1)\sqrt{\frac{-\kappa''(0)}{2}}|\beta|^{1/2} + o(|\beta|^{1/2}).$$

**Remarque 1.3.3.** La condition technique sur  $\eta$  apparaît comme suit. Après avoir inséré (1.34) dans l'estimation du Théorème 1.3.1, nous obtenons l'erreur  $\tilde{\mathcal{O}}(\beta^{2(\eta-1)})$ , qui est d'ordre  $o(|\beta|^{1/2})$  si et seulement si  $\eta < \frac{5}{4}$ .

Dans l'asymptotique du Corollaire 1.3.1, la dépendance par rapport à l'étiquetage des valeurs propres, n, apparaît dans le troisième terme du développement. Cependant, dans les situations génériques décrites

par l'Hypothèse 1, la contribution du champ magnétique est cachée dans le terme de reste, et est d'ordre inférieur par rapport à celle de la courbure. Le Corollaire 1.3.1 découle de l'asymptotique spectrale des opérateurs effectifs 1D, qui est valide sous une hypothèse plus faible sur l'intensité du champ magnétique  $(b = O(|\beta|^{5/4}))$  par rapport à celui du Théorème 1.3.1  $(b = O(|\beta|^{3/2}))$ .

Dans le cas du disque, l'Hypothèse 1 n'est pas vérifiée, mais nous pouvons améliorer le Théorème 1.3.1 et exhiber l'influence du champ magnétique dans les asymptotiques des valeurs propres les plus petites.

**Théorème 1.3.2.** Supposons que  $\Omega = D(0,1)$  est le disque unité et que  $0 \le \eta < 1$ . Nous avons, lorsque  $\beta \to -\infty$ ,

$$\lambda_1(b,\beta) = -\beta^2 + \beta + \left(\inf_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(m - \frac{b}{2}\right)^2 - \frac{1}{2}\right) + o(1),$$

uniformément par rapport à b jusqu'à  $b = \mathcal{O}(|\beta|^{\eta})$ .

Le Théorème 1.3.2 était connu lorsque *b* est fixé [KS20, Thm. 1.1]. La preuve du Théorème 1.3.2 est basée sur le Théorème 1.3.1, en utilisant les séries de Fourier. Le spectre de l'opérateur  $\mathcal{P}^b_\beta$  sur le disque unité est approché modulo o(1) par le spectre de l'opérateur effectif suivant, qui est plus précis que celui de (1.28) (noter que dans le disque unité, la courbure est constante et égal à 1).

$$\mathcal{L}_{\beta,\text{disc}}^{\text{eff}} = -\beta^{-2} (\partial_s - ib\gamma_0)^2 - 1 + \beta^{-1} - \frac{1}{2}\beta^{-2}.$$
(1.35)

#### 1.3.1.2 Stratégie de la démonstration

La stratégie pour la démonstration du Théorème 1.3.1 s'inspire de l'approximation de Born-Oppenheimer. Nous allons discuter ici la forme semi-classique des résultats, *i.e.* pour  $\beta = \gamma h^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  défini en (1.17), avec  $\gamma < 0$ . Pour simplifier, nous posons  $\gamma = -1$ .

Dans un premier temps, nous montrons, par l'estimation d'Agmon classique, que les fonctions propres de  $\mathcal{L}_{h,-1}^{b}$  (défini en (1.18) avec  $\gamma = -1$ ) associées à des valeurs propres plus petites que  $-\epsilon h$ , où  $\epsilon \in (0, 1)$ , sont uniformément localisées dans un voisinage d'ordre  $h^{1/2}$  du bord  $\partial\Omega$  (voir la Proposition 3.3.4). Nous pouvons donc nous ramener au Laplacien magnétique dans un voisinage tubulaire légèrement plus grossier du bord (voir la Section 3.3.3)

$$\Omega_{\delta} = \left\{ x \in \Omega : \operatorname{dist}(x, \Gamma) < \delta \right\}, \quad \operatorname{avec} \quad \delta = h^{\frac{1}{2} - \rho}, \, \rho \in (0, 1/2).$$

On dispose alors, pour  $h \in (0, h_0)$  assez petit, d'un système de coordonnées  $(s, t) \in \mathbb{R}/|\partial\Omega|\mathbb{Z} \times (0, \delta)$ , défini près du bord. La signification précise des coordonnées (s, t) est la suivante : t mesure la distance au bord et s mesure la distance curviligne dans  $\partial\Omega$ . Ces coordonnées standard sont introduites précisément dans la Section 3.2. L'opérateur auto-adjoint dans ces coordonnées agissant sur  $L^2(\mathbb{R}/|\partial\Omega|\mathbb{Z} \times (0, \delta), adsdt)$  est  $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_{h-1}^b$  défini par (voir la Section 3.3.4) :

$$\begin{cases} -h^2 a^{-1} \Big(\partial_s - ib\gamma_0 - ib\Big( -t + \frac{t^2}{2}\kappa(s)\Big)\Big) a^{-1} \Big(\partial_s - ib\gamma_0 - ib\Big( -t + \frac{t^2}{2}\kappa(s)\Big)\Big) - h^2 a^{-1}\partial_t a\partial_t \\ \operatorname{Dom}(\tilde{\mathcal{L}}^b_{h,-1}) = \{ u \in H^2(\operatorname{adsd} t) : u(s,\delta) = 0 \quad \text{et} \quad \partial_t u(s,0) = -h^{-1/2}u(s,0) \}, \end{cases}$$

où  $a = 1 - t\kappa(s)$ .

Commençons par révéler la structure partiellement semi-classique de notre opérateur, ce qui aura aussi

pour effet de rendre la condition au bord indépendante de h. On considère le changement d'échelle

$$(s, \tau) = (s, h^{-1/2}t).$$

L'opérateur auto-adjoint dans les nouvelles coordonnées  $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{h,-1}^b = h^{-1} \tilde{\mathcal{L}}_{h,-1}^b$  est défnie sur  $L^2(\mathbb{R}/|\partial\Omega|\mathbb{Z} \times (0, h^{-\rho}), \hat{a} ds dt)$  par (voir la Section 3.3.5) :

$$\begin{cases} \hat{\mathcal{L}}_{h,-1}^{b} = -h\hat{a}^{-1} \Big( \partial_{s} - ib\gamma_{0} - ib\Big( -h^{\frac{1}{2}}\tau + h\frac{\tau^{2}}{2}\kappa(s) \Big) \Big) \hat{a}^{-1} \Big( \partial_{s} - ib\gamma_{0} - ib\Big( -h^{\frac{1}{2}}\tau + h\frac{\tau^{2}}{2}\kappa(s) \Big) \Big) \\ -\hat{a}^{-1}\partial_{\tau}\hat{a}\partial_{\tau}, \\ \operatorname{Dom}(\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{h,-1}^{b}) = \left\{ u \in H^{2}(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}s\mathrm{d}t) \, : u(s,h^{-\rho}) = 0 \quad \text{et} \quad \partial_{\tau}u(s,0) = -u(s,0) \right\}, \end{cases}$$

où  $\hat{a}=1-h^{1/2}\tau\kappa(s).$ 

On voit apparaître un opérateur unidimensionnel défini pour s fixé, par (voir la Section 3.4.1)

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h} = -\hat{a}^{-1}\partial_{\tau}\hat{a}\partial_{\tau} = -\partial_{\tau}^{2} + h^{1/2}\kappa(s)\hat{a}^{-1}\partial_{\tau}\\ \partial_{\tau}u(s,0) = -u(s,0) \text{ dans } L^{2}((0,h^{-\rho}),\hat{a}\,\mathrm{d}\tau). \end{cases}$$

L'idée principale, due à Born et Oppenheimer dans [BO27], est de remplacer, pour *s* fixé, l'opérateur  $\mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h}$  par ses valeurs propres. Pour cette raison, en Section 3.4.2, on introduit la "projection de Feshbach"  $\Pi_s$  sur l'état fondamental normalisé de  $\mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h}$ , noté  $v_{\kappa(s),h}$ ,

$$\Pi_s \psi = \langle \psi, v_{\kappa(s),h} \rangle_{L^2((0,h^{-\rho}),\hat{a} \,\mathrm{d}\tau)} v_{\kappa(s),h}.$$

Notons que l'idée de considérer une projection de Feshbach apparaît dans de nombreux contextes différents : analyse WKB (voir par exemple [BNHR16, Sections 2.4 & 3.2], [HK17] et [HKR17]), convergence en norme de la résolvante (voir par exemple [KR14, Section 4.2] et [KRRS18]) ou limites adiabatiques espace/temps (voir [Teu03, Chapitre 3]).

Enfin, nous voulons prouver des bornes supérieures et inférieures sur les valeurs propres de  $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{h,-1}^b$ . Pour les bornes supérieures, nous insérons des fonctions de test presque explicites (produits quasi-tensoriels de fonctions sur la frontière et de l'état fondamental  $v_{\kappa(s),h}(\tau)$  de l'opérateur transverse  $\mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h}$ ). Pour la borne inférieure, on utilise la décomposition spectrale de l'opérateur transverse  $\mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h}$  pour décomposer  $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{h,-1}^b$ en deux composantes orthogonales, modulo quelques restes faisant intervenir le commutateur entre l'état fondamental transverse (dépendant de s) et la dérivée tangentielle  $\partial_s$ . Pour les détails, nous renvoyons le lecteur ou la lectrice aux Sections 3.4.4. et 3.4.5.

#### **1.3.2** Analyse semi-classique des opérateurs de Schrödinger avec des potentiels électriques linéaires sur un domaine borné (chapitre 4)

#### 1.3.2.1 Présentation des résultats

Dans [CKP<sup>+</sup>22a], en utilisant des fonctions tests et en appliquant le principe min-max, les auteurs ont trouvé un développement asymptotique à trois termes des valeurs propres  $\lambda_n(h)$  de l'opérateur  $\mathscr{L}_h$  (défini en (1.26)) sur un domaine  $\Omega$  de  $\mathbb{R}^2$  satisfaisant les conditions dans l'Hypothèse 2 (voir le Théorème 1.2.4). Notre but est de généraliser le résultat de [CKP<sup>+</sup>22a] à n'importe quelle dimension et de donner un développement asymptotique complet de  $\lambda_n(h)$ . Plus précisément, nous établissons un tel développement asymptotique en faisant intervenir l'endomorphisme de Weingarten de  $\partial\Omega$  en  $\mathcal{A}_0$  défini par (voir par exemple [Küh15, Chap. 3] et [Tho79, Chap. 9])

$$W_{\mathcal{A}_0} = \mathrm{d}_{\mathcal{A}_0}\nu : T_{\mathcal{A}_0}\partial\Omega \to T_{\mathcal{A}_0}\partial\Omega \tag{1.36}$$

où

 $\nu: \partial \Omega \to S^{N-1} \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ 

est l'application de Gauss de  $\partial\Omega$  et pour tout  $p \in \partial\Omega$ ,  $\nu(p)$  est la normale pointant vers l'extérieur à  $T_p\partial\Omega$ .

**Remarque 1.3.4.** L'Hypothèse 2 sur  $\Omega$  induit que la matrice de  $W_{\mathcal{A}_0}$  est définie positive. Ses valeurs propres positives  $(\kappa_i)_{i \ge 1}$  sont liées à la courbure de la frontière.

- 1. Les  $\kappa_i$  sont appelées courbures principales de  $\partial \Omega$  à  $\mathcal{A}_0$ .
- 2. det  $W_{\mathcal{A}_0}$  est la courbure gaussienne de  $\partial \Omega \ \dot{a} \ \mathcal{A}_0$ .
- 3.  $\frac{\operatorname{Tr} W_{\mathcal{A}_0}}{N-1}$  est la courbure moyenne de  $\partial \Omega \ \dot{a} \ \mathcal{A}_0$ .

Notre résultat principal est le suivant :

**Théorème 1.3.3.** Pour tout  $n \ge 1$ , il existe une suite réelle  $\{\zeta_{j,n}\}_{j\ge 0}$  telle que, pour tout  $M \in \mathbb{N}$ , on a

$$\lambda_n(h) =_{h \to 0} x_{\min} + z_1 h^{\frac{2}{3}} + \beta_n h + h^{4/3} \sum_{j=0}^M h^{j/6} \zeta_{j,n} + \mathscr{O}(h^{\frac{4}{3} + \frac{M+1}{6}}),$$

avec  $\beta_n$  est la n-ième valeur propre de l'oscillateur harmonique de dimension N-1

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N-1} -\partial_{u_i}^2 + \frac{\kappa_i}{2} \, u_i^2 \, ,$$

où  $\kappa_i$  sont les valeurs propres de l'endomorphisme de Weingarten de  $\partial\Omega$  en  $\mathcal{A}_0$ .

Ce résultat est essentiellement une généralisation de celui énoncé en (1.27), mais la preuve présentée ici, est basée sur une construction de quasimodes. L' "optimalité" de nos constructions est alors établie grâce à des estimations de décroissance et la réduction à des opérateurs modèles qui font intervenir un opérateur d'Airy sur  $\mathbb{R}_+$  et un oscillateur harmonique en dimension N - 1.

**Remarque 1.3.5.**  $\beta_n$  est le *n*-ième élément compté avec une multiplicité de

$$\Sigma = \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sqrt{\frac{\kappa_i}{2}} \left( 2n_i - 1 \right), n \in \mathbb{N}^{*N-1} \right\}.$$

*Remarquer que pour* N = 2, on a

$$\Sigma = \left\{ (2n-1)\sqrt{\frac{\kappa_1}{2}}, n \in \mathbb{N}^* \right\},\,$$

et tous les éléments sont de multiplicité un.

**Remarque 1.3.6.** Notre stratégie peut être adaptée pour traiter un nombre fini de minima non dégénérés, et il serait même possible d'étudier l'effet tunnel lorsque ces minima présentent des symétries.

#### 1.3.2.2 Stratégie de la démonstration

Dans un premier temps, nous montrons par une estimation d'Agmon, que les fonctions propres de  $\mathscr{L}_h$ ont une décroissance exponentielle en dehors de tout voisinage ne contenant pas  $\mathcal{A}_0$  (voir la Proposition 4.2.1). Par conséquent, la masse de toute fonction propre est essentiellement concentrée près du minimum du potentiel  $x_{\min}$ . Cela permet de travailler dans un voisinage tubulaire fin de  $\mathcal{A}_0$  (voir la Section 4.2.2).

Nous redressons localement la frontière en introduisant un système de coordonnées locales  $(s,t) \in \mathbb{R}^{N-1} \times \mathbb{R}_+$ , où t est la distance à la frontière et s est la variable tangentielle sur  $\partial\Omega$ . Ces coordonnées standard sont introduites précisément dans la Section 4.3.1. En Section 4.3.3, nous montrons que les fonctions propres sont localisées près de  $\mathcal{A}_0$  à une échelle  $h^{1/2}$  dans la direction s et à l'échelle  $h^{2/3}$  dans la direction t.

On rappelle une conséquence utile du théorème spectral (voir la Section A.1.3 présentée en Annexe), que si on trouve une bonne fonction  $\psi$  (appelée quasi-mode) et un nombre  $\lambda$ , tels que  $\|(\mathscr{L}_h - \lambda)\psi\| \leq \epsilon \|\psi\|$ , alors  $d(\lambda, \operatorname{Sp}(\mathscr{L}_h)) \leq \epsilon$ . Cette méthode permet d'exhiber des nombres  $\lambda$  proches du spectre à  $\epsilon$  près. On construit des quasi-modes à partir des fonctions propres des opérateurs modèles (opérateur d'Airy et l'oscillateur harmonique en dimension N - 1) qui sont introduits dans le chapitre 2.

En Section 4.4.1, on commence par effectuer un changement de variable local, grâce à l'estimation d'Agmon tubulaire

$$\sigma = h^{-\frac{1}{2}s} \quad \text{et} \quad \tau = h^{-\frac{2}{3}t}$$

qui nous ramène (presque) au domaine  $\mathbb{R}^{N-1} \times \mathbb{R}_+$ , on peut développer l'opérateur obtenu (notée  $\widetilde{\mathscr{G}}_h$ ) en puissances de h, en un sens formel, sans parler de convergence (on utilise la notation  $\sim$  au lieu du signe = pour un tel développement) :

$$\widetilde{\mathscr{L}_h} \sim \sum_{j \ge 0} h^{j/6} \mathcal{L}_j$$

avec

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{L}_0 = x_{\min}, \\ \mathcal{L}_1 = \mathcal{L}_2 = \mathcal{L}_3 = \mathcal{L}_5 = 0, \\ \mathcal{L}_4 = -\partial_{\tau}^2 + \tau, \\ \mathcal{L}_6 \text{ est unitairement équivalent à } \mathcal{H}_{\text{harm}} = \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} -\partial_{s_i}^2 + \frac{\kappa_i}{2} s_i^2 \end{cases}$$

où  $\kappa_i$  sont les valeurs propres de l'endomorphisme de Weingarten de  $\partial\Omega$  en  $\mathcal{A}_0$ , et l'on cherche des paires propres  $(\lambda, \psi)$ 

$$\lambda \sim x_{\min} + h^{2/3} \alpha_0 + h \alpha_1 + \dots$$
  
 $\psi \sim u(\tau) f(\sigma) + \dots$ 

vérifiant

$$\widetilde{\mathscr{L}_h}\psi\sim\lambda\psi.$$

\* Termes d'ordre  $h^{2/3}$ . On résout :

$$(\mathcal{L}_4 - \alpha_0)u(\tau)f(\sigma) = 0.$$

Il est naturel de choisir u la fonction propre de  $\mathcal{L}_4$  (c'est l'opérateur d'Airy défini en Section 2.2) avec  $\alpha_0$  est la valeur propre associée. On peut prendre

$$u(\tau) = Ai(\tau - z_1) \quad \text{et} \quad \alpha_0 = z_1,$$

où Ai est la fonction d'Airy normalisée  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^+)$  et  $-z_1$  est son premier zéro négatif.
\* Termes d'ordre h. On résout

$$\mathcal{L}_6 u(\tau) f(\sigma) = \alpha_1 u(\tau) f(\sigma).$$

On obtient alors que  $\alpha_1 \in \text{Sp}(\mathcal{L}_6)$  et que f est dans le sous espace propre associé. Comme  $\mathcal{L}_6$  est unitairement equivalent à  $\mathcal{H}_{\text{harm}}$ , on peut prendre  $\alpha_1$  est la n-ième valeur propre de  $\mathcal{H}_{\text{harm}}$ , notée  $\beta_n$ .

\* *Termes d'ordre supérieur*. Ce procédé peut s'appliquer à un ordre arbitrairement grand (voir la Section 4.4).

L'optimalité de nos constructions est alors établie grâce à une réduction aux opérateurs modèles. Les termes de reste sont contrôlés grâce aux estimés d'Agmon (voir la Section 4.5).

## **1.3.3** États de bord pour le Laplacien magnétique de Robin (chapitre 5)

Nous allons maintenant revenir au cœur de ce qui a motivé cette thèse et qui est un travail en collaboration avec L. Le Treust, N. Raymond et S. Vũ Ngọc (voir la Section 1.2.1.2 ci-avant).

#### 1.3.3.1 Opérateur de de Gennes avec condition de Robin

Nos résultats seront exprimés en termes de valeurs propres de l'opérateur de de Gennes avec condition de Robin au bord. Cet opérateur, qui apparaît naturellement dans l'étude des effets magnétiques près d'un bord [SJdG63, FH10b], est un opérateur différentiel d'ordre deux dépendant des paramètres réels  $\gamma$  et  $\sigma$  et agissant comme suit

$$H[\gamma,\sigma] = -\frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}\tau^2} + (\tau - \sigma)^2,$$

sur le domaine

$$\operatorname{Dom}(H[\gamma,\sigma]) = \left\{ u \in B^1(\mathbb{R}_+) : \left( -\frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}\tau^2} + (\tau-\sigma)^2 \right) u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+), \ u'(0) = \gamma \, u(0) \right\},$$

où

$$B^{1}(\mathbb{R}_{+}) = \{ u \in H^{1}(\mathbb{R}_{+}) : \tau u \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}) \}.$$

Il est bien connu que  $H[\gamma, \sigma]$  est un opérateur auto-adjoint à résolvante compacte. Ainsi, son spectre peut être écrit comme une suite croissante de valeurs propres  $(\mu_n(\gamma, \sigma))_{n \ge 1}$  (qui sont toutes simples grâce au théorème de Cauchy-Lipschitz). Nous désignons par  $u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}$  la suite normalisée des fonctions propres correspondantes. Nous posons

$$\Theta^{[n-1]}(\gamma) := \inf_{\sigma \in \mathbb{R}} \mu_n(\gamma, \sigma).$$

L'indice n-1 est compatible avec la notation utilisée dans le cas de l'opérateur de de Gennes (cas où  $\gamma = 0$ ), voir [FH10b, Section 3.2]. La famille  $(H[\gamma, \sigma])_{(\gamma, \sigma) \in \mathbb{R}^2}$  est analytique de type (B) (au sens de Kato, voir [Kat76, Chapitre VII, §4]), *i.e.*, le domaine de forme ne dépend pas des paramètres et la forme sesquilinéaire est analytique en fonction de  $\gamma$  ou  $\sigma$ . Par convention, nous notons par  $H[+\infty, \sigma]$  (*i.e.*  $\gamma = +\infty$ ) l'opérateur correspondant avec condition de Dirichlet u(0) = 0.

La proposition suivante regroupe les principales propriétés des fonctions  $\mu_n(\gamma, \cdot)$  (qui sont généralement appelées *courbes de dispersion*) qui seront utilisées dans cette section. La plupart d'entre elles ont été établies pour n = 1 dans [Kac06b] (voir également [Kac07, Kac08], et [DBP99] dans le cas de Dirichlet).

**Proposition 1.3.2.** *Fixons*  $n \ge 1$ *. Lorsque*  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ *, la fonction*  $\mu_n(\gamma, \cdot)$  *est analytique et* 

$$\lim_{\sigma \to -\infty} \mu_n(\gamma, \sigma) = +\infty, \quad \lim_{\sigma \to +\infty} \mu_n(\gamma, \sigma) = 2n - 1.$$
(1.37)

,

De plus,  $\mu_n(\gamma, \cdot)$  a un minimum unique atteint en  $\sigma = \xi_{n-1}(\gamma)$ , mais non atteint à l'infini. Ce minimum est non dégénéré. La fonction  $\mu_n(\gamma, \cdot)$  est décroissante sur  $(-\infty, \xi_{n-1}(\gamma))$  et croissante sur  $(\xi_{n-1}(\gamma), +\infty)$ . De plus, on a, pour tout  $n \ge 2$ ,

$$2n - 3 < \Theta^{[n-1]}(\gamma) < 2n - 1.$$
(1.38)

Lorsque  $\gamma = +\infty$ , c'est-à-dire lorsque la condition de Robin est remplacée par la condition de Dirichlet,  $\mu_n(+\infty, \cdot)$  est toujours lisse, mais désormais décroissante de  $+\infty$  à 2n - 1.

La preuve de la Proposition 1.3.2 sera donnée à la Section 2.4 (les méthodes de démonstration utilisées sont différentes de celles présentées en [Kac06b, Kac08]). Cette proposition a les conséquences élémentaires suivantes mais importantes pour notre analyse, qui sont illustrées dans la Figure 1.2 (réalisée par S. Vũ Ngọc).

**Corollaire 1.3.3.** Soit  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$  fixé. Soit  $\Theta$  l'ensemble de toutes les valeurs critiques des fonctions  $\mu_k$ :

$$\Theta = \{\Theta^{[n-1]}(\gamma), \quad n \ge 1\}.$$

Soit  $\Lambda$  l'ensemble des points limites des fonctions  $\mu_k$  à l'infini :

$$\Lambda := \{2n - 1, \quad n \ge 1\}.$$

Soit  $[a,b] \subset \mathbb{R}$  un intervalle disjoint de  $\Lambda$ . Soit n = 1 si a < 1 ou  $n \ge 2$  tel que  $[a,b] \subset (2n-3,2n-1)$ . (Dans le cas n = 1 on prend  $a = -\infty$ ). Il découle de (1.37) que pour tout entier  $k \ge 1$ ,  $\mu_k^{-1}([a,b])$  est compact.

So t p(k) le nombre de composantes connexes de  $\mu_k^{-1}([a, b])$ . Nous avons

$$\begin{cases} p(k) = 1 & \text{if } 1 \leqslant k < n \\ p(n) = 0 & \text{if } \gamma = +\infty \\ p(n) = 1 & \text{if } \gamma \in \mathbb{R} \text{ et } \Theta^{[n-1]} \in [a, b] \\ p(n) = 2 & \text{if } \gamma \in \mathbb{R} \text{ et } \Theta^{[n-1]} < a \\ p(n) = 0 & \text{if } \gamma \in \mathbb{R} \text{ et } b < \Theta^{[n-1]} \\ p(k) = 0 & \text{if } k > n \,. \end{cases}$$

*Par conséquent, quand*  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ *,* 

$$N(\gamma, a, b) := \#\{k \ge 1 : \mu_k(\gamma, \cdot)^{-1}([a, b]) \ne \emptyset\} = \begin{cases} n & \text{si } b \ge \Theta^{[n-1]}(\gamma) \\ n-1 & \text{sinon} \end{cases}$$

*et si*  $\gamma = +\infty$  (*cas de Dirichlet*) *alors*  $\mu_1(+\infty, \cdot)$  *ne prend aucune valeur dans*  $(-\infty, 1)$ , *et*  $N(\gamma, a, b) = n-1$ .

Notation 1.3.4. Dorénavant, nous désignons par  $N(\gamma, a, b) = N$  ce cardinal.

**Hypothèse 3.** Dans la suite, a et b sont autorisés à dépendre de h, dès lors qu'ils restent dans un intervalle indépendant de h compact (2n - 3, 2n - 1).



FIGURE 1.2 – Cette figure montre les courbes de dispersion  $\mu_k(\gamma, \cdot)$ , pour  $\gamma = -1$ . On visualise la préimage d'un intervalle donné  $[a, b] \subset (2n - 3, 2n - 1)$  avec n = 3. Les courbes sont obtenues par un schéma numérique standard basé sur les différences finies.

Avec cette image à l'esprit, pour chaque  $k \ge 1$ , nous pouvons construire une fonction régulière  $\mathring{\mu}_k$ , bornée (avec toutes ses dérivées), qui coïncide avec  $\mu_k$  dans un voisinage de  $\mu_k^{-1}([a, b])$ .

**Notation 1.3.5.** Soit  $\Xi_0 : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  une fonction régulière, bornée avec toutes ses dérivées, et croissante telle que pour tout  $k \in \{1, ..., N\}$ ,  $\mu_k(\gamma, \Xi_0(\sigma)) = \mu_k(\gamma, \sigma)$  dans un voisinage de  $\mu_k^{-1}([a, b])$  et  $\mu_k \circ \Xi_0$  prend ses valeurs dans  $(-\infty, a) \cup (b, +\infty)$  loin de  $\mu_k^{-1}([a, b])$ . Nous considérons

$$\overset{\circ}{\mu}_k := \mu_k(\gamma, \Xi_0(\cdot)), \tag{1.39}$$

où nous omettons la référence au paramètre  $\gamma$  pour alléger la notation. Dans la suite, nous désignerons plus généralement par  $\overset{\circ}{\varphi}$ , la fonction  $\varphi$  après  $\Xi_0$ .

Les fonctions bornées  $\mathring{\mu}_k$  seront pratiques pour énoncer notre théorème principal, qui fait intervenir des opérateurs  $h^{\frac{1}{2}}$ -pseudo-différentiels avec des symboles dans la classe habituelle  $S_{\mathbb{R}^2}(1)$  donnée par

$$S_{\mathbb{R}^2}(1) = \{ a \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2_{s,\sigma}) : \forall \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^2, \exists C_{\alpha} > 0 : |\partial^{\alpha} a| \leqslant C_{\alpha} \}.$$

Notons  $\hbar = h^{\frac{1}{2}}$ . Nous rappelons que la quantification de Weyl d'un symbole p est donnée par la formule :

$$(\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{W}}p)\psi(x) = \frac{1}{2\pi\hbar} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} e^{i(x-y)\eta/\hbar} p\left(\frac{x+y}{2},\eta\right)\psi(y)\mathrm{d}y\mathrm{d}\eta\,,\quad\forall\psi\in\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}),\tag{1.40}$$

et que cette formule définit un opérateur bornée de  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  en  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  si  $p \in S_{\mathbb{R}^2}(1)$ , par le théorème de Calderón-Vaillancourt. Pour abréger la notation, nous écrirons parfois  $p^W$  au lieu de  $Op_{\hbar}^W p$ .

Soit  $\mathbf{T}_{2L} = \mathbb{R}/2L\mathbb{Z}$ , et  $L^2(\mathbf{T}_{2L})$  le sous-ensemble de  $L^2_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R})$  des fonctions 2L-périodiques, munies de la norme  $L^2$  habituelle sur [0, 2L], où L est la demi-longueur de la frontière. On dit  $p \in S_{\mathbf{T}_{2L} \times \mathbb{R}}(1)$ , lorsque  $p \in S_{\mathbb{R}^2}(1)$  et qu'elle est 2L-périodique dans sa première variable s. On désigne par  $e^{i\alpha}$  la fonction  $x \mapsto e^{i\alpha x}$ .

#### **1.3.3.2** Présentation des résultats

Décrivons maintenant nos principaux résultats de cette section, qui seront exprimés en termes d'opérateurs pseudo-différentiels en une dimension. Puisque notre résultat principal décrit le spectre de  $\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}$  (défini en Notation 1.2.2) "modulo  $\mathscr{O}(h^{\infty})$ ", nous devons préciser cette notion.

**Définition 1.3.6.** On dira que les spectres de deux opérateurs auto-adjoints auto-adjoints  $T_1$  et  $T_2$  dépendant de h coïncident dans  $I_h$  modulo  $\mathscr{O}(h^{\alpha})$ ,  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R} \sqcup \{+\infty\}$ , lorsqu'il existe  $C, h_0 > 0$  tel que, pour tout  $h \in (0, h_0)$ ,

- $T_1$  et  $T_2$  ont un spectre discret dans  $I_h + [-Ch^{\alpha}, Ch^{\alpha}]$ ,
- pour tout intervalle  $J_h \subset I_h$  on peut trouver un intervalle  $K_h$  tel que  $J_h \subset K_h$  avec  $d_H(K_h, J_h) \leq Ch^{\alpha}$  et

 $\operatorname{rank} \mathbb{1}_{J_h}(T_1) \leqslant \operatorname{rank} \mathbb{1}_{K_h}(T_2), \quad \operatorname{rank} \mathbb{1}_{J_h}(T_2) \leqslant \operatorname{rank} \mathbb{1}_{K_h}(T_1),$ 

où  $d_H$  représente la distance de Hausdorff :

$$d_H(A,B) = \sup_{(a,b)\in A\times B} \max(d(a,B), d(b,A)).$$

**Remarque 1.3.7.** — Notons que, si les spectres de  $T_1$  et  $T_2$  coïncident dans  $I_h$  modulo  $\mathcal{O}(h^{\alpha})$ , alors, pour tout  $\widetilde{I}_h \subset I_h$ , les spectres de  $T_1$  et  $T_2$  coïncident dans  $\widetilde{I}_h$  modulo  $\mathcal{O}(h^{\alpha})$ .

— Si les spectres de  $T_1$  et  $T_2$  coïncident dans  $I_h$  modulo  $\mathcal{O}(h^{\alpha})$ , on a

$$d_H(\operatorname{Sp}(T_1) \cap I_h, \operatorname{Sp}(T_2) \cap I_h) = \mathscr{O}(h^{\alpha})$$

La notion décrite dans la Définition 1.3.6 apparaît déjà sous diverses formes dans la littérature (voir, par exemple, le point de vue dans [HS84, Section 1] et [Hel88, §4]).

Nous pouvons maintenant énoncer notre résultat principal, où nous utilisons, entre autres, les valeurs propres  $\mu_k(\gamma, \sigma)$  et les fonctions propres  $u_k^{[\gamma,\sigma]}$  de l'opérateur de de Gennes (Section 1.3.3.1), l'entier N défini dans (1.3.4), et la notation introduite dans (1.39).

**Théorème 1.3.4.** Sous l'hypothèse 2, le spectre de  $\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}$  dans [ha, hb] coïncide avec celui de  $h\mathfrak{M}_h$  modulo  $\mathscr{O}(h^2)$ , où

$$\mathfrak{M}_{h} := \begin{bmatrix} m_{1}^{\mathsf{W}} & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & m_{2}^{\mathsf{W}} & \vdots \\ \vdots & & \ddots & 0 \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & m_{N}^{\mathsf{W}} \end{bmatrix}$$

est un opérateur borné agissant diagonalement sur  $e^{i\alpha(h)} L^2(\mathbf{T}_{2L})^N$ . Ici

$$\alpha(h) = \frac{|\Omega|}{|\partial\Omega|h},$$

et chaque  $m_k^W$  est un opérateur pseudodifférentiel  $h^{\frac{1}{2}}$  avec un symbole dans  $S_{\mathbf{T}_{2L} \times \mathbb{R}}(1)$ . Dénotons par  $(s, \sigma)$  les variables (canoniques) dans  $\mathbf{T}_{2L} \times \mathbb{R}$ . Alors nous avons :

- le symbole principal de  $m_k^W$  est  $\mu_k^{\circ}(\sigma)$ ;
- le sous-symbole principal est  $-\kappa(s) \overset{\circ}{C}_{k}(\sigma)$  avec

$$C_k(\sigma) = \left\langle \left( (\tau - \sigma)\tau^2 - \partial_\tau - 2\tau(\sigma - \tau)^2 \right) u_k^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(\tau), \ u_k^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(\tau) \right\rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}, \tag{1.41}$$

et  $\kappa(s)$  est la courbure de la frontière au point d'abscisse curviligne s.

**Remarque 1.3.8.** On peut vérifier que, pour tout  $j \ge 1$ ,  $C_j(\xi_{j-1}(\gamma))$  a le même signe que  $\gamma_0^{[j-1]} - \gamma$ , voir la Proposition 5.6.2 où le seuil  $\gamma_0^{[j-1]}$  est discuté. La Proposition 5.6.2 corrige également une erreur dans [Kac06b, Lemma II.3 & (2.24)], où il est indiqué que  $C_1(\xi_0(\gamma))$  est toujours positif.

Il est important de noter que le Théorème 1.3.4 est en fait un résultat de diagonalisation puisqu'il réduit l'analyse spectrale de  $\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}$  à celle d'une famille d'opérateurs pseudo-différentiels en une dimension : le spectre de  $\mathfrak{M}_h$  est la superposition (en comptant les multiplicités) des spectres de  $m_k^W$ ,  $k = 1, \ldots, N$ . Il s'avère que le spectre de chacun de ces opérateurs pseudo-différentiels peut être complètement décrit en utilisant des raffinements de résultats connus. En effet, on remarque que les symboles principaux  $\mu_j^{\circ} := \mu_j \circ \Xi_0$ ont des particularités :

- Ils ne dépendent que de la variable de fréquence  $\sigma$ .
- En tant que fonctions de  $\sigma$ , ils ont un point critique unique, qui est un minimum non dégénéré (Proposition 1.3.2).

Ainsi, d'un point de vue microlocal, seules deux situations sont à considérer :

- E est une valeur régulière de  $\mu_{j}^{\circ}$ , et alors les règles bien connues de Bohr-Sommerfeld s'appliquent (voir, par exemple, [Roz75, HR82, HR84, Dui74]).
- E est une valeur critique de  $\overset{\circ}{\mu_j}$ , auquel cas le hamiltonien  $(s, \sigma) \mapsto \overset{\circ}{\mu_j}(\sigma)$  admet un minimum transversal sur un cercle, et l'étude récente [DV21] s'applique.

Notre première application concerne le cas où l'intervalle [a, b] consiste en des valeurs régulières de tous les  $\mu_k$ . Nous utiliserons le résultat spectral bien connu, une extension à tous les ordres des règles de Bohr-Sommerfeld (voir, par exemple, [Roz75, HR82, HR84, Dui74]), que nous prouvons au chapitre 5 (voir la Section 5.5). Nous obtenons le résultat suivant, où nous utilisons la notation du Corollaire 1.3.3 et du Théorème 1.3.4.

**Corollaire 1.3.7** (Spectre à des valeurs régulières). Soit [a, b] un intervalle disjoint de  $\Theta$  et  $\Lambda$ . Pour chaque  $k = 1, \ldots, N$ , pour chaque  $q = 1, \ldots, p(k)$ , soit  $\Sigma_{k,q} \subset \mathbb{R}$  un intervalle tel que  $\mu_k(\gamma, \cdot)$  est un difféomorphisme de  $\Sigma_{k,q}$  vers un voisinage de [a, b], de telle sorte que tous les  $\Sigma_{k,q}$  sont disjoints deux à deux et que  $\bigcup_{q=1}^{p(k)} \Sigma_{k,q}$  contienne  $\mu_k(\gamma, \cdot)^{-1}([a, b])$  (c'est-à-dire  $\mu_k$  doit être monotone sur  $\Sigma_{k,q}$ ). Alors, il existe une fonction régulière  $\Sigma_{k,q} \ni \sigma \mapsto f_{k,q}(\sigma, \hbar) \in \mathbb{R}$  avec un développement asymptotique

$$f_{k,q}(\sigma,\hbar) \sim f_{k,q,0}(\sigma) + \hbar f_{k,q,1}(\sigma) + \hbar^2 f_{k,q,2}(\sigma) + \cdots$$

tel que le spectre de  $\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}$  dans [ha, hb] coïncide, modulo  $\mathscr{O}(h^2)$ , avec l'union disjointe

$$\left(\bigsqcup_{k=1}^{N}\bigsqcup_{q=1}^{p(k)}\left\{hf_{k,q}(\sigma,h^{\frac{1}{2}}),\,\sigma\in h^{\frac{1}{2}}(\frac{\pi}{L}\mathbb{Z}+\alpha(h))\cap\Sigma_{k,q}\right\}\right)\cap\left[ha,hb\right].$$

De plus, nous avons, lorsque  $\sigma \in \Sigma_{k,q}$ ,

$$f_{k,q,0}(\sigma) = \mu_k(\gamma, \sigma)$$

$$f_{k,q,1}(\sigma) = -\langle \kappa \rangle C_k(\sigma)$$
(1.42)
(1.43)

où  $\langle \kappa \rangle$  est la courbure moyenne :

$$\langle \kappa \rangle = \frac{1}{2L} \int_0^{2L} \kappa(s) \mathrm{d}s.$$

Puisque les premiers termes (1.42) et (1.43) ne dépendent pas de q (en dehors du domaine de définition  $\Sigma_{k,q}$ ) nous obtenons que le spectre de  $\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}$  dans [ha, hb] coïncide, modulo  $\mathscr{O}(h^2)$ , avec l'union disjointe

$$\bigsqcup_{k=1}^{N} \left\{ h\mu_{k}(\gamma,\sigma) - h^{\frac{3}{2}} \langle \kappa \rangle \overset{\circ}{C}_{k}(\sigma), \quad \sigma \in h^{\frac{1}{2}}(\frac{\pi}{L}\mathbb{Z} + \alpha(h)) \right\} \cap [ha, hb]$$

Comme application de ce corollaire, nous obtenons une formule très précise pour le nombre de valeurs propres de  $\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}$  dans [ha, hb], qui est bien inférieure à l'estimation (1.24) :

**Théorème 1.3.5** (Formule de Weyl précise). Soit  $I_h = [ha, hb]$  où [a, b] est un intervalle disjoint de  $\Theta$  et  $\Lambda$ . Alors, le nombre de valeurs propres de  $\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}$  dans  $I_h$  est

$$N(\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}, I_h) = \left\lfloor \frac{L}{\pi h^{1/2}} \sum_{k,q} \delta_{k,q}^{[0]} + \frac{L\langle \kappa \rangle}{\pi} \sum_{k,q} \delta_{k,q}^{[1]} + \mathscr{O}(h^{1/2}) \right\rfloor,$$

où nous utilisons la notation  $\sum_{k,q} := \sum_{k=1}^{N} \sum_{q=1}^{p(k)}$ , et

$$\delta_{k,q}^{[0]} := |\alpha_{k,q} - \beta_{k,q}|, \qquad \delta_{k,q}^{[1]} := \frac{C_k(\beta_{k,q})}{|\mu'_k(\beta_{k,q})|} - \frac{C_k(\alpha_{k,q})}{|\mu'_k(\alpha_{k,q})|},$$

avec  $\alpha_{k,q} := \mu_{k,q}^{-1}(a)$ ,  $\beta_{k,q} := \mu_{k,q}^{-1}(b)$ .

Dans cet énoncé, nous avons noté  $\mu_{k,q} := \mu_k(\gamma, \cdot)_{|\Sigma_{k,q}}$ . Remarquons que, comme le reste  $\mathscr{O}(h^{1/2})$  tend vers 0, on obtient que, lorsque h est suffisamment petit,  $N(\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}, I_h)$  est égal à la partie partie entière de  $\frac{L}{\pi h^{1/2}} \sum_{k,q} \delta_{k,q}^{[0]} + \frac{L\langle\kappa\rangle}{\pi} \sum_{k,q} \delta_{k,q}^{[1]}$ , ou ce plus ou moins 1.

**Remarque 1.3.9.** Le Corollaire 1.3.7 donne une description beaucoup plus précise du spectre que l'estimation dans la Proposition 1.2.3 en nous fournissant des approximations explicites des valeurs propres dans [ha, hb]modulo  $\mathcal{O}(h^2)$ . Lorsque  $\gamma = +\infty$  (i.e. dans le cas Dirichlet), cela améliore également la description donnée dans [GV21, Corollaire 2.7] concernant une fenêtre spectrale mince contenant une valeur régulière. De plus, bien que nos résultats soient formulés en termes d'approximation des valeurs propres, la stratégie, basée sur les projections microlocales, conduisant au Théorème 1.3.4 peut également être utilisée pour décrire les espaces propres de  $\mathcal{L}_{h,\gamma}$  à l'aide de ceux de  $\mathfrak{M}_h$ . Notre théorème principal s'applique également au cas où la fenêtre spectrale contient une valeur critique, *i.e.* un élément de  $\Theta$ , voir Corollaire 1.3.3 (une telle valeur critique est le minimum global unique minimum global non dégénéré d'une courbe de dispersion unique, voir Proposition 1.3.2). Pour illustrer cela, concentrons-nous sur les valeurs propres basses. Notre deuxième corollaire améliore le [Kac06b, Théorème I.5,  $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}$ ] en établissant l'asymptotique spectrale des valeurs propres les plus basses et en présentant des écarts spectraux d'ordre  $h^{\frac{7}{4}}$  (au lieu de  $h^{\frac{3}{2}}$  dans le cas de valeurs régulières) pour chaque courbe de dispersion donnée. Il étend également à tout paramètre de Robin le résultat obtenu par Fournais et Helffer dans [FH06] lorsque  $\gamma = 0$ .

Une fois que le Théorème 1.3.4 est appliqué et a réduit l'analyse à un seul opérateur  $h^{\frac{1}{2}}$ -pseudo-différentiel, ce corollaire devient essentiellement une application de [DV21, Proposition 6.8], cf. Section 5.5.2 du chapitre 5 où nous donnons quelques détails.

**Corollaire 1.3.8.** Considérons  $\gamma \neq \gamma_0^{[0]}$  avec  $\gamma_0^{[0]}$  défini dans la Remarque 1.3.8, et soit  $\epsilon = \operatorname{sign}(\gamma_0^{[0]} - \gamma) = \operatorname{sign}(C_1(\xi_0(\gamma)))$ . Supposons que  $\epsilon \kappa$  admet un maximum unique en  $s_{\max}$ , lequel est non dégénéré. Alors, pour tout  $j \ge 1$ , uniformément quand  $jh^{\frac{1}{4}} = o(1)$ ,

$$\lambda_j(\gamma,h) = \Theta^{[0]}(\gamma)h - \kappa_{\max}C_1(\xi_0(\gamma))h^{\frac{3}{2}} + \left((2j-1)\sqrt{\frac{C_1(\xi_0(\gamma))k_2\mu_1''(\gamma,\xi_0(\gamma))}{4}}\right)h^{\frac{7}{4}} + o(h^{\frac{7}{4}}),$$

avec  $k_2 = -\kappa''(s_{\max}) > 0$ ,  $\lambda_j(\gamma, h)$  est la j-ième valeur propre de  $\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}$  et où l'on rappelle que  $\xi_0(\gamma)$  est donné dans la Proposition 1.3.2.

**Remarque 1.3.10.** *Terminons la description de nos résultats par quelques commentaires sur les conséquences et les extensions découlant de notre approche.* 

- (i) Le Corollaire 1.3.8 décrit les valeurs propres basses avec une certaine uniformité dans j (ce qui n'était pas le cas dans [FH06]), dans un intervalle de la forme (-∞, Θ<sup>[0]</sup>(γ)h + Ch<sup>3/2</sup>]. D'autre part, le Corollaire 1.3.7 donne le spectre dans tout intervalle de la forme [ha, hb] avec a > Θ<sup>0</sup>(γ) et b < 1. On a donc un intervalle spectral entre ces deux régimes que nous ne décrivons pas ici. En fait, en utilisant des résultats spectraux raffinés pour les opérateurs pseudodifférentiels 1D, et en particulier la stratégie de [DV21] dans le cas où κ est une fonction de Morse, il serait également possible d'établir un résultat similaire au Corollaire 1.3.7. Ce résultat dépendrait du signe de γ γ<sub>0</sub><sup>[n-1]</sup> (qui change la nature de l'asymptotique spectrale, voir ci-dessous).
- (ii) Lorsque  $\gamma > \gamma_0^{[0]}$  et sous l'hypothèse que la courbure a un minimum unique, qui est non dégénéré, nous pouvons prouver un développement similaire à celle du Corollaire 1.3.8. Dans ce cas, notre analyse peut être utilisée pour prouver que les fonctions propres (associées aux valeurs propres basses) sont concentrées près des points de courbure minimale. Ceci contraste avec le cas de Neumann où les points de courbure maximale jouent le rôle de puits d'attraction. Ce phénomène n'avait pas été observé auparavant, voir la Remarque 1.3.8.
- (iii) Le cas  $\gamma = \gamma_0^{[0]}$  est critique puisque  $C_1(\xi_0(\gamma)) = 0$ . Cependant, notre analyse peut encore être utilisée en calculant des termes sous-principaux supplémentaires dans notre opérateur effectif. Un phénomène similaire a récemment été observé dans l'étude de l'opérateur de Dirac magnétique [BLTRS23, Section 8] et également dans l'analyse de l'opérateur de Schrödinger magnétique avec des champs magnétiques discontinus [FHKR22]. Dans ce cas, nous avons, pour tout  $j \ge 1$ ,

$$\lambda_j(\gamma, h) = \Theta^{[0]}(\gamma)h + h^2\lambda_j(\mathscr{A}_h) + o(h^2),$$

оù

$$\mathscr{A}_h = \frac{\partial_\sigma^2 \mu(\gamma, \xi_0(\gamma))}{2} (D_s + \alpha(h) - h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \xi_0(\gamma))^2 + C_\gamma \kappa^2(s),$$

pour un certain  $C_{\gamma} \in \mathbb{R}$ . Dans ce régime de transition, l'opérateur effectif n'est pas semi-classique.

(iv) Lorsque la courbure  $\kappa$  est constante, dans le cas où  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ , nous sommes dans une situation dégénérée assez similaire au cas où  $\gamma = \gamma_0^{[0]}$ . En ce qui concerne les opérateurs  $m_k^W$  du Théorème 5.1.7, ce cas correspond à [DV21, Proposition 6.4]. Nous pouvons prouver un développement sous la forme

$$\lambda_j(\gamma, h) = \Theta^{[0]}(\gamma)h - \kappa C_1(\xi_0(\gamma))h^{\frac{3}{2}} + h^2\lambda_j(\mathscr{A}_h) + o(h^2).$$

*Ici, les valeurs propres de*  $\mathscr{A}_h$  génèrent des oscillations magnétiques, voir [DV21, Théorème 2.2; k = 0]. Lorsque  $\gamma = 0$  et j = 1, une estimation similaire est décrite dans [FH06, Theorem 5.3.1].

## 1.3.3.3 Stratégie de la démonstration

Décrivons les grandes lignes de la preuve du Théorème 1.3.4.

Dans un premier temps, nous prouvons que les fonctions propres associées aux valeurs propres de  $\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}$ dans [ha, hb] sont exponentiellement localisées près du bord de  $\Omega$ , voir la Proposition 5.2.1. Les estimations ressemblent à celles d'Agmon, mais elles ne sont pas obtenues par les moyens variationnels habituels (voir par exemple, [Hel88] ou [Ray17, Prop. 4.7]), comme c'est le cas dans de nombreux contextes magnétiques. Cela échoue ici, puisque nous voulons considérer des valeurs propres entre deux niveaux de Landau consécutifs. Pour surmonter ce problème, notre stratégie, qui généralise la méthode variationnelle, est basée sur la bijectivité du Laplacien magnétique entre des espaces  $L^2$  à poids exponentiels.

La localisation exponentielle près de la frontière à l'échelle d'ordre  $h^{1/2}$  nous invite à utiliser les coordonnées tubulaires classiques (s, t) près de la frontière. Nous notons par  $\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\gamma}$ , l'opérateur  $\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}$  en coordonnées (s, t), défini dans la Section 5.3.1. Après avoir montrer une estimation d'Agmon pour  $\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\gamma}$  (voir la Section 5.6.3.1), nous établisons dans l'Appendice 5.6.3, que les spectres de  $\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}$  et  $\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\gamma}$  coïncident modulo  $\mathscr{O}(h^{\infty})$ . Maintenant, le problème est que nous ne pouvons pas réduire directement le problème à un problème près du bord. En fait, si nous considérons l'opérateur dans un voisinage tubulaire avec des conditions de Dirichlet  $(\gamma = +\infty)$  sur le bord extérieur et intérieur de ce voisinage, et par suite par les estimations d'Agmon, nous ne pouvons pas localiser le problème dans ce voisinage tubulaire. Pour ce faire, nous allons introduire une fonction de troncature en t près de 0, notée  $\zeta$ .

Ensuite, afin d'obtenir une condition au bord indépendante de h, on se ramène à un problème partiellement semi-classique par le changement d'échelle <sup>11</sup>

$$(s,t) = (s,h^{1/2}\tau).$$

Nous introduisons un opérateur modèle  $\mathcal{N}_{\hbar}$  (voir la Section 5.3.2) dépendant du paramètre effectif semiclassique  $\hbar = h^{\frac{1}{2}}$ , agissant sur des fonctions 2L périodiques et impliquant un terme de flux  $\mathfrak{f}_0 \left(\mathfrak{f}_0 = \frac{|\Omega|}{|\partial\Omega|}\right)$ 

$$\mathscr{N}_{\hbar} = \hat{a}_{\hbar}(s,\tau)^{-1} p_{s,\hbar}^{\Xi_0} \hat{a}_{\hbar}(s,\tau)^{-1} p_{s,\hbar}^{\Xi_0} - \hat{a}_{\hbar}(s,\tau)^{-1} \partial_{\tau} \hat{a}_{\hbar}(s,\tau) \partial_{\tau} ,$$

<sup>11.</sup> En Section 5.3.2, nous définissons  $\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\gamma}$ , l'opérateur après le changement de variable et après la troncature  $\zeta$  en t. Par des estimations d'Agmon (voir la Proposition 5.6.5), nous pouvons montrer que les spectres de  $\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\gamma}$  et  $\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\gamma}$  sont coïncident modulo  $\mathscr{O}(h^{\infty})$ . Ceci nous permet de nous concentrer sur l'analyse spectrale de  $\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\gamma}$ . En fait, dans notre présentation, nous avons évité l'analyse spectrale de  $\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\gamma}$  (existence du spectre discret, etc.).

où

$$p_{s,\hbar}^{\Xi_0} = \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{W} \Xi_0(\cdot + \theta) - \tau + \hbar \kappa(s) \frac{\hat{\tau}^2}{2}, \quad \theta = \hbar^{-1} \mathfrak{f}_0.$$
$$\hat{a}_{\hbar}(s,\tau) = 1 - \hbar \hat{\tau} \kappa \quad \text{avec} \quad \hat{\tau} = \zeta(\hbar^{2\eta} \tau) \tau = \zeta_{\eta}(\tau) \tau,$$

où  $\zeta$  est une fonction régulier égale à 1 près de 0 et  $0 < \eta < \frac{1}{2}$ .

$$\operatorname{Dom}(\mathscr{N}_{\hbar}) = \{ u \in L^{2}(\mathbf{T}_{2L} \times \mathbb{R}_{+}) : -\partial_{\tau}^{2} u \in L^{2}(\mathbf{T}_{2L} \times \mathbb{R}_{+}), \\ \tau^{2} u \in L^{2}(\mathbf{T}_{2L} \times \mathbb{R}_{+}), \partial_{\tau} u(\cdot, 0) = \gamma u(\cdot, 0) \}.$$

Nous montrons que les fonctions propres de  $\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}$  associées aux valeurs propres dans [ah, bh] sont grossièrement microlocalisées dans un ensemble compact de l'espace des phases attaché à la frontière <sup>12</sup>, voir la Proposition 5.3.1. Ceci permet de prouver que le spectre de  $\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}$  (entre les niveaux de Landau) est situé près de celui de  $h\mathscr{M}_{\hbar}$ , voir Proposition 5.3.2. Cependant, on verra que la Proposition 5.3.2 n'est pas directement utile pour établir nos théorèmes principaux. Elle est plutôt un prétexte pour motiver l'introduction de  $\mathscr{M}_{\hbar}$  et décrire les estimations spectrales nécessaires pour prouver que les spectres coïncident modulo  $\mathscr{O}(h^{\infty})$ . En fait, on comparera directement le spectre de  $\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}$  à celui d'un opérateur effectif sur la frontière de  $\Omega$  pour évite l'analyse spectrale de  $\mathscr{M}_{\hbar}$  (existence du spectre discret, estimations d'Agmon, etc.).

Nous construisons un problème de Grushin afin d'inverser l'opérateur (pseudo)différentiel  $\mathfrak{N}_{\hbar}$  (qui agit comme  $\mathcal{N}_{\hbar}$  avec  $\mathfrak{f}_0$  remplacé par 0). Cette méthode, inspirée des travaux de Martinez et Sjöstrand (et adaptée aux opérateurs magnétiques par Keraval, voir [Ker18]), a récemment montré son efficacité pour décrire les valeurs propres de divers opérateurs magnétiques (voir, par exemple, [FHKR22] et [BNHR22]). La nouveauté ici est de l'utiliser pour s'attaquer à la description de valeurs propres plus grandes pour les opérateurs magnétiques de Schrödinger à bord, lorsque plusieurs courbes de dispersion sont impliquées (voir Figure 1.2), et pas seulement la première comme dans [FHKR22] ou [BNHR22]. Afin d'utiliser cette méthode, nous écrivons un développement semiclassique de  $\mathcal{N}_{\hbar}$  (voir la Proposition 5.4.4) :

$$\mathfrak{N}_{\hbar} = \mathfrak{n}_0 + \hbar \mathfrak{n}_1 + \dots,$$

où, les  $n_j$  sont donnés par  $n_j = Op_{\hbar}^W n_j$  avec

$$n_0 = -\partial_\tau^2 + (\Xi_0(\sigma) - \tau)^2,$$
  

$$n_1 = \kappa(s) \left[ (\Xi_0(\sigma) - \tau) \zeta_\mu^2 \tau^2 + \zeta_\mu \partial_\tau + 2\zeta_\mu \tau (\Xi_0(\sigma) - \tau)^2 \right].$$

En particulier, nous pouvons écrire  $\mathfrak{N}_{\hbar} = Op^{W}_{\hbar}(n_{\hbar})$  avec un symbole  $n_{\hbar}$  satisfaisant

$$n_{\hbar} = n_0 + \hbar n_1 + \dots$$

Le symbole principal est l'opérateur de de Gennes (avec la condition de Robin), qui peut être inversé dans la fenêtre spectrale [a, b] quitte à considérer une matrice augmentée  $\mathscr{P}_0$  impliquant les fonctions propres de l'opérateur de de Gennes (voir le lemme 5.4.5).

<sup>12.</sup> Nous avons montré une estimation d'Agmon compatible avec le multiplicateur de Fourier. Bien que nous ne l'ayons pas utilisé dans notre présentation, il convient de noter qu'il s'agit d'un nouveau résultat sur la décroissance exponentielle compatible avec le multiplicateur de Fourier (voir la Section 5.6.4).

Pour tout  $z \in [a, b]$ ,

$$\mathscr{P}_0(z) = \begin{pmatrix} n_0(s,\sigma) - z & \Pi^* \\ \Pi & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

est bijectif avec inverse

$$\mathscr{Q}_{0}(z) = \begin{pmatrix} q_{0} & \Pi^{*} \\ \Pi & z - M_{0}(\sigma) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad q_{0} = (n_{0}(s,\sigma) - z)^{-1} (\Pi^{*}\Pi)^{\perp},$$

où  $M_0(\sigma)$  est la matrice diagonale  $N \times N$  dont la diagonale est  $(\overset{\circ}{\mu}_1, \ldots, \overset{\circ}{\mu}_N)$ ,  $\Pi^*(\alpha) = \sum_{j=1}^N \alpha_j \overset{\circ}{u}_j$  et  $\Pi \psi = (\langle \psi, \overset{\circ}{u}_j \rangle)_{1 \leq k \leq N}$ .

Cela permet de construire un inverse approché  $\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{W} \mathscr{Q}_{\hbar}$  d'une version augmentée de  $\mathfrak{N}_{\hbar}$  notée  $\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{W} \mathscr{P}_{\hbar}$ ,

$$\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{W}}\mathscr{P}_{\hbar} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathfrak{N}_{\hbar} - z & \mathfrak{P}^{*} \\ \mathfrak{P} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \mathfrak{P} = \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{W}}\Pi.$$

Cherchons un inverse approché tel que

$$\begin{cases} \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{W}} \mathscr{Q}_{\hbar} \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{W}} \mathscr{P}_{\hbar}(z) = \operatorname{Id} + \mathscr{O}(\hbar^{2}), \\ \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{W}} \mathscr{P}_{\hbar}(z) \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{W}} \mathscr{Q}_{\hbar} = \operatorname{Id} + \mathscr{O}(\hbar^{2}). \end{cases}$$

Comme dans [Ker18, Section 3.1.3], nous sommes amenés à choisir  $\mathcal{Q}_{\hbar}$  sous la forme :

$$\mathscr{Q}_{\hbar} = \begin{pmatrix} q_{\hbar} & q_{\hbar}^+ \\ q_{\hbar}^- & q_{\hbar}^\pm \end{pmatrix}.$$

Avec ce choix, le coefficient inférieur droit, noté  $q_{\hbar}^{\pm}$ , de la matrice  $\mathscr{Q}_{\hbar}$  est

$$q_{\hbar}^{\pm} = z - M_0(\sigma) - \hbar \Pi n_1 \Pi^*.$$

Ceci invite à considérer l'opérateur pseudo-différentiel matriciel effectif dont le symbole est

$$M_{\hbar} = M_0(\sigma) + \hbar \Pi n_1 \Pi^*.$$

On considère  $\psi$  une fonction propre de  $\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}$  associée à  $\lambda \in [ah, bh]$ . Pour  $z = h^{-1}\lambda$ , Grâce à ces quasi inverses, on obtient

$$\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{W}}\mathscr{Q}_{\hbar}\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{W}}\mathscr{P}_{\hbar}\begin{pmatrix}\varphi\\0\end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix}\varphi\\0\end{pmatrix} + \mathscr{O}(\hbar^{2})\|\varphi\|,$$

où  $\varphi$  désigne la fonction  $\psi$  après multiplication par une fonction de troncature en t. Nous en déduisons que

$$\begin{cases} \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{W} q_{\hbar}^{+} \mathfrak{P} \varphi = \varphi + \mathscr{O}(\hbar^{2}) \|\varphi\|, \\ (z - \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{W} M_{\hbar}) \mathfrak{P} \varphi = \mathscr{O}(\hbar^{2}) \|\varphi\|. \end{cases}$$

Puisque  $Op_{\hbar}^{W}q_{\hbar}^{+}$  est borné uniformément en  $\hbar$ , la première relation implique que

$$\|\varphi\| \leqslant C \|\mathfrak{P}\varphi\|.$$

Ensuite, de la deuxième relation et du théorème spectral, nous déduisons que

$$\operatorname{dist}(z, \operatorname{Sp}(\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{W}}M_{\hbar})) \leqslant C\hbar^2$$

Cela signifie que le spectre de  $h^{-1}\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}$  dans la fenêtre [ah, bh] est à une distance d'ordre  $\hbar^2$  du spectre de l'opérateur effectif  $\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{W} M_{\hbar}$ .

En Section 5.5, nous effectuons l'analyse spectrale de  $\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{W} M_{\hbar}$  en utilisant le fait que le symbole principal matriciel  $M_0$  est diagonal avec des écarts uniformes entre les les entrées diagonales. On en déduit que les spectres de  $\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{W} M_{\hbar}$  et  $\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{W} M_0 - \hbar \operatorname{diag} \left( \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{W} \kappa(s) C_j \circ \Xi_0(\sigma) \right)$  coïncident modulo  $\mathscr{O}(\hbar^2)$ .

Nous déduisons les Corollaires 1.3.7 et 1.3.8.

## 1.4 Sommaire

Dans le chapitre 2, nous discutons de certaines propriétés spectrales liées aux opérateurs modèles en dimension 1, qui apparaissent dans le voisinage de la frontière et qui interviennent dans notre stratégie de réduction de la dimension.

Dans le chapitre 3, nous étudions l'analyse spectrale semi-classique de l'opérateur de Schrödinger autoadjoint avec un champ magnétique fort et une condition de Robin attractive au bord d'un domaine régulier et borné dans les régimes où le champ magnétique joue un rôle majeur, en concurrence avec la condition de Robin. Par les estimations d'Agmon habituelles, nous montrons pourquoi les fonctions propres correspondant aux plus petites valeurs propres sont localisées près de la frontière. En utilisant l'approximation de Born-Oppenheimer, nous dérivons un opérateur effectif sur la frontière dont les valeurs propres décrivent simultanément les valeurs propres du Laplacien magnétique de Robin. Nous remarquons que cette approximation est valable sans aucune hypothèse supplémentaire sur le domaine. Dans une situation générique où la courbure a un maximum unique non dégénéré, nous estimons l'écart spectral et trouvons que le champ magnétique ne contribue pas au développement asymptotique à trois termes des valeurs propres basses. Dans le cas des domaines de disques, nous montrons la contribution du champ magnétique dans l'asymptotique des valeurs propres les plus basses. Ce chapitre est issu de [Fah23a].

Dans le chapitre 4, nous établissons un développement asymptotique complet des basses valeurs propres de l'hamiltonien de Stark en dimension  $N \ge 1$ , en impliquant les valeurs propres de l'endomorphisme de Weingarten, et nous montrons que leurs fonctions propres associées sont localisées près du potentiel minimal. En outre, nous appliquons nos techniques pour trouver un développement asymptotique complet des valeurs propres de l'opérateur plus général  $-h^2\Delta + V(\mathbf{x})$  où h est un petit paramètre et V est un potentiel réel régulier satisfaisant certaines conditions. Ces résultats sont issus de [Fah23b].

Dans le chapitre 5, nous présentons des résultats obtenus en collaboration avec N. Raymond, L. Le Treust et S. Vũ Ngọc [FLTRVuN23]. Pour  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ , dans la limite semi-classique, en utilisant la méthode de Grushin et les outils d'analyse microlocale, nous réduisons l'analyse spectrale de  $\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}$  à celle d'une famille d'opérateurs pseudo-différentiels en une dimension. Ensuite, nous établissons une description uniforme du spectre de  $\mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}$  situé entre les niveaux de Landau. Cela permet d'obtenir une description uniforme du spectre dans une large classe de Laplaciens magnétiques incluant les Laplaciens de Neumann et de Dirichlet. Les fonctions propres correspondantes, appelées *états de bord*, sont exponentiellement localisées près de la frontière. Les estimations ressemblent à celles d'Agmon, mais elles ne sont pas obtenues par des moyens variationnels comme c'est le cas dans de nombreux contextes magnétiques. Au moyen d'une réduction dimensionnelle microlocale, notre approche nous permet d'affiner simultanément d'anciens résultats sur les valeurs propres basses dans le cas de Robin et des résultats récents sur les états de bord dans le cas de Dirichlet, en établissant les asymptotiques spectrales des valeurs propres les plus basses et en montrant les écarts spectraux.

Chapter

2

## **Analysis of auxiliary operators**

#### Abstract

In this chapter, we discuss some spectral properties related to model operators in dimension one (a couple of known results are recalled and useful new ones are established). These model operators appear naturally in our dimensional reduction strategy. In particular, it will appear in the neighborhood of the boundary and will play an important role in the following chapters.

#### Résumé

Dans ce chapitre, nous discutons de certaines propriétés spectrales liées aux opérateurs modèles en dimension un (certains résultats connus sont rappelés et de nouveaux résultats utiles sont établis). Ces opérateurs modèles apparaissent naturellement dans notre stratégie de réduction dimensionnelle. En particulier, ils apparaissent dans le voisinage de la frontière et joueront un rôle important dans les chapitres suivants.

#### Contents

2.1	Robin	Laplacians	
	2.1.1	Robin Laplacian on a half line    50	
	2.1.2	Robin Laplacian on an interval    50	
	2.1.3	Robin Laplacian in a weighted space 51	
2.2	Airy o	operator on a half-line	
2.3	Harmonic oscillator		
	2.3.1	A 1-dimensional harmonic oscillator	
	2.3.2	A d-dimensional harmonic oscillator	
2.4	De Gennes operator		
	2.4.1	Proof of Theorem 2.4.3	
	2.4.2	Some important relations	

## 2.1 Robin Laplacians

The purpose of this section is to recall some spectral properties related to the Robin Laplacian in dimension one. Most of them have been established, for example in [HK17, HKR17, KS20, KKR16, Ray17, LB03].

#### 2.1.1 Robin Laplacian on a half line

Consider the operator

$$\mathcal{H}_0 := -\frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}\tau^2} \quad \text{in } L^2(\mathbb{R}_+),$$

with domain

$$Dom(\mathcal{H}_0) = \{ u \in H^2(\mathbb{R}_+) : u'(0) = -u(0) \}.$$

This operator is self-adjoint but does not have a compact resolvent.

**Lemma 2.1.1.** The discrete spectrum  $(Sp_{dis})$  of  $\mathcal{H}_0$  is  $\{-1\}$  and its essential spectrum  $(Sp_{ess})$  is  $[0, +\infty[$ . The subspace associated with the single eigenvalue -1 is generated by the  $L^2$ -normalized eigenfunction

$$u_0(\tau) = \sqrt{2} \exp(-\tau).$$

Proof. For the proof, see for example [Ray17, Prop. 2.8].

## 2.1.2 Robin Laplacian on an interval

The following operator arises naturally in the analysis of the Robin Laplacian without magnetic field (see for instance [EMP14, HK17, HKR17, LP08, PP16]). Let T > 0. Consider the operator

$$\mathcal{H}_0^{\{T\}} := -\frac{{\rm d}^2}{{\rm d}\tau^2} \ \mbox{in} \ L^2(0,T) \,,$$

with domain

$$Dom(\mathcal{H}_0^{\{T\}}) = \{ u \in H^2(0,T) : u'(0) = -u(0) \text{ and } u(T) = 0 \}.$$

Note that this operator is associated with the quadratic form

$$V_h \ni u \mapsto \int_0^T |u'(\tau)|^2 \mathrm{d}\tau - |u(0)|^2$$

with

$$V_h := \{ u \in H^1(0,T) : u(T) = 0 \}.$$

The operator  $\mathcal{H}_0^{\{T\}}$  is self-adjoint and has a compact resolvent. Its spectrum is therefore purely discrete and consists of an increasing sequence of eigenvalues denoted by  $\left(\lambda_n(\mathcal{H}_0^{\{T\}})\right)_{n\in\mathbb{N}^*}$ .

The following lemma gives the behavior of the lowest eigenvalues  $\lambda_1(\mathcal{H}_0^{\{T\}})$  and  $\lambda_2(\mathcal{H}_0^{\{T\}})$  when  $T \to +\infty$ .

**Proposition 2.1.2.** As  $T \to +\infty$ , there holds

$$\lambda_1(\mathcal{H}_0^{\{T\}}) = -1 + \mathcal{O}\left(\exp\left(-2T\right)\right), \quad and \quad \lambda_2(\mathcal{H}_0^{\{T\}}) \ge 0.$$
(2.1)

*Proof.* For the proof, see for example [HK17, Lemma 4.1].

## 2.1.3 Robin Laplacian in a weighted space

In order to deal with curvature effects, one will need a slightly more sophisticated operator. Let  $B \in \mathbb{R}$ , T > 0 such that  $|B|T < \frac{1}{3}$ . In the weighted space  $L^2((0,T); (1 - B\tau) d\tau)$ , we introduce the self-adjoint operator

$$\mathcal{H}_B^{\{T\}} = -\frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}\tau^2} + \frac{B}{1 - B\tau} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\tau},$$

with domain

$$Dom(\mathcal{H}_B^{\{T\}}) = \{ u \in H^2(0,T) : u'(0) = -u(0) \text{ and } u(T) = 0 \}.$$

The operator  $\mathcal{H}_B^{\{T\}}$  is associated with the following quadratic form:

$$q_B^{\{T\}}(u) = \int_0^T |u'(\tau)|^2 (1 - B\tau) \,\mathrm{d}\tau - |u(0)|^2,$$

with domain

$$Dom(q_B^{\{T\}}) = \{ u \in H^1(0,T) : u(T) = 0 \},\$$

in the ambient space  $L^2((0,T); (1-B\tau)d\tau)$ . The operator  $\mathcal{H}_B^{\{T\}}$  has a compact resolvent. Hence, its spectrum  $\operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{H}_B^{\{T\}}) \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  is purely discrete and consists of a strictly increasing sequence of eigenvalues  $\left(\lambda_n(\mathcal{H}_B^{\{T\}})\right)_{n \in \mathbb{N}^*}$ .

The following proposition states a two-term asymptotic expansion of the eigenvalue  $\lambda_1(\mathcal{H}_B^{\{T\}})$ .

**Proposition 2.1.3** (Asymptotic of  $\lambda_1(\mathcal{H}_B^{\{T\}})$ ). There exist constants C > 0 and  $T_0 > 0$ , such that for all  $T \ge T_0$ , and  $B \in (-1/(3T), 1/(3T))$ , we have:

$$|\lambda_1(\mathcal{H}_B^{\{T\}}) - (-1 - B)| \leqslant CB^2$$

*Proof.* For the proof, see for example [HK17, Prpo. 4.5] or [Ray17, Prop. 2.11].

Let us use the change of function  $u = (1 - B\tau)^{-\frac{1}{2}}\tilde{u}$ , since the new Hilbert space becomes  $L^2((0, T), d\tau)$ , the form domain is still independent from the parameter, and the expression of the operator depends on B analytically:

$$\tilde{\mathcal{H}}_B^{\{T\}} = -\frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}\tau^2} - \frac{B^2}{4(1-B\tau)^2} \,,$$

with the new Robin condition at 0 given by  $\tilde{u}'(0) = \left(-1 - \frac{B}{2}\right)\tilde{u}(0)$  and  $\tilde{u}(T) = 0$ .

The price to pay is that the domain of the operators depends on B through the B-dependent boundary condition. Note that this operator is associated with quadratic form defined on  $H^1(0,T)$  by

$$\tilde{q}_B^{\{T\}}(\psi) = \int_0^T |\partial_\tau \psi|^2 \mathrm{d}\tau - \int_0^T \frac{B^2}{4(1-B\tau)^2} |\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}\tau - \left(1 + \frac{B}{2}\right) |\psi(0)|^2.$$

Thus, the form domain does not depend on the parameter. For further use, we will need the decay estimate of the ground state  $\tilde{u}_B^{\{T\}}$ . As far as we know, this estimate was not established in the above mentioned works.

**Proposition 2.1.4.** There exist constants C > 0,  $\alpha > 0$  and  $T_0 > 0$  such that, for all  $T \ge T_0$ , and  $B \in (-1/(3T), 1/(3T))$ , we have:

$$\|e^{\alpha \tau} \tilde{u}_B^{\{T\}}\|_{L^2((0,T), \, \mathrm{d}\tau)} \leqslant C$$

where  $\tilde{u}_B^{\{T\}}$  is the normalized eigenfunction associated with  $\lambda_1(\mathcal{H}_B^{\{T\}})$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\phi = \alpha \tau$  with  $\alpha$  a real positive constant. We have the identity

$$\left\langle \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{B}^{\{T\}} \tilde{u}_{B}^{\{T\}}, e^{2\phi} \tilde{u}_{B}^{\{T\}} \right\rangle = \tilde{q}_{B}^{\{T\}} \left( e^{\phi} \tilde{u}_{B}^{\{T\}} \right) - \left\| \phi' e^{\phi} \tilde{u}_{B}^{\{T\}} \right\|^{2},$$

which follows by integration by parts (see for instance [Ray17, Prop. 4.7]). Then, by using that  $\tilde{u}_B^{\{T\}}$  is an eigenfunction of  $\mathcal{H}_B^{\{T\}}$  associated with  $\lambda_1(\mathcal{H}_B^{\{T\}})$ , we get

$$\begin{split} \lambda_1(\mathcal{H}_B^{\{T\}}) \left\| e^{\phi} \, \tilde{u}_B^{\{T\}} \right\|^2 &= \int_0^T \left| \partial_\tau \left( e^{2\phi} \tilde{u}_B^{\{T\}} \right) \right|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\tau - \int_0^T \frac{B^2}{4(1 - B\tau)^2} e^{2\phi} \left| \tilde{u}_B^{\{T\}} \right|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\tau \\ &- \left( 1 + \frac{B}{2} \right) e^{2\phi(0)} \left| \tilde{u}_B^{\{T\}}(0) \right|^2 - \left\| \phi' e^{\phi} \, \tilde{u}_B^{\{T\}} \right\|^2. \end{split}$$

We have

$$\left|\tilde{u}_{B}^{\{T\}}(0)\right|^{2} = -2\int_{0}^{T}\partial_{\tau}\tilde{u}_{B}^{\{T\}}(\tau)\tilde{u}_{B}^{\{T\}}(\tau)\,\mathrm{d}\tau,$$

and then, there are constants C > 0 such that, for all  $\epsilon > 0$ , we have:

$$\left|\tilde{u}_{B}^{\{T\}}(0)\right|^{2} \leq C\epsilon \left\|\partial_{\tau}\tilde{u}_{B}^{\{T\}}\right\|_{L^{2}(0,T)}^{2} + C\epsilon^{-1} \left\|\tilde{u}_{B}^{\{T\}}\right\|_{L^{2}(0,T)}^{2}.$$
(2.2)

Inserting (2.2) in  $\tilde{q}_B^{\{T\}}$ , there exist constants C > 0 such that:

$$\left(1 - C\epsilon - \frac{C\epsilon B}{2}\right) \left\|\partial_{\tau} \tilde{u}_{B}^{\{T\}}\right\|_{L^{2}(0,T)}^{2} \leq \left(\lambda_{1}(\mathcal{H}_{B}^{\{T\}}) + C\epsilon^{-1}\left(1 + \frac{B}{2}\right) + C\right) \left\|\tilde{u}_{B}^{\{T\}}\right\|_{L^{2}(0,T)}^{2}$$

For  $B \to 0, \epsilon = \frac{1}{3C}$  and from Proposition 2.1.3, we obtain:

$$\left\|\tilde{u}_B^{\{T\}}\right\|_{H^1(0,T)} \leqslant C,$$

thanks to (2.2), we get

$$|\tilde{u}_B^{\{T\}}(0)|^2 \leqslant C.$$

This implies the simple estimate

$$-\int_{0}^{T} \frac{B^{2}}{4(1-B\tau)^{2}} e^{2\phi} \left| \tilde{u}_{B}^{\{T\}} \right|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}\tau - \left( 1 + \frac{B}{2} \right) C - \int_{0}^{T} |\phi'|^{2} e^{2\phi} \left| \tilde{u}_{B}^{\{T\}} \right|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}\tau \leqslant \lambda_{1}(\mathcal{H}_{B}^{\{T\}}) \left\| e^{\phi} \,\tilde{u}_{B}^{\{T\}} \right\|^{2},$$

and then:

$$\int_0^T \left[ -\frac{B^2}{4(1-B\tau)^2} - \lambda_1(\mathcal{H}_B^{\{T\}}) - |\phi'|^2 \right] e^{2\phi} \left| \tilde{u}_B^{\{T\}} \right|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\tau \leqslant C.$$

As  $T \to +\infty$  , we have  $-1 \leqslant B \leqslant 1,$  and

• 
$$\frac{B^2}{4(1-B\tau)^2} \leqslant \frac{B^2}{4(1-BT)^2},$$
  
•  $\lambda_1(\mathcal{H}_B^{\{T\}}) \leqslant -1 - B + C_1 B^2.$ 

We choose  $\alpha$  such that

$$-\frac{B^2}{4(1-BT)^2} - 1 - B + C_1 B^2 - \alpha^2 \ge C,$$
$$\int_0^T e^{2\alpha \tau} \left| \tilde{u}_B^{\{T\}} \right|^2 d\tau \le C.$$

therefore,

**Lemma 2.1.5.** There exist constants C > 0 and  $T_0 > 0$ , such that, for all  $T \ge T_0$  and  $B \in (-1/(3T), 1/(3T))$ , we have:

$$\lambda_1(\mathcal{H}_B^{\{T\}}) \Big| \leqslant C \quad and \quad \left\| \partial_B \tilde{u}_B^{\{T\}} \right\|_{L^2((0,T), \, \mathrm{d}\tau)} \leqslant C.$$

Proof. For the proof, see for example [HKR17, Lemma 7.3].

## 2.2 Airy operator on a half-line

In the study of the Stark Hamiltonian, we will encounter the famous Airy operator. The Airy operator  $\mathscr{A}$  with domain

$$\operatorname{Dom}(\mathscr{A}) = \{ f \in H^2(\mathbb{R}_+) \cap H^1_0(\mathbb{R}_+), \, tf \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+) \}$$

is defined by

$$\mathscr{A}f = (-\partial_t^2 + t)f.$$

The Airy operator  $\mathscr{A}$  is injective, self-adjoint and has a compact resolvent. Hence, its spectrum is discrete and consists of a sequence of real eigenvalue  $\mu_j$  tending to  $+\infty$ . The corresponding eigenfunctions can be obtained in the following way.

We call Airy's function, and we denote by Ai the inverse Fourier transform of  $\xi \mapsto e^{i\xi^3/3}$ . It is positive on  $[0, +\infty]$ , and its zeros form a decreasing sequence tending towards  $-\infty$ . See Figure 2.1.

Let  $-\mu$  be one of the zeros of the Airy function (recall that they are negative). Then  $t \mapsto Ai(t - \mu)$  is an eigenfunction of the operator  $\mathscr{A}$ , with eigenvalue  $\mu$ . These eigenvalues are simple (see for instance [Hel13, Section 14.5.1], [DR12, Section 2.2.2] and [OB14, Section 2.3.1]).



Figure 2.1 – Airy's function Ai. Source: Figure in [Rou15].

## 2.3 Harmonic oscillator

## 2.3.1 A 1-dimensional harmonic oscillator

We recall the spectrum of the harmonic oscillator, which we will encounter several times in this thesis. Consider the self-adjoint realization on  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  of :

$$\mathscr{H}_{harm}^{a} = -\partial_{x}^{2} + \frac{a}{2}x^{2}, \quad a > 0.$$
 (2.3)

This operator can be defined as the self-adjoint operator associated with the quadratic form

$$\mathfrak{Q}_{harm}^{a}(\psi) = \|\psi'\|^{2} + \frac{a}{2} \|x\psi\|^{2}, \quad \psi \in \mathcal{B}^{1}(\mathbb{R}),$$
(2.4)

where

$$\mathbf{B}^{1}(\mathbb{R}) = \left\{ \psi \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}) : \psi' \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}), \ x\psi \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}) \right\}$$

Since  $B^1(\mathbb{R})$  is compactly embedded in  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , then the self-adjoint operator  $\mathscr{H}^a_{harm}$  has compact resolvent. Its spectrum is a sequence of eigenvalues that tends to  $+\infty$ .

The *n*-th eigenvalue of  $\mathscr{H}^a_{\text{harm}}$  is  $(2n-1)\sqrt{\frac{a}{2}}$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ . They are simple and associated with the normalized Hermite's functions denoted by  $f_n(x)$ . They can be determined by recursion as follows

$$f_1(x) = c_1 \exp^{-\sqrt{\frac{a}{2}} \frac{x^2}{2}}, \quad f_n(x) = c_n(L^+)^{n-1} f_1(x) \quad (n \ge 1),$$

where  $L^+ = -\frac{d}{dx} + \sqrt{\frac{a}{2}}x$ , and, for every  $n \ge 1$ , the constant  $c_n$  normalizes  $f_n(x)$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ . For more details on the spectral study of  $\mathscr{H}^a_{\text{harm}}$ , see for example [Hell3, Section 1.3] and [Ray17, Section 2.1].

#### 2.3.2 A d-dimensional harmonic oscillator

In dimension  $d \ge 1$ , a d-dimensional harmonic oscillator is an operator of the following form

$$\sum_{i=1}^d -\partial_{x_i}^2 + \frac{a_i}{2} u_i^2,$$

where  $a_i > 0$ . We deduce from the case d = 1, that the spectrum of this operator is given by

$$\left\{\sum_{i=1}^{d} \sqrt{\frac{a_i}{2}} (2n_i - 1), \quad n = (n_1, ..., n_d) \in \mathbb{N}^d\right\}.$$

The corresponding normalized eigenfunctions are  $f_n(x) = f_{n_1}(x_1) \dots f_{n_d}(x_d)$ , where the function  $f_{n_i}$  are the Hermite functions.

## 2.4 De Gennes operator

In this section, we are interested in the spectral analysis of the self-adjoint realization on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$  of the de Gennes operator, which is a differential operator of order two depending on the real parameters  $\gamma$  and  $\xi$  and acting as

$$H[\gamma,\sigma] = -\frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}t^2} + (t-\sigma)^2,$$

associated with the Robin boundary condition:

$$u'(0) = \gamma \, u(0).$$

The spectral analysis of the de Gennes operator has been the subject of several works, see [Bol92, DH93b, DH93a, Inc26, Uch77, Kac08, Kac06b]. This operator appears naturally in the study of the magnetic effects induced at the boundaries [SJdG63, FH10b].

The quadratic form associated to  $H[\gamma, \sigma]$  is defined by:

$$q[\gamma,\sigma](u) = \int_0^\infty \left[ |u'(t)|^2 + |(t-\sigma)u(t)|^2 \right] dt + \gamma |u(0)|^2,$$
(2.5)

with domain

$$B^{1}(\mathbb{R}_{+}) = \left\{ u \in H^{1}(\mathbb{R}_{+}) : t u(t) \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}) \right\}.$$

The domain of  $H[\gamma, \sigma]$  is defined by:

$$Dom(H[\gamma,\sigma]) = \left\{ u \in B^1(\mathbb{R}_+) : \left( -\frac{d^2}{dt^2} + (t-\sigma)^2 \right) u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+), \ u'(0) = \gamma \, u(0) \right\}.$$

Note that the domain of  $H[\gamma, \sigma]$  is independent of  $\sigma$  and that the domain of the quadratic form is independent of  $\sigma$  and  $\gamma$ . Moreover, the operator  $H[\gamma, \sigma]$  has compact resolvent. Its spectrum can be written as a non-decreasing sequence of eigenvalues  $(\mu_n(\gamma, \sigma))_{n \ge 1}$  (which are all simple due to the Cauchy-Lipschitz theorem). We denote by  $u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}$  the normalized sequence of the corresponding eigenfunctions and we denote by  $\Theta^{[n-1]}(\gamma)$  the quantity:

$$\Theta^{[n-1]}(\gamma) := \inf_{\sigma \in \mathbb{R}} \mu_n(\gamma, \sigma).$$

The family  $(H[\gamma, \sigma])_{(\gamma, \sigma) \in \mathbb{R}^2}$  is analytic of type (B) (in the sense of Kato, see [Kat76, Chapter VII,§4]), *i.e.*, the form domain does not depend on the parameters and the sesquilinear form is analytic as a function of  $\gamma$  or  $\sigma$ .

Note that the case  $\gamma = 0$  corresponds to the Neumann realization, denoted  $H^N[\sigma]$ . We denote by  $q^N[\sigma]$  the quadratic form associated to  $H^N[\sigma]$ :

$$q^{N}[\sigma] = q[0,\sigma] = \int_{0}^{\infty} \left[ |u'(t)|^{2} + |(t-\sigma)u(t)|^{2} \right] \mathrm{d}t.$$

We also denote by  $H^{D}[\sigma]$  the Dirichlet realization, with domain:

Dom
$$(H^{D}[\sigma]) = \left\{ u \in B^{1}(\mathbb{R}_{+}) : \left( -\frac{\mathrm{d}^{2}}{\mathrm{d}t^{2}} + (t-\sigma)^{2} \right) u \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}), \ u(0) = 0 \right\}.$$

The quadratic form associated to  $H^D[\sigma]$  is given by

$$q^{D}[\sigma](u) = \int_{0}^{+\infty} \left[ |u'(t)|^{2} + |(t - \sigma)u(t)|^{2} \right] \mathrm{d}t,$$

with domain

$$\operatorname{Dom}(q^{D}[\sigma]) = B^{1}(\mathbb{R}_{+}) \cap H^{1}_{0}(\mathbb{R}_{+}).$$

The operators  $H^D[\sigma]$  and  $H^N[\sigma]$  have compact resolvent. Their spectrum is an increasing sequence of eigenvalues denoted by  $\mu_n^N(\sigma)$  and  $\mu_n^D(\sigma)$  respectively.

By Kato's perturbation theory [Kat76], we get that the functions:

$$\sigma \mapsto \mu_n^D(\sigma), \quad \sigma \mapsto \mu_n^N(\sigma), \quad \sigma \mapsto \mu_n(\gamma, \sigma),$$

are analytic.

Moreover, we recall the following two theorems obtained by adapting the proof in Dauge-Helffer [DH93a], Reed-Simon [RS78], Fournais-Helffer [FH10b] and Raymond [Ray17], for the case n = 1.

**Theorem 2.4.1.** The function  $\sigma \mapsto \mu_n^D(\sigma)$  is non-constant, analytic, decreasing and verifying

$$\lim_{\sigma \to -\infty} \mu_n^D(\sigma) = +\infty, \quad \lim_{\sigma \to +\infty} \mu_n^D(\sigma) = 2n - 1$$



Figure 2.2 –  $\sigma \mapsto \mu_k^D(\sigma)$ , for k = 1, 2, 3, 4, 5.

**Theorem 2.4.2.** The function  $\sigma \mapsto \mu_n^N(\sigma)$  is non-constant, analytic and verifying:

$$\lim_{\sigma \to -\infty} \mu_n^N(\sigma) = +\infty, \quad \lim_{\sigma \to +\infty} \mu_n^N(\sigma) = 2n - 1.$$

In addition,  $\mu_n^N(\sigma)$  admits a unique minimum, which is non-degenerate and such that

$$2n-3 < \Theta^{[n-1]} = \inf_{\sigma \in \mathbb{R}} \mu_n^N(\sigma) < 2n-1,$$

and

$$0 < \Theta^{[0]} = \inf_{\sigma \in \mathbb{R}} \mu_1^N(\sigma) < 1.$$



Figure 2.3 –  $\sigma \mapsto \mu_k^N(\sigma)$ , for k = 1, 2, 3, 4, 5.

5

We will show that the behavior of  $\mu_n(\gamma, \sigma)$  is similar to that of  $\mu_n^N(\sigma)$  given in Theorem 2.4.2.

**Theorem 2.4.3.** Let us fix  $n \ge 1$ . When  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ , the function  $\mu_n(\gamma, \cdot)$  is analytic and

$$\lim_{\sigma \to -\infty} \mu_n(\gamma, \sigma) = +\infty, \quad \lim_{\sigma \to +\infty} \mu_n(\gamma, \sigma) = 2n - 1.$$

Moreover,  $\mu_n(\gamma, \cdot)$  has a unique minimum. It is non degenerate and attained at  $\sigma = \xi_{n-1}(\gamma)$ , but not attained at infinity. The function  $\mu_n(\gamma, \cdot)$  is decreasing on  $(-\infty, \xi_{n-1}(\gamma))$  and increasing on  $(\xi_{n-1}(\gamma), +\infty)$ . In addition, we have, for all  $n \ge 2$ 

$$2n - 3 < \Theta^{[n-1]}(\gamma) < 2n - 1, \tag{2.6}$$

and

 $\Theta^{[0]}(\gamma) < 1.$ 

**Remark 2.4.1.** Theorem 2.4.3 was essentially obtained by Kachmar in [Kac06b, Kac08], but without the lower bound in (2.6). The demonstration methods used are different from those presented in [Kac06b, Kac08].

10

8

6

4

2

0

-2

-4

-1

ò

i

Eigenvalues



Figure 2.4 –  $\sigma \mapsto \mu_k(-3, \sigma)$ , for k = 1, ..., 5.



Figure 2.6 –  $\sigma \mapsto \mu_k(-1, \sigma)$ , for k = 1, ..., 5.

Figure 2.5 –  $\sigma \mapsto \mu_k(-2, \sigma)$ , for k = 1, ..., 5.

2 σ ż

4



Figure 2.7 –  $\sigma \mapsto \mu_k(1000, \sigma)$ , for k = 1, ..., 5.

## 2.4.1 Proof of Theorem 2.4.3

Theorem 2.4.3 is the consequence of Lemmas 2.4.8 and 2.4.10.

**Lemma 2.4.4.** *Given*  $\varepsilon \in [0,1]$  *and*  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$  *, we have* 

$$\mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) \ge (1-\varepsilon)\mu_n^N(\sigma) - \frac{\gamma_-^2}{\varepsilon}, \quad \forall \gamma, \sigma \in \mathbb{R},$$
(2.7)

where  $\gamma_{-} = \max(-\gamma, 0)$ . In particular,

$$\lim_{\sigma \to -\infty} \mu_n(\gamma, \sigma) = +\infty.$$
(2.8)

*Proof.* From a direct comparison of the quadratic forms, the estimate (2.7) is obviously true when  $\gamma \ge 0$ . Let us assume that  $\gamma < 0$ .

Using the density of  $C_0^{\infty}(\overline{\mathbb{R}_+})$  in  $H^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$ , we get for any function  $u \in H^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$ :

$$|u(0)|^{2} = -2 \int_{\mathbb{R}_{+}} u'(t) \, u(t) \mathrm{d}t.$$
(2.9)

By the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, we get for any  $\alpha > 0$ :

$$|u(0)|^2 \leq 2 ||u'|| ||u|| \leq \alpha ||u'||^2 + \frac{1}{\alpha} ||u||^2.$$

Taking  $\alpha = -\frac{\varepsilon}{\gamma}$  with  $\gamma < 0,$  we get :

$$\gamma |u(0)|^2 \ge -\varepsilon ||u'||^2 - \frac{\gamma^2}{\varepsilon} ||u||^2$$

We deduce that, for all  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ , we have

$$\gamma |u(0)|^2 \ge -\varepsilon ||u'||^2 - \frac{\gamma_-^2}{\varepsilon} ||u||^2,$$

where  $\gamma_{-} = \max(-\gamma, 0)$ .

Substituting this estimate into the expression for  $q[\gamma, \sigma]$  given in (2.5), we obtain, for all  $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ 

$$q[\gamma,\sigma](u) \ge (1-\varepsilon) \|u'\|^2 + \|(t-\sigma)u\|^2 - \frac{\gamma_-^2}{\varepsilon} \|u\|^2 \ge (1-\varepsilon)q^N[\sigma](u) - \frac{\gamma_-^2}{\varepsilon} \|u\|^2.$$
(2.10)

The min-max principle now gives

$$\mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) \ge (1-\varepsilon)\mu_n^N(\sigma) - \frac{\gamma_-^2}{\varepsilon}, \quad \forall \gamma, \sigma \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Applying Theorem 2.4.2, we get (2.8).

**Lemma 2.4.5.** *Given*  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ *, we have* 

$$\lim_{\sigma \to +\infty} \mu_n(\gamma, \sigma) = 2n - 1.$$
(2.11)

*Proof.* For the upper bound, we observe that, for all  $u \in B^1(\mathbb{R}_+) \cap H^1_0(\mathbb{R}_+)$ 

$$q[\gamma,\sigma](u) = \int_0^\infty \left[ |u'(t)|^2 + |(t-\sigma)u(t)|^2 \right] dt = q^D[\sigma](u).$$

A direct application of the min max principle allows us to deduce, from Theorem 2.4.1, that

$$\mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) \leqslant \mu_n^D(\sigma) \underset{\sigma \to +\infty}{\longrightarrow} 2n - 1.$$
(2.12)

Let us investigate the opposite inequality. Let us prove that in some sense that the normalized eigenfunction  $u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}$  associated with  $\mu_n[\gamma,\sigma]$  is small near 0 when  $\sigma \gg 1$ . From (2.10), for  $u = u_j^{[\gamma,\sigma]}$ , we get

$$\mu_j(\gamma,\sigma) \ge \left\| (t-\sigma) u_j^{[\gamma,\sigma]} \right\|^2 - \frac{\gamma_-^2}{\varepsilon}.$$
(2.13)

By (2.12), and by the monotonicity of the Dirichlet eigenvalue with respect to the domain, we have, for all  $\sigma > 0$ 

$$\mu_j(\gamma,\sigma) \leqslant \mu_j^D(\sigma) \leqslant \lim_{\sigma \to +\infty} \mu_{j+1}^D(\sigma) = 2j+1.$$
(2.14)

Then,

$$\int_0^{+\infty} (t-\sigma)^2 \left| u_j^{[\gamma,\sigma]} \right|^2 \mathrm{d}t \leqslant 2j + 1 + \frac{\gamma_-^2}{\varepsilon}$$

This implies that, there exists C > 0 such that:

$$\int_0^1 \left| u_j^{[\gamma,\sigma]} \right|^2 \mathrm{d}t \leqslant \frac{C}{(\sigma-1)^2}, \qquad \sigma \geqslant 2.$$
(2.15)

Let E be the subspace of  $\text{Dom}(q[\gamma,\xi])$  spanned by the family  $\left(u_j^{[\gamma,\sigma]}\right)_{j\in\{1,..,n\}}$ . Let us introduce the family of test function  $\left(\chi(t)u_j^{[\gamma,\sigma]}\right)_{1\leqslant j\leqslant n}$ , with  $\chi$  supported in  $(0,+\infty)$  and equal to 1 for  $t \ge 1$ . We have, for all  $\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma} \in E$ ,

$$q[\gamma,\sigma](\chi\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma}) = \int_0^\infty \left[ \left| (\chi\varphi_{\gamma,\xi})'(t) \right|^2 + \left| (t-\sigma)\chi(t)\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma}(t) \right|^2 \right] dt + \gamma \left| (\chi\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma})(0) \right|^2 \\ = \int_0^\infty \left[ \left| (\chi\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma})'(t) \right|^2 + \left| (t-\sigma)\chi(t)\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma}(t) \right|^2 \right] dt \\ = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left[ \left| (\chi\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma})'(t) \right|^2 + \left| (t-\sigma)\chi(t)\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma}(t) \right|^2 \right] dt.$$

A simple change of variable  $(t \rightarrow t + \sigma)$ , gives

$$q[\gamma,\sigma](\chi\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left[ \left| (\chi\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma})'(t+\sigma) \right|^2 + t^2 |(\chi\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma})(t+\sigma)|^2 \right] dt$$
  
=  $\mathfrak{Q}^2_{\text{harm}} \left( \chi(\cdot+\sigma)\varphi_{\gamma,\xi}(\cdot+\sigma) \right),$  (2.16)

where  $\mathfrak{Q}^2_{harm}$  is defined in (2.4). We notice that, from (2.15), we have  $\dim(\chi E) = n$ . We have

$$q[\gamma,\sigma](\chi\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma}) = \int_0^\infty \left[ \left| (\chi\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma})'(t) \right|^2 + \left| (t-\sigma)\chi(t)\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma}(t) \right|^2 \right] \mathrm{d}t + \gamma \left| (\chi\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma})(0) \right|^2 \\ = \langle H[\gamma,\sigma]\chi\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma},\chi\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma}\rangle.$$

A simple integration by part, we get

$$q[\gamma,\sigma](\chi\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma}) = \langle \chi H[\gamma,\sigma]\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma}, \chi\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma} \rangle + \|\chi'\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma}\|^2.$$
(2.17)

Now, we are going to calculate  $\langle \chi H[\gamma,\sigma]\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma}, \chi\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma} \rangle$ . We recall that  $\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma}$  in E, so it can be written as follows

$$\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma} = \alpha_1 u_1^{[\gamma,\sigma]} + \ldots + \alpha_n u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}$$

where  $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then

$$\langle \chi H[\gamma,\sigma]\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma}, \chi\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma}\rangle = \left\langle \chi H[\gamma,\sigma] \left( \alpha_1 u_1^{[\gamma,\sigma]} + \ldots + \alpha_n u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]} \right), \chi \left( \alpha_1 u_1^{[\gamma,\sigma]} + \ldots + \alpha_n u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]} \right) \right\rangle$$
$$= \left\langle \chi \left( \alpha_1 \mu_1(\gamma,\sigma) u_1^{[\gamma,\sigma]} + \ldots + \alpha_n \mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]} \right), \chi \left( \alpha_1 u_1^{[\gamma,\sigma]} + \ldots + \alpha_n u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]} \right) \right\rangle.$$

For all  $i \neq j \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ 

$$\begin{split} \left\langle |\chi|^2 u_i^{[\gamma,\sigma]}, u_j^{[\gamma,\sigma]} \right\rangle &= \int_0^1 |\chi(t)|^2 u_i^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) u_j^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) \mathrm{d}t + \int_1^\infty |\chi(t)|^2 u_i^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) u_j^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) \mathrm{d}t \\ &= \int_0^1 |\chi(t)|^2 u_i^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) u_j^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) \mathrm{d}t + \int_1^\infty u_i^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) u_j^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) \mathrm{d}t. \end{split}$$

As, the vectors  $u_i^{[\gamma,\sigma]}$  and  $u_j^{[\gamma,\sigma]}$  are orthogonal, then

$$\int_{1}^{\infty} u_i^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) u_j^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) \mathrm{d}t = -\int_{0}^{1} u_i^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) u_j^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) \mathrm{d}t.$$

We deduce that, from (2.15)

$$\left\langle |\chi|^2 u_i^{[\gamma,\sigma]}, u_j^{[\gamma,\sigma]} \right\rangle = \int_0^1 (|\chi(t)|^2 - 1) u_i^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) u_j^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) \mathrm{d}t \leqslant \frac{C}{(\sigma-1)^2}, \qquad \sigma \geqslant 2.$$

Therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \chi H[\gamma,\sigma]\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma},\chi\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma}\rangle &\leqslant \mu_1(\gamma,\sigma) \left\|\alpha_1\chi u_1^{[\gamma,\sigma]}\right\|^2 + \ldots + \mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) \left\|\alpha_n\chi u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}\right\|^2 + \frac{C}{(\sigma-1)^2} \\ &\leqslant \mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) \left[ \left\|\alpha_1\chi u_1^{[\gamma,\sigma]}\right\|^2 + \ldots + \left\|\alpha_n\chi u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}\right\|^2 \right] + \frac{C}{(\sigma-1)^2} \\ &\leqslant \mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) \|\chi\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma}\|^2 + \frac{C}{(\sigma-1)^2}. \end{aligned}$$

Then, (2.16) and (2.17) gives

$$\mathfrak{Q}_{\text{harm}}^2\left(\chi(\cdot+\sigma)\varphi_{\gamma,\xi}(\cdot+\sigma)\right) = q[\gamma,\sigma](\chi\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma}) \leqslant \mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) \|\chi\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma}\|^2 + \frac{C}{(\sigma-1)^2} + \|\chi'\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma}\|^2.$$
(2.18)

By application of the min-max principle, we obtain

$$\mu_n(\mathscr{H}^2_{\text{harm}}) \|\chi\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma}\|^2_{L^2(\mathbb{R})} \leqslant \mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) \|\chi\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma}\|^2 + \frac{C}{(\sigma-1)^2} + \|\chi'\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma}\|^2.$$
(2.19)

where  $\mu_n(\mathscr{H}^2_{harm}) = 2n - 1$  is the *n*-th eigenvalue of the harmonic oscillator  $\mathscr{H}^2_{harm}$  defined in (2.3). We infer that, for  $\sigma$  large enough, (2.15) and (2.19) yields,

$$2n-1 \leqslant \mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) + \frac{C}{(\sigma-1)^2}$$

This completes the proof of (2.11).

**Lemma 2.4.6** (Feynman-Hellmann formula). *For all*  $\gamma, \sigma \in \mathbb{R}$ *, we have* 

$$\partial_{\sigma}\mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) = -2\int_{t>0} (t-\sigma) \left| u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) \right|^2 \mathrm{d}t.$$
(2.20)

Proof. We have

$$H[\gamma,\sigma]u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]} = \mu_n(\gamma,\sigma)u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}$$

Taking the derivative with respect to  $\sigma$ , we get:

$$\left(\partial_{\sigma}H[\gamma,\sigma] - \partial_{\sigma}\mu_n(\gamma,\sigma)\right)u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]} = \left(\mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) - H[\gamma,\sigma]\right)\partial_{\sigma}u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}.$$

Taking the scalar product with  $u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$ , we obtain

$$\left\langle \partial_{\sigma} H[\gamma,\sigma] u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}, u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]} \right\rangle - \partial_{\sigma} \mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) = \left\langle \left( \mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) - H[\gamma,\sigma] \right) \partial_{\sigma} u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}, u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]} \right\rangle.$$

The operator  $H[\gamma,\sigma]$  is self-adjoint on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$ , then

$$\left\langle \left(\mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) - H[\gamma,\sigma]\right) \partial_\sigma u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}, u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]} \right\rangle = \left\langle \partial_\sigma u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}, \left(\mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) - H[\gamma,\sigma]\right) u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]} \right\rangle = 0.$$

From the previous equality, we get

$$\partial_{\sigma}\mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) = \left\langle \partial_{\sigma}H[\gamma,\sigma]u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}, u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]} \right\rangle.$$

We have

$$\partial_{\sigma} H[\gamma, \sigma] = -2(t - \sigma)$$

and we obtain the desired formula.

**Lemma 2.4.7.** For all  $\gamma, \sigma \in \mathbb{R}$ , we have:

$$\partial_{\sigma}\mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) = -\left(\mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) - \sigma^2 + \gamma^2\right) \left| u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(0) \right|^2.$$
(2.21)

Proof. To obtain (2.21), we use the Feynman-Hellmann formula (2.20). We can write that

$$2(t - \sigma) = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}(t - \sigma)^2.$$

From (2.20), we get

$$\partial_{\sigma}\mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) = -2\int_{t>0} (t-\sigma) \left| u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) \right|^2 \mathrm{d}t = -\int_{t>0} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} (t-\sigma)^2 \left| u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) \right|^2 \mathrm{d}t.$$

By integration by parts, we have

$$\partial_{\sigma}\mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) = 2\int_0^{+\infty} (t-\sigma)^2 u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t)\partial_t u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t)\mathrm{d}t + \sigma^2 \left|u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(0)\right|^2.$$
(2.22)

We have:

$$-\partial_t^2 u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]} + (t-\sigma)^2 u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]} = \mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}.$$

Taking the scalar product with  $\partial_t u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$ , we obtain

$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} (t-\sigma)^2 u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) \partial_t u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) \mathrm{d}t = \int_{0}^{+\infty} \partial_t^2 u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) \partial_t u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) \mathrm{d}t + \mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) \int_{0}^{+\infty} u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) \partial_t u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) \mathrm{d}t. \quad (2.23)$$

By integration by parts, we get:

$$\int_0^{+\infty} \partial_t^2 u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) \partial_t u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) \mathrm{d}t = -\int_0^{+\infty} \partial_t^2 u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) \partial_t u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) \mathrm{d}t - \left|\partial_t u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(0)\right|^2$$

and

$$\int_0^{+\infty} u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) \partial_t u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) \mathrm{d}t = -\int_0^{+\infty} u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) \partial_t u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) \mathrm{d}t - \left| u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(0) \right|^2.$$

We deduce that:

$$2\int_0^{+\infty} \partial_t^2 u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) \partial_t u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t) \mathrm{d}t = -\left|\partial_t u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(0)\right|^2,$$

and

$$2\int_0^{+\infty} u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t)\partial_t u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t)\mathrm{d}t = -\left|u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(0)\right|^2.$$

We put the previous equality in (2.22) and (2.23) and deduce that:

$$\partial_{\sigma}\mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) = -\mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) \left| u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(0) \right|^2 - \left| \partial_t u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(0) \right|^2 + \sigma^2 \left| u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(0) \right|^2.$$

Remembering that

$$\partial_t u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(0) = \gamma u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(0),$$

we get (2.21).

**Lemma 2.4.8.** For each  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\Theta^{[n-1]}(\gamma) < 2n-1$ . The function  $\sigma \mapsto \mu_n(\gamma, \sigma)$  attains its minimum at a unique positive point  $\xi_{n-1}(\gamma) > 0$  and we have:

$$\Theta^{[n-1]}(\gamma) = \mu_n(\gamma, \xi_{n-1}(\gamma)) \quad and \quad \xi_{n-1}(\gamma) = \Theta^{[n-1]}(\gamma) + \gamma^2.$$

Moreover, the minimum is non-degenerate.

*Proof.* We notice that, if  $\gamma > 0$ , we have

$$(\mu_n(\gamma, \sigma) - \sigma^2 + \gamma^2)|_{\sigma=0} = \mu_n(\gamma, 0) + \gamma^2 > 0.$$

This result is true for  $\gamma \leq 0$ . In fact, using (2.7), and the Theorem 2.4.2,

$$\mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) > -\frac{\gamma_-^2}{\varepsilon},$$

for  $\varepsilon = 1$ , we obtain:

$$\mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) + \gamma^2 > 0.$$

Using Lemma 2.4.5, we have

$$\lim_{\sigma \to +\infty} \left[ \mu_n(\gamma, \sigma) - \sigma^2 + \gamma^2 \right] = -\infty.$$

Using the intermediate value theorem, this gives the existence of a positive point  $\xi_{n-1}(\gamma)$  of  $\mu_n(\gamma, \sigma)$  verifying:

$$\mu_n(\gamma, \xi_{n-1}(\gamma)) - \xi_n(\gamma)^2 + \gamma^2 = 0.$$

Remembering the formula (2.21), we obtain that  $\xi_{n-1}(\gamma)$  is a critical point of  $\mu_n(\gamma, \sigma)$ . Note that, for any positive critical point  $\xi_c$  of  $\mu_n(\gamma, \sigma)$ , we have

$$\partial_{\sigma}^{2}\mu_{n}(\gamma,\sigma)|_{\sigma=\xi_{c}} = 2\xi_{c} \left| u_{n}^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(0) \right|^{2} > 0.$$

$$(2.24)$$

This shows that any positive critical point is a local minimum of  $\mu_n(\gamma, \sigma)$ . Thus, there can be at most one positive critical point. It also follows from (2.24) that any negative critical point will is a local maximum. However,  $\lim_{\sigma\to-\infty} \mu_n(\gamma, \sigma) = +\infty$ . Combining these two pieces of information, we find that no negative critical point exists. Therefore, the minimum of  $\sigma \mapsto \mu_n(\gamma, \sigma)$  is attained at a unique point  $\xi_{n-1}(\gamma) > 0$  and the function  $\sigma \mapsto \mu_n(\gamma, \sigma)$  is strictly increasing on  $[\xi_{n-1}(\gamma), +\infty[$ . This proves in particular:

$$\Theta^{[n-1]}(\gamma) = \mu_n(\gamma, \xi_{n-1}(\gamma)) < \lim_{\sigma \to +\infty} \mu_n(\gamma, \sigma) = 2n - 1.$$

**Lemma 2.4.9.** For  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ , we have

$$\mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) > -\gamma_-^2 \,,$$

where  $\gamma_{-} = \max(-\gamma, 0)$ .

*Proof.* Using (2.7), and Theorem 2.4.2, we have, for all  $\epsilon \in (0, 1]$ ,

$$\mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) > -\frac{\gamma_-^2}{\varepsilon}$$

This end the proof.

**Lemma 2.4.10.** For each  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $n \ge 2$ , we have

$$\mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) > 2n-3.$$

In particular, we have

$$\Theta^{[n-1]}(\gamma) > 2n - 3.$$

*Proof.* Let  $n \ge 2$ , from the Sturm-Liouville theory,  $u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}$  admits (n-1) zeros on  $\mathbb{R}_+$ . We denote by  $z_{n,1}(\gamma,\sigma)$  the first zero. We consider the function

$$\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma}^{[n]}(t) = u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(t+z_{n,1}(\gamma,\sigma)),$$

which satisfies

$$H^{D}[\sigma - z_{n,1}(\gamma, \sigma)]\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma}^{[n]} = \mu_{n}(\gamma, \sigma)\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma}^{[n]},$$

with Dirichlet boundary condition

$$\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma}^{[n]}(0) = 0,$$

and has exactly n-2 zeros on  $\mathbb{R}_+$ . By the Sturm's oscillation theorem,  $\varphi_{\gamma,\sigma}^{[n]}$  is the (n-1)-th eigenfunction of  $H^D[\sigma - z_{n,1}(\gamma, \sigma)]$ . Therefore, we have

$$\mu_n(\gamma,\sigma) = \mu_{n-1}^D(\sigma - z_{n,1}(\gamma,\sigma))$$

Moreover, from Theorem 2.4.1, for all  $\sigma \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\mu_{n-1}^D(\sigma) > 2n - 3.$$

This proved the desired conclusion.

## 2.4.2 Some important relations

We end this section by presenting some relations that we will use in this thesis.

**Proposition 2.4.11.** *For each*  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ *, the following relations hold:* 

$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} (t - \xi_{n-1}(\gamma)) \left| u_{n}^{[\gamma,\xi_{n-1}(\gamma)]}(t) \right|^{2} \mathrm{d}t = 0,$$
(2.25)

$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} (t - \xi_{n-1}(\gamma))^3 \left| u_n^{[\gamma,\xi_{n-1}(\gamma)]}(t) \right|^2 \mathrm{d}t = \frac{1}{6} [1 + 2\gamma\xi_{n-1}(\gamma)] \left| u_n^{[\gamma,\xi_{n-1}(\gamma)]}(0) \right|^2.$$
(2.26)

Proof. We let

$$u_n^{[\gamma]} = u_n^{[\gamma,\xi_{n-1}(\gamma)]}.$$

Let us consider the differential operator:

$$L = -\partial_t^2 + (t - \xi_{n-1}(\gamma))^2 - \Theta^{[n-1]}(\gamma).$$

Note that for any polynomial p, we have:

$$Lv = \left(p^{(3)} - 4\left[(t - \xi_{n-1}(\gamma)^2 - \Theta(\gamma)^{[n-1]}\right]p' - 4(t - \xi_{n-1}(\gamma))p\right)u_n^{[\gamma]},$$
(2.27)

and

$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} u_{n}^{[\gamma]}(t)(Lv)(t) \mathrm{d}t = \int_{0}^{+\infty} Lu_{n}^{[\gamma]}(t)v(t) \mathrm{d}t + \left(v'(0) - \gamma v(0)\right) u_{n}^{[\gamma]}(0), \tag{2.28}$$

for  $v=2p[u_n^{[\gamma]}]'-p'u_n^{[\gamma]}.$  Taking p=1, we get

$$-4\int_{0}^{+\infty} (t-\xi_{n-1}(\gamma)) \left| u_{n}^{[\gamma]}(t) \right|^{2} \mathrm{d}t = 2\left(\xi_{n-1}(\gamma)^{2} - \gamma^{2} - \Theta^{[n-1]}(\gamma)\right) \left| u_{n}^{[\gamma]}(0) \right|^{2}.$$

Recalling Lemma 2.4.8, the above formula proves (2.25). To prove (2.26), we take  $p = (t - \xi_{n-1}(\gamma))^2$ . Then, we have

$$v'(0) - \gamma v(0) = -2 \left(2\gamma \xi_{n-1}(\gamma) + 1\right) u_n^{[\gamma]}(0)$$

We get now from (2.26) and (2.27)

$$-12\int_{0}^{+\infty} (t-\xi_{n-1}(\gamma))^{3} \left| u_{n}^{[\gamma]}(t) \right|^{2} dt = -2\left(2\gamma\xi_{n-1}(\gamma)+1\right) |u_{n}^{[\gamma]}(0)|^{2}.$$

**Remark 2.4.2.** Proposition 2.4.11 corrects a mistake in [Kac06b, Lemma II.3 & (2.21)], where it is stated that

$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} (t - \xi_{n-1}(\gamma))^3 \left| u_n^{[\gamma,\xi_{n-1}(\gamma)]}(t) \right|^2 \mathrm{d}t = \frac{1}{6} [1 - 2(\gamma\xi_{n-1}(\gamma))^2] \left| u_n^{[\gamma,\xi_{n-1}(\gamma)]}(0) \right|^2.$$

In fact, the numerical simulations suggest that the behavior of  $\mu_1(\gamma, \cdot)$  differs from that of  $\mu_n(\gamma, \cdot)$  for  $n \ge 2$ . This can be quantified in the limit  $\gamma \to -\infty$ , as we will see in the following lemma.

**Lemma 2.4.12.** Let us consider a compact K. We have, uniformly for  $\sigma \in K$ ,

$$\mu_1(\gamma,\sigma) \underset{\gamma \to -\infty}{=} -\gamma^2 + \sigma^2 - \frac{\sigma}{|\gamma|} + \mathscr{O}(|\gamma|^{-2}).$$

*Proof.* By rescaling  $t = |\gamma|^{-1}u$ , we see that  $\gamma^{-2}H[\gamma,\sigma]$  is unitarily equivalent to

$$-\partial_u^2 + \left(|\gamma|^{-1}\sigma - |\gamma|^{-2}u\right)^2.$$

Subtracting the constant term, we consider the operator

$$\tilde{H}[\gamma,\sigma] = -\partial_u^2 + \left(|\gamma|^{-1}\sigma - |\gamma|^{-2}u\right)^2 - |\gamma|^{-2}\sigma^2$$

which can be expanded as follows

$$\tilde{H}[\gamma,\sigma] = -\partial_u^2 - 2\frac{\sigma u}{|\gamma|^3} + \mathcal{O}(|\gamma|^{-4}u^2).$$

We look for a quasimode of the form

$$f(u) = f_0(u) + |\gamma|^{-3} f_1(u),$$

and a quasi-eigenvalue

$$\lambda = \lambda_0 + |\gamma|^{-3} \lambda_1.$$

This invites to take  $f_0$  and  $\lambda_0$  such that

$$-f_0'' = \lambda_0 f_0, \quad f_0'(0) = -f_0(0).$$

From Section 2.1.1, we deduce that

$$\lambda_0 = -1$$
 and  $f_0(u) = \sqrt{2}e^{-u}$ .

Considering the terms of order  $|\gamma|^{-3}$ , we get

$$(-\partial_u^2 + 1)f_1 = (\lambda_1 + 2\sigma u)f_0.$$
(2.29)

This equation has a solution if and only if

$$\lambda_1 = -\langle 2\sigma u f_0, f_0 \rangle = -4\sigma \int_0^{+\infty} u e^{-2u} du = -\sigma.$$

With this choice for  $\lambda_1$ , we consider the unique  $f_1$  solving (2.29) and orthogonal to  $f_0$ .

We get

$$\left\| \left( \tilde{H}[\gamma,\sigma] - \left( -1 - |\gamma|^{-3}\sigma \right) \right) (f_0 + |\gamma|^{-3}f_1) \right\| \leqslant C |\gamma|^{-4}.$$

By using the rescaling, the spectral theorem, and by observing that  $\mu_n(\gamma, \sigma) > 1$  for  $n \ge 2$  (see Lemma 2.4.10), we deduce that  $\mu_1(\gamma, \sigma)$  is the only possible eigenvalue close to  $\sigma^2 - \gamma^2 - \frac{\sigma}{|\gamma|}$  at a distance of order  $|\gamma|^{-2}$ .

Chapter

3

# Magnetic perturbations of the Robin Laplacian in the strong coupling limit

#### Abstract

This chapter is devoted to the asymptotic analysis of the eigenvalues of the Laplace operator with a strong magnetic field and Robin boundary condition on a smooth planar domain and with a negative boundary parameter. We study the singular limit when the Robin parameter tends to infinity which is equivalent to a semi-classical limit involving a small positive semi-classical parameter. The main result is a comparison between the spectrum of the magnetic Robin Laplacian with an effective operator defined on the boundary of the domain via the Born-Oppenheimer approximation. More precisely, the low-lying eigenvalues of the magnetic Robin Laplacian are well approximated by those of a 1D periodic Schrödinger operator on the boundary. When the curvature has a unique non-degenerate maximum, we estimate the spectral gap and find that the magnetic field does not contribute to the three-term expansion of the eigenvalues. In the case of the disc domains, the eigenvalue asymptotics displays the contribution of the magnetic field explicitly.

#### Résumé

Ce chapitre est consacré à l'analyse asymptotique des valeurs propres de l'opérateur de Laplace avec un champ magnétique fort et une condition de Robin au bord d'un domaine borné régulier de  $\mathbb{R}^2$  et avec un paramètre de Robin négatif. Nous étudions la limite singulière lorsque le paramètre de Robin tend vers l'infini, ce qui est équivalent à une limite semi-classique impliquant un petit paramètre semi-classique positif. Le résultat principal est une comparaison entre le spectre du Laplacien magnétique de Robin et un opérateur effectif défini sur la frontière du domaine via l'approximation de Born-Oppenheimer. Plus précisément, les basses valeurs propres du Laplacien magnétique de Robin sont bien approximées par celles d'un opérateur de Schrödinger périodique sur la frontière. Lorsque la courbure a un maximum unique non dégénéré, nous estimons l'écart spectral et trouvons que le champ magnétique ne contribue pas au développement à trois termes des valeurs propres. Dans le cas du disque unité, l'asymptotique des valeurs propres montre explicitement la contribution du champ magnétique.

" Celui qui trouve sans chercher est celui qui a longtemps cherché sans trouver."

Gaston Bachelard

## Contents

3.1	Introduction		
	3.1.1	Magnetic Robin Laplacian	69
	3.1.2	Main results	70
3.2	Bound	lary coordinates	73
3.3	Prelin	ninaries	74
	3.3.1	Transformation into a semi-classical problem	74
	3.3.2	Agmon estimates	76
	3.3.3	Spectral reduction	82
	3.3.4	The Robin Laplacian in a tubular neighborhood	85
	3.3.5	The rescaled operator	87
3.4	Asym	ptotics of the eigenvalues of Robin's Laplacian	88
	3.4.1	Robin Laplacian in a weighted space	89
	3.4.2	The corrected Feshbach projection	90
	3.4.3	Approximation of the norm on the weighted space	92
	3.4.4	Upper bound	93
	3.4.5	Lower bound	96
	3.4.6	Proof of the main theorem	100
3.5	Specti	rum of the effective operator	102
	3.5.1	Location near the point of maximum curvature	104
	3.5.2	Reduction to a flux-free operator	109
	3.5.3	End of the proof	111
3.6	Unit d	lisc case	114

## 3.1 Introduction

## 3.1.1 Magnetic Robin Laplacian

Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . We assume that the boundary  $\Gamma = \partial \Omega$  is  $C^{\infty}$ -smooth. We study the low-lying spectrum of the Laplacian in  $L^2(\Omega)$  with a strong mixed (Robin) "attractive" boundary condition on  $\Gamma$ , together with the strong magnetic field. Our investigation is partially motivated by recent works on the Robin Laplacian, in the context of superconductivity (see Section 1.1.1) and spectral geometry initiated in [KS20, HK17, Kac16]. The operator is

$$\mathcal{P}^b_\beta = -(\nabla - ibA_0)^2,$$

with domain

$$\operatorname{Dom}(\mathcal{P}^b_\beta) = \{ u \in H^2(\Omega) : \nu \cdot (\nabla - ibA_0)u + \beta \, u = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma \},\$$

where

 $-A_0$  is the vector potential,

- $-\nu$  is the unit outward normal vector of  $\Gamma$ ,
- $-\beta < 0$  is the Robin parameter,
- -b > 0 is the intensity of the applied magnetic field,

 $-\nu \cdot (\nabla - ibA_0)u + \beta u = 0$  on  $\Gamma$  is the Robin boundary condition.

The magnetic potential defined by

$$A_0(x_1, x_2) = (A_{0_1}, A_{0_2}) := \frac{1}{2}(-x_2, x_1),$$

generates a constant magnetic field:

$$B := \nabla \times A_0 = \partial_{x_1} A_{0_2} - \partial_{x_2} A_{0_1} = 1.$$

Since div $(A_0) = \nabla \cdot A_0 = \partial_{x_1} A_{0_1} + \partial_{x_2} A_{0_2} = 0$ , then the operator  $\mathcal{P}^b_\beta$  is written as follows:

$$\mathcal{P}_{\beta}^{b} = -(\nabla - ibA_{0})^{2}$$
  
=  $-\Delta + 2ibA_{0} \cdot \nabla + ib \operatorname{div}(A_{0}) + b^{2} ||A_{0}||^{2}$   
=  $-\Delta + 2ibA_{0} \cdot \nabla + b^{2} ||A_{0}||^{2}.$ 

To be more precise, the magnetic Robin Laplacian  $\mathcal{P}_{\beta}^{b}$  is defined by Friedrichs extension theorem, from the closed semi-bounded quadratic form (see for example [LM54, Thms. 2.1 & 2.2] and [Hel13, Ch. 4])

$$H^{1}(\Omega) \ni u \mapsto \mathcal{Q}^{b}_{\beta}(u) := \int_{\Omega} |(\nabla - ibA_{0})u(x)|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x + \beta \int_{\Gamma} |u(x)|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}s(x),$$

where ds is the standard surface measure on the boundary. Note that, by the inequality in [BEL14, Lem. 2.6], the trace of u is well defined as an element of  $H^{\frac{1}{2}}(\Gamma)$ , and combining with the diamagnetic inequality in [LL01, Thm. 7.21], we obtain that, the quadratic form  $Q_{\beta}^{b}$  is well defined and bounded from below.

Since  $\Omega$  is bounded and regular, by [CR21, Thm. 4.20] and [Gri11, Section 1.4.4], the embedding of  $H^1(\Omega)$  into  $L^2(\Omega)$  is compact, therefore, by [CR21, Proposition 4.24], the operator  $\mathcal{P}^b_\beta$  has a compact resolvent. Its spectrum is purely discrete, and since  $\mathcal{P}^b_\beta$  is self-adjoint and bounded from below, it consists of an

increasing sequence of eigenvalues. Our aim is to examine the magnetic effects on the low-lying eigenvalues  $(\lambda_n(b,\beta))_{n\in\mathbb{N}^*}$ , when the Robin parameter  $\beta$  tends to  $-\infty$  and b tends to  $+\infty$  simultaneously.

If  $\Omega$  is simply connected, the eigenvalue  $\lambda_n(b,\beta)$  is independent of the choice of the vector potential  $A_0$ of the magnetic field. This is a consequence of invariance under gauge transformations; if  $A \in H^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^2)$ and curl A = 1, then  $A = A_0 + \nabla \phi$  for a function  $\phi \in H^2(\Omega)$  (cf. [FH10b, Props D.1.1 and D.2.1]), and in turn

$$e^{ib\phi}(\nabla - ibA_0)^2 e^{-ib\phi} = (\nabla - ibA_0 - ib\nabla\phi)^2 = (\nabla - ibA)^2.$$

Apart from its own interest, the study of the spectrum of the operator  $\mathcal{P}^b_\beta$  arises in several contexts, where both situations subject to magnetic fields, b > 0, or without magnetic fields, b = 0, occur. Indeed, this operator appears in the modeling of many physical problems such as the heat equation, which describes the evolution of the temperature of a solid, the Schrödinger equation modeling the evolution of a particle non-relativistic (see Section 1.1.2) or even the wave equation describing the vibrations of a membrane. The eigenvalue of  $\mathcal{P}^b_\beta$  appears in many applications such as the estimation of the critical temperature/critical fields of some superconductors surrounded by other materials [Kac06a, KS20] or the study of long-time reaction-diffusion equations [LOS98]. On the other hand, the eigenvalue asymptotics in the singular limit  $\beta \rightarrow -\infty$ , provide counterexamples in the context of the spectral geometry [FK15, PP16], and have links with the study of Steklov eigenvalues [HK22]. The case  $\beta = 0$  corresponds to Neumann's magnetic Laplacian, which has been studied in numerous articles [Ray17, FH10b].

#### **3.1.2** Main results

The large coupling asymptotics of the lowest Robin eigenvalue in the absence of a magnetic field has been studied recently by many authors, see *e.g.* [EMP14, HK17, Ker18, LP08, PP16, Kac16, KKR16]. In particular, the derivation of an effective operator on the boundary, involving the Laplace-Beltrami operator as well as the mean curvature of the boundary. In the same spirit, we will study the negative spectrum of the Robin's Laplacian on a bounded domain with Robin condition at the boundary. Our aim is to improve/complement earlier estimates and also clarify the magnetic field's contribution in the spectral asymptotic.

The main contribution of this chapter is Theorem 3.1.1 below, which involves an effective operator that we introduce as follows. We denote by  $|\Omega|$  the area of the domain  $\Omega$  and by  $|\partial\Omega|$  the arc-length of its boundary. Let us parameterize the boundary,  $\partial\Omega$ , by the arc-length, which we denote by s. Let  $\kappa(s)$  be the curvature of  $\partial\Omega$  at the point defined by the arc-length s, with the convention that  $\kappa(s) \ge 0$  when  $\partial\Omega$  is convex in a neighborhood of s, and negative otherwise. The effective operators are self-adjoint operators in the Hilbert space  $L^2(\partial\Omega)$ , acting on periodic functions, and defined as follows

$$\mathcal{L}_{\beta,\gamma_0}^{\text{eff}} = -\beta^{-2} (\partial_s - ib\gamma_0)^2 - 1 + \beta^{-1} \kappa(s)$$
  

$$\text{Dom}(\mathcal{L}_{\beta,\gamma_0}^{\text{eff}}) = H^2(\mathbb{R}/|\partial\Omega|\mathbb{Z})$$
(3.1)

with  $\gamma_0$  the circulation of the magnetic field,

$$\gamma_0 = \frac{|\Omega|}{|\partial\Omega|}.\tag{3.2}$$

Remark 3.1.1. By the min-max principle, and standard semi-classical approximation, we can establish that

$$\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}^{\text{eff}}_{\beta,\gamma_0}) = -1 + \kappa_{\max}\beta^{-1} + o(\beta^{-1}), \qquad (3.3)$$

where

$$\kappa_{\max} = \max_{\partial \Omega} \kappa(s). \tag{3.4}$$

We will describe the asymptotics of the negative eigenvalues of  $\mathcal{P}^b_\beta$ , via those of the effective operator on the boundary. More precisely, the *n*-th eigenvalue for the Laplace operator  $\mathcal{P}^b_\beta$ , is approximated by the *n*-th eigenvalue of the operators  $\mathcal{L}^{\mathrm{eff}}_{\beta,\gamma_0}$ . We will use the following notation:

$$M = \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(|\beta|^{\alpha}) \quad \text{iff} \quad \forall \epsilon > 0, \ M = \mathcal{O}(|\beta|^{\alpha - \epsilon}).$$
(3.5)

**Theorem 3.1.1.** Let  $0 \le \eta < \frac{3}{2}$  and  $0 < c_1 < c_2$ . Suppose that

$$c_1|\beta|^\eta \leqslant b \leqslant c_2|\beta|^\eta.$$

As  $\beta$  tends to  $-\infty$ , for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , we have

$$|\lambda_n(b,\beta) - \beta^2 \lambda_n(\mathcal{L}^{\text{eff}}_{\beta,\gamma_0})| = \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(\beta^{2(\eta-1)}),$$

where  $\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{\beta,\gamma_0}^{\text{eff}})$  is the *n*-th eigenvalue of the effective operator introduced in (3.1).

It results from Theorem 3.1.1 and (3.3),

$$\lambda_n(b,\beta) = -\beta^2 + \kappa_{\max}\beta + \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(\beta^{2(\eta-1)}).$$
(3.6)

When b is a fixed constant (*i.e.*  $\eta = 0$ ), (3.6) is known in [KL22, Prop. 5.1] and in the absence of the magnetic field (b = 0) [HK17, Thm. 1.1] and [PP15, Thm. 1]. Notice that, the remainder term is of lower order as long as  $\eta < \frac{3}{2}$ . If  $\eta = \frac{3}{2}$ , by [Kac16] we have

$$\lambda_n(b,\beta) = -\beta^2 + \left(\kappa_{\max} + \frac{b^2\beta^{-3}}{4}\right)\beta + o(\beta).$$

In a generic situation where the curvature has a unique non-degenerate maximum, Theorem 3.1.1 allows us to determine the leading order term of the spectral gap between the successive eigenvalues. This is valid under the following assumption:

Assumption A  $\begin{cases} \kappa \text{ attains its maximum } \kappa_{\max} \text{ at a unique point;} \\ \text{the maximum is non-degenerate, } i.e. \ \kappa''(0) < 0 \,, \end{cases}$ 

where  $\kappa_{\text{max}}$  is introduced in (3.4), denotes the maximal curvature along the boundary  $\partial\Omega$  and the arc-length parametrization of the boundary is selected so that  $\kappa(0) = \kappa_{\text{max}}$ .

Under Assumption A, we study the three terms of the eigenvalue asymptotics of the effective operator and find that

$$\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{\beta,\gamma_0}^{\text{eff}}) = -1 + \kappa_{\max}\beta^{-1} + (2n-1)\sqrt{\frac{-\kappa''(0)}{2}}|\beta|^{-3/2} + o(|\beta|^{-3/2}).$$
(3.7)

This yields the following corollary of Theorem 3.1.1:
**Corollary 3.1.2.** Let  $0 \leq \eta < \frac{5}{4}$  and  $0 < c_1 < c_2$ . Suppose that

$$c_1|\beta|^\eta \leqslant b \leqslant c_2|\beta|^\eta.$$

Under the Assumption A, as  $\beta$  tends to  $-\infty$ , for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , we have

$$\lambda_n(b,\beta) = -\beta^2 + \kappa_{\max}\beta + (2n-1)\sqrt{\frac{-\kappa''(0)}{2}}|\beta|^{1/2} + o(|\beta|^{1/2}).$$

The technical condition on  $\eta$  appears as follows. After inserting (3.7) into the estimate of Theorem 3.1.1, we get the error  $\tilde{\mathcal{O}}(\beta^{2(\eta-1)})$ , which is of order  $o(|\beta|^{1/2})$  if and only if  $\eta < \frac{5}{4}$ .

In the asymptotics of Corollary 3.1.2, the dependence with respect to the labeling of the eigenvalues, n, appears in the third term of the expansion. However, in the generic situations described by **Assumption A**, the contribution of the magnetic field is hidden in the remainder term, and is of lower order compared to that of the curvature. Corollary 3.1.2 follows from the spectral asymptotics of the 1D effective operators, which is valid under a weaker assumption on the strength of the magnetic field  $(b = O(|\beta|^{5/4}))$  when compared to the one in Theorem 3.1.1  $(b = O(|\beta|^{3/2}))$ .

In the case of disc domains, **Assumption A** fails, but we can improve Theorem 3.1.1 and display the influence of the magnetic field in the lowest eigenvalue asymptotics.

**Theorem 3.1.3.** Assume that  $\Omega = D(0,1)$  is the unit disc and that  $0 \leq \eta < 1$ . We have, as  $\beta \to -\infty$ ,

$$\lambda_1(b,\beta) = -\beta^2 + \beta + \left(\inf_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(m - \frac{b}{2}\right)^2 - \frac{1}{2}\right) + o(1),$$

uniformly with respect to b up to  $b = \mathcal{O}(|\beta|^{\eta})$ .

Theorem 3.1.3 was known when b is fixed in [KS20, Thm. 1.1]. The proof of Theorem 3.1.3 relies on the derivation of the following explicitly solvable effective operator, which is more accurate than the one in (3.1) (note that in the unit disc, the curvature is constant and equal to 1),

$$\mathcal{L}_{\beta,\text{disc}}^{\text{eff}} = -\beta^{-2} (\partial_s - ib\gamma_0)^2 - 1 + \beta^{-1} - \frac{1}{2}\beta^{-2}.$$
(3.8)

## 3.1.3 Organization of the chapter

The chapter is organized as follows. In Section 3.3.1, we introduce an effective semiclassical parameter, we discuss a semi-classical version of the operator and we recall why the eigenfunctions are localized, via Agmon estimates near the boundary. As a consequence, we replace the initial problem by a problem on a thin tubular neighborhood of the boundary. In Section 3.4, by using the Born-Oppenheimer approximation, we derive an effective operator whose eigenvalues simultaneously describe the eigenvalues of the magnetic Robin Laplacian. In particular, we show that the effectiveness of the reduction to a boundary operator is determined by the estimate of the Born-Oppenheimer correction. This correction is an explicit quantity related to dimension one. It appears in physics and, for instance, in the contributions [Teu03, MS02, PST03, PST07, WT14] in the context of time evolution or in the works [KMSW92, MM94, LT13] related to resonance and eigenvalue problems (see also the review [Jec14] where both aspects are considered). In Section 3.5, we show that the bound states for the effective operator decay exponentially away from points of maximal curvature. Then, we reduce the study to a free-flux operator, which is a perturbation of the harmonic oscillator.

Corollary 3.1.2. Finally, in Section 3.6, in the case of the disc domains, we describe the term that determines the influence of the magnetic field on the spectrum of the Robin Laplacian, thereby proving Theorem 3.1.3.

## **3.2 Boundary coordinates**

The key to proving Theorem 3.1.1 is a reduction to the boundary. Indeed, the eigenfunctions associated with low-lying eigenvalues concentrate exponentially near the boundary (cf. Proposition 3.3.4). To single out the influence of the boundary curvature, we need a special coordinate system displaying the arc-length along the boundary and the normal distance to the boundary. We will refer to such as boundary coordinates. In this section, we introduce the necessary notation to use these coordinates (cf. [HM01, FH10b]).

Let

$$\mathbb{R}/(|\partial\Omega|\mathbb{Z})\ni s\longmapsto M(s)\in\partial\Omega$$

be the arc-length parametrization of  $\partial\Omega$ . We will always work with  $|\partial\Omega|$ -periodic functions sometimes restricted to the interval

$$\left] -\frac{|\partial\Omega|}{2}, \frac{|\partial\Omega|}{2} \right] = \left] - L, L \right].$$

At the point  $M(s) \in \partial\Omega$ , T(s) = M'(s) is the unit tangent vector and  $\nu(s)$  is the unit normal vector such that

 $\forall s \in \mathbb{R}/(|\partial \Omega|\mathbb{Z}), \quad \det(T(s), \nu(s)) = 1.$ 

The curvature  $\kappa(s)$  at point M(s) is then defined as follows

$$T'(s) = \kappa(s)\nu(s).$$

The smoothness of the boundary yields the existence of a constant  $t_0 > 0$  such that, upon defining

$$V_{t_0} = \{ x \in \Omega : \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial \Omega) < t_0 \}$$

the change of coordinates

$$\Phi: \mathbb{R}/(|\partial \Omega|\mathbb{Z}) \times (0, t_0) \ni (s, t) \mapsto x = M(s) - t\nu(s) \in V_{t_0}$$

becomes a diffeomorphism. Let us note that, for  $x \in V_{t_0}$ , one can write

$$\Phi^{-1}(x) := (s(x), t(x)) \in \mathbb{R}/(|\partial \Omega|\mathbb{Z}) \times (0, t_0)$$

where  $t(x) = \text{dist}(x, \partial \Omega)$  and s(x) is the coordinate of the point  $M(s(x)) \in \mathbb{R}/(|\partial \Omega|\mathbb{Z})$  satisfying the relation  $\text{dist}(x, \partial \Omega) = |x - M(s(x))|$ .

The inverse of  $\Phi$  defines a coordinate system on a tubular neighborhood of  $\partial\Omega$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$  that can be used locally. Now we express various integrals in the new coordinates (s, t). The determinant of the locabien matrix of the transformation  $\Phi$  is given by

The determinant of the Jacobian matrix of the transformation  $\Phi$  is given by:

$$\det J_{\Phi}(s,t) = 1 - t\kappa(s)$$

In the new coordinates, the components of the vector field  $A_0$  are given as follows,

$$\hat{A}_1(s,t) = (1 - t\kappa(s))A_0(\Phi(s,t)) \cdot M'(s), 
\hat{A}_2(s,t) = A_0(\Phi(s,t)) \cdot \nu(s).$$

The new magnetic potential  $\tilde{A}_0 = (\tilde{A}_1, \tilde{A}_2)$  satisfies

$$\left[\frac{\partial \tilde{A}_2}{\partial s}(s,t) - \frac{\partial \tilde{A}_1}{\partial t}(s,t)\right] \mathrm{d}s \wedge \mathrm{d}t = \operatorname{curl} A_0(\Phi^{-1}(s,t)) dx \wedge dy = (1 - t\kappa(s)) \mathrm{d}s \wedge \mathrm{d}t$$

For all  $u \in L^2(V_{t_0})$ , we assign the pull-back function  $\tilde{u}$  defined in the new coordinates as follows

$$\tilde{u} = u \circ \Phi.$$

Consequently, for all  $u \in H^1(V_{t_0})$ , we have

$$\int_{V_{t_0}} |(\nabla - ibA_0)u(x)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x = \int \left[ (1 - t\kappa(s))^{-2} |(\partial_s - ib\tilde{A}_1)\tilde{u}|^2 + |(\partial_t - ib\tilde{A}_2)\tilde{u}|^2 \right] (1 - t\kappa(s)) \, \mathrm{d}t \mathrm{d}s,$$
$$\int_{V_{t_0}} |u(x)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Phi^{-1}(V_{t_0})} |\tilde{u}|^2 (1 - t\kappa(s)) \, \mathrm{d}t \mathrm{d}s,$$
and

and

$$\int_{V_{t_0}\cap\partial\Omega} |u(x)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x = \int |\tilde{u}(s,t=0)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

Finally, we recall a useful gauge transformation that we borrow from [HM01, FH10b]. For  $t_0 > 0$  small enough, there exists a gauge transformation  $\varphi(s,t)$  on  $\mathbb{R}/(|\partial \Omega|\mathbb{Z}) \times (0,t_0)$  such that  $\overline{A}_0$  defined by

$$\bar{A}_0 = \tilde{A}_0 - \nabla_{(s,t)}\varphi = \begin{pmatrix} \bar{A}_1(s,t) \\ \bar{A}_2(s,t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_0 - t + \frac{t^2}{2}\kappa(s) \\ 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.9)

with

$$\gamma_0 = \frac{1}{|\partial \Omega|} \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{curl} A_0 \, \mathrm{d}x = \frac{|\Omega|}{|\partial \Omega|}$$

and for all  $u \in H^1(V_{t_0})$ , we have

$$\int_{V_{t_0}} |(\nabla - ibA_0)u(x)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Phi^{-1}(V_{t_0})} \left( (1 - tk(s))^{-2} \left| \left( \partial_s - ib\bar{A}_1 \right) w \right|^2 + \left| \partial_t w \right|^2 \right) (1 - tk(s)) \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t,$$

where  $w = e^{i\varphi}\tilde{u}$  and  $\tilde{u} = u \circ \Phi$ , the pull-back function.

## 3.3 Preliminaries

## 3.3.1 Transformation into a semi-classical problem

We will prove the results of Section 3.1.2 in a semiclassical framework. Let us consider the semi-classical parameter

$$h = \beta^{-2}$$

The limit  $\beta \to -\infty$  is now equivalent to the semi-classical limit  $h \to 0^+$ . The quadratic form can be written as

$$\mathcal{Q}^{b}_{\beta}(u) = h^{-2} \left( \int_{\Omega} |(h\nabla - ibhA_{0})u(x)|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x - h^{\frac{3}{2}} \int_{\Gamma} |u(x)|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}s(x) \right) := h^{-2} q^{b}_{h}(u).$$

Consequently, we obtain the self-adjoint operator depending on h

$$\mathcal{L}_h^b = -(h\nabla - ihbA_0)^2$$

with domain

$$\operatorname{Dom}(\mathcal{L}_h^b) = \{ u \in H^2(\Omega) : \nu \cdot (\nabla - ibA_0)u - h^{-\frac{1}{2}}u = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma \}.$$

**Remark 3.3.1.**  $\mathcal{L}_{h}^{b}$  is defined via the Lax-Milgram theorem from the quadratic form  $q_{h}^{b}$ .

Clearly,

$$\mathcal{P}^b_\beta = h^{-2} \mathcal{L}^b_h,$$

and thus the relation between the spectra of the operators  $\mathcal{P}^b_\beta$  and  $\mathcal{L}^b_h$  is displayed as follows :

$$\operatorname{Sp}\left(\mathcal{P}_{\beta}^{b}\right) = h^{-2}\operatorname{Sp}\left(\mathcal{L}_{h}^{b}\right).$$
(3.10)

The self-adjoint operator  $\mathcal{L}_h^b$  has a compact resolvent and is bounded from below. Its spectrum is purely discrete and consists of a non-decreasing sequence of eigenvalues. Let  $(\mu_n(h, b))_{n \in \mathbb{N}^*}$  be the sequence of eigenvalues of the operator  $\mathcal{L}_h^b$ . Theorem 3.1.1, Corollary 3.1.2, and Theorem 3.1.3 can be reformulated in semi-classical form as follows.

**Theorem 3.3.1.** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ ,  $0 \leq \eta < \frac{3}{2}$  and  $0 < c_1 < c_2$ . There exist  $h_0 > 0$ , such that, if  $h \in (0, h_0)$  and b satisfies

$$c_1 h^{\frac{-\eta}{2}} \leqslant b \leqslant c_2 h^{\frac{-\eta}{2}},$$

then we have :

$$\left|\mu_n(h,b) - h\,\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,\gamma_0}^{\text{eff}})\right| = \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(h^{3-\eta}),$$

with

$$\mathcal{L}_{h,\gamma_0}^{\text{eff}} = -h(\partial_s - ib\gamma_0)^2 - 1 - \kappa(s)h^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

By the method of harmonic approximation, we deduce the following corollary:

**Corollary 3.3.2.** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ ,  $0 \leq \eta < \frac{5}{4}$  and  $0 < c_1 < c_2$ . Under the Assumption A, there exists  $h_0 > 0$ , such that for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$  and b satisfying

$$c_1 h^{\frac{-\eta}{2}} \leqslant b \leqslant c_2 h^{\frac{-\eta}{2}} \,,$$

we have :

$$\mu_n(h,b) = -h - \kappa_{max} h^{3/2} + (2n-1)\sqrt{\frac{-\kappa''(0)}{2}h^{7/4}} + o(h^{\frac{7}{4}}).$$

In the case of the disc, we derive the following effective operator

$$\mathcal{L}_{h,\text{disc}}^{\text{eff}} = -h(\partial_s - ib\gamma_0)^2 - 1 - h^{\frac{1}{2}} - \frac{h}{2}.$$
(3.11)

As a consequence, we get the following theorem.

**Theorem 3.3.3.** Assume that  $\Omega = D(0,1)$  is the unit disc,  $0 \le \eta < 1$  and that  $0 < c_1 < c_2$ . There exists  $h_0 > 0$ , such that for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$  and b satisfying

$$c_1 h^{\frac{-\eta}{2}} \leqslant b \leqslant c_2 h^{\frac{-\eta}{2}},$$

we have :

$$\mu_1(h,b) = -h - h^{\frac{3}{2}} + \left(\inf_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(m - \frac{b}{2}\right)^2 - \frac{1}{2}\right) h^2 + o(h^2).$$

## 3.3.2 Agmon estimates

The goal of this section is to show that the eigenfunctions associated with eigenvalues less than  $-\epsilon h$ , with  $0 < \epsilon < 1$  a fixed constant, are concentrated exponentially near the boundary at the scale  $h^{1/2}$ . These localizations are quantified by the following proposition.

**Proposition 3.3.4.** Let  $M \in (-1,0)$ . For all  $\alpha < \sqrt{-M}$ , there exist constants C > 0 and  $h_0 \in (0,1)$  such that, for  $h \in (0,h_0)$ , if  $u_{h,b}$  is a normalized ground state of  $\mathcal{L}_h^b$  with eigenvalue  $\mu(h,b)$  such that  $\mu(h,b) < M h$ , then

$$\int_{\Omega} \left( |u_{h,b}(x)|^2 + h|(\nabla - ibA_0)u_{h,b}(x)|^2 \right) \exp\left(\frac{2\alpha \operatorname{dist}(x,\Gamma)}{h^{1/2}}\right) \mathrm{d}x \leqslant C.$$
(3.12)

For the proof of the Proposition 3.3.4, we will first show two technical lemmas.

**Lemma 3.3.5.** Let  $\phi \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$  a real function, such that  $\phi$  is constant on  $\Gamma$ . We set:

$$q_{h}^{\phi}(u) = \int_{\Omega} \left( |(h\nabla - ibhA_{0})u\phi|^{2} - h^{2}|\nabla\phi|^{2}|u|^{2} \right) \mathrm{d}x - h^{\frac{3}{2}} \int_{\Gamma} |\phi u|^{2} \mathrm{d}s(x).$$

If  $u_{h,b}$  is an eigenfunction of  $\mathcal{L}_h^b$  with eigenvalue  $\mu(h,b)$ , then

$$q_h^{\phi}(u_{h,b}) = \mu(h,b) \|u_{h,b}\phi\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2.$$
(3.13)

*Proof.* We have the simple identity:

$$\left\langle \phi^2 \, u_{h,b} \,, \mathcal{L}_h^b \, u_{h,b} \right\rangle = \mu(h,b) \| u_{h,b} \phi \|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2.$$
 (3.14)

On the other hand,

$$q_h^{\phi}(u_{h,b}) = h^2 Q_{\beta}^b(\phi \, u_{h,b}) - h^2 \int_{\Omega} |\nabla \phi|^2 |u_{h,b}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x$$
$$= \left\langle \mathcal{L}_h^b \,\phi \, u_{h,b}, \phi \, u_{h,b} \right\rangle - h^2 \int_{\Omega} |\nabla \phi|^2 |u_{h,b}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x.$$

Let's explain  $\mathcal{L}_h^b \phi u_{h,b}$ : we have

$$\mathcal{L}_{h}^{b} \phi u_{h,b} = -h^{2} \left( \Delta(\phi u_{h,b}) - 2ibA_{0} \cdot \nabla(\phi u_{h,b}) - b^{2}|A_{0}|^{2} \phi u_{h,b} \right)$$

$$= -h^{2} \left( \phi \left( \Delta u_{h,b} - 2ibA_{0} \cdot \nabla u_{h,b} - b^{2}|A_{0}|^{2} u_{h,b} \right) + \Delta \phi u_{h,b} + 2 \nabla \phi \cdot \nabla u_{h,b}$$

$$- 2ibA_{0} \cdot \nabla \phi u_{h,b} \right)$$

$$= \phi \mathcal{L}_{h}^{b} u_{h,b} - h^{2} \left( \Delta \phi u_{h,b} + 2 \nabla \phi \cdot \nabla u_{h,b} - 2ibA_{0} \cdot \nabla \phi u_{h,b} \right).$$

Thus,

$$q_h^{\phi}(u_{h,b}) = \left\langle \phi \mathcal{L}_h^b u_{h,b} - h^2 \Delta \phi \ u_{h,b} - 2 h^2 \nabla \phi \cdot \nabla u_{h,b} - 2ibh^2 A_0 \cdot \nabla \phi \ u_{h,b} , \ \phi \ u_{h,b} \right\rangle$$
$$- h^2 \int_{\Omega} |\nabla \phi|^2 |u_{h,b}|^2 \ \mathrm{d}x.$$

Consequently

$$q_{h}^{\phi}(u_{h,b}) = \langle \mathcal{L}_{h}^{b} u_{h,b}, \phi^{2} u_{h,b} \rangle - h^{2} \left( \int_{\Omega} (\Delta \phi u_{h,b} + 2\nabla \phi \cdot \nabla u_{h,b}) \phi \overline{u_{h,b}} + |\nabla \phi|^{2} |u_{h,b}|^{2} + 2ib\phi |u_{h,b}|^{2} A_{0} \cdot \nabla \phi \, \mathrm{d}x \right).$$
(3.15)

If we show

$$\int_{\Omega} \left( \left( \Delta \phi \ u_{h,b} + 2 \nabla \phi \cdot \nabla u_{h,b} \right) \phi \ \overline{u_{h,b}} + |\nabla \phi|^2 |u_{h,b}|^2 + 2ib\phi |u_{h,b}|^2 A_0 \cdot \nabla \phi \right) \mathrm{d}x = 0, \tag{3.16}$$

we obtain, from (3.14):

$$q_{h}^{\phi}(u_{h,b}) = \langle \mathcal{L}_{h}^{b} u_{h,b}, \phi^{2} u_{h,b} \rangle = \mu(h,b) \| u_{h,b} \phi \|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2}$$

Let's show (3.16). By Green's formula:

$$\int_{\Omega} \phi \ \overline{u_{h,b}} \ \Delta \phi \ u_{h,b} \ \mathrm{d}x = -\int_{\Omega} \nabla(\phi \ |u_{h,b}|^2) \cdot \nabla \phi \ \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Gamma} \phi |u_{h,b}|^2 \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial \nu} \ \mathrm{d}s(x)$$
$$= -\int_{\Omega} \nabla(\phi \ |u_{h,b}|^2) \cdot \nabla \phi \ \mathrm{d}x$$
$$= -\int_{\Omega} \left( \phi \ \nabla \phi \cdot \nabla |u_{h,b}|^2 + |\nabla \phi \ |^2 |u_{h,b}|^2 \right) \ \mathrm{d}x,$$

consequently,

$$\int_{\Omega} \left( (\Delta \phi u_{h,b} + 2 \nabla \phi \cdot \nabla u_{h,b}) \phi \overline{u_{h,b}} + |\nabla \phi|^2 |u_{h,b}|^2 \right) \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega} \phi \nabla \phi \cdot \left( 2 \overline{u_{h,b}} \nabla u_{h,b} - \nabla |u_{h,b}|^2 \right) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$
(3.17)

On the other hand, using (3.15), we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \left( (\Delta \phi \ u_{h,b} + 2 \nabla \phi \cdot \nabla u_{h,b}) \phi \ \overline{u_{h,b}} + |\nabla \phi|^2 |u_{h,b}|^2 + 2ib\phi |u_{h,b}|^2 A_0 \cdot \nabla \phi \right) \mathrm{d}x$$
$$= \frac{1}{h^2} \left( -q_h^{\phi}(u_{h,b}) + \langle \mathcal{L}_h^b \ u_{h,b} \ , \ \phi^2 \ u_{h,b} \rangle \right) \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Since the integral of a real part is the part real of the integral, we get by (3.17):

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Omega} \left( \left( \Delta \phi \ u_{h,b} + 2 \,\nabla \phi \cdot \nabla u_{h,b} \right) \phi \ \overline{u_{h,b}} + |\nabla \phi|^2 |u_{h,b}|^2 + 2ib\phi |u_{h,b}|^2 A_0 \cdot \nabla \phi \right) \mathrm{d}x \\ &= \int_{\Omega} \phi \ \mathrm{Re} \left( \left. \nabla \phi \cdot \left( 2 \,\overline{u_{h,b}} \,\nabla u_{h,b} - \nabla |u_{h,b}|^2 \right) + 2ib |u_{h,b}|^2 A_0 \cdot \nabla \phi \right) \mathrm{d}x \\ &= 0, \end{split}$$

where  $\operatorname{Re}(z)$  is the *real* part of z.

**Lemma 3.3.6** (Localization Formula). If  $(\chi_{i,h})_{1 \leq i \leq 2}$  a partition of the unit of  $\mathbb{R}$ , such that

$$\chi^2_{1,h} + \chi^2_{2,h} = 1,$$

then there exist two quadratic forms  $q_{1,h}^{\phi}$  and  $q_{2,h}^{\phi}$  such that, if  $u_{h,b}$  is an eigenfunction of  $\mathcal{L}_{h}^{b}$  with an eigenvalue  $\mu(h,b)$ , then

$$q_h^{\phi}(u_{h,b}) = q_{1,h}^{\phi}(u_{h,b}) + q_{2,h}^{\phi}(u_{h,b}), \qquad (3.18)$$

where  $\phi(x) = \exp\left(\frac{\alpha t(x)}{h^{1/2}}\right)$ ,  $t(x) = \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial \Omega)$  and  $q_h^{\phi}$  defined in the Lemma 3.3.5, with

$$q_{1,h}^{\phi}(u_{h,b}) = \int_{\Omega} \left( |(h\nabla - ibhA_0)\chi_{1,h} \phi u_{h,b}|^2 - h^2 |\nabla (\phi \chi_{1,h})|^2 |u_{h,b}|^2 \right) \mathrm{d}x - h^{\frac{3}{2}} \int_{\Gamma} |\chi_{1,h} \phi u_{h,b}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}s(x),$$
(3.19)

and

$$q_{2,h}^{\phi}(u_{h,b}) = \int_{\Omega} \left( |(h\nabla - ibhA_0)\chi_{2,h} \phi u_{h,b}|^2 - h^2 |\nabla (\phi \chi_{2,h})|^2 |u_{h,b}|^2 \right) \mathrm{d}x - h^{\frac{3}{2}} \int_{\Gamma} |\chi_{2,h} \phi u_{h,b}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}s(x).$$
(3.20)

Proof. We have

$$q_{1,h}^{\phi}(u_{h,b}) = q_h^{\chi_{1,h}\phi}(u_{h,b}) \stackrel{(3.13)}{=} \mu(h,b) \|u_{h,b}\phi\chi_{1,h}\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2$$

and

$$q_{2,h}^{\phi}(u_{h,b}) = q_h^{\chi_{2,h}\phi}(u_{h,b}) \stackrel{(3.13)}{=} \mu(h,b) \|u_{h,b} \phi \chi_{2,h}\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2.$$

Hence

$$q_{1,h}^{\phi}(u_{h,b}) + q_{2,h}^{\phi}(u_{h,b}) = \mu(h,b) \|u_{h,b}\phi\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} = q_{h}^{\phi}(u_{h,b}).$$

#### 3.3.2.1 Proof of the Proposition 3.3.4

The proof of the Proposition 3.3.4 is formed by two steps. We use in the proof the notations of quadratic forms of the Lemma 3.3.6.

We consider a partition of the unit of  $\mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\chi_1^2 + \chi_2^2 = 1,$$

such that  $\chi_1 = 1$  in  $(-\infty, 1)$ ,  $\operatorname{supp} \chi_1 \subset (-\infty, 2)$ ,  $\chi_1 \ge 0$  and  $\chi_2 \ge 0$  in  $\mathbb{R}$ . We define

$$\chi_{j,h} = \chi_j \left( \frac{t(x)}{h^{1/2}} \right), \ j \in \{1,2\},$$

with  $\chi_{2,h}$  is a truncation inside and  $\chi_{1,h}$  is a truncation near the boundary.

The proof is a direct adaptation of the cas of non-magnetic field, see [HK17, Theorem 5.1].

1. First step. Let us show that, there exist c > 0, such that

$$q_{1,h}^{\phi}(u_{h,b}) \geqslant -ch. \tag{3.21}$$

We have, for  $j \in \{1, 2\}$ ,

$$\nabla \phi(x) = \frac{\alpha \, \nabla t(x)}{h^{\frac{1}{2}}} \phi(x),$$

and

$$\nabla \chi_{j,h}(x) = \frac{\nabla t(x)}{h^{1/2}} \chi_j'\left(\frac{t(x)}{h^{1/2}}\right),$$

with  $|\nabla t(x)| = 1$ . There exist constants c > 0 such that

$$\begin{aligned} |\nabla(\phi \,\chi_{j,h}\,)(x)|^2 &= |\chi_{j,h}(x) \,\nabla\phi(x) + \phi(x) \,\nabla\chi_{j,h}(x)\,|^2 \\ &\leqslant 2|\chi_{j,h}(x) \,\nabla\phi(x)|^2 + 2|\phi(x) \,\nabla\chi_{j,h}(x)\,|^2 \\ &\leqslant 2\frac{\alpha^2}{h}|\phi(x)|^2|\chi_{j,h}(x)|^2 + 2\frac{c}{h}|\phi(x)|^2|\chi_j'\Big(\frac{t(x)}{h^{1/2}}\Big)\Big|^2, \end{aligned}$$

hence

$$|\nabla(\phi \chi_{j,h})(x)|^2 \leq \frac{2\alpha^2}{h} |\phi(x)|^2 |\chi_{j,h}(x)|^2 + \frac{2c}{h} |\phi(x)|^2 |\chi_j'(\frac{t(x)}{h^{1/2}})|^2.$$
(3.22)

According to (3.22), there exist constants c > 0 such that

$$\begin{split} q_{1,h}^{\phi}(u_{h,b}) & \geq \int_{\{x \in \Omega : t(x) \leq 2h^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} |(h\nabla - ibhA_0)\chi_{1,h} \phi \, u_{h,b}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x - h^{\frac{3}{2}} \int_{\Gamma} |\chi_{1,h} \phi \, u_{h,b}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}s(x) \\ & - 2c \, h \int_{\{x \in \Omega : t(x) \leq 2h^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} |\phi|^2 |u_{h,b}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x - 2\alpha^2 \, h \int_{\{x \in \Omega : t(x) \leq 2h^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} |\phi|^2 |\chi_{1,h} \, u_{h,b}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \\ & \geq \int_{\{x \in \Omega : t(x) \leq 2h^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} |(h\nabla - ibhA_0)\chi_{1,h} \phi \, u_{h,b}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x - h^{\frac{3}{2}} \int_{\Gamma} |\chi_{1,h} \phi \, u_{h,b}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}s(x) \\ & - 2(c + \alpha^2) \, h \int_{\{x \in \Omega : t(x) \leq 2h^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} |\phi|^2 |u_{h,b}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x. \end{split}$$

Since  $u_{h,b}$  is a normalized eigenfunction of  $\mathcal{L}_h^b$  in  $L^2(\Omega)$  and that  $\phi(x) \leq \exp(2\alpha), \forall x \in \{t(x) \leq 2h^{\frac{1}{2}}\}$ , we have:

$$-\int_{\Omega} h |\chi_{1,h} \phi u_{h,b}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \ge -\int_{\{x \in \Omega : t(x) \le 2h^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} h |\phi u_{h,b}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \ge -ch.$$
(3.23)

We deduce that

$$q_{1,h}^{\phi}(u_{h,b}) \ge \int_{\{x \in \Omega : t(x) \le 2h^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} |(h\nabla - ibhA_0)\chi_{1,h}\phi u_{h,b}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x - h^{\frac{3}{2}} \int_{\Gamma} |\chi_{1,h}\phi u_{h,b}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}s(x) - ch.$$

Let us show that

$$\int_{\{x\in\Omega:t(x)\leqslant 2h^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} |(h\nabla - ibhA_0)\chi_{1,h}\phi u_{h,b}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x - h^{\frac{3}{2}} \int_{\Gamma} |\chi_{1,h}\phi u_{h,b}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}s(x) \ge -ch.$$
(3.24)

According to Theorem A.1.3, we have

$$\int_{\{x\in\Omega:t(x)\leqslant 2h^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} |(h\nabla - ibhA_0)\chi_{1,h}\phi u_{h,b}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x - h^{\frac{3}{2}} \int_{\Gamma} |\chi_{1,h}\phi u_{h,b}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}s(x)$$
  
$$\geqslant \int_{\{t(x)\leqslant 2h^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} |h\nabla|\chi_{1,h}\phi u_{h,b}||^2 \, \mathrm{d}x - h^{\frac{3}{2}} \int_{\Gamma} |\chi_{1,h}\phi u_{h,b}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}s(x).$$

In the tubular coordinates of Section 3.2, the inequality becomes:

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\{x\in\Omega:t(x)\leqslant 2h^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} |(h\nabla-ibhA_0)\chi_{1,h}\,\phi\,u_{h,b}|^2\,\,\mathrm{d}x\,-\,h^{\frac{3}{2}} \int_{\Gamma} |\chi_{1,h}\,\phi\,u_{h,b}|^2\,\,\mathrm{d}s(x) \\ &\geqslant \int_{-\frac{|\partial\Omega|}{2}}^{\frac{|\partial\Omega|}{2}} \int_{0}^{2h^{\frac{1}{2}}} h^2 \left[ (1-t\kappa(s))^{-2} |\partial_s w|^2 + |\partial_t w|^2 \right] (1-t\kappa(s))\,\,\mathrm{d}t\mathrm{d}s - h^{\frac{3}{2}} \int_{-\frac{|\partial\Omega|}{2}}^{\frac{|\partial\Omega|}{2}} |w(s,t=0)|^2\,\,\mathrm{d}s \\ &\geqslant \int_{-\frac{|\partial\Omega|}{2}}^{\frac{|\partial\Omega|}{2}} \left( \int_{0}^{2h^{\frac{1}{2}}} h^2 |\partial_t w|^2 \,(1-t\kappa(s))\,\,\mathrm{d}t - h^{\frac{3}{2}} |w(s,t=0)|^2 \right) \mathrm{d}s, \end{split}$$

with  $w(s,t) = |\chi_{1,h} \phi u_{h,b}(s,t)|.$ Consequently,

$$\int_{\{x\in\Omega:t(x)\leqslant 2h^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} |(h\nabla - ibhA_0)\chi_{1,h}\phi u_{h,b}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x - h^{\frac{3}{2}} \int_{\Gamma} |\chi_{1,h}\phi u_{h,b}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}s(x) \\
\geqslant (1 - ch^{\frac{1}{2}}) \int_{-|\frac{\partial\Omega|}{2}}^{|\frac{\partial\Omega|}{2}} \int_{0}^{2h^{\frac{1}{2}}} h^2 |\partial_t w|^2 \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s - \int_{-|\frac{\partial\Omega|}{2}}^{|\frac{\partial\Omega|}{2}} h^{\frac{3}{2}} |w(s,t=0)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}s.$$
(3.25)

Let  $\frac{1}{2} < \rho < 1$ ,  $\tau = (1 - ch^{\frac{1}{2}})h^{-1}t$ , we introduce the function  $v(s, \tau) = w(s, t)$ . The function v vanishes if  $\tau \ge c h^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  and for h small enough  $2 h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \le h^{-\rho}$ . We have

$$(1 - ch^{\frac{1}{2}}) \int_{0}^{2h^{\frac{1}{2}}} h^{2} |\partial_{t}w|^{2} dt - h^{\frac{3}{2}} |w(s, t = 0)|^{2} = h \left( \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} |\partial_{\tau}v|^{2} d\tau - h^{\frac{1}{2}} |v(s, t = 0)|^{2} \right)$$
  
$$\geqslant h\lambda_{1}(\mathcal{H}_{0,h}) \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} |v|^{2} d\tau.$$

From Section 2.1.2, we get

$$(1 - ch^{\frac{1}{2}}) \int_{0}^{2h^{\frac{1}{2}}} h^{2} |\partial_{t}w|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}t - h^{\frac{3}{2}} |w(s, t=0)|^{2} \ge -2h \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} |v|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}\tau.$$

Consequently,

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\{x\in\Omega:t(x)\leqslant 2h^{\frac{1}{2}}\}} |(h\nabla - ibhA_0)\chi_{1,h} \phi \, u_{h,b}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x - h^{\frac{3}{2}} \int_{\Gamma} |\chi_{1,h} \phi \, u_{h,b}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}s(x) \\ &\geqslant \int_{-\frac{|\partial\Omega|}{2}}^{\frac{|\partial\Omega|}{2}} \left(-2h \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} |v|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\tau\right) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= -2h\left(1-ch^{\frac{1}{2}}\right) \int_{-\frac{|\partial\Omega|}{2}}^{\frac{|\partial\Omega|}{2}} \int_{0}^{2h^{\frac{1}{2}}} |\chi_{1,h} \phi \, u_{h,b}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &\geqslant -ch \int_{\Omega} |\chi_{1,h} \phi \, u_{h,b}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &\geqslant -ch. \end{split}$$

This shows the point (3.24) and we deduce that:

$$q_{1,h}^{\phi}(u_{h,b}) \geqslant -ch.$$

2. Second step. Let's show that

$$\int_{\Omega} \left( h \left| \left( \nabla - ibA_0 \right) \chi_{2,h} \phi \, u_{h,b} \right|^2 - \left( M + \alpha^2 \right) \left| \phi \, \chi_{2,h} \, u_{h,b} \right|^2 \right) \mathrm{d}x \leqslant c. \tag{3.26}$$

We have, from (3.13) et (3.18)

$$q_h^{\phi}(u_{h,b}) = q_{1,h}^{\phi}(u_{h,b}) + q_{2,h}^{\phi}(u_{h,b}) = \mu(h,b) \|u_{h,b}\phi\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2,$$

and so from (3.21) and (3.23), we have

$$\begin{aligned} q_{2,h}^{\phi}(u_{h,b}) &\leq \mu(h,b) \|u_{h,b}\phi\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + c h \\ &= \mu(h,b) \|\chi_{1,h}u_{h,b}\phi\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + \mu(h,b) \|\chi_{2,h}u_{h,b}\phi\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + c h \\ &\leq M h \|u_{h,b} \chi_{2,h} \phi\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + c h. \end{aligned}$$

Consequently,

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Omega} |(h\nabla - ibhA_0)\chi_{2,h} \phi \, u_{h,b}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leqslant M \, h \|u_{h,b} \, \chi_{2,h} \, \phi \|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 + c \, h + h^2 \int_{\Omega} |\nabla (\phi \, \chi_{2,h})|^2 |u_{h,b}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leqslant M \, h \|u_{h,b} \, \chi_{2,h} \, \phi \|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 + c \, h + c \, h \int_{\Omega} |u_{h,b}|^2 \, \, \mathrm{d}x + \alpha^2 \, h \int_{\Omega} |\phi \, \chi_{2,h} \, u_{h,b}|^2 \, \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leqslant (M + \alpha^2) \, h \int_{\Omega} |\phi \, u_{h,b} \, \chi_{2,h} \, |^2 \, \, \mathrm{d}x + c \, h, \end{split}$$

and we deduce the formula (3.26).

3. Conclusion. Since  $(M + \alpha^2) < 0$ , then from (3.26) we have:

$$\int_{\Omega} |\phi \, u_{h,b} \, \chi_{2,h} \,|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \leqslant c,$$

which suffices to prove that, for h sufficiently small,

$$\int_{\Omega} |\phi \, u_{h,b}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \leqslant c.$$

Moreover, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|\chi_{2,h} \phi \left(\nabla - ibA_{0}\right)u_{h,b}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} &= \|(\nabla - ibA_{0})\chi_{2,h}\phi \, u_{h,b} - u_{h,b}\nabla(\chi_{2,h}\phi)\|^{2} \\ &\leq 2 \left\|(\nabla - ibA_{0})\chi_{2,h}\phi \, u_{h,b}\right\|^{2} + 2 \left\|u_{h,b}\nabla(\chi_{2,h}\phi)\right\|^{2} \\ &\stackrel{(3.26)}{\leq} \frac{c}{h} + 2 \left\|u_{h,b}\nabla(\chi_{2,h}\phi)\right\|^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

Since  $\Omega$  is bounded, the function  $x \mapsto t(x)$  is bounded and  $\phi$  is bounded. From (3.22), we have

$$\|\chi_{2,h}\phi(\nabla-ibA_0)u_{h,b}\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 \leqslant \frac{c}{h},$$

which suffices to prove that, for h sufficiently small,

$$h\|\phi(\nabla - ibA_0)u_{h,b}\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 \leqslant c.$$

We deduce that

$$\int_{\Omega} \left( |u_{h,b}(x)|^2 + h \left| (\nabla - ibA_0) u_{h,b}(x) \right|^2 \right) \exp\left(\frac{2\alpha \operatorname{dist}(x,\Gamma)}{h^{\frac{1}{2}}}\right) \mathrm{d}x \leqslant c$$

for  $h \to 0_+$ .

We record the following simple corollary of Proposition 3.3.4.

**Corollary 3.3.7.** Let  $M \in (-1,0)$ ,  $\rho \in (0,\frac{1}{2})$  and c > 0. For all  $0 < \alpha < \sqrt{-M}$ , there exists C > 0 and  $h_0 \in (0,1)$  such that, if  $u_{h,b}$  is a normalized ground state of  $\mathcal{L}_h^b$  with eigenvalue  $\mu(h,b)$  such that  $\mu(h,b) < Mh$ , then for all  $h \in (0,h_0)$ ,

$$\int_{\text{dist}(x,\Gamma) \ge ch^{\frac{1}{2}-\rho}} \left( |u_{h,b}(x)|^2 + h|(\nabla - ibA_0)u_{h,b}(x)|^2 \right) \mathrm{d}x \leqslant C \exp(-2\alpha ch^{-\rho}).$$
(3.27)

From Corollary 3.3.7, we deduce that for  $h \to 0_+$  we have,

$$\int_{\operatorname{dist}(x,\Gamma)ch^{\frac{1}{2}-\rho}} |u_{h,b}(x)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x = 1 - \int_{\operatorname{dist}(x,\Gamma)>ch^{\frac{1}{2}-\rho}} |u_{h,b}(x)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \ge 1 - C \exp(-2\alpha ch^{-\rho}).$$
(3.28)

As a consequence, for small h, the ground states of the operator  $\mathcal{L}_h^b$  are concentrated near the boundary of  $\Omega$ . This will allow us to work in a tubular neighborhood of  $\partial \Omega$ .

#### **3.3.3** Spectral reduction

Let  $\rho \in (0, 1/2)$ , we introduce the  $\delta$ -neighborhood of the boundary

$$\Omega_{\delta} = \{ x \in \Omega : \operatorname{dist}(x, \Gamma) < \delta \}, \quad \delta = h^{\frac{1}{2} - \rho}.$$

The quadratic form, defined on the variational space

$$W_{\delta} = \{ u \in H^1(\Omega_{\delta}) : u(x) = 0, \forall x \in \Omega \text{ such that } \operatorname{dist}(x, \Gamma) = \delta \}$$

is given by the formula

$$q_h^{b,\rho}(u) = h^2 \int_{\Omega_\delta} |(\nabla - ibA_0)u(x)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x - h^{\frac{3}{2}} \int_{\partial\Omega_\delta} |u(x)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}s(x).$$
(3.29)

Note again that the trace on  $\partial \Omega_{\delta}$  is well-defined by a classical trace theorem. The associated self-adjoint operator is:

$$\mathcal{L}_h^{b,\rho} = -(h\nabla - ihbA_0)^2,$$

with domain

$$\operatorname{Dom}(\mathcal{L}_{h}^{b,\rho}) = \left\{ u \in H^{2}(\Omega_{\delta}) : \nu \cdot (\nabla - ibA_{0})u - h^{-\frac{1}{2}}u = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma \text{ and} \\ u(x) = 0, \forall x \in \Omega \text{ such that } \operatorname{dist}(x,\Gamma) = \delta \right\}$$

That is, we consider the realization with mixed boundary conditions (Robin and Dirichlet conditions). Let  $(\mu_n(h, b, \rho))_{n \in \mathbb{N}^*}$  be the sequence of eigenvalues of the operator  $\mathcal{L}_h^{b,\rho}$ . It is then standard to deduce from the min-max principle and the Agmon estimates of Corollary 3.3.7 the following proposition.

**Proposition 3.3.8.** Let  $\epsilon > 0$  and  $\alpha \in (0, \sqrt{\epsilon})$ , there exist constants C > 0,  $h_0 \in (0, 1)$  such that, for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$ ,  $n \ge 1$  and  $\mu_n(h, b) < -\epsilon h$ ,

$$\mu_n(h, b, \rho) \leqslant \mu_n(h, b) + C \exp(-\alpha h^{-\rho}).$$

*Moreover, for all*  $n \ge 1$  *and* h > 0*, we have* 

$$\mu_n(h,b) \leqslant \mu_n(h,b,\rho).$$

*Proof.* The inequality  $\mu_n(h, b) \leq \mu_n(h, b, \rho)$  is not asymptotic. Let  $(v_{k,h})_{1 \leq k \leq n}$  be a family of eigenfunction of  $\mathcal{L}_h^{b,\rho}$  associated with the eigenvalues  $(\mu_k(h, b, \rho))_{1 \leq k \leq n}$ . We define the function

$$u_{n,h} = \begin{cases} v_{n,h} & \text{if } x \in \Omega_{\delta} \\ 0 & \text{if } x \in \Omega \setminus \Omega_{\delta}. \end{cases}$$

Let E be the vector subspace generated by the family  $(u_{k,h})_{1 \le k \le n}$ . We will find an upper bound of the quadratic form  $q_h^b(u)$  for all  $u \in E$ . By inserting u in the quadratic form  $q_h^b(u)$ , we get

$$q_{h}^{b}(u) = q_{h}^{b,\rho}(v) = \left\langle \mathcal{L}_{h}^{b,\rho}v, v \right\rangle \leqslant \mu_{n}(h,b,\rho) \|v\|^{2} = \mu_{n}(h,b,\rho) \|u\|^{2}.$$

By the min-max theorem, we get the non-asymptotic inequality

$$\mu_n(h,b) \leqslant \mu_n(h,b,\rho).$$

Now we determine an upper bound of  $\mu_n(h, b, \rho)$  in terms of  $\mu_n(h, b)$ . Let  $(u_{k,h})_{1 \le k \le n}$  an orthonormal family of eigenfunctions associated with the eigenvalues  $(\mu_k(h, b))_{1 \le k \le n}$ . Let the truncation function define on  $\mathbb{R}$  as follows:

$$0 \le \chi \le 1, \ \chi = 1 \text{ on } ] - \infty, 1/2 ]$$
 and  $\chi = 0 \text{ on } [1, +\infty].$ 

We define the function

$$\chi_1(x) = \chi\left(\frac{t(x)}{\delta}\right),$$

with  $\delta = h^{\frac{1}{2}-\rho}$ . For k = 1, ..., n, we let

$$v_{k,h} = \chi_1 u_{k,h}.$$

Let  $F_h$  be the vector subspace of  $\text{Dom}(\mathcal{L}_h^{b,\rho})$  generated by the family  $(v_{k,h})_{1 \leq k \leq n}$  and  $w_h \in F_h$  which is written as follows:

$$w_h = \sum_{k=1}^n \beta_k v_{k,h}.$$

The functions  $(v_{k,h})$  are quasi-orthonormal (using Proposition 3.3.4). We notice that dim $F_h = n$ , and

$$||w_h||^2 = \sum_{k=1}^n |\beta_k|^2 + \mathcal{O}(\exp(-\alpha h^{-\rho})).$$

Now we have to find an upper bound of  $q_h^{b,\rho}(w_h)$  by making  $\mu_n(h,b)$  appear. We have the following decomposition:

$$q_h^{b,\rho}(w_h) = \left\langle \mathcal{L}_h^{b,\rho} w_h, w_h \right\rangle = \sum_{j,k=1}^n \beta_j \beta_k \left\langle \mathcal{L}_h^{b,\rho} v_{j,h}, v_{k,h} \right\rangle$$

# For j, k fixed and for h small enough, we have

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \mathcal{L}_{h}^{b,\rho}v_{j,h}, v_{k,h} \right\rangle &= \left\langle \chi_{1} \mathcal{L}_{h}^{b} u_{j,h}, \chi_{1} u_{k,h} \right\rangle - h^{2} \left\langle u_{j,h} \Delta \chi_{1}, \chi_{1} u_{k,h} \right\rangle - 2h^{2} \left\langle \nabla \chi_{1} \cdot (\nabla - ibA_{0})u_{j,h}, \chi_{1} u_{k,h} \right\rangle \\ &= \mu_{j}(h,b) \left\langle \chi_{1} u_{j,h}, \chi_{1} u_{k,h} \right\rangle - h^{2} \left\langle u_{j,h} \Delta \chi_{1}, \chi_{1} u_{k,h} \right\rangle - 2h^{2} \left\langle \nabla \chi_{1} \cdot (\nabla - ibA_{0})u_{j,h}, \chi_{1} u_{k,h} \right\rangle \\ &= \delta_{j,k} \, \mu_{j}(h,b) - h^{2} \left\langle u_{j,h} \Delta \chi_{1}, \chi_{1} u_{k,h} \right\rangle - 2h^{2} \left\langle \nabla \chi_{1} \cdot (\nabla - ibA_{0})u_{j,h}, \chi_{1} u_{k,h} \right\rangle \\ &+ \mathcal{O}(\exp(-\alpha h^{-\rho})). \end{split}$$

We have

$$\nabla \chi_1(x) = h^{\rho - 1/2} \, \nabla t(x) \chi'(h^{\rho - 1/2} \, t(x)),$$

and

$$\Delta \chi_1(x) = h^{2\rho-1} |\nabla t(x)|^2 \chi''(h^{\rho-1/2} t(x)) + h^{\rho-1/2} \Delta t(x) \chi'(h^{\rho-1/2} t(x)).$$

According to the Hölder inequality, we have

$$h^{2}|\langle u_{j,h}\Delta\chi_{1},\chi_{1}u_{k,h}\rangle| = h^{2} \left| \int_{\{t(x) \ge \delta/2\}} u_{j,h}\Delta\chi_{1}\chi_{1}\overline{u_{k,h}} \,\mathrm{d}x \right|$$
  
$$\leq h^{2} \left( \int_{\{t(x) \ge \delta/2\}} |u_{j,h}\Delta\chi_{1}|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x \right)^{1/2} \left( \int_{\{t(x) \ge \delta/2\}} |u_{k,h}\chi_{1}|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x \right)^{1/2},$$

and

$$\begin{split} h^{2} |\langle \nabla \chi_{1} \cdot (\nabla - ibA_{0}) u_{j,h}, \chi_{1} u_{k,h} \rangle| \\ &= h^{2} \left| \int_{\{t(x) \ge \delta/2\}} \nabla \chi_{1} . (\nabla - ibA_{0}) u_{j,h} \chi_{1} \, \overline{u_{k,h}} \, \mathrm{d}x \right| \\ &\leqslant h^{2} \left( \int_{\{t(x) \ge \delta/2\}} |\nabla \chi_{1} . (\nabla - ibA_{0}) u_{j,h}|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x \right)^{1/2} \left( \int_{\{t(x) \ge \delta/2\}} |u_{k,h} \, \chi_{1}|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x \right)^{1/2}. \end{split}$$

Since  $h.h^{\rho-1/2} < 1$  and  $h.h^{2\rho-1} < 1$  and by Corollary 3.3.7, there exist constants c > 0 such that :

$$h^{2} |\langle u_{j,h} \Delta \chi_{1}, \chi_{1} u_{k,h} \rangle| \leq c \left( \int_{\{t(x) \ge \delta/2\}} |u_{j,h}|^{2} dx \right)^{1/2} \left( \int_{\{t(x) \ge \delta/2\}} |u_{k,h}|^{2} dx \right)^{1/2} \\ \leq c \exp(-\alpha h^{-\rho}),$$

and

$$h^{2} |\langle \nabla \chi_{1} \cdot (\nabla - ibA_{0})u_{j,h}, \chi_{1}u_{k,h} \rangle \leq c \left( \int_{\{t(x) \ge \delta/2\}} h |(\nabla - ibA_{0})u_{j,h}|^{2} dx \right)^{1/2} \left( \int_{\{t(x) \ge \delta/2\}} |u_{k,h}|^{2} dx \right)^{1/2} \leq c \exp(-\alpha h^{-\rho}).$$

Hence

$$h^{2}\langle u_{j,h}\Delta\chi_{1},\chi_{1}u_{k,h}\rangle + 2h^{2}\langle\nabla\chi_{1}\cdot(\nabla-ibA_{0})u_{j,h},\chi_{1}u_{k,h}\rangle = \mathcal{O}(\exp(-\alpha h^{-\rho})).$$

Consequently,

$$q_{h}^{b,\rho}(w_{h}) = \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} \beta_{j}\beta_{k} \left\langle \mathcal{L}_{h}^{b,\rho}v_{j,h}, v_{k,h} \right\rangle = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \mu_{j}(h,b)|\beta_{j}|^{2} + \mathcal{O}(\exp(-\alpha h^{-\rho})) \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} \beta_{j}\beta_{k}$$
$$\leq \left(\mu_{n}(h,b) + C\exp(-\alpha h^{-\rho})\right) \|w_{h}\|^{2}.$$

By the min-max theorem, we have

$$\mu_n(h, b, \rho) = \inf_{\substack{E \subset W_\delta \\ dim E = n}} \sup_{\substack{u \in E \\ u \neq 0}} \frac{q_h^{o, \rho}(u)}{\int_{\Omega_h} |u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x},$$

1

therefore,

$$\mu_n(h, b, \rho) \leqslant \mu_n(h, b) + C \exp(-\alpha h^{-\rho}).$$

Proposition 3.3.8 leads us to replace the initial problem by a new Robin-Dirichlet in a  $\delta$ -neighborhood of the boundary  $\partial\Omega$ , and then reduces the analysis to the operator  $\mathcal{L}_h^{b,\rho}$ .

## 3.3.4 The Robin Laplacian in a tubular neighborhood

From (3.9), the new quadratic form is expressed in tubular coordinates and is written as follows:

$$\begin{split} \tilde{q}_{h}^{b,\rho}(u) &= h^{2} \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{\delta} |(\partial_{s} - ib\bar{A}_{1})\tilde{u}|^{2} (1 - t\kappa(s))^{-1} \, \mathrm{d}t \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ h^{2} \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{\delta} |(\partial_{t} - ib\bar{A}_{2})\tilde{u}|^{2} (1 - t\kappa(s)) \, \mathrm{d}t \mathrm{d}s - h^{3/2} \int_{-L}^{L} |\tilde{u}(s, t = 0)|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}s, \end{split}$$

with  $\tilde{u} = e^{i\varphi}u \circ \Phi$  and  $L = \frac{|\partial \Omega|}{2}$ . Here  $\Phi$  is the transformation map that transforms Cartesian coordinates to boundary coordinates in a neighborhood of the edge and  $\varphi$  is the gauge function needed to assume that  $\bar{A}_2 = 0$ . These functions are defined in Section 3.2.

We replace  $\bar{A_0} = (\bar{A_1}, \bar{A_2})$  by its value given in (3.9), we obtain:

$$\begin{split} \tilde{q}_{h}^{b,\rho}(u) &= h^{2} \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{\delta} \left| \left( \partial_{s} - ib\gamma_{0} - ib\left( -t + \frac{t^{2}}{2}\kappa(s) \right) \right) \tilde{u} \right|^{2} (1 - t\kappa(s))^{-1} \, \mathrm{d}t \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ h^{2} \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{\delta} |\partial_{t}\tilde{u}|^{2} (1 - t\kappa(s)) \, \mathrm{d}t \mathrm{d}s - h^{3/2} \int_{-L}^{L} |\tilde{u}(s, t = 0)|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}s, \end{split}$$

and the ambient Hilbert space is  $L^2((1 - t\kappa(s)) dt ds)$ , the integration domain  $] - L, L] \times (0, \delta)$  and the natural scalar product

$$\langle f,g \rangle_{L^2((1-t\kappa(s))\,\mathrm{d}t\mathrm{d}s)} = \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{\delta} f\,\overline{g}(1-t\kappa(s))\,\mathrm{d}t\mathrm{d}s,$$

with

$$\gamma_0 = \frac{1}{|\partial \Omega|} \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{curl} A_0 \, \mathrm{d} x = \frac{|\Omega|}{|\partial \Omega|}.$$

We would like to describe the spectrum of the operator associated with the quadratic form  $\tilde{q}_h^{b,\rho}$ . To see what happens, we write the operator  $\mathcal{L}_h^{b,\rho}$  in tubular coordinates (s,t). The operator  $\mathcal{L}_h^{b,\rho}$  is unitarily equivalent to  $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_h^{b,\rho}$  the self-adjoint realization on  $L^2(] - L, L] \times (0, \delta)$ ,  $a \, dt ds$ ), of the differential operator, with 2*L*-periodic boundary condition with respect to *s*,

$$-h^{2}(1-t\kappa(s))^{-1}(\partial_{s}-ib\bar{A}_{1})(1-t\kappa(s))^{-1}(\partial_{s}-ib\bar{A}_{1})-h^{2}(1-t\kappa(s))^{-1}\partial_{t}(1-t\kappa(s))\partial_{t}$$

We replace  $\bar{A}_0 = (\bar{A}_1, \bar{A}_2)$  by its explicit value given by (3.9), the operator  $\mathcal{L}_h^{b,\rho}$  becomes :

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{L}}_{h}^{b,\rho} = -h^2 a^{-1} \left( \partial_s - ib\gamma_0 - ib\left(-t + \frac{t^2}{2}\kappa(s)\right) \right) a^{-1} \left( \partial_s - ib\gamma_0 - ib\left(-t + \frac{t^2}{2}\kappa(s)\right) \right) - h^2 a^{-1} \partial_t a \partial_t,$$

where  $a = 1 - t\kappa(s)$ .

Lemma 3.3.9. In boundary coordinates, the Robin condition becomes

$$\partial_t u(s,t=0) = -h^{-1/2} u(s,t=0).$$
 (3.30)

*Proof.*  $\widetilde{\mathcal{L}}_{h}^{b,\rho}$  is the self-adjoint operator associated with the quadratic form  $\widetilde{q}_{h}^{b,\rho}$ . Let the sesquilinear form associated with  $\widetilde{q}_{h}^{b,\rho}$  be defined for all  $u, v \in H^{1}((-L,L) \times (0,\delta))$  and  $u(s,\delta) = v(s,\delta) = 0$  by

$$\begin{aligned} Q_h^{b,\rho}(u,v) &= h^2 \int_{-L}^{L} \int_0^{\delta} \left( \partial_s - ib\gamma_0 - ib\left(-t + \frac{t^2}{2}\kappa(s)\right) \right) u \overline{\left(\partial_s - ib\gamma_0 - ib\left(-t + \frac{t^2}{2}\kappa(s)\right)\right) v} \, a^{-1} \, \mathrm{d}t \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ h^2 \int_{-L}^{L} \int_0^{\delta} \partial_t u \, \overline{\partial_t v} \, a \, \mathrm{d}t \mathrm{d}s - h^{3/2} \int_{-L}^{L} u(s,t=0) \, \overline{v(s,t=0)} \, \mathrm{d}s. \end{aligned}$$

By definition of the operator  $\widetilde{\mathcal{L}}_{h}^{b,\rho}$ , for all  $u \in \text{Dom}(\widetilde{\mathcal{L}}_{h}^{b,\rho}), v \in H^{1}((-L,L) \times (0,\delta))$  and  $v(s,t=\delta) = 0$ , we have

$$Q_h^{b,\rho}(u,v) = \left\langle \widetilde{\mathcal{L}}_h^{b,\rho}u,v \right\rangle_{L^2(a\,\mathrm{dtds})}.$$

From this equality, we find the Robin condition in the tubular coordinates. First, we calculate  $\left\langle \tilde{\mathcal{L}}_{h}^{b,\rho}u,v\right\rangle_{L^{2}(a \mathrm{~d}t\mathrm{d}s)}$ . We have

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \tilde{\mathcal{L}}_{h}^{b,\rho}u,v\right\rangle_{L^{2}(a\,\mathrm{d} t\mathrm{d} s)} \\ &= -h^{2} \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{\delta} a^{-1} \left(\partial_{s} - ib\gamma_{0} - ib\left(-t + \frac{t^{2}}{2}\kappa(s)\right)\right) a^{-1} \left(\partial_{s} - ib\gamma_{0} - ib\left(-t + \frac{t^{2}}{2}\kappa(s)\right)\right) u\overline{v}\,a\,\mathrm{d} t\mathrm{d} s \\ &- h^{2} \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{\delta} \partial_{t}(a\partial_{t}u)\overline{v}\,\mathrm{d} t\mathrm{d} s. \end{split}$$

Using an integration by parts, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \tilde{\mathcal{L}}_{h}^{b,\rho}u,v\right\rangle \\ &=h^{2}\int_{-L}^{L}\int_{0}^{\delta}a^{-1}\left(\partial_{s}-ib\gamma_{0}-ib\left(-t+\frac{t^{2}}{2}\kappa(s)\right)\right)u\left(\partial_{s}+ib\gamma_{0}+ib\left(-t+\frac{t^{2}}{2}\kappa(s)\right)\right)\overline{v}\,\mathrm{d}t\mathrm{d}s \\ &-h^{2}\int_{0}^{\delta}a^{-1}\left(\partial_{s}-ib\gamma_{0}-ib\left(-t+\frac{t^{2}}{2}\kappa(s)\right)\right)u\,\overline{v}\Big|_{-L}^{L}\,\mathrm{d}t+h^{2}\int_{-L}^{L}\int_{0}^{\delta}a\partial_{t}u\,\partial_{t}\overline{v}\,\mathrm{d}t\mathrm{d}s+h^{2}\int_{-L}^{L}\partial_{t}u\overline{v}\Big|_{t=0}\,\mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

Since u and v are 2L-periodic with respect to the variable s, we have

$$h^2 \int_0^\delta a^{-1} \left( \partial_s - ib\gamma_0 - ib\left( -t + \frac{t^2}{2}\kappa(s) \right) \right) u \overline{v} \Big|_{-L}^L \mathrm{d}t = 0.$$

Then,

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \tilde{\mathcal{L}}_{h}^{b,\rho}u,v\right\rangle &=h^{2} \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{\delta} a^{-1} \left(\partial_{s}-ib\gamma_{0}-ib\left(-t+\frac{t^{2}}{2}\kappa(s)\right)\right) u\left(\partial_{s}+ib\gamma_{0}+ib\left(-t+\frac{t^{2}}{2}\kappa(s)\right)\right) \overline{v} \, \mathrm{d}t\mathrm{d}s \\ &+h^{2} \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{\delta} a\partial_{t}u \, \partial_{t}\overline{v} \, \mathrm{d}t\mathrm{d}s +h^{2} \int_{-L}^{L} \partial_{t}u\overline{v} \Big|_{t=0} \mathrm{d}s \\ &= Q_{h}^{b,\rho}(u,v) \,. \end{split}$$

By comparison, we get for all  $v\in H^1((-L,L)\times (0,\delta))$  and  $v(s,t=\delta)=0$ 

$$h^{2} \int_{-L}^{L} \partial_{t} u \overline{v} \Big|_{t=0} ds = -h^{\frac{3}{2}} \int_{-L}^{L} u(s, t=0) \,\overline{v}(s, t=0) \, ds$$
  
$$\Rightarrow \int_{-L}^{L} \left( \partial_{t} u(s, t=0) + h^{-1/2} u(s, t=0) \right) \overline{v}(s, t=0) \, ds = 0.$$

Hence

$$\partial_t u(s, t=0) = -h^{-1/2}u(s, t=0).$$

г		
L		
L		

We introduce,

$$\begin{split} \Omega_{\delta} &= \{ (s,t) : s \in [-L, L[ \text{ and } 0 < t < \delta \}, \\ \text{Dom}(\tilde{q}_{h}^{b,\rho}) &= \{ u \in H^{1}(\tilde{\Omega}_{\delta}) \, : \, u(s,\delta) = 0 \}, \\ \text{Dom}(\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_{h}^{b,\rho}) &= \{ u \in H^{2}(\tilde{\Omega}_{\delta}) \, : \, u(s,\delta) = 0 \text{ and } \partial_{t}u(s,t=0) = -h^{-1/2}u(s,t=0) \}. \end{split}$$

## 3.3.5 The rescaled operator

We know that the eigenfunctions are localized near the boundary, at the scale  $h^{\frac{1}{2}}$  (cf. Prop 3.3.4) and in order to obtain a Robin condition independent of h, we get a partially semiclassical problem by changing the variable

$$(s,t) = (s,h^{\frac{1}{2}}\tau).$$

This change of variable transforms the above expression of  $\widetilde{\mathcal{L}}_{h}^{b,\rho}$  into an operator as follows

$$\begin{split} h\bigg[-h\hat{a}^{-1}\left(\partial_s - ib\gamma_0 - ib\left(-h^{\frac{1}{2}}\tau + h\frac{\tau^2}{2}\kappa(s)\right)\bigg)\hat{a}^{-1}\left(\partial_s - ib\gamma_0 - ib\left(-h^{\frac{1}{2}}\tau + h\frac{\tau^2}{2}\kappa(s)\right)\right)\\ &- \hat{a}^{-1}\partial_\tau\hat{a}\partial_\tau\bigg], \end{split}$$

where the new weight

$$\hat{a}(s,\tau) = 1 - h^{\frac{1}{2}} \tau \kappa(s).$$

The boundary condition becomes

$$\partial_{\tau} u(s, \tau = 0) = -u(s, \tau = 0).$$

We consider rather the operator

$$\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_h^{b,\rho} = h^{-1} \widetilde{\mathcal{L}}_h^{b,\rho},$$

and the domain of integration becomes

$$[-L, L[\times(0, \delta/h^{1/2})] = [-L, L[\times(0, h^{-\rho})].$$

The associated quadratic form is

$$\begin{aligned} \widehat{q}_{h}^{b,\rho}(\psi) &= \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} \left| \left( h^{1/2} \partial_{s} - ibh^{1/2} \gamma_{0} - ibh \left( -\tau + h^{1/2} \frac{\tau^{2}}{2} \kappa(s) \right) \right) \psi \right|^{2} \widehat{a}^{-1} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} |\partial_{\tau} \psi|^{2} \, \widehat{a} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s - \int_{-L}^{L} |\psi(s,\tau=0)|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}s. \end{aligned}$$
(3.31)

We let

$$\widehat{\Omega}_{\delta} = \{(s,\tau) : s \in [-L, L[ \text{ and } 0 < \tau < h^{-\rho} \}, 
\text{Dom}(\widehat{q}_{h}^{b,\rho}) = \{u \in H^{1}(\widehat{\Omega}_{\delta}) : u(s, h^{-\rho}) = 0\}, 
\text{Dom}(\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{h}^{b,\rho}) = \{u \in H^{2}(\widehat{\Omega}_{\delta}) : u(s, h^{-\rho}) = 0 \text{ and } \partial_{\tau}u(s, \tau = 0) = -u(s, \tau = 0)\}.$$
(3.32)

Let  $\hat{\mu}_n(h, b, \rho)$  be the *n*-th eigenvalue of the self-adjoint operator  $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_h^{b, \rho}$ . Since  $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_h^{b, \rho} = h^{-1} \tilde{\mathcal{L}}_h^{b, \rho}$ , then

$$\operatorname{Sp}(\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{h}^{b,\rho}) = h^{-1}\operatorname{Sp}(\widetilde{\mathcal{L}}_{h}^{b,\rho}).$$

Therefore,

$$\widehat{\mu}_n(h,b,\rho) = h^{-1}\widetilde{\mu}_n(h,b,\rho) = h^{-1}\mu_n(h,b,\rho),$$
(3.33)

with  $\tilde{\mu}_n(h, b, \rho)$  is the *n*-th eigenvalue of the self-adjoint operator  $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}_h^{b, \rho}$ .

Below is a table that represents the different operators that appeared in this work, their associated quadratic forms, and their eigenvalues.

Operator	Quadratic form	Eigenvalue
$\mathcal{P}^b_eta$	$\mathcal{Q}^b_eta$	$\lambda_n(b,eta)$
$\mathcal{L}_{h}^{b}$	$q_h^b$	$\mu_n(h,b)$
$\mathcal{L}_{h}^{b, ho}$	$q_h^{b, ho}$	$\mu_n(h,b, ho)$
$ ilde{\mathcal{L}}_h^{b, ho}$	$\widetilde{q}_{h}^{b, ho}$	$\widetilde{\mu}_n(h,b, ho)$
$\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{h}^{b, ho}$	$\widehat{q}_{h}^{b, ho}$	$\widehat{\mu}_n(h,b, ho)$

## 3.4 Asymptotics of the eigenvalues of Robin's Laplacian

The aim of this section is to prove the following result, which implies Theorem 3.1.1.

**Theorem 3.4.1.** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ ,  $0 \leq \eta < \frac{3}{2}$ ,  $\alpha > 0$  and  $0 < c_1 < c_2$ . There exist  $c_{\pm} > 0$  and  $h_0 > 0$ , such that, if  $h \in (0, h_0)$  and b satisfies

$$c_1 h^{\frac{-\eta}{2}} \leqslant b \leqslant c_2 h^{\frac{-\eta}{2}},$$

then, we have :

$$\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,\gamma_0}^{\mathrm{eff},-}) + \mathcal{O}(h^{2-\alpha-\eta}) \leqslant \widehat{\mu}_n(h,b,\rho) \leqslant \lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,\gamma_0}^{\mathrm{eff},+}) + \mathcal{O}(h^{2-\alpha-\eta}),$$

where  $\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,\gamma_0}^{\mathrm{eff},\pm})$  is the *n*-th eigenvalue of  $\mathcal{L}_{h,\gamma_0}^{\mathrm{eff},\pm}$  defined by

$$\mathcal{L}_{h,\gamma_0}^{\text{eff},\pm} = -h(1\pm c_{\pm}h^r)(\partial_s - ib\gamma_0)^2 - 1 - \kappa(s)h^{\frac{1}{2}} - \frac{\kappa(s)^2}{2}h \pm c_{\pm}h^{\frac{3}{2}},$$

and

$$r = \min\left(\alpha, \frac{1}{2}\right).$$

#### **Remark 3.4.1.** We distinguish two important cases of $\eta$ :

- If  $0 \leq \eta < \frac{5}{4}$ , we choose  $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}(\frac{5}{4} - \eta)$ , then  $\mathcal{O}(h^{2-\alpha-\eta}) = o(h^{\frac{3}{4}})$ . - If  $\frac{5}{4} \leq \eta < \frac{3}{2}$ , we choose  $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}(\frac{3}{2} - \eta)$ , then  $\mathcal{O}(h^{2-\alpha-\eta}) = o(h^{\frac{1}{2}})$ .

#### **3.4.1** Robin Laplacian in a weighted space

Following the writing of the magnetic Robin Laplacian in tubular coordinates in Section 3.3.4, there appears a one-dimensional operator defined, for *s* fixed, by

$$\begin{cases} -\hat{a}^{-1}\partial_{\tau}\hat{a}\partial_{\tau} = -\partial_{\tau}^{2} + h^{1/2}\kappa(s)\hat{a}^{-1}\partial_{\tau} \\ \partial_{\tau}u(s,\tau=0) = -u(s,\tau=0) \text{ in } L^{2}((0,h^{-\rho}),(1-\tau h^{1/2}\kappa(s))\,\mathrm{d}\tau). \end{cases}$$

where  $\hat{a}(s,\tau) = 1 - h^{\frac{1}{2}} \tau \kappa(s)$ . This operator is denoted by

$$\mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h} = \mathcal{H}_B^{\{T\}},$$

with

$$T = h^{-\rho}$$
 and  $B = h^{1/2}\kappa(s)$ ,

and where  $\mathcal{H}_{B}^{\{T\}}$  is defined in Section 2.1.3. The associated quadratic form is:

$$q_{\kappa(s),h}(u) = \int_0^{h^{-\rho}} |\partial_\tau u(\tau)|^2 \hat{a} \,\mathrm{d}\tau - |u(0)|^2.$$
(3.34)

Let  $v_{\kappa(s),h}$  be a normalized groundstate of  $\mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h}$  associated with  $\lambda_1(\mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h})$ . According to the Lemma 2.1.5, there exists a constant C > 0, such that

$$\|\partial_s v_{\kappa(s),h}\|_{L^2((0,h^{-\rho}),(1-h^{1/2}\kappa(s)\tau)\mathrm{d}\tau)} \leqslant Ch^{1/2}.$$
(3.35)

**Lemma 3.4.2.** Under the assumptions of Proposition 2.1.3, for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , there exists a constant  $C_k > 0$  such that the function  $v_{\kappa(s),h}$  satisfies when  $h \to 0_+$ :

$$\int_0^{h^{-\rho}} \tau^k |v_{\kappa(s),h}|^2 (1 - h^{1/2} \kappa(s)\tau) \,\mathrm{d}\tau \leqslant C_k.$$

*Proof.* The demonstration comes simply from the following inequality:

$$\forall l \ge 0, \quad \forall k \in \mathbb{N}, \quad l^k \le k! \, e^l.$$

This inequality gives us for  $l = 2\alpha\tau$  where  $\alpha$  is the constant in Proposition 2.1.4 :

$$2^k \alpha^k \tau^k \leqslant k! \, e^{2\alpha\tau}.$$

From the Proposition 2.1.4, we obtain:

$$\int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} \tau^{k} |v_{\kappa(s),h}|^{2} (1 - h^{1/2}\kappa(s)\tau) \,\mathrm{d}\tau \leqslant \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} \frac{k!}{2^{k}\alpha^{k}} e^{2\alpha\tau} |v_{\kappa(s),h}|^{2} (1 - h^{1/2}\kappa(s)\tau) \,\mathrm{d}\tau \leqslant C_{k}.$$

By [KS20, Lemma 2.5], we have the asymptotic estimate of the first and second eigenvalue of the dominate operator  $\mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h}$ 

$$\lambda_1(\mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h}) = -1 - \kappa(s)h^{\frac{1}{2}} - \frac{\kappa(s)^2}{2}h + \mathcal{O}(h^{3/2}), \tag{3.36}$$

and for  ${\cal C}>0$ 

$$\lambda_2(\mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h}) \ge -Ch^{1/2-\rho}.$$
(3.37)

## 3.4.2 The corrected Feshbach projection

For  $s \in [-L, L]$ , we introduce the Feshbach projection  $\Pi_s$  on the normalized ground state  $v_{\kappa(s),h}$  of  $\mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h}$ 

$$\Pi_{s}\psi = \langle \psi, v_{\kappa(s),h} \rangle_{L^{2}((0,h^{-\rho}),\hat{a}\,\mathrm{d}\tau)} v_{\kappa(s),h}, \quad \forall \, \psi \in L^{2}([-L,L[\times(0,h^{-\rho}),\hat{a}\,\mathrm{d}s\mathrm{d}\tau).$$
(3.38)

We also let

$$\Pi_s^{\perp} = \mathrm{Id} - \Pi_s \,,$$

and

$$R_h(s) = \|\partial_s v_{\kappa(s),h}\|_{L^2((0,h^{-\rho}),\hat{a}\,\mathrm{d}\tau)}^2$$

The quantity  $R_h$  is sometimes called "Born-Oppenheimer correction". It measures the commutation defect between  $\partial_s$  and  $\Pi_s$ .

**Remark 3.4.2.** Note that the idea of considering a Feshbach projection appears in many different contexts: WKB analysis (see for example [BNHR16, Sections 2.4 & 3.2], [HK17] and [HKR17]), convergence resolvent norm (see for example [KR14, Section 4.2] and [KRRS18]) or space/time adiabatic limits (see [Teu03, Chapter 3]). The reader might also consider to read [LT13, p. 35], where the authors tackle a similar problem of finding a corrected Feshbach projection in order to decouple the variable of their fiber operator and the semiclassical variable (his called  $\varepsilon$  in their paper and they call "horizontal variable" our variables). In particular, they emphasize that, without such a correction, the decoupling appears modulo a remainder O(h) larger than the gap between the eigenvalues.

**Lemma 3.4.3.** There exist constants C > 0 and  $h_0 > 0$  such that, for all  $\psi \in \text{Dom}(\widehat{q}_h^{b,\rho})$  and  $h \in (0, h_0)$ , we have:

$$\|[\Pi_s, \partial_s]\psi\|_{L^2(\hat{a}d\tau)} = \|[\Pi_s^{\perp}, \partial_s]\psi\|_{L^2(\hat{a}d\tau)} \leq \left[2R_h(s)^{\frac{1}{2}} + ch^{1/2}\right] \|\psi\|_{L^2(\hat{a}d\tau)}.$$

*Proof.* We estimate the commutator:

$$\begin{split} [\Pi_s,\partial_s]\psi &= -[\Pi_s^{\perp},\partial_s]\psi \\ &= \langle \partial_s\psi, v_{\kappa(s),h} \rangle_{L^2(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau)} v_{\kappa(s),h} - \partial_s \left( \langle \psi, v_{\kappa(s),h} \rangle_{L^2(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau)} v_{\kappa(s),h} \right) \\ &= -\langle \psi, \partial_s v_{\kappa(s),h} \rangle_{L^2(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau)} v_{\kappa(s),h} - \langle \psi, v_{\kappa(s),h} \rangle_{L^2(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau)} \partial_s v_{\kappa(s),h} \\ &+ h^{1/2}\kappa'(s) \left( \int_0^{h^{-\rho}} \psi v_{\kappa(s),h} \tau \mathrm{d}\tau \right) v_{\kappa(s),h}. \end{split}$$

We get, thanks to the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and the Agmon estimates (see Lemma 3.4.2)

$$\|[\Pi_s, \partial_s]\psi\|_{L^2(\hat{a}d\tau)} \leq \left[2R_h(s)^{\frac{1}{2}} + ch^{1/2}\right] \|\psi\|_{L^2(\hat{a}d\tau)}$$

**Lemma 3.4.4.** Let  $\psi \in \text{Dom}(\mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h})$ , we have the orthogonal decomposition:

$$q_{\kappa(s),h}(\psi) = q_{\kappa(s),h}(\Pi_s \psi) + q_{\kappa(s),h}(\Pi_s^{\perp} \psi),$$

with  $q_{\kappa(s),h}$  is the quadratic form associated to the operator  $\mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h}$  defined in (3.34).

Proof. We have

$$\begin{aligned} q_{\kappa(s),h}(\psi) &= \langle \mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h}\psi,\psi\rangle_{L^{2}((0,h^{-\rho}),\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau)} \\ &= \langle \mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h}(\Pi_{s}\psi+\Pi_{s}^{\perp}\psi), \,\Pi_{s}\psi+\Pi_{s}^{\perp}\psi\rangle_{L^{2}((0,h^{-\rho}),\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau)} \\ &= \langle \mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h}\Pi_{s}\psi, \,\Pi_{s}\psi\rangle_{L^{2}((0,h^{-\rho}),\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau)} + \langle \mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h}\Pi_{s}^{\perp}\psi, \,\Pi_{s}^{\perp}\psi\rangle_{L^{2}((0,h^{-\rho}),\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau)} \\ &+ \langle \mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h}\Pi_{s}\psi, \,\Pi_{s}^{\perp}\psi\rangle_{L^{2}((0,h^{-\rho}),\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau)} + \langle \Pi_{s}\psi, \,\mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h}\Pi_{s}^{\perp}\psi\rangle_{L^{2}((0,h^{-\rho}),\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau)}. \end{aligned}$$

Since  $\mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h}$  is self-adjoint on  $L^2((0,h^{-\rho}),\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau),$  then

$$\langle \mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h}\Pi_{s}\psi, \Pi_{s}^{\perp}\psi\rangle_{L^{2}((0,h^{-\rho}),\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau)} = \langle \Pi_{s}\psi, \mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h}\Pi_{s}^{\perp}\psi\rangle_{L^{2}((0,h^{-\rho}),\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau)}.$$

Therefore

$$q_{\kappa(s),h}(\psi) = \langle \mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h} \Pi_s \psi, \Pi_s \psi \rangle_{L^2((0,h^{-\rho}),\hat{a}d\tau)} + \langle \mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h} \Pi_s^{\perp} \psi, \Pi_s^{\perp} \psi \rangle_{L^2((0,h^{-\rho}),\hat{a}d\tau)} + 2 \langle \mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h} \Pi_s \psi, \Pi_s^{\perp} \psi \rangle_{L^2((0,h^{-\rho}),\hat{a}d\tau)}.$$

We have

$$\Pi_s \psi = \langle \psi, v_{\kappa(s),h} \rangle_{L^2((0,h^{-\rho}), \hat{a} \mathrm{d}\tau)} v_{\kappa(s),h} = \varphi v_{\kappa(s),h}$$

Therefore

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h} \Pi_{s} \psi, \, \Pi_{s}^{\perp} \psi \rangle_{L^{2}((0,\,h^{-\rho}),\,\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau)} &= \langle \mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h} \varphi v_{\kappa(s),h}, \, \Pi_{s}^{\perp} \psi \rangle_{L^{2}((0,\,h^{-\rho}),\,\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau)} \\ &= \varphi(s) \langle \mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h} v_{\kappa(s),h}, \, \Pi_{s}^{\perp} \psi \rangle_{L^{2}((0,\,h^{-\rho}),\,\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau)} \\ &= \varphi(s) \langle \lambda_{1}(\mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h}) v_{\kappa(s),h}, \, \Pi_{s}^{\perp} \psi \rangle_{L^{2}((0,\,h^{-\rho}),\,\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau)} \\ &= \lambda_{1}(\mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h}) \langle \Pi_{s} \psi, \, \Pi_{s}^{\perp} \psi \rangle_{L^{2}((0,\,h^{-\rho}),\,\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau)} \\ &= 0. \end{aligned}$$

Consequently,

$$q_{\kappa(s),h}(\psi) = \langle \mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h} \Pi_s \psi, \Pi_s \psi \rangle_{L^2((0,h^{-\rho}),\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau)} + \langle \mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h} \Pi_s^{\perp} \psi, \Pi_s^{\perp} \psi \rangle_{L^2((0,h^{-\rho}),\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau)},$$

hence

$$q_{\kappa(s),h}(\psi) = q_{\kappa(s),h}(\Pi_s\psi) + q_{\kappa(s),h}(\Pi_s^{\perp}\psi).$$
(3.39)

## 3.4.3 Approximation of the norm on the weighted space

In this section, we show several lemmas that are approximations of the weight.

**Lemma 3.4.5.** Let  $\psi \in L^2(\hat{a} d\tau ds)$ , and  $0 < \rho < \frac{1}{4}$ . There exist c > 0 such that :

$$\|\psi\|_{L^{2}(\hat{a}^{-1}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^{2} \leq (1+ch^{1/2}) \|\Pi_{s}\psi\|_{L^{2}(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^{2} + (1+ch^{1/4}) \|\Pi_{s}^{\perp}\psi\|_{L^{2}(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^{2}, \tag{3.40}$$

and

$$\|\psi\|_{L^{2}(\hat{a}^{-1}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^{2} \ge (1-ch^{1/2}) \|\Pi_{s}\psi\|_{L^{2}(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^{2} + (1-ch^{1/4}) \|\psi\|_{L^{2}(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^{2}.$$
(3.41)

In particular,

$$\|\psi\|_{L^2(\hat{a}^{-1}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^2 \le (1+ch^{1/4}) \, \|\psi\|_{L^2(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^2$$

*Proof.* Let  $\psi \in L^2(\hat{a}d\tau ds)$ . There exist constants C > 0 such that :

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} |\psi|^{2} \hat{a} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \, \mathrm{d}s - \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} |\psi|^{2} \hat{a}^{-1} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \, \mathrm{d}s \right| &= \left| \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} (\hat{a}^{-2} - 1) |\psi|^{2} \hat{a} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \, \mathrm{d}s \right| \\ &\leq C \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} h^{1/2} \tau |\psi|^{2} \hat{a} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leq C \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} h^{1/2} \tau |\Pi_{s}\psi + \Pi_{s}^{\perp}\psi|^{2} \hat{a} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \, \mathrm{d}s \end{split}$$

Therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} |\psi|^{2} \hat{a} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s - \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} |\psi|^{2} \hat{a}^{-1} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s \right| \\ &\leq C \bigg[ \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} h^{1/2} \tau |\Pi_{s}\psi|^{2} \hat{a} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s + \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} h^{1/2} \tau |\Pi_{s}^{\perp}\psi|^{2} \hat{a} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s \bigg]. \end{aligned}$$
(3.42)

By the Lemma 3.4.2, we have:

$$\begin{split} \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} h^{1/2} \tau |\Pi_{s}\psi|^{2} \hat{a} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s &= \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} h^{1/2} \tau |\langle\psi, v_{\kappa(s),h}\rangle|^{2} |v_{\kappa(s),h}|^{2} \hat{a} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s \\ &= h^{1/2} \int_{-L}^{L} |\langle\psi, v_{\kappa(s),h}\rangle|^{2} \left[ \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} \tau |v_{\kappa(s),h}|^{2} \hat{a} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \right] \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leqslant c \, h^{1/2} \int_{-L}^{L} |\langle\psi, v_{\kappa(s),h}\rangle|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= c \, h^{1/2} \, \|\Pi_{s}\psi\|_{L^{2}(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^{2}. \end{split}$$

Using that  $h^{1/2-\rho} \leqslant h^{1/4}$ , we have

$$\int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} h^{1/2} \tau |\Pi_{s}^{\perp}\psi|^{2} \tilde{a} \,\mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s \leqslant h^{1/2-\rho} \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} |\Pi_{s}^{\perp}\psi|^{2} \hat{a} \,\mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s \leqslant h^{1/4} \,\|\Pi_{s}^{\perp}\psi\|_{L^{2}(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^{2}$$

From the equation (3.42), we have

$$\left| \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} |\psi|^{2} \hat{a} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \, \mathrm{d}s - \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} |\psi|^{2} \hat{a}^{-1} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \, \mathrm{d}s \right| \leqslant c \, h^{1/2} \, \|\Pi_{s}\psi\|_{L^{2}(\hat{a} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \, \mathrm{d}s)}^{2} + c \, h^{1/4} \, \|\Pi_{s}^{\perp}\psi\|_{L^{2}(\hat{a} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \, \mathrm{d}s)}^{2}.$$

Consequently,

$$\begin{split} \|\psi\|_{L^{2}(\hat{a}^{-1}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^{2} &\geqslant \|\psi\|_{L^{2}(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^{2} - c\,h^{1/2}\,\|\Pi_{s}\psi\|_{L^{2}(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^{2} - c\,h^{1/4}\,\|\Pi_{s}^{\perp}\psi\|_{L^{2}(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^{2} \\ &\geqslant \|\Pi_{s}\psi + \Pi_{s}^{\perp}\psi\|_{L^{2}(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^{2} - c\,h^{1/2}\,\|\Pi_{s}\psi\|_{L^{2}(\hat{a}\,\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^{2} - c\,h^{1/4}\,\|\Pi_{s}^{\perp}\psi\|_{L^{2}(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^{2} \\ &\geqslant (1 - ch^{1/2}\,)\,\|\Pi_{s}\psi\|_{L^{2}(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^{2} + (1 - ch^{1/4}\,)\,\|\Pi_{s}^{\perp}\psi\|_{L^{2}(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^{2}, \end{split}$$

hence

$$\begin{aligned} \|\psi\|_{L^{2}(\hat{a}^{-1}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^{2} &\leqslant (1+ch^{1/2}) \|\Pi_{s}\psi\|_{L^{2}(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^{2} + (1+ch^{1/4}) \|\Pi_{s}^{\perp}\psi\|_{L^{2}(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^{2} \\ &\leqslant (1+ch^{1/4}) \|\psi\|_{L^{2}(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

**Corollary 3.4.6.** Let  $\psi \in L^2(\hat{a}d\tau ds)$ . There exist c > 0 such that :

$$\|\Pi_s \psi\|_{L^2(\hat{a}^{-1} \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s)}^2 \leq (1 + ch^{1/2}) \int_{-L}^{L} |\varphi(s)|^2 \mathrm{d}s \, ds$$

with  $\varphi = \langle \psi, v_{\kappa(s),h} \rangle_{L^2((0, h^{-\rho}), \hat{a} \mathrm{d}\tau)}$ .

Proof. This corollary is a direct result of the equation (3.40) and the Lemma 3.4.2. Indeed,

$$\Pi_s \Pi_s \psi = \Pi_s \psi$$
 and  $\Pi_s \Pi_s^{\perp} \psi = 0.$ 

3.4.4 Upper bound

To separate the variables, we consider the function of the form :

$$\psi(s,\tau) = \varphi(s) \cdot v_{\kappa(s),h}(\tau), \qquad (3.43)$$

with  $\varphi \in H^1(\mathbb{R}/2L\mathbb{Z})$ .

The following proposition provides an upper bound of the quadratic form on a subspace.

**Proposition 3.4.7.** Let  $\rho \in (0, 1/4)$ ,  $0 \leq \eta < \frac{3}{2}$ ,  $\alpha > 0$  and  $0 < c_1 < c_2$ . There exist constants c > 0,  $h_0 > 0$  such that, for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$  and b satisfying

$$c_1 h^{\frac{-\eta}{2}} \leqslant b \leqslant c_2 h^{\frac{-\eta}{2}},$$

we have for all  $\psi$  defined in (3.43)

$$\widehat{q}_{h}^{b,\rho}(\psi) \leqslant q_{h,\gamma_{0}}^{\mathrm{eff},+}(\varphi) + \mathcal{O}(h^{2-\alpha-\eta}) \|\varphi\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}/2L\mathbb{Z})}^{2},$$

where, for all  $\varphi \in H^1(\mathbb{R}/2L\mathbb{Z})$ 

$$q_{h,\gamma_0}^{\text{eff},+}(\varphi) = \int_{-L}^{L} \left( -1 - \kappa(s)h^{\frac{1}{2}} - \frac{\kappa(s)^2}{2}h + ch^{\frac{3}{2}} \right) |\varphi(s)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}s + h \left[ 1 + ch^{\min(\alpha,\frac{1}{2})} \right] \int_{-L}^{L} |(\partial_s - ib\gamma_0)\varphi|^2 \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

Proof. We write

$$\widehat{q}_{h}^{b,\rho}(\psi) = q^{tang}(\psi) + q^{trans}(\psi),$$

where

$$q^{trans}(\psi) = \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} \left| \left( h^{\frac{1}{2}} \partial_{s} - ibh^{\frac{1}{2}} \gamma_{0} - ibh \left( -\tau + h^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{\tau^{2}}{2} \kappa(s) \right) \right) \psi \right|^{2} \hat{a}^{-1} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \, \mathrm{d}s$$

and

$$q^{tang}(\psi) = \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} |\partial_{\tau}\psi|^2 \,\hat{a} \,\mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s - \int_{-L}^{L} |\psi(s,\tau=0)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}s \,.$$

## • Upper bound of $q^{tang}(\psi)$

Using the min-max principle and (3.36), we obtain an upper bound of  $q^{tang}$ 

$$\begin{split} q^{tang}(\psi) &= \int_{-L}^{L} \left[ \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} |\partial_{\tau}(\varphi(s)v_{\kappa(s),h}(\tau))|^{2} \hat{a} \, \mathrm{d}\tau - |\varphi(s)|^{2} |v_{\kappa(s),h}(0)|^{2} \right] \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \int_{-L}^{L} |\varphi(s)|^{2} \left[ \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} |\partial_{\tau}v_{\kappa(s),h}(\tau)|^{2} \hat{a} \, \mathrm{d}\tau - |v_{\kappa(s),h}(0)|^{2} \right] \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \int_{-L}^{L} q_{\kappa(s),h}(v_{\kappa(s),h}) \, |\varphi(s)|^{2} \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \int_{-L}^{L} \lambda_{1}(\mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h}) |\varphi(s)|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leqslant \int_{-L}^{L} \left( -1 - \kappa(s)h^{\frac{1}{2}} - \frac{\kappa(s)^{2}}{2}h \right) |\varphi(s)|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}s + ch^{3/2} \|\varphi\|^{2}. \end{split}$$

## • Upper bound of $q^{trans}(\psi)$

Using the following classical inequality, for all  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ , h > 0, and  $\alpha > 0$ , we have

$$|a+b|^2 \leqslant (1+h^{\alpha}) |a|^2 + (1+h^{-\alpha}) |b|^2,$$

we have

$$q^{trans}(\psi) \leq (1+h^{\alpha}) q_1^{trans}(\psi) + (1+h^{-\alpha}) q_2^{trans}(\psi),$$

where

$$q_1^{trans}(\psi) = \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} \left| \left( h^{\frac{1}{2}} \partial_s - ibh^{\frac{1}{2}} \gamma_0 \right) \psi \right|^2 \hat{a}^{-1} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s,$$

and

$$q_2^{trans}(\psi) = b^2 h^2 \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} \left| \left( -\tau + h^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{\tau^2}{2} \kappa(s) \right) \psi \right|^2 \hat{a}^{-1} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s \, .$$

Find an upper bound for  $q_1^{trans}(\psi)$  and  $q_2^{trans}(\psi)$ .

• For 
$$q_2^{trans}(\psi)$$
:

By the Lemma 3.4.5, there exist constants c > 0:

$$\int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} \left| \left( -\tau + h^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{\tau^{2}}{2} \kappa(s) \right) \psi \right|^{2} \hat{a}^{-1} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \, \mathrm{d}s \leqslant (1 + c \, h^{1/4}) \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} \left| \left( -\tau + h^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{\tau^{2}}{2} \kappa(s) \right) \psi \right|^{2} \hat{a} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \, \mathrm{d}s.$$

Therefore

$$q_2^{trans}(\psi) \leq b^2 h^2 (1+c\,h^{1/4}) \int_{-L}^{L} |\varphi(s)|^2 \left[ \int_0^{h^{-\rho}} \left| \left( -\tau + h^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{\tau^2}{2} \kappa(s) \right) v_{\kappa,h} \right|^2 \hat{a} \mathrm{d}\tau \right] \mathrm{d}s.$$

By the Lemma 3.4.2, and since the curvature is bounded, there exists a constant c > 0, such that:

$$\int_0^{h^{-\rho}} \left| \left( -\tau + h^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{\tau^2}{2} \kappa(s) \right) v_{\kappa,h} \right|^2 \hat{a} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \leqslant c.$$

Consequently,

$$q_2^{trans}(\psi) \leqslant c \left(1 + c h^{1/4}\right) b^2 h^2 \|\varphi\|^2.$$

Hence,

$$(1+h^{-\alpha}) q_2^{trans}(\psi) \leq c \, b^2 h^2 (1+c \, h^{1/4}) (1+h^{-\alpha}) \|\varphi\|^2 \leq c \, b^2 h^{2-\alpha} \|\varphi\|^2.$$

• For  $q_1^{trans}(\psi)$ :

$$\begin{aligned} q_1^{trans}(\psi) &= h \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} |v_{\kappa(s),h} \left(\partial_s - ib\gamma_0\right)\varphi + \varphi \,\partial_s v_{\kappa(s),h}|^2 \,\hat{a}^{-1} \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leqslant h \left(1 + h^{\alpha}\right) \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} |v_{\kappa(s),h} \left(\partial_s - ib\gamma_0\right)\varphi|^2 \,\hat{a}^{-1} \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ h (1 + h^{-\alpha}) \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} |\partial_s v_{\kappa(s),h}|^2 |\varphi(s)|^2 \,\hat{a}^{-1} \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s \,. \end{aligned}$$

By the Lemma 3.4.5 and the Corollary 3.4.6, there exist constants c > 0, such that:

$$\int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} |v_{\kappa(s),h}(\partial_{s} - ib\gamma_{0})\varphi|^{2} \hat{a}^{-1} \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s \leq (1 + ch^{1/2}) \int_{-L}^{L} |(\partial_{s} - ib\gamma_{0})\varphi|^{2} \mathrm{d}s,$$

and

$$\int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} |\partial_{s} v_{\kappa(s),h}|^{2} |\varphi(s)|^{2} \hat{a}^{-1} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s \leq (1+c\,h^{1/4}) \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} |\partial_{s} v_{\kappa(s),h}|^{2} |\varphi(s)|^{2} \hat{a} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s.$$

Thus,

$$q_{1}^{trans}(\psi) \leq h (1+h^{\alpha})(1+ch^{1/2}) \int_{-L}^{L} |(\partial_{s}-ib\gamma_{0})\varphi|^{2} ds + h (1+h^{-\alpha})(1+ch^{1/4}) \int_{-L}^{L} |\varphi(s)|^{2} \left[ \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} |\partial_{s}v_{\kappa(s),h}|^{2} \hat{a} d\tau \right] ds$$

From (3.35), we have

$$q_1^{trans}(\psi) \leq h \left(1 + h^{\alpha}\right) (1 + c h^{1/2}) \int_{-L}^{L} |(\partial_s - ib\gamma_0)\varphi|^2 \mathrm{d}s + c h^2 (1 + h^{-\alpha}) (1 + c h^{1/4}) \int_{-L}^{L} |\varphi(s)|^2 \mathrm{d}s.$$

We deduce that

$$(1+h^{\alpha})q_{1}^{trans}(\psi) \leq h \left[1+c h^{\min(\alpha,\frac{1}{2})}\right] \int_{-L}^{L} |(\partial_{s}-ib\gamma_{0})\varphi|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}s + \mathcal{O}(h^{2-\alpha}) \|\varphi\|^{2}$$
$$\leq h \left[1+c h^{\min(\alpha,\frac{1}{2})}\right] \int_{-L}^{L} |(\partial_{s}-ib\gamma_{0})\varphi|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}s + \mathcal{O}(h^{2-\alpha-\eta}) \|\varphi\|^{2}$$

Hence, there exists c > 0 such that:

$$\begin{split} \widehat{q}_{h}^{b,\rho}(\psi) &\leqslant \int_{-L}^{L} \left( -1 - \kappa(s)h^{\frac{1}{2}} - \frac{\kappa(s)^{2}}{2}h + ch^{3/2} \right) |\varphi(s)|^{2} \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ h(1 + c h^{\min(\alpha,\frac{1}{2})}) \int_{-L}^{L} |\left(\partial_{s} - ib\gamma_{0}\right)\varphi|^{2} \mathrm{d}s + \mathcal{O}(h^{2-\alpha-\eta}) \|\varphi\|^{2} \\ &= q_{h,\gamma_{0}}^{\mathrm{eff},+}(\varphi) + \mathcal{O}(h^{2-\alpha-\eta}) \|\varphi\|^{2}, \end{split}$$

with

$$q_{h,\gamma_0}^{\text{eff},+}(\varphi) = \int_{-L}^{L} \left( -1 - \kappa(s)h^{\frac{1}{2}} - \frac{\kappa(s)^2}{2}h + ch^{\frac{3}{2}} \right) |\varphi(s)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}s + h \left[ 1 + ch^{\min(\alpha,\frac{1}{2})} \right] \int_{-L}^{L} |(\partial_s - ib\gamma_0)\varphi|^2 \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

## 3.4.5 Lower bound

The following proposition provides a lower bound of the quadratic form  $\hat{q}_h^{b,\rho}$ .

**Proposition 3.4.8.** Let  $\rho \in (0, 1/4)$ ,  $0 \leq \eta < \frac{3}{2}$ ,  $0 < \alpha < 2 - \eta$  and  $0 < c_1 < c_2$ . There exist constants c > 0 and  $h_0 > 0$  such that, for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$  and b satisfying

$$c_1 h^{\frac{-\eta}{2}} \leqslant b \leqslant c_2 h^{\frac{-\eta}{2}},$$

we have

$$\widehat{q}_{h}^{b,\rho}(\psi) \geqslant q_{h,\gamma_{0}}^{\mathrm{eff},-}(\varphi) + \mathcal{O}(h^{2-\alpha-\eta}) \|\varphi\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}/2L\mathbb{Z})}^{2} - o(1) \|\Pi_{s}^{\perp}\psi\|_{L^{2}(\hat{a}\,\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^{2},$$

where

- $\widehat{q}_h^{b,\rho}$  is defined on  $\operatorname{Dom}(\widehat{q}_h^{b,\rho})$  in (3.31).
- $\psi \in \text{Dom}(\widehat{q}_h^{b,\rho}).$

,

•  $\varphi \in H^1(\mathbb{R}/2L\mathbb{Z})$  defined by

$$\varphi(s) := \langle \psi(s, \cdot), v_{\kappa(s),h} \rangle_{L^2((0, h^{-\rho}), \hat{a} \mathrm{d}\tau)},$$

and

$$\begin{split} q_{h,\gamma_0}^{\text{eff},-}(\varphi) &= \int_{-L}^{L} \left( -1 - \kappa(s)h^{\frac{1}{2}} - \frac{\kappa(s)^2}{2}h - ch^{\frac{3}{2}} \right) |\varphi(s)|^2 \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ h \left[ 1 - c \, h^{\min(\alpha,\frac{1}{2})} \right] \int_{-L}^{L} |(\partial_s - ib\gamma_0)\varphi|^2 \mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

We write

$$\widehat{q}_h^{b,\rho}(\psi) = q^{tang}(\psi) + q^{trans}(\psi) \,,$$

where

$$q^{trans}(\psi) = \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} \left| \left( h^{\frac{1}{2}} \partial_{s} - ibh^{\frac{1}{2}} \gamma_{0} - ibh \left( -\tau + h^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{\tau^{2}}{2} \kappa(s) \right) \right) \psi \right|^{2} \hat{a}^{-1} \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s,$$

and

$$q^{tang}(\psi) = \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} |\partial_{\tau}\psi|^2 \,\hat{a} \,\mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s - \int_{-L}^{L} |\psi(s,\tau=0)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

## 3.4.5.1 Lower bound of the tangential form

**Proposition 3.4.9.** There exists C > 0,  $h_0$  such that, for all  $\psi \in \text{Dom}(\widehat{q}_h^{b,\rho})$  and  $h \in (0, h_0)$ , we have

$$q^{tang}(\psi) \ge \int_{-L}^{L} \left( -1 - \kappa(s)h^{\frac{1}{2}} - \frac{\kappa(s)^{2}}{2}h \right) |\varphi(s)|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}s + \mathcal{O}(h^{3/2}) \|\varphi\|^{2} - Ch^{1/2-\rho} \|\Pi_{s}^{\perp}\psi\|_{L^{2}(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^{2} + Ch^{1/2-\rho} \|\|\Psi\|_{L^{2}(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^{2} + Ch^{1/2-\rho} \|\|\Psi$$

with

$$\varphi(s) := \langle \psi(s, \cdot), v_{\kappa(s),h} \rangle_{L^2((0, h^{-\rho}), \hat{a} \mathrm{d}\tau)}.$$

*Proof.* Let  $\psi \in \text{Dom}(\hat{q}_h^{b,\rho})$ , using the orthogonal decomposition in Lemma 3.4.4, we have:

$$q^{tang}(\psi) = \int_{-L}^{L} \left[ \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} |\partial_{\tau}\psi|^{2} \tilde{a} \, d\tau - |\psi(s,\tau=0)|^{2} \right] \mathrm{d}s$$
$$= \int_{-L}^{L} q_{\kappa(s),h}(\psi) \, \mathrm{d}s$$
$$= \int_{-L}^{L} \left[ q_{\kappa(s),h}(\varphi v_{\kappa(s),h}) + q_{\kappa(s),h}(\Pi_{s}^{\perp}\psi) \right] \mathrm{d}s$$
$$= \int_{-L}^{L} q_{\kappa(s),h}(\varphi v_{\kappa(s),h}) \, \mathrm{d}s + \int_{-L}^{L} q_{\kappa(s),h}(\Pi_{s}^{\perp}\psi) \, \mathrm{d}s$$

according to the principle of min-max, we obtain

$$q^{tang}(\psi) \ge \int_{-L}^{L} \lambda_1(\mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h}) \|\varphi v_{\kappa(s),h}\|_{L^2((0,h^{-\rho}),\hat{a}d\tau)}^2 \mathrm{d}s + \int_{-L}^{L} \lambda_2(\mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h}) \|\Pi_s^{\perp}\psi\|_{L^2((0,h^{-\rho}),\hat{a}d\tau)}^2 \mathrm{d}s.$$

The conclusion flows, using (3.36) and (3.37), which give:

1. For all  $s \in [-L, L]$ , we have  $\|\varphi v_{\kappa(s),h}\|_{L^2((0, h^{-\rho}), \, \hat{\mathrm{ad}}\tau)}^2 = |\varphi|^2$ .

- 2. For all  $s \in [-L, L]$ , we have  $\lambda_1(\mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h}) = -1 \kappa(s)h^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{\kappa(s)^2}{2}h + \mathcal{O}(h^{3/2}).$
- 3. For all  $s \in [-L, L]$ , we have  $\lambda_2(\mathcal{H}_{\kappa(s),h}) \ge -Ch^{1/2-\rho}$ .

#### **3.4.5.2** Lower bound of the transverse form

**Proposition 3.4.10.** Let  $\rho \in (0, 1/4)$ ,  $0 \leq \eta < \frac{3}{2}$ ,  $0 < \alpha < 2 - \eta$  and  $0 < c_1 < c_2$ . There exist constants c > 0  $h_0 > 0$  such that, for any  $h \in (0, h_0)$  and b satisfying

$$c_1 h^{\frac{-\eta}{2}} \leqslant b \leqslant c_2 h^{\frac{-\eta}{2}},$$

we have

$$q^{trans}(\psi) \ge h[1 - c h^{\min(\alpha, \frac{1}{2})}] \int_{-L}^{L} |(\partial_s - ib\gamma_0)\varphi|^2 \,\mathrm{d}s + \mathcal{O}(h^{2-\alpha-\eta}) \|\varphi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}/2L\mathbb{Z})}^2$$
$$- o(1) \|\Pi_s^{\perp}\psi\|_{L^2(\hat{a} \,\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^2,$$

with

$$q^{trans}(\psi) = \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} \left| \left( h^{1/2} \partial_s - ibh^{1/2} \gamma_0 - ibh \alpha_s(\tau) \right) \psi \right|^2 \hat{a}^{-1} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \, \mathrm{d}s,$$

where

$$\alpha_s(\tau) = -\tau + h^{1/2} \frac{\tau^2}{2} \kappa(s).$$

*Proof.* From the Lemma 3.4.5, we have

$$\begin{split} q^{trans}(\psi) &\ge (1 - ch^{1/2}) \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} \left| \Pi_{s} \left( h^{1/2} \partial_{s} - ibh^{1/2} \gamma_{0} - ibh\alpha_{s}(\tau) \right) \psi \right|^{2} \hat{a} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ (1 - ch^{1/4}) \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} \left| \Pi_{s}^{\perp} \left( h^{1/2} \partial_{s} - ibh^{1/2} \gamma_{0} - ibh\alpha_{s}(\tau) \right) \psi \right|^{2} \hat{a} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s \\ &= (1 - ch^{1/2}) \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} \left| h^{1/2} \Pi_{s} \partial_{s} \psi - ibh^{1/2} \gamma_{0} \Pi_{s} \psi - ibh\Pi_{s}(\alpha_{s} \psi) \right|^{2} \hat{a} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ (1 - ch^{1/4}) \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} \left| h^{1/2} \Pi_{s}^{\perp} \partial_{s} \psi - ibh^{1/2} \gamma_{0} \Pi_{s}^{\perp} \psi - ibh\Pi_{s}^{\perp}(\alpha_{s} \psi) \right|^{2} \hat{a} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s \end{split}$$

 $\text{Write} \quad \Pi_s \partial_s \psi = \partial_s \Pi_s \psi + [\Pi_s, \partial_s] \psi \ \, \text{and} \ \, \Pi_s^\perp \partial_s \psi = \partial_s \Pi_s^\perp \psi + [\Pi_s^\perp, \partial_s] \psi \, , \, \text{we obtain}$ 

$$\begin{split} q^{trans}(\psi) \\ \geqslant (1 - ch^{1/2}) \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} \left| h^{1/2} \,\partial_s \Pi_s \psi - ibh^{1/2} \gamma_0 \Pi_s \psi - ibh \Pi_s(\alpha_s \psi) + h^{1/2} [\Pi_s, \partial_s] \psi \right|^2 \hat{a} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s \\ + (1 - ch^{1/4}) \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} \left| h^{1/2} \,\partial_s \Pi_s^{\perp} \psi - ibh^{1/2} \gamma_0 \Pi_s^{\perp} \psi - ibh \Pi_s^{\perp}(\alpha_s \psi) + h^{1/2} [\Pi_s^{\perp}, \partial_s] \psi \right|^2 \hat{a} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

Use the following classical inequality, for all  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ , h > 0, and  $\alpha > 0$ , we have

$$|a+b|^2 \ge (1-h^{\alpha})|a|^2 - h^{-\alpha}|b|^2, \tag{3.44}$$

we obtain

$$q^{trans}(\psi) \ge (1 - ch^{1/2})(1 - h^{\alpha})q_1^{trans}(\psi) - (1 - ch^{1/2})h^{-\alpha}q_2^{trans}(\psi) + (1 - ch^{1/4})(1 - h^{\alpha})q_3^{trans}(\psi) - (1 - ch^{1/4})h^{-\alpha}q_2^{trans}(\psi),$$
(3.45)

with

• 
$$q_1^{trans}(\psi) = \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} \left| h^{1/2} \partial_s \Pi_s \psi - ibh^{1/2} \gamma_0 \Pi_s \psi - ibh \Pi_s(\alpha_s \psi) \right|^2 \hat{a} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s,$$
  
•  $q_2^{trans}(\psi) = h \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} \left| [\Pi_s, \partial_s] \psi \right|^2 \hat{a} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s = h \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} \left| [\Pi_s^{\perp}, \partial_s] \psi \right|^2 \hat{a} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s,$ 

• 
$$q_3^{trans}(\psi) = \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} \left| h^{1/2} \partial_s \Pi_s^{\perp} \psi - ibh^{1/2} \gamma_0 \Pi_s^{\perp} \psi - ibh \Pi_s^{\perp}(\alpha_s \psi) \right|^2 \hat{a} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s.$$

**For**  $q_1^{trans}$ : Using (3.44), we have:

$$q_1^{trans}(\psi) \ge (1-h^{\alpha}) \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} \left| h^{1/2} \,\partial_s \Pi_s \psi - ibh^{1/2} \gamma_0 \Pi_s \psi \right|^2 \hat{a} \,\mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s$$
$$-h^{-\alpha} \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{0}^{h^{-\rho}} \left| bh \Pi_s(\alpha_s \psi) \right|^2 \hat{a} \,\mathrm{d}\tau \mathrm{d}s.$$

According to the Section 3.4.4 and with the same type of reasoning, there exist constants c > 0 such that:

$$q_{1}^{trans}(\psi) \ge h(1 - c h^{\min(\alpha, \frac{1}{2})}) \int_{-L}^{L} |(\partial_{s} - ib\gamma_{0})\varphi|^{2} ds + \mathcal{O}(h^{2 - \alpha - \eta}) \|\varphi\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}/2L\mathbb{Z})}^{2} - \mathcal{O}(b^{2}h^{2 - \alpha}) \|\Pi_{s}^{\perp}\psi\|_{L^{2}(\hat{a}d\tau ds)}^{2}.$$
(3.46)

**For**  $q_2^{trans}$ : From the Lemma 3.4.3 and the inequality (3.35), we get:

$$\|[\Pi_s, \partial_s]\psi\|_{L^2(\hat{a}d\tau ds)} \leqslant \int_{-L}^{L} \left[2R_{\hbar}(s)^{\frac{1}{2}} + ch^{1/2}\right] \|\psi\|_{L^2(\hat{a}d\tau)} ds \leqslant ch^{1/2} \|\psi\|_{L^2(\hat{a}d\tau ds)}.$$

Thus, we obtain:

$$\begin{split} \|[\Pi_s,\partial_s]\psi\|^2_{L^2(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s} &= \|[\Pi_s^{\perp},\partial_s]\psi\|^2_{L^2(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)} \\ &\leqslant ch\|\psi\|^2_{L^2(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)} \\ &\leqslant ch\|\varphi\|^2 + ch\|\Pi_s^{\perp}\psi\|^2_{L^2(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}. \end{split}$$

Therefore,

$$q_2^{trans}(\psi) \leqslant ch^2 \|\varphi\|^2 + ch^2 \|\Pi_s^{\perp}\psi\|_{L^2(\hat{a}d\tau ds)}^2.$$
(3.47)

We use the inequality (3.47), (3.45),(3.46) and as  $q_3^{trans} \ge 0$ , we get:

$$q^{trans}(\psi) \ge h \left[ 1 - c h^{\min(\alpha, \frac{1}{2})} \right] \int_{-L}^{L} |(\partial_s - ib\gamma_0)\varphi|^2 \,\mathrm{d}s + \mathcal{O}(h^{2-\alpha-\eta}) \|\varphi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}/2L\mathbb{Z})}^2$$
$$- \mathcal{O}(b^2 h^{2-\alpha}) \|\Pi_s^{\perp}\psi\|_{L^2(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^2.$$

For  $0 < \alpha < 2 - \eta$ , we have  $-\eta + 2 - \alpha > 0$  and  $h^{-\eta+2-\alpha} = o(1)$ . Then, we have the conclusion of the proposition.

#### 3.4.5.3 **Proof of Proposition 3.4.8**

From the Propositions 3.4.9 and 3.4.10, we have:

$$q^{trans}(\psi) \ge h[1 - c h^{\min(\alpha, \frac{1}{2})}] \int_{-L}^{L} |(\partial_s - ib\gamma_0)\varphi|^2 \,\mathrm{d}s + \mathcal{O}(h^{2-\alpha-\eta}) \|\varphi\|^2 - o(1) \|\Pi_s^{\perp}\psi\|_{L^2(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^2,$$

and

$$q^{tang}(\psi) \ge \int_{-L}^{L} \left( -1 - \kappa(s)h^{\frac{1}{2}} - \frac{\kappa(s)^{2}}{2}h - ch^{3/2} \right) |\varphi(s)|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}s - ch^{1/2 - \rho} \|\Pi_{s}^{\perp}\psi\|_{L^{2}(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^{2}.$$

For  $\rho \in (0, 1/4)$ , we have  $h^{1/2-\rho} = o(1)$ , therefore we obtain the proof of Proposition 3.4.8.

#### **3.4.6 Proof of the main theorem**

We now have everything we need to complete the proof of the theorem 3.4.1. The self-adjoint operator associated to the quadratic form  $q_{h,\gamma_0}^{\text{eff},\pm}$  is :

$$\mathcal{L}_{h,\gamma_0}^{\text{eff},\pm} = -h\left(1 \pm c_{\pm} h^{\min(\alpha,\frac{1}{2})}\right) (\partial_s - ib\gamma_0)^2 - 1 - \kappa(s)h^{\frac{1}{2}} - \frac{\kappa(s)^2}{2}h \pm c_{\pm}h^{3/2}$$

acting on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}/(|\partial \Omega|\mathbb{Z})) = L^2(\mathbb{R}/2L\mathbb{Z})$ , where  $c_{\pm}$  is a constant independent of h. The operator  $\mathcal{L}_{h,\gamma_0}^{\mathrm{eff},\pm}$  has a compact resolvent and it is bounded from below. Its spectrum is purely discrete, and it is formed by a non-decreasing sequence of eigenvalues  $\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,\gamma_0}^{\mathrm{eff},\pm})$ .

**Corollary 3.4.11.** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ ,  $\rho \in (0, 1/4)$ ,  $0 \leq \eta < \frac{3}{2}$ . There exists  $h_0 > 0$ , such that, if  $h \in (0, h_0)$  and b satisfies

$$c_1 h^{\frac{-\eta}{2}} \leqslant b \leqslant c_2 h^{\frac{-\eta}{2}},$$

we have:

$$\widehat{\mu}_n(h,b,\rho) \leqslant \lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,\gamma_0}^{\mathrm{eff},+}) + \mathcal{O}(h^{2-\alpha-\eta}).$$

*Proof.* Let  $(\varphi_j)_{1 \leq j \leq n}$  be an orthonormal family of eigenfunctions associated with eigenvalues  $\left(\lambda_j(\mathcal{L}_{h,\beta_0}^{\text{eff},+})\right)_{1 \leq j \leq n}$ . Let E be the subspace of  $\text{Dom}(q_{h,\gamma_0}^{\text{eff},+})$  generated by the family  $(\varphi_j)_{1 \leq j \leq n}$ . By the Proposition 3.4.7, we have:

$$\widehat{q}_{h}^{b,\rho}(v_{k(s),h}\varphi) \leqslant q_{h,\beta_{0}}^{\mathrm{eff},+}(\varphi) + \mathcal{O}(h^{2-\alpha-\eta}) \|\varphi\|^{2}, \qquad \forall \varphi \in E.$$

By applying the min-max theorem, we deduce

$$q_{h,\gamma_0}^{\mathrm{eff},+}(\varphi) \leqslant \lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,\gamma_0}^{\mathrm{eff},+}) \|\varphi\|^2.$$

Consequently,

$$\begin{aligned} \widehat{q}_{h}^{b,\rho}(v_{k(s),h}\,\varphi) &\leqslant \lambda_{n}(\mathcal{L}_{h,\gamma_{0}}^{\text{eff},+}) \|\varphi\|^{2} + \mathcal{O}(h^{2-\alpha-\eta}) \|\varphi\|^{2} \\ &\leqslant \left(\lambda_{n}(\mathcal{L}_{h,\gamma_{0}}^{\text{eff},+}) + \mathcal{O}(h^{2-\alpha-\eta})\right) \|v_{k(s),h}\varphi\|^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

For all  $g \in v_{k(s),h}E$ , we have :

$$\widehat{q}_{h}^{b,\rho}(g) \leqslant \left(\lambda_{n}(\mathcal{L}_{h,\gamma_{0}}^{\mathrm{eff},+}) + \mathcal{O}(h^{2-\alpha-\eta})\right) \|g\|^{2}.$$

From the normalization of  $v_{k(s),h}$ , we can see that  $\dim(v_{k(s),h}E) = n$ . Thus, by applying the min-max principle, we obtain

$$\widehat{\mu}_n(h,b,\rho) \leqslant \lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,\gamma_0}^{\text{eff},+}) + \mathcal{O}(h^{2-\alpha-\eta}).$$

**Corollary 3.4.12.** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ ,  $\rho \in (0, 1/4)$ ,  $0 \leq \eta < \frac{3}{2}$ . There exists  $h_0 > 0$ , such that, if  $h \in (0, h_0)$  and b satisfies

$$c_1 h^{\frac{-\eta}{2}} \leqslant b \leqslant c_2 h^{\frac{-\eta}{2}},$$

we have:

$$\widehat{\mu}_n(h, b, \rho) \ge \lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h, \gamma_0}^{\mathrm{eff}, -}) + \mathcal{O}(h^{2-\alpha-\eta}).$$

*Proof.* Using the Proposition 3.4.8, there exist constants  $c > 0, C_h$  and  $\epsilon_0 \in (0, 1)$  such that

$$\widehat{q}_{h}^{b,\rho}(\psi) \geqslant Q_{h,\gamma_{0}}^{tens}(\langle \psi, v_{\kappa(s),h} \rangle, \Pi^{\perp}\psi), \qquad (3.48)$$

where, for all  $(\varphi,f)\in \mathrm{Dom}(q_{h,\gamma_0}^{\mathrm{eff},-})\times \mathrm{Dom}(\widehat{q}_h^{b,\rho})$ 

$$\begin{aligned} Q_{h,\gamma_0}^{tens}(\varphi,f) &= q_{h,\gamma_0}^{\text{eff},-}(\varphi) + \mathcal{O}(h^{2-\alpha-\eta}) \|\varphi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}/2L\mathbb{Z})}^2 - \frac{\epsilon_0}{2} \|f\|_{L^2(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^2 \\ &= Q_{h,\gamma_0}^{\text{eff}}(\varphi) - \frac{\epsilon_0}{2} \|f\|_{L^2(\hat{a}\mathrm{d}\tau\mathrm{d}s)}^2, \end{aligned}$$

with

$$Q_{h,\gamma_0}^{\text{eff}}(\varphi) = q_{h,\gamma_0}^{\text{eff},-}(\varphi) + \mathcal{O}(h^{2-\alpha-\eta}) \|\varphi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}/2L\mathbb{Z})}^2$$

According to the theorem of min-max and (3.48), we have :

$$\widehat{\mu}_{n}(h,b,\rho) \geq \inf_{\substack{G \subset \text{Dom}(\widehat{q}_{h}^{b,\rho}) \\ \dim G = n}} \sup_{\substack{\psi \in G \\ \psi \neq 0}} \frac{Q_{h,\gamma_{0}}^{tens}(\langle \psi, v_{\kappa(s),h} \rangle, \Pi^{\perp}\psi)}{\|\Pi\psi\|^{2} + \|\Pi^{\perp}\psi\|^{2}}.$$
(3.49)

otens (

c)

We define the linear injection:

$$\begin{array}{rcl} \mathcal{J} & : & \operatorname{Dom}(\widehat{q}_{h}^{b,\rho}) & \longrightarrow & \operatorname{Dom}(q_{h,\gamma_{0}}^{\operatorname{eff},-}) \times \operatorname{Dom}(\widehat{q}_{h}^{b,\rho}) \\ & \psi & \longmapsto & (\langle \psi, v_{\kappa(s),h} \rangle \,, \, \Pi^{\perp} \psi) \end{array}$$

We have:

$$\inf_{\substack{G \subset \operatorname{Dom}(\widehat{q}_{h}^{b,\rho}) \\ \dim G = n}} \sup_{\substack{\psi \neq 0}} \frac{Q_{h,\gamma_{0}}^{tens}(\langle \psi, v_{\kappa(s),h} \rangle, \Pi^{\perp} \psi)}{\|\Pi \psi\|^{2} + \|\Pi^{\perp} \psi\|^{2}} = \inf_{\substack{\widehat{G} \subset \mathcal{J}(\operatorname{Dom}(\widehat{q}_{h}^{b,\rho})) \\ \dim \widehat{G} = n}} \sup_{\substack{\psi \neq 0}} \frac{Q_{h,\gamma_{0}}^{tens}(\varphi, f)}{\|\varphi\|^{2} + \|f\|^{2}},$$

C)

and

$$\inf_{\substack{\widehat{G} \subset \mathcal{J}(\operatorname{Dom}(\widehat{q}_{h}^{b,\rho})) \ (\varphi,f) \in \widehat{G}}} \sup_{\substack{|\varphi|^{2} + \|f\|^{2} \\ \dim \widehat{G} = n}} \sup_{\substack{\varphi,f) \in \widehat{G}}} \frac{Q_{h,\gamma_{0}}^{tens}(\varphi,f)}{\|\varphi\|^{2} + \|f\|^{2}} \ge \inf_{\substack{\widehat{G} \subset \operatorname{Dom}(q_{h,\gamma_{0}}^{eff,-}) \\ \times \operatorname{Dom}(\widehat{q}_{h}^{b,\rho}) \\ \dim \widehat{G} = n}} \sup_{\substack{\varphi,f) \in \widehat{G}}} \frac{Q_{h,\gamma_{0}}^{tens}(\varphi,f)}{\|\varphi\|^{2} + \|f\|^{2}} = 1$$

Therefore,

$$\inf_{\substack{G \subset \text{Dom}(\widehat{q}_{h}^{b,\rho}) \\ \dim G = n}} \sup_{\psi \neq 0} \frac{Q_{h,\gamma_{0}}^{tens}(\langle \psi, v_{\kappa(s),h} \rangle, \Pi^{\perp} \psi)}{\|\Pi \psi\|^{2} + \|\Pi^{\perp} \psi\|^{2}} \ge \inf_{\substack{\widehat{G} \subset \text{Dom}(q_{h,\gamma_{0}}^{\text{eff},-}) \\ \times \text{Dom}(\widehat{q}_{h}^{b,\rho}) \\ \dim \widehat{G} = n}} \sup_{\substack{\varphi \in G \\ \psi \neq 0}} \frac{Q_{h,\gamma_{0}}^{tens}(\varphi, f)}{\|\varphi\|^{2} + \|f\|^{2}}.$$
(3.50)

By the inequalities (3.49) and (3.50), we have the comparison of the Rayleigh quotients:

$$\widehat{\mu}_n(h,b,\rho) \geqslant \widehat{\mu}_n^{tens}(h). \tag{3.51}$$

We note that the self-adjoint operator associated with the quadratic form  $Q_{h,\gamma_0}^{\text{eff}}$  is  $\mathcal{L}_{h,\gamma_0}^{\text{eff}}$ , and the self-adjoint

operator associated with the quadratic form  $Q_{h,\gamma_0}^{tens}$  is  $\mathcal{L}_{h,\gamma_0}^{tens}$ . It is easy to see that the spectrum of  $\mathcal{L}_{h,\gamma_0}^{tens}$  which lies below  $-\epsilon_0$  is coincident with the spectrum of  $\mathcal{L}_{h,\gamma_0}^{\text{eff}}$ . Then, for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ ,  $\hat{\mu}_n^{tens}(h)$  is the *n*-th eigenvalue of  $\mathcal{L}_{h,\gamma_0}^{tens}$  and  $\hat{\mu}_n^{\text{eff}}(h)$  is the *n*-th eigenvalue of  $\mathcal{L}_{h,\gamma_0}^{\text{eff}}$  have satisfied

$$\widehat{\mu}_{n}^{tens}(h) = \widehat{\mu}_{n}^{\text{eff}}(h) = \lambda_{n}(\mathcal{L}_{h,\gamma_{0}}^{\text{eff},-}) + \mathcal{O}(h^{2-\alpha-\eta}).$$
(3.52)

Therefore, (3.51) and (3.52) give the result of the corollary.

#### 3.5 Spectrum of the effective operator

Let  $\lambda_n(\mathcal{L})$  be the *n*-th eigenvalue of an operator  $\mathcal{L}$ . Fix a constant  $c \in \mathbb{R}$ . The effective operators  $\mathcal{L}_{h,\gamma_0}^{\text{eff},\pm}$ are special cases of the following operator:

$$\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,0}^{\mathrm{eff},b} = -h\left(1 - c\,h^{\min(\alpha,\frac{1}{2})}\right)(\partial_s - ib\gamma_0)^2 - 1 - \kappa(s)h^{\frac{1}{2}} - \frac{\kappa(s)^2}{2}h - ch^{\frac{3}{2}},$$

with b > 0 and  $\alpha > 0$ . The associate quadratic form on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}/2L\mathbb{Z})$  is

$$q_{h,\alpha,0}^{\text{eff},b}(\varphi) = \int_{-L}^{L} \left( -1 - \kappa(s)h^{\frac{1}{2}} - \frac{\kappa(s)^{2}}{2}h - ch^{\frac{3}{2}} \right) |\varphi(s)|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}s + h\left(1 - ch^{\min(\alpha,\frac{1}{2})}\right) \int_{-L}^{L} |(\partial_{s} - ib\gamma_{0})\varphi|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

In the following, we will explain how the spectrum of the operator  $\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,0}^{\mathrm{eff},b}$  reduces to the study of that stated in Theorem 3.3.1. The operator that we are going to study the spectrum is a perturbation of the harmonic oscillator. Then, the calculations are based on the context of the harmonic approximation (cf. [Ray17, Sections 3.2 and 4.1.2] and [FH10b, Section 7.1]), with a small adjustment, since the operator is defined on a periodic space and with a phase term  $ib\gamma_0$ .

Lemma 3.5.1. Let the effective operator be of the form:

$$\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,1}^{\text{eff},b} = -h\left(1 - c\,h^{\min(\alpha,\frac{1}{2})}\right)\left(\partial_s - ib\gamma_0\right)^2 - \kappa(s)h^{\frac{1}{2}} - \frac{\kappa(s)^2}{2}h - ch^{\frac{3}{2}},$$

and the quadratic form on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}/2L\mathbb{Z})$  associated be:

$$q_{h,\alpha,1}^{\text{eff},b}(\varphi) = \int_{-L}^{L} \left( -\kappa(s)h^{\frac{1}{2}} - \frac{\kappa(s)^{2}}{2}h - ch^{\frac{3}{2}} \right) |\varphi(s)|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}s + h(1 - ch^{\min(\alpha,\frac{1}{2})}) \int_{-L}^{L} |(\partial_{s} - ib\gamma_{0})\varphi|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

Then,

$$\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,0}^{\mathrm{eff},b}) = -1 + \lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,1}^{\mathrm{eff},b}).$$
(3.53)

*Proof.* Let  $\varphi \in \mathrm{H}^1(\mathbb{R}/2L\mathbb{Z})$ , we have

$$q_{h,\alpha,0}^{\mathrm{eff},b}(\varphi) - q_{h,\alpha,1}^{\mathrm{eff},b}(\varphi) = - \|\varphi\|^2,$$

then

$$\frac{q_{h,\alpha,0}^{\text{eff},b}(\varphi)}{\|\varphi\|^2} = -1 + \frac{q_{h,\alpha,1}^{\text{eff},b}(\varphi)}{\|\varphi\|^2}$$

By definition of the spectrum, we have

$$\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,0}^{\mathrm{eff},b}) = -1 + \lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,1}^{\mathrm{eff},b})$$

-	-	-	-

Let the effective operator be of the form :

$$\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,2}^{\text{eff},b} = -h^{1/2} \left( 1 - c \, h^{\min(\alpha,\frac{1}{2})} \right) (\partial_s - ib\gamma_0)^2 - \kappa(s) - \frac{\kappa(s)^2}{2} h^{1/2} - ch \,,$$

and the quadratic form on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}/2L\mathbb{Z})$  associated be:

$$q_{h,\alpha,2}^{\text{eff},b}(\varphi) = \int_{-L}^{L} \left( -\kappa(s) - \frac{\kappa(s)^2}{2} h^{1/2} - ch \right) |\varphi(s)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}s + h^{1/2} \left( 1 - c \, h^{\min(\alpha,\frac{1}{2})} \right) \int_{-L}^{L} |(\partial_s - ib\gamma_0)\varphi|^2 \, \mathrm{d}s.$$

Since  $\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,1}^{\text{eff},b} = h^{1/2} \mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,2}^{\text{eff},b}$ , then the following equality quantifies the relation between the spectrum of these operators

$$\operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,1}^{\operatorname{eff},b}) = h^{1/2} \operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,2}^{\operatorname{eff},b}),$$

therefore

$$\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,1}^{\mathrm{eff},b}) = h^{1/2} \lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,2}^{\mathrm{eff},b}).$$
(3.54)

We introduce the new semi-classical parameter

 $\hbar = h^{1/4}.$ 

Lemma 3.5.2. Let the effective operator be of the form:

$$\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,3}^{\mathrm{eff},b} = -\hbar^2 \left( 1 - c \,\hbar^{\min(4\alpha,2)} \right) \left( \partial_s - ib\gamma_0 \right)^2 - \kappa(s),$$

and the associated quadratic form on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}/2L\mathbb{Z})$  be:

$$q_{h,\alpha,3}^{\mathrm{eff},b}(\varphi) = -\int_{-L}^{L} \kappa(s) \, |\varphi(s)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}s + \hbar^2 \left(1 - c \, \hbar^{\min(4\alpha,2)}\right) \int_{-L}^{L} |\left(\partial_s - ib\gamma_0\right)\varphi|^2 \, \mathrm{d}s.$$

Then,

$$\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,2}^{\text{eff}}) = \lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,3}^{\text{eff}}) + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^2).$$
(3.55)

*Proof.* Let  $\varphi \in \mathrm{H}^1(\mathbb{R}/2L\mathbb{Z})$ , we have

$$\left|q_{h,\alpha,2}^{\mathrm{eff},b}(\varphi) - q_{h,\alpha,3}^{\mathrm{eff},b}(\varphi)\right| = \hbar^2 \left|\int_{-L}^{L} \left[\frac{\kappa(s)^2}{2} + c\hbar^2\right] |\varphi(s)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}s\right|,$$

we use that  $\Omega$  is a bounded open, then the curvature  $\kappa$  is also bounded, hence there exists c > 0 independent

of s, such that

therefore

$$\left|q_{h,\alpha,2}^{\mathrm{eff},b}(\varphi) - q_{h,\alpha,3}^{\mathrm{eff},b}(\varphi)\right| \leqslant c \,\hbar^2 \|\varphi\|^2.$$

 $\frac{\kappa(s)^2}{2} \leqslant c,$ 

Thus

$$\left|\frac{q_{h,\alpha,2}^{\mathrm{eff},b}(\varphi)}{\|\varphi\|^2} - \frac{q_{h,\alpha,3}^{\mathrm{eff},b}(\varphi)}{\|\varphi\|^2}\right| \leqslant c\,\hbar^2,$$

according to the min-max theorem, we have

$$\left|\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,2}^{\mathrm{eff},b}) - \lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,3}^{\mathrm{eff},b})\right| \leqslant c\,\hbar^2$$

Consequently,

$$\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,2}^{\text{eff},b}) = \lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,3}^{\text{eff},b}) + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^2).$$

From (3.53), (3.54) and (3.55) we have

$$\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,0}^{\mathrm{eff},b}) = -1 + \hbar^2 \lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,3}^{\mathrm{eff},b}) + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^4).$$
(3.56)

Thus, to study the spectrum of the effective operator  $\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,0}^{\text{eff},b}$ , it suffices to study the spectrum of the operator  $\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,0}^{\text{eff},b}$ , introduced in Lemma 3.5.2.

## 3.5.1 Location near the point of maximum curvature

Let  $\kappa_{\text{max}}$  be the maximum curvature along the boundary  $\Gamma$ . Let the effective operator be of the form:

$$\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,4}^{\mathrm{eff},b} = -\hbar^2 \left( 1 - c \,\hbar^{\min(4\alpha,2)} \right) \left( \partial_s - ib\gamma_0 \right)^2 + \kappa_{\max} - \kappa(s),$$

and the associated quadratic form on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}/2L\mathbb{Z})$  be

$$q_{h,\alpha,4}^{\mathrm{eff},b}(\varphi) = \int_{-L}^{L} \left( \kappa_{\max} - \kappa(s) \right) |\varphi(s)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}s + \hbar^2 \left( 1 - c \,\hbar^{\min(4\alpha,2)} \right) \int_{-L}^{L} |\left( \partial_s - ib\gamma_0 \right) \varphi|^2 \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

Then,

$$\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,3}^{\mathrm{eff},b}) = \lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,4}^{\mathrm{eff},b}) - \kappa_{\mathrm{max}}.$$
(3.57)

Proposition 3.5.3. Consider the effective operator of the form

$$\mathcal{L}_{h,4}^{\text{eff},b} = -\hbar^2 (\partial_s - ib\gamma_0)^2 + \kappa_{max} - \kappa(s),$$

and the associated quadratic form on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}/2L\mathbb{Z})$  be

$$q_{h,4}^{\mathrm{eff},b}(\varphi) = \int_{-L}^{L} (\kappa_{\max} - \kappa(s)) |\varphi(s)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}s + \hbar^2 \int_{-L}^{L} |(\partial_s - ib\beta_0)\varphi|^2 \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

Then, we have

$$\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,4}^{\mathrm{eff},b}) = \left(1 + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^{\min(4\alpha,2)})\right) \lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,4}^{\mathrm{eff},b}).$$

*Proof.* Let  $\varphi \in \mathrm{H}^1(\mathbb{R}/2L\mathbb{Z})$ . We have:

$$\begin{aligned} \left| q_{h,\alpha,4}^{\text{eff},b}(\varphi) - q_{h,4}^{\text{eff},b}(\varphi) \right| &= |c|\hbar^{\min(4\alpha,2)}\hbar^2 \int_{-L}^{L} |(\partial_s - ib\gamma_0)\varphi|^2 \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leqslant |c|\hbar^{\min(4\alpha,2)} \left[ \hbar^2 \int_{-L}^{L} |(\partial_s - ib\gamma_0)\varphi|^2 \mathrm{d}s + \int_{-L}^{L} (\kappa_{\max} - \kappa(s)) |\varphi(s)|^2 \mathrm{d}s \right] \\ &\leqslant |c|\hbar^{\min(4\alpha,2)} q_{h,4}^{\text{eff},b}(\varphi). \end{aligned}$$

The conclusion of the lemma is now a simple application of the min-max principle.

From (3.56), (3.57) and the Proposition 3.5.3, we obtain

$$\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,0}^{\mathrm{eff},b}) = -1 - \hbar^2 \kappa_{\max} + \hbar^2 \left( 1 + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^{\min(4\alpha,2)}) \right) \lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,4}^{\mathrm{eff},b}) + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^4).$$

In the following, we show that  $\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,4}^{\text{eff},b}) = \mathcal{O}(\hbar)$ , then we get (recall that  $\hbar = h^{1/4}$ )

$$\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,0}^{\mathrm{eff},b}) = -1 - \hbar^2 \kappa_{\max} + \hbar^2 \lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,4}^{\mathrm{eff},b}) + o(\hbar^3) = \lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,\gamma_0}^{\mathrm{eff}}) + \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(h^{2-\eta}).$$
(3.58)

Note that the Theorem 3.4.1 and equality (3.58), give the proof of the Theorem 3.3.1 which is a reformulation of the Theorem 3.1.1.

The goal is to show that the  $\mathcal{L}_{h,4}^{\text{eff},b}$  eigenfunctions associated with eigenvalues of order  $\hbar$  concentrate exponentially near the point of maximum curvature .

**Proposition 3.5.4.** For  $\epsilon \in (0,1)$ , there exist C > 0 and  $\hbar_0 > 0$  such that, for all  $\hbar \in (0,\hbar_0)$  and for all eigenfunctions  $\psi$  of  $\mathcal{L}_{h,4}^{\text{eff},b}$ , associated with the eigenvalues of orders  $\hbar$ , we have:

$$\|e^{\epsilon\phi_0/\hbar}\,\psi\|^2\leqslant C\|\psi\|^2,\qquad q_{h,4}^{\mathrm{eff},b}(e^{\epsilon\phi_0/\hbar}\,\psi)\leqslant C\hbar\|\psi\|^2,$$

where

$$\phi_0(s) = \min_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \int_0^{s+2kL} \sqrt{\kappa_{max} - \kappa(y)} \, \mathrm{d}y \right|.$$

*Proof.* The proof of Proposition 3.5.4 is a standard application of the method of Agmon estimates (see for example [Ray17, Prop. 4.10]). The proof is formed by three steps. Let  $\epsilon \in (0, 1)$ . Consider an eigenvalue  $\lambda = \mathcal{O}(\hbar)$  of  $\mathcal{L}_{\hbar,4}^{\text{eff},b}$ , and an associated eigenfunction  $\psi$ .

#### 1. First step.

Let  $\phi$  be a regular and 2L periodic function, with real value. We have:

$$q_{h,4}^{\text{eff},b}(e^{\phi}\,\psi) = \lambda \|e^{\phi}\,\psi\|^2 + \hbar^2 \|\partial_s e^{\phi}\,\psi\|^2.$$
(3.59)

Indeed,

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{L}_{h,4}^{\mathrm{eff},b}(e^{\phi}\,\psi) &= -\hbar^2(\partial_s - ib\gamma_0)^2(e^{\phi}\psi) + \left(\kappa_{\max} - \kappa(s)\right)e^{\phi}\psi \\ &= -\hbar^2 \bigg(\psi \partial_s^2 e^{\phi} + e^{\phi} \partial_s^2 \psi + 2\partial_s e^{\phi} \partial_s \psi - 2ib\gamma_0(\psi \partial_s e^{\phi} + e^{\phi} \partial_s \psi) - b^2\gamma_0^2 e^{\phi}\psi\bigg) \\ &+ \left(\kappa_{\max} - \kappa(s)\right)e^{\phi}\psi \\ &= e^{\phi} \mathcal{L}_{h,4}^{\mathrm{eff},b}(\psi) - \hbar^2 \bigg(\psi \partial_s^2 e^{\phi} + 2\partial_s e^{\phi} \partial_s \psi - 2ib\gamma_0 \psi \partial_s e^{\phi}\bigg). \end{split}$$

Hence,

$$\begin{aligned} q_{h,4}^{\text{eff},b}(e^{\phi}\psi) &= \langle \mathcal{L}_{h,4}^{\text{eff},b}(e^{\phi}\psi), e^{\phi}\psi \rangle \\ &= \langle e^{\phi}\mathcal{L}_{h,4}^{\text{eff},b}(\psi), e^{\phi}\psi \rangle - \hbar^2 \int_{-L}^{L} \left[\psi \partial_s^2 e^{\phi} + 2\partial_s e^{\phi} \partial_s \psi - 2ib\gamma_0 \psi \partial_s e^{\phi}\right] \bar{\psi} e^{\phi} \mathrm{d}s. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, as  $\psi$  is the eigenfunction of  $\mathcal{L}_{h,4}^{\text{eff},b}$  associated with the eigenvalue  $\lambda$ , we get

$$q_{h,4}^{\text{eff},b}(e^{\phi}\psi) = \lambda \|e^{\phi}\psi\|^2 - \hbar^2 \int_{-L}^{L} \left[\psi\partial_s^2 e^{\phi} + 2\partial_s e^{\phi}\partial_s\psi - 2ib\gamma_0\psi\partial_s e^{\phi}\right]\bar{\psi}e^{\phi}\mathrm{d}s.$$
(3.60)

 $\underbrace{\text{Let's calculate}}_{-L} \int_{-L}^{L} \left[ \psi \partial_s^2 e^{\phi} + 2 \partial_s e^{\phi} \partial_s \psi - 2ib\gamma_0 \psi \partial_s e^{\phi} \right] \bar{\psi} e^{\phi} \mathrm{d}s := E.$ 

By integration by part, we have:

$$\begin{split} \int_{-L}^{L} \psi \partial_s^2 e^{\phi} \bar{\psi} e^{\phi} \mathrm{d}s &= \int_{-L}^{L} e^{\phi} |\psi|^2 \partial_s^2 e^{\phi} \mathrm{d}s \\ &= -\int_{-L}^{L} \partial_s (e^{\phi} |\psi|^2) \partial_s e^{\phi} \mathrm{d}s + e^{\phi} |\psi|^2 \partial_s e^{\phi} \Big|_{-L}^{L} \\ &= -\int_{-L}^{L} \partial_s e^{\phi} \left[ |\psi|^2 \partial_s e^{\phi} + e^{\phi} \partial_s |\psi|^2 \right] \mathrm{d}s + e^{\phi} |\psi|^2 \partial_s e^{\phi} \Big|_{-L}^{L} \\ &= - \|\partial_s e^{\phi} \psi\|^2 - \int_{-L}^{L} e^{\phi} \partial_s e^{\phi} \partial_s |\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}s + e^{\phi} |\psi|^2 \partial_s e^{\phi} \Big|_{-L}^{L}. \end{split}$$

Since  $\phi$  is 2L periodic, then

$$\begin{split} &\int_{-L}^{L} \left[ \psi \partial_s^2 e^{\phi} + 2\partial_s e^{\phi} \partial_s \psi - 2ib\gamma_0 \psi \partial_s e^{\phi} \right] \bar{\psi} e^{\phi} \mathrm{d}s \\ &= - \|\partial_s e^{\phi} \psi\|^2 - \int_{-L}^{L} e^{\phi} \partial_s e^{\phi} \partial_s |\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}s + 2\int_{-L}^{L} \partial_s e^{\phi} \partial_s \psi \, \bar{\psi} e^{\phi} \mathrm{d}s - 2ib\gamma_0 \int_{-L}^{L} \psi \partial_s e^{\phi} \bar{\psi} e^{\phi} \mathrm{d}s \\ &= - \|\partial_s e^{\phi} \psi\|^2 + \int_{-L}^{L} e^{\phi} \partial_s e^{\phi} \left[ -\partial_s |\psi|^2 + 2\partial_s \psi \, \bar{\psi} - 2ib\gamma_0 |\psi|^2 \right] \mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

Therefore,

$$E = -\|\partial_s e^{\phi}\psi\|^2 + \int_{-L}^{L} e^{\phi}\partial_s e^{\phi} \left[-\partial_s |\psi|^2 + 2\partial_s\psi\,\bar{\psi} - 2ib\gamma_0|\psi|^2\right] \mathrm{d}s.$$
(3.61)

From (3.60), we have:

$$\hbar^2 E = -q_{h,4}^{\text{eff},b}(e^{\phi}\psi) + \lambda \|e^{\phi}\psi\|^2 \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Consequently, (3.61) gives

$$E = -\|\partial_s e^\phi \psi\|^2. \tag{3.62}$$

From (3.60) and (3.62), we obtain:

$$q_{h,4}^{\text{eff},b}(e^{\phi}\psi) = \lambda \|e^{\phi}\psi\|^2 + \hbar^2 \|\partial_s e^{\phi}\psi\|^2.$$

#### 2. Second step.

(3.65)

Let us show that:

$$q_{h,4}^{\mathrm{eff},b}(e^{\epsilon\phi_0/\hbar}\psi) \leqslant C\hbar \|e^{\epsilon\phi_0/\hbar}\psi\|^2,$$
(3.63)

and

$$\int_{-L}^{L} (\kappa_{\max} - \kappa(s)) e^{2\epsilon\phi_0/\hbar} |\psi|^2 ds \leqslant C\hbar \|e^{\epsilon\phi_0/\hbar}\psi\|^2.$$
(3.64)

For 
$$\phi = \frac{\epsilon \phi_0}{\hbar}$$
, with  $\phi_0(s) = \min_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \int_0^{s+2kL} \sqrt{\kappa_{\max} - \kappa(y)} \, \mathrm{d}y \right|$ . We notice that  
 $|\phi'(s)|^2 = \frac{\epsilon^2}{\hbar^2} |\phi'_0(s)|^2 = \frac{\epsilon^2}{\hbar^2} (\kappa_{\max} - \kappa(s)).$ 

We recall that

$$q_{h,4}^{\text{eff},b}(\varphi) = \int_{-L}^{L} (\kappa_{\max} - \kappa(s)) |\varphi(s)|^2 \mathrm{d}s + \hbar^2 \int_{-L}^{L} |(\partial_s - ib\gamma_0)\varphi|^2 \mathrm{d}s,$$

consequently,

$$q_{h,4}^{\text{eff},b}(\varphi) \ge \int_{-L}^{L} (\kappa_{\max} - \kappa(s)) |\varphi(s)|^2 \mathrm{d}s.$$
(3.66)

From (3.59) and (3.66), we have:

$$\int_{-L}^{L} (\kappa_{\max} - \kappa(s)) e^{2\phi} |\psi|^2 ds \leq \lambda ||e^{\phi} \psi||^2 + \hbar^2 ||\partial_s e^{\phi} \psi||^2$$
$$\Rightarrow \int_{-L}^{L} \left[ (\kappa_{\max} - \kappa(s)) - \lambda - \hbar^2 |\phi'|^2 \right] e^{2\phi} |\psi|^2 ds \leq 0.$$

By (3.65), we get

$$\int_{-L}^{L} \left[ \kappa_{\max} - \kappa(s) - \lambda - \epsilon^2 (\kappa_{\max} - \kappa(s)) \right] e^{2\phi} |\psi|^2 ds \leq 0$$
  
$$\Rightarrow \int_{-L}^{L} \left[ 1 - \epsilon^2 \right] (\kappa_{\max} - \kappa(s)) e^{2\phi} |\psi|^2 ds \leq \lambda ||e^{\phi} \psi||^2.$$

Therefore,

$$\int_{-L}^{L} [1 - \epsilon^2] \left( \kappa_{\max} - \kappa(s) \right) e^{2\phi} |\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}s \leqslant C\hbar \|e^{\phi} \psi\|^2.$$
(3.67)

We notice that for any  $\epsilon \in (0, 1)$ , there exists a constant C > 0, such that

$$1 - \epsilon^2 \ge C.$$

We deduce the inequality (3.64)

$$\int_{-L}^{L} (\kappa_{\max} - \kappa(s)) e^{2\phi} |\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}s \leqslant C\hbar \|e^{\phi} \psi\|^2.$$

On the other hand, by (3.59) and (3.65), we have:

$$\begin{split} q_{h,4}^{\text{eff},b}(e^{\phi}\,\psi) &\leqslant \lambda \|e^{\phi}\,\psi\|^2 + \hbar^2 \|\partial_s e^{\phi}\,\psi\|^2 \\ &\leqslant \lambda \|e^{\phi}\,\psi\|^2 + \epsilon^2 \int_{-L}^{L} (\kappa_{\max} - \kappa(s)) \,e^{2\phi}\,|\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}s \,. \end{split}$$
We use (3.64), to deduce the inequality (3.63).

#### 3. Third step.

Show that:

$$\int_{-L}^{L} e^{2\epsilon\phi_0/\hbar} |\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}s \leqslant C \|\psi\|^2, \tag{3.68}$$

and

$$q_{h,4}^{\mathrm{eff},b}(e^{\epsilon\phi_0/\hbar}\psi) \leqslant C\hbar \|\psi\|^2.$$
(3.69)

We use that  $\kappa_{\max} - \kappa(s)$  admits a unique non-degenerate minimum, we deduce that there exists c > 0 such that for all  $C_0 > 0$ , there exist constants  $C, \hbar_0$  such that  $\forall \hbar \in (0, \hbar_0)$ ,

$$\int_{|s| \leq C_0 \hbar^{1/2}} \left( \kappa_{\max} - \kappa(s) \right) e^{2\varepsilon \Phi_0/\hbar} |\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}s \leq C\hbar \|\psi\|^2, \tag{3.70}$$

$$\int_{|s|\leqslant C_0\hbar^{1/2}} e^{2\varepsilon\Phi_0/\hbar} |\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}s \leqslant C \|\psi\|^2, \tag{3.71}$$

and

$$\int_{|s| \ge C_0 \hbar^{1/2}} \left( \kappa_{\max} - \kappa(s) \right) e^{2\epsilon\phi_0/\hbar} |\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}s \ge c C_0^2 \hbar \int_{|s| \ge C_0 \hbar^{1/2}} e^{2\epsilon\phi_0/\hbar} |\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}s.$$
(3.72)

By the inequality (3.71), to show (3.68), it is enough to show the following inequality:

$$\int_{|s| \ge C_0 \hbar^{1/2}} e^{2\epsilon \phi_0/\hbar} |\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}s \le C \|\psi\|^2.$$
(3.73)

Let's fix  $C_0 > 0$  large enough,

$$\int_{|s| \ge C_0 \hbar^{1/2}} e^{2\epsilon \phi_0/\hbar} |\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}s \leqslant \frac{1}{c C_0^2 \hbar} \int_{|s| \ge C_0 h^{1/2}} (\kappa_{\max} - \kappa(s)) e^{2\epsilon \phi_0/\hbar} |\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}s$$
$$\leqslant \frac{1}{c C_0^2 \hbar} \int_{-L}^{L} (\kappa_{\max} - \kappa(s)) e^{2\epsilon \phi_0/\hbar} |\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}s.$$

From the inequality (3.64), we get

$$\begin{split} \int_{|s| \ge C_0 \hbar^{1/2}} e^{2\epsilon \phi_0/\hbar} |\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}s &\leqslant \frac{C}{c \, C_0^2} \int_{-L}^{L} e^{2\epsilon \phi_0/\hbar} |\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leqslant \frac{C}{c \, C_0^2} \int_{|s| \leqslant C_0 \hbar^{1/2}} e^{2\epsilon \phi_0/\hbar} |\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}s + \frac{C}{c \, C_0^2} \int_{|s| \ge C_0 \hbar^{1/2}} e^{2\epsilon \phi_0/\hbar} |\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

Thus,

$$\left(1 - \frac{C}{c C_0^2}\right) \int_{|s| \ge C_0 \hbar^{1/2}} e^{2\epsilon \phi_0/\hbar} |\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}s \leqslant \frac{C}{c C_0^2} \int_{|s| \leqslant C_0 \hbar^{1/2}} e^{2\epsilon \phi_0/\hbar} |\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}s.$$

From the inequality (3.71), we obtain (3.73) and therefore we show the point (3.68). From (3.63), we get

$$q_{h,4}^{\mathrm{eff},b}(e^{\epsilon\phi_0/\hbar}\psi) \leqslant C\hbar \|e^{\epsilon\phi_0/\hbar}\psi\|^2,$$

and from the inequality (3.68), we obtain the inequality (3.69).

## 3.5.2 Reduction to a flux-free operator

Consider the Dirichlet effective operator of the form:

$$\mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}} = -\hbar^2 \partial_s^2 + \kappa_{\text{max}} - \kappa(s)$$

with domain

$$Dom(\mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}}) = \{ u \in H^{2}([-L, L]), u(-L) = u(L) = 0 \},\$$

and the associated quadratic form on  $L^2([-L, L])$  is

$$q_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}}(\varphi) = \int_{-L}^{L} (\kappa_{\max} - \kappa(s)) |\varphi(s)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}s + \hbar^2 \int_{-L}^{L} |\partial_s \varphi|^2 \mathrm{d}s.$$

Let  $(\lambda_n(\mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}}))_{n \in \mathbb{N}^*}$  be the sequence of eigenvalues of the operator  $\mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}}$ . As a consequence of Proposition 3.5.4, for small  $\hbar$ , the eigenfunctions of  $\mathcal{L}_{\hbar,4}^{\text{eff}}$ , associated with the eigenvalues of orders  $\hbar$  concentrate exponentially near the point of maximum curvature at the scale  $\hbar^{1/2}$ . A standard application of the min-max principle and the Agmon estimates of Proposition 3.5.4, is the reduction to analysis to the flux-free operator  $\mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}}$  (Proposition 3.5.6).

Notation 3.5.5. The notation  $\mathcal{O}(\hbar^{\infty})$  indicates a quantity satisfying that, for all  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ , there exists  $C_N > 0$  and  $\hbar_N > 0$  such that, for all  $\hbar \in (0, \hbar_N), |\mathcal{O}(\hbar^{\infty})| \leq C_N \hbar^N$ .

**Proposition 3.5.6.** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$  there exist constant  $\hbar_0 \in (0, 1)$  such that, for all  $\hbar \in (0, \hbar_0)$  and  $\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,4}^{\text{eff},b}) = \mathcal{O}(\hbar)$ ,

$$\lambda_n(\mathscr{L}^{\mathrm{eff}}_{\hbar}) \leqslant \lambda_n(\mathscr{L}^{\mathrm{eff},b}_{h,4}) + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^{\infty}).$$

*Moreover, we have, for all*  $n \ge 1$ ,  $\hbar > 0$ 

$$\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,4}^{\mathrm{eff},b}) \leqslant \lambda_n(\mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{eff}}).$$

*Proof.* For all  $N \ge 1$ , we can take an orthonormal family eigenfunctions  $(\psi_{n,\hbar})_{n=1,...,N}$  associated to the eigenvalues  $(\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,4}^{\text{eff},b})_{n=1,...,N})$ . Let us consider the cut off function  $\chi$  define on  $\mathbb{R}$  as follows:

$$0\leqslant\chi\leqslant 1\,,\quad \chi=1 \ \text{on} \ \left[-\frac{L}{2},\frac{L}{2}\right] \quad \text{and} \quad \chi=0 \ \text{on} \ \mathbb{R}\backslash]-L, L[.$$

For k = 1, ..., N, we define the function

$$\Phi_{k,\hbar}(s) = e^{-ib\gamma_0 s} \chi(s)\psi_{j,\hbar}(s).$$

We notice that

$$\Phi_{k,\hbar}(-L) = \Phi_{k,\hbar}(L) = 0$$
 and  $\Phi_{k,\hbar} \in H^2([-L, L]).$ 

Let  $\mathcal{E}_N(\hbar)$  be the vector subspace of  $\text{Dom}(\mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}})$  spanned by the family  $(\Phi_{n,\hbar})_{n=1,\dots,N}$ , and  $u_{\hbar} \in F_h$  which is written as follows:

$$u_{\hbar} = \sum_{k=1}^{N} \beta_k \Phi_{k,\hbar}.$$

The functions  $(\Phi_{n,\hbar})$  are almost orthonormal. We note that  $\dim(\mathcal{E}_N(\hbar)) = N$  and

$$||u_{\hbar}||^{2} = \sum_{k=1}^{N} |\beta_{k}|^{2} + \mathcal{O}(h^{\infty})$$

Insertion of  $u_h$  in the quadratic form  $q_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}}(u_h)$ 

$$q_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}}(u_{\hbar}) = \langle \mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}}u_{\hbar}, u_{\hbar} \rangle = \sum_{j,k=1}^{N} \beta_{j}\beta_{k} \langle \mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}} \Phi_{j,\hbar}, \Phi_{k,\hbar} \rangle.$$

For j fixed and for h small enough, we have

Therefore, for j, k fixed and for h small enough, we have

$$\langle \mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}} \Phi_{j,\hbar}, \Phi_{k,\hbar} \rangle = \langle \chi \mathcal{L}_{h,4}^{\text{eff},b} \psi_{j,\hbar}, \chi \psi_{k,\hbar} \rangle - \hbar^2 \langle (2\partial_s \chi [\partial_s - ib\gamma_0] \psi_{j,\hbar} + \psi_{j,\hbar} \partial_s^2 \chi), \chi \psi_{k,\hbar} \rangle \\ = \delta_{j,k} \lambda_j (\mathcal{L}_{h,4}^{\text{eff},b}) - \hbar^2 \langle (2\partial_s \chi [\partial_s - ib\gamma_0] \psi_{j,\hbar} + \psi_{j,\hbar} \partial_s^2 \chi), \chi \psi_{k,\hbar} \rangle + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^{\infty}).$$

From the Hölder inequality and the Proposition 3.5.4, we obtain

$$\hbar^2 |\langle (2\partial_s \chi [\partial_s - ib\gamma_0] \psi_{j,\hbar} + \psi_{j,\hbar} \partial_s^2 \chi), \chi \psi_{k,\hbar} \rangle| = \mathcal{O}(\hbar^{\infty}).$$

From the previous inequality, we obtain

$$\langle \mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}} \Phi_{j,\hbar}, \Phi_{k,\hbar} \rangle = \delta_{j,k} \lambda_j (\mathcal{L}_{h,4}^{\text{eff},b}) + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^{\infty}).$$

Consequently,

$$q_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}}(u_{h}) = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \lambda_{j}(\mathcal{L}_{h,4}^{\text{eff},b}) |\beta_{j}|^{2} + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^{\infty}) \sum_{j,k=1}^{N} \beta_{j}\beta_{k} \leqslant \left(\lambda_{N}(\mathcal{L}_{h,4}^{\text{eff},b}) + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^{\infty})\right) \|u_{h}\|^{2}.$$

By the min-max theorem, we have

$$\lambda_N(\mathscr{L}^{\mathrm{eff}}_{\hbar}) \leqslant \lambda_N(\mathcal{L}^{\mathrm{eff},b}_{h,4}) + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^{\infty}).$$

Now we determine an upper bound of  $\lambda_n(\mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}})$  in terms of  $\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,4}^{\text{eff},b})$ . For all  $N \ge 1$ , we can take an orthonormal family eigenfunctions  $(u_{n,\hbar})_{n=1,...,N}$  associated to the eigenvalues  $(\lambda_n(\mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}}))_{n=1,...,N}$ . For k = 1, ..., N, we define the function

$$\Psi_{k,\hbar}(s) = e^{ib\gamma_0 s} u_{k,\hbar}(s).$$

We notice that

$$\Psi_{k,\hbar}(-L) = \Psi_{k,\hbar}(L) = 0$$
 and  $\Psi_{k,\hbar} \in H^2(] - L, L[).$ 

Let  $\mathcal{E}_N(\hbar)$  the *N*-dimensional vector subspace of  $\text{Dom}(\mathcal{L}_{h,4}^{\text{eff},b})$  spanned by the family  $(\Psi_{n,\hbar})_{n=1,\dots,N}$ . Let  $\Psi \in \mathcal{E}_N(\hbar)$  which is written as follows:

$$\Psi = \sum_{k=1}^N \beta_k \Psi_{k,\hbar} = \sum_{k=1}^N \beta_k e^{ib\gamma_0 s} u_{k,\hbar} = e^{ib\gamma_0 s} u \,, \quad u = \sum_{k=1}^N \beta_k u_{k,\hbar}.$$

We have

$$\mathcal{L}_{h,4}^{\mathrm{eff},b}\Psi = e^{ib\gamma_0 s} \mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{eff}} u,$$

then

$$\langle \mathcal{L}_{h,4}^{\mathrm{eff},b}\Psi,\Psi\rangle = \langle \mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{eff}}u,u\rangle \leqslant \lambda_N(\mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{eff}})\|u\|^2 = \lambda_N(\mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{eff}})\|\Psi\|^2.$$

By the min-max theorem, we get the non-asymptotic inequality

$$\lambda_N(\mathcal{L}_{h,4}^{\mathrm{eff},b}) \leqslant \lambda_N(\mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{eff}}).$$

#### 3.5.3 End of the proof

In this section we will construct trial states  $(\Phi_n)$  in the domain of the effective operator  $\mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}}$ , such that, for every fixed  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , we have

$$\left\| \mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}} \Phi_n - (2n-1)\hbar \sqrt{\frac{-\kappa''(0)}{2}} \Phi_n \right\|_{L^2(]-L,\,L[)} \leqslant C\hbar^{3/2}.$$
(3.74)

We know that, the eigenfunctions are localized near the boundary at the scale  $\hbar^{\frac{1}{2}}$  (cf. Prop 3.5.4, the same proof can be adapted for  $\mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}}$ ). It suggests to introduce the rescaling

$$s = \hbar^{1/2} \sigma. \tag{3.75}$$

The effective operator  $\mathscr{L}^{\mathrm{eff}}_{\hbar}$  becomes

$$\mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}} = -\hbar \,\partial_{\sigma}^2 + \kappa_{\max} - \kappa(\hbar^{\frac{1}{2}}\sigma)$$

Recall that the value of the maximum curvature is  $\kappa_{\max} = \kappa(0)$ . We can use a Taylor expansion of  $\kappa$  near 0, as follows

$$\kappa(\hbar^{\frac{1}{2}}\sigma) = \kappa_{\max} + \frac{\hbar\sigma^2}{2}\kappa''(0) + \hbar^{\frac{3}{2}}q(\sigma),$$

where the functions q satisfy for  $|\sigma| = \mathcal{O}(\hbar^{-\frac{1}{2}})$ 

$$|q(\sigma) \leqslant C |\sigma|^3. \tag{3.76}$$

Consequently, we write the effective operator  $\mathscr{L}^{\mathrm{eff}}_{\hbar}\,$  as

$$\hbar^{-1}\mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}} = -\partial_{\sigma}^2 - \frac{\sigma^2}{2}\kappa''(0) - \hbar^{\frac{1}{2}}q(\sigma).$$
(3.77)

Since  $\kappa(0)$  is the non-degenerate maximum of  $\kappa$ , we have  $\kappa''(0) < 0$ . The eigenvalues of the harmonic oscillator  $H_{\text{harm}}$ 

$$-\partial_{\sigma}^{2} + \frac{-\kappa''(0)}{2}\sigma^{2} \quad \text{in} \quad L^{2}(\mathbb{R})$$
(3.78)

are  $(2n-1)\sqrt{\frac{-\kappa''(0)}{2}}$  with  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ . The corresponding normalized eigenfunctions are denoted by  $f_n(\sigma)$ . They have the form

$$f_n(\sigma) = h_n(\sigma) \exp\left(-\sqrt{-\frac{k''(0)}{2}}\frac{\sigma^2}{2}\right),$$
(3.79)

where the  $(h_n(\sigma))_{n \ge 1}$  are the rescaled Hermite polynomials.

Define the trial state  $\Phi_n$  in  $L^2(] - L, L[)$  as follows:

$$\Phi_n(s) = \hbar^{-1/4} \chi\left(\frac{s}{2L}\right) f_n(\hbar^{-1/2}s) = \hbar^{-1/4} u_n(s), \tag{3.80}$$

where  $\chi$  is a cut-off function defined on  $\mathbb{R}$  by:

$$0 \le \chi \le 1$$
,  $\chi = 1$  in  $] - 1/4, 1/4]$  and  $\chi = 0$  in  $\mathbb{R} \setminus ] - 1/2, 1/2[$ 

and

$$u_n(s) = \chi\left(\frac{s}{2L}\right) f_n(\hbar^{-1/2}s).$$

Using the exponential decay of  $f_n$  at infinity, it is easy to verify

$$\|\Phi_n\|_{L^2(]-L,L[)} = 1 + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^{\infty}).$$
(3.81)

Then, we observe that after a change of variables and by construction of  $\Phi_n$ , (3.77) yields

$$\begin{split} \hbar^{-1} \mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}} \Phi_{n}(s) &= -\hbar^{-1/4} \left[ \partial_{\sigma}^{2} u_{n}(\sigma) + \frac{\sigma^{2}}{2} \kappa''(0) u_{n}(\sigma) + \hbar^{\frac{1}{2}} q(\sigma) u_{n}(\sigma) \right] \\ &= -\hbar^{-1/4} \left[ \chi \left( \frac{\hbar^{1/2} \sigma}{2L} \right) \partial_{\sigma}^{2} f_{n}(\sigma) + 2\hbar^{\frac{1}{2}} \chi' \left( \frac{\hbar^{\frac{1}{2}} \sigma}{2L} \right) f_{n}'(\sigma) + \hbar \chi'' \left( \frac{\hbar^{\frac{1}{2}} \sigma}{2L} \right) f_{n}(\sigma) \\ &+ \frac{\sigma^{2}}{2} \kappa''(0) u_{n}(\sigma) + \hbar^{\frac{1}{2}} q(\sigma) u_{n}(\sigma) \right] \\ &= -\hbar^{-1/4} \left[ - (2n-1) \sqrt{\frac{-\kappa''(0)}{2}} u_{n}(\sigma) + 2\hbar^{\frac{1}{2}} \chi' \left( \frac{\hbar^{\frac{1}{2}} \sigma}{2L} \right) f_{n}'(\sigma) + \hbar \chi'' \left( \frac{\hbar^{\frac{1}{2}} \sigma}{2L} \right) f_{n}(\sigma) \\ &+ \hbar^{\frac{1}{2}} q(\sigma) u_{n}(\sigma) \right] \\ &= (2n-1) \sqrt{\frac{-\kappa''(0)}{2}} \Phi_{n}(s) - \hbar^{-1/4} \left[ \left( 2\hbar^{\frac{1}{2}} \chi' \left( \frac{\hbar^{\frac{1}{2}} \sigma}{2L} \right) f_{n}'(\sigma) + \hbar \chi'' \left( \frac{\hbar^{\frac{1}{2}} \sigma}{2L} \right) f_{n}(\sigma) \right) \\ &+ \hbar^{\frac{1}{2}} q(\sigma) u_{n}(\sigma) \right]. \end{split}$$

$$(3.82)$$

Using the exponential decay of  $f_n$  at infinity, we infer from (3.82) that

$$\left\|\hbar^{-1}\mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}}\Phi_{n}-(2n-1)\sqrt{\frac{-\kappa''(0)}{2}}\Phi_{n}\right\|\leqslant C\hbar^{1/2}.$$

As a consequence of the spectral theorem, (3.74) yields that, for every fixed  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , there exists an eigenvalue  $\tilde{\lambda}_n(\mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}})$  of the operator  $\mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}}$  such that

$$\tilde{\lambda}_n(\mathscr{L}^{\text{eff}}_{\hbar}) = (2n-1)\hbar \sqrt{\frac{-\kappa''(0)}{2}} + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^{3/2}).$$
(3.83)

Now, looking for lower bound.

**Proposition 3.5.7.** For all  $n \ge 1$ , there exist  $\hbar_0 > 0$  such that, for all  $\hbar \in (0, \hbar_0)$ 

$$\lambda_n(\mathscr{L}^{\text{eff}}_{\hbar}) \ge (2n-1)\hbar \sqrt{\frac{-\kappa''(0)}{2}} + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^{3/2}).$$

*Proof.* For all  $N \ge 1$ , we can take a family of eigenvalues and eigenfunctions  $(\lambda_n(\mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}}), \psi_{n,\hbar})_{n=1,\dots,N}$  such that  $(\psi_{n,\hbar})_{n=1,\dots,N}$  is an orthonormal family. Let  $\mathcal{E}_N(\hbar)$  the vector subspace of  $\text{Dom}(\mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}})$  of dimension N spanned by the family  $(\psi_{n,\hbar})_{n=1,\dots,N}$ .

It is rather easy to observe that, for  $\psi \in \mathcal{E}_N(\hbar)$ 

$$\langle \mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}}\psi,\psi\rangle \leqslant \lambda_N(\mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}})\|\psi\|^2.$$

Since  $\psi(-L) = \psi(L) = 0$ , the following function is in  $H^1(\mathbb{R})$ 

$$\widetilde{\psi} = \begin{cases} \psi & \text{if } s \in ]-L, L[\\ 0 & \text{if } s \in \mathbb{R} \backslash ]-L, L[\,. \end{cases}$$

For  $N \ge 1$ , let

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}_N(\hbar) = \operatorname{Span}\{\widetilde{\psi}_{n,\hbar}\}_{n=1,\dots,N}.$$

Since dim $(\mathcal{E}_N(\hbar)) = N$ , then dim $(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}_N(\hbar)) = N$ . We notice that, for all  $\psi \in \mathcal{E}_N(\hbar)$ ,  $\psi$  also satisfies the Agmon estimates (Proposition 3.5.4). Using the change of variable introduced in (3.75), we easily obtain that, there exists C > 0 such that, for all  $\psi \in \mathcal{E}_N(\hbar)$ 

$$\int_{-\hbar^{-\frac{1}{2}L}}^{\hbar^{-\frac{1}{2}L}} |\sigma|^3 |\psi(\sigma)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}(\hbar^{1/2} \, \sigma) \leqslant C \|\psi\|^2.$$

Consequently, we get

$$\begin{split} \lambda_{N}(\mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}}) \|\psi\|^{2} &\geq \langle \mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}}\psi,\psi\rangle \\ &\geq \int_{\mathbb{R}} \hbar \frac{-\kappa''(0)}{2} \sigma^{2} \,|\widetilde{\psi}(\hbar^{1/2}\sigma)|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}(\hbar^{1/2}\,\sigma) + \hbar \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\,\partial_{\sigma}\widetilde{\psi}|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}(\hbar^{1/2}\,\sigma) - C\hbar^{3/2} \|\psi\|^{2} \\ &\geq \hbar \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left( |\,\partial_{\sigma}\widetilde{\psi}(\hbar^{1/2}\sigma)|^{2} + \frac{-\kappa''(0)}{2} \sigma^{2} \,|\widetilde{\psi}(\hbar^{1/2}\sigma)|^{2} \right) \,\mathrm{d}(\hbar^{1/2}\,\sigma) \right] - C\hbar^{3/2} \|\psi\|^{2} . \end{split}$$

This becomes

$$\hbar \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left( |\partial_{\sigma} \widetilde{\psi}(\hbar^{1/2} \sigma)|^2 + \frac{-\kappa''(0)}{2} \sigma^2 |\widetilde{\psi}(\hbar^{1/2} \sigma)|^2 \right) \, \mathrm{d}(\hbar^{1/2} \sigma) \right] \leqslant \lambda_N(\mathscr{L}_h^{\mathrm{eff}}) \|\psi\|^2 + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^{3/2}) \|\psi\|^2.$$

We deduce that

$$\max_{\widetilde{\psi}\in\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}_{N}(\hbar)}\frac{\langle H_{\mathrm{harm}}\psi,\psi\rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R})}}{\|\widetilde{\psi}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R})}^{2}} \leqslant \lambda_{N}(\mathscr{L}_{h}^{\mathrm{eff}})+\mathcal{O}(\hbar^{3/2}).$$

Thus, by the min-max principle, we have the comparison of the Rayleigh quotients

$$\lambda_N(\mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}}) \ge \lambda_N(H_{\text{harm}}) + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^{3/2})$$
$$\ge (2N-1)\hbar \sqrt{\frac{-\kappa''(0)}{2}} + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^{3/2}).$$

Finally, from (3.83), the asymptotic expansion of the *n*-th eigenvalue of  $\mathscr{L}_{\hbar}^{\text{eff}}$  is:

$$\lambda_n(\mathscr{L}_h^{\text{eff}}) = (2n-1)\hbar \sqrt{\frac{-\kappa''(0)}{2}} + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^{3/2}).$$

Now, by inequalities (3.58) and Proposition 3.5.6, we deduce the asymptotic expansion of the *n*-th eigenvalue of the effective operator  $\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,0}^{\text{eff},b}$ 

$$\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_{h,\alpha,0}^{\text{eff},b}) = -1 - \kappa_{\max}\hbar^2 + (2n-1)\sqrt{\frac{-\kappa''(0)}{2}}\hbar^3 + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^{7/2}).$$
(3.84)

From Theorem 3.4.1 and Proposition 3.3.8 and the equality (3.33), we have shown Corollary 3.3.2, which was a reformulation of Corollary 3.1.2.

#### **3.6** Unit disc case

In this section we analyse the magnetic Robin Laplacian with a negative boundary parameter on the disc. There by proving of Theorem 3.3.3. We will study the spectrum of the effective operator  $\mathcal{L}_{h,\text{disc}}^{\text{eff},\pm}$ , where  $\Omega = D(0,1)$ ,  $0 < c_1 < c_2$ ,  $0 < \alpha$  and  $0 \leq \eta < 1$ . We have

$$L = \frac{|\partial \Omega|}{2} = \pi, \quad \gamma_0 = \frac{|\Omega|}{|\partial \Omega|} = \frac{1}{2}, \quad c_1 h^{\frac{-\eta}{2}} \leqslant b \leqslant c_2 h^{\frac{-\eta}{2}} \quad \text{and} \quad \kappa = 1.$$

Thus, the effective operators can be written as follows

$$\mathcal{L}_{h,\text{disc}}^{\text{eff},\pm} = -h(1\pm c_{\pm}\,h^{\min(\alpha,\frac{1}{2})})\left(\partial_s - i\frac{b}{2}\right)^2 - 1 - h^{\frac{1}{2}} - \frac{h}{2} \pm c_{\pm}h^{\frac{3}{2}},$$

in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}/2\pi\mathbb{Z})$ , where  $c_{\pm}$  are constants independent of h. The associated quadratic form on  $H^1(\mathbb{R}/2\pi\mathbb{Z})$  be

$$q_{h,\text{disc}}^{\text{eff},\pm}(\varphi) = \left(-1 - h^{\frac{1}{2}} - \frac{h}{2} \pm c_{\pm} h^{\frac{3}{2}}\right) \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} |\varphi(s)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}s + h\left((1 \pm c_{\pm} h^{\min(\alpha,\frac{1}{2})}\right) \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \left| \left(\partial_s - i\frac{b}{2}\right) \varphi \right|^2 \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

The spectrum of  $-\left(\partial_s - i\frac{b}{2}\right)^2$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}/2\pi\mathbb{Z})$  can be explicitly computed by using Fourier series. In fact, for all  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $e_m(b) := (m - \frac{b}{2})^2$  is an eigenvalue with the eigenfunction  $v_m(s) := e^{ims}/\sqrt{2\pi}$ . Since  $\{v_m\}_{m\in\mathbb{Z}}$  is a Hilbertian basis of  $L^2(\mathbb{R}/2\pi\mathbb{Z})$ , we get that the spectrum of  $-\left(\partial_s - i\frac{b}{2}\right)^2$  is  $\{e_m(b)\}_{m\in\mathbb{Z}}$  and its lowest eigenvalue is  $\inf_{m\in\mathbb{Z}} e_m(b)$ .

We deduce the asymptotic expansion of the first eigenvalue of the effective operator  $\mathcal{L}_{h,\text{disc}}^{\text{eff},\pm}$ 

$$\lambda_1(\mathcal{L}_{h,\text{disc}}^{\text{eff},\pm}) = \inf_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \lambda_1(\mathcal{L}_{h,\text{disc},m}^{\text{eff},\pm}) = -1 - h^{\frac{1}{2}} - \frac{h}{2} \pm c_{\pm} h^{\frac{3}{2}} + h\left(1 \pm c_{\pm} h^{\min(\alpha,\frac{1}{2})}\right) \inf_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(m - \frac{b}{2}\right)^2 \\ = -1 - h^{\frac{1}{2}} - \frac{h}{2} + h \inf_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(m - \frac{b}{2}\right)^2 + o(h).$$

According to Theorem 3.4.1 and Proposition 3.3.8 and the equality (3.33), for  $\eta < 1$ , we have

$$\mu_1(h,b) = -h - h^{\frac{3}{2}} + \left(\inf_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(m - \frac{b}{2}\right)^2 - \frac{1}{2}\right) h^2 + o(h^2).$$

Then, we complete the proof of the Theorem 3.3.3 which was a reformulation of Theorem 3.1.3. Note that, in the case with constant magnetic field, we recover by a very simple proof of [KS20, Theorem 1.1].

Chapter

4

# On the semi-classical analysis of Schrödinger operators with linear electric potentials in a bounded domain.

#### Abstract

This chapter aims to improve the asymptotic expansion of the eigenvalues of the Laplace operator, with strong uniform electric field and Dirichlet boundary conditions on a smooth bounded domain of  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $N \ge 2$ . This work aims at generalizing the recent results of Cornean, Krejčiřík, Pedersen, Raymond, and Stockmeyer in dimension 2. More precisely, in dimension N, in the strong electric field limit, we derive, under certain local convexity conditions, a full asymptotic expansion of the low-lying eigenvalues. To establish our main result, we perform the construction of quasi-modes. The "optimality" of our constructions is then established thanks to a reduction to model operators and localization estimates. In addition, we apply our techniques to find a full asymptotic expansion of the low-lying eigenvalues of the more general operator  $-h^2\Delta + V(\mathbf{x})$  where h is a small parameter and V is a smooth real potential satisfies some additional conditions.

#### Résumé

Le but de ce chapitre est d'améliorer le développement asymptotique des valeurs propres de l'opérateur de Laplace, avec un champ électrique uniforme fort et des conditions de Dirichlet aux bord sur un domaine borné régulier de  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $N \ge 2$ . Ce travail vise à généraliser les résultats récents de Cornean, Krejčiřík, Pedersen, Raymond et Stockmeyer en dimension 2. Plus précisément, en dimension N, dans la limite du champ électrique fort, nous dérivons, sous certaines conditions de convexité locale, un développement asymptotique complet des basses valeurs propres. Pour établir notre résultat principal, nous effectuons la construction de quasi-modes. L'"optimalité" de nos constructions est ensuite établie grâce à une réduction aux opérateurs modèles et aux estimations de localisation. En outre, nous appliquons nos techniques pour trouver un développement asymptotique complet des valeurs propres de l'opérateur plus général  $-h^2\Delta + V(\mathbf{x})$  où h est un petit paramètre et V est un potentiel réel et régulier satisfaisant certaines conditions supplémentaires.

" La mathématique est l'art de donner le même nom à des choses différentes."

Henri Poincaré

## Contents

4.1	Introduction	
	4.1.1	A Stark electric Laplacian
	4.1.2	Main result
4.2	<b>Preliminaries</b>	
	4.2.1	Concentration of bound states near the potential minimum
	4.2.2	Reduction near the boundary 124
4.3	Local boundary coordinates	
	4.3.1	The coordinates and the metric
	4.3.2	The operator in boundary coordinates
	4.3.3	Agmon Estimates in Tubular Variables
4.4	Const	ruction of quasimodes
	4.4.1	Rescaling operator
	4.4.2	Formal expansion
	4.4.3	Construction of trial states
	4.4.4	End of the proof
4.5	Lower bound	
4.6	Full asymptotic expansion of the eigenvalues         144	
4.7	Analysis of the effective operator	
	4.7.1	The model operator
	4.7.2	Relation to the Weingarten map 149

# 4.1 Introduction

#### 4.1.1 A Stark electric Laplacian

The study of the Laplacian in the usual Euclidean space  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , and more generally of the Schrödinger operator, is of course very present in physics, for example in quantum mechanics. Consider a system of one particle moving in a uniform electric field **F**. In a simplified model, one may consider independently electrons or holes. The total energy Stark Hamiltonian (Schrödinger operator) for such a system takes the following form:

$$\frac{-\hbar^2}{2m}\Delta + q\mathbf{F} \cdot \mathbf{x},\tag{4.1}$$

where

- $\hbar$  is Planck constant divided by  $2\pi$ ,
- m > 0 is the effective mass of the particle (electron or hole),
- -q is the charge of the particle (electron or hole).

The Hamiltonian in (4.1) describes an important phenomenon in semiconductor physics which is the *quantum confined Stark effect*. The most prominent semiconductor devices are the so-called quantum wells, quantum wires, and quantum dots, where the material is confined in one, two, and three orthogonal directions, respectively [HV16, Chap. 8]. The quantum confined Stark effect modeled with Dirichlet boundary condition has been considered, for example, in [BMCE83, MCD<sup>+</sup>84] for quantum wells, in [SN90, WKH13, WWY07, VdCMS03, LS05, Har09] for quantum wires, and in [Ped19, WWY08] for quantum dots. The recent paper [CKP<sup>+</sup>22b] provides more details on the physical orientation of this phenomenon.

In this chapter, we are interested in the study of the low-lying eigenvalues of the following N-dimensional Hamiltonian restricted to an open set  $\Omega$  of  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $N \ge 2$ :

$$\mathscr{L}_h := -h^2 \Delta + x_1 = -h^2 (\partial_{x_1}^2 + \ldots + \partial_{x_N}^2) + x_1,$$
(4.2)

acting on a dense subspace of the square integral functions  $L^2(\Omega)$  with Dirichlet boundary conditions. This operator appears in the physics semi-conductors where h is given by

$$h = \frac{\hbar}{\sqrt{2mqF}}.$$

Notice that we have chosen coordinates such that  $\mathbf{F}$  is parallel to the  $x_1$ -axis.

The low-lying eigenvalues of this operator have been studied, partially numerically, for different geometries in several papers such as in [SN90, WKH13] for squares, in [WWY07] for rectangles, in [VdCMS03, LS05, Ped17] for disks, and in [Har09] for annuli. Concerning the analysis in the case of imaginary electric fields, the reader might also want to consider for example [GH18, AGH19, AGH18].

For now, we will work with domains satisfying the following conditions, see Figure 4.1.

**Assumption 1.** The set  $\Omega$  be a smooth open bounded and connected domain of  $\mathbb{R}^N$  with a smooth boundary. We assume that there exists a unique point  $A_0 \in \partial \Omega$  such that the first component of  $A_0$  is given by:

$$x_{\min} = \inf_{(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_N) \in \Omega} x_1 = \min_{\mathbf{x} \in \overline{\Omega}} x_1.$$

We also assume that  $\Omega$  strictly convex domain near  $A_0$ .

Chapter 4 - Semi-classical analysis of Schrödinger operators with linear electric potential in a bounded domains



Figure 4.1 – The domain  $\Omega$ .

To be more precise, the operator  $\mathscr{L}_h$  is defined by Friedrichs extension theorem, from the closed and semi-bounded quadratic form

$$\mathscr{Q}_{h}(\varphi) = h^{2} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla \varphi(\mathbf{x})|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} + \int_{\Omega} x_{1} |\varphi(\mathbf{x})|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}, \quad \forall \varphi \in H_{0}^{1}(\Omega).$$

The domain of  $\mathscr{L}_h$  is contained in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  and  $\mathscr{L}_h$  acts as in (4.2). This is the Dirichlet realization of the Stark Hamiltonian. If  $\mathscr{Q}_h(\cdot, \cdot)$  is the bilinear form associated with the quadratic form  $\mathscr{Q}_h(\cdot)$ , then

$$Dom(\mathscr{L}_h) = \{\varphi \in H_0^1(\Omega) : \psi \longmapsto \mathscr{Q}_h(\varphi, \psi) \text{ is continuous for the } L^2(\Omega)\text{-topology}\}.$$

Since  $\Omega$  is bounded, then the embedding of  $H_0^1(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^2(\Omega)$  is compact, therefore the self-adjoint operator  $\mathscr{L}_h$  has a compact resolvent. Its spectrum is purely discrete formed by a non-decreasing sequence of eigenvalues denoted by  $(\lambda_n(h))_{n \ge 1}$ , where each eigenvalue is repeated according to its multiplicity. The purpose of this paper is to understand the behavior as  $h \to 0$  (in the limit of the strong electric field) of the eigenvalues  $\lambda_n(h)$ .

#### 4.1.2 Main result

In [CKP<sup>+</sup>22a], by constructing suitable test functions, and applying the min-max principle, the authors found a three-term asymptotic expansion of the low-lying eigenvalues. It is proved that, in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , for every fixed  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ ,

$$\lambda_n(h) = x_{\min} + z_1 h^{\frac{2}{3}} + h(2n-1)\sqrt{\frac{\kappa_1}{2}} + \mathcal{O}(h^{\frac{4}{3}}) \quad \text{as} \ h \to 0,$$
(4.3)

where  $z_1 \approx 2.338$  is the absolute value of the smallest zero of the Airy function and  $\kappa_1$  is the positive curvature at  $A_0$ .

This chapter aims to improve the asymptotic expansion in (4.3) and to give a full asymptotic expansion of  $\lambda_n(h)$ . More precisely, we establish a full asymptotic expansion of the low-lying eigenvalues, by involving the eigenvalues of the Weingarten map of  $\partial\Omega$  at  $A_0$  defined by

$$W_{A_0} = \mathrm{d}_{A_0}\nu : T_{A_0}\partial\Omega \to T_{A_0}\partial\Omega \tag{4.4}$$

where

$$\nu: \partial \Omega \to S^{N-1} \subset \mathbb{R}^N$$

is a Gauss map of  $\partial\Omega$  and for all  $p \in \partial\Omega$ ,  $\nu(p)$  is the outward-pointing normal to  $T_p\partial\Omega$ .

**Remark 4.1.1.** Some properties of Weingarten map (see for example [Küh15, Chap. 3] and [Tho79, Chap. 9]).

1. If  $(U, \phi)$  is a parametrization of  $\partial \Omega$ , with  $A_0 \in \phi(U)$ , then, the map  $\nu$  can be written as

$$\nu = n \circ \phi^{-1}$$

where  $n: U \to S^{N-1}$ , such that n(s) is the unit outward normal field at the point  $\phi(s)$ .

2. The differential of  $\nu$  at  $A_0$  is the linear map  $d_{A_0}\nu: T_{A_0}\partial\Omega \to \mathbb{R}^N$  defined by

$$\mathrm{d}_{A_0}\nu X = (\nu \circ \gamma)'(0),$$

where  $\gamma$  is a derivable arc drawn on  $\partial\Omega$  such that  $\gamma(0) = A_0$  and  $\gamma'(0) = X$ . We have the following properties:

- a. This means that the endomorphism of Weingarten does not depend on the choice of  $(U, \phi)$ .
- b. To get that  $d_{A_0}\nu X$  does not depend on the choice of  $\gamma$ , we use the coordinates  $(U, \phi)$ , such that  $A_0 = \phi(s_0)$ . We have

$$\nu \circ \gamma = \nu \circ \phi \circ \phi^{-1} \circ \gamma = n \circ (\phi^{-1} \circ \gamma),$$

then,

$$(\nu \circ \gamma)'(0) = \mathbf{d}_{(\phi^{-1} \circ \gamma)(0)} n.(\phi^{-1} \circ \gamma)'(0) = \mathbf{d}_{s_0} n.(\phi^{-1} \circ \gamma)'(0).$$

Moreover,

$$X = \gamma'(0) = d_{(\phi^{-1} \circ \gamma)(0)} \phi.(\phi^{-1} \circ \gamma)'(0) = d_{s_0} \phi.(\phi^{-1} \circ \gamma)'(0).$$

This gives

$$d_{A_0}\nu X = d_{s_0}n [d_{s_0}\phi]^{-1}X.$$
(4.5)

All mention of  $\gamma$  has disappeared.

3. The Weingarten's endomorphism is symmetrical and linear endomorphism. But does not mean that its matrix in any base is symmetrical (only its writing in an orthonormal basis). On the other hand, it is diagonalizable.

**Remark 4.1.2.** From Section 4.7.2, the assumption on  $\Omega$  induces that the matrix of  $W_{A_0}$  is positive definite. Their positive eigenvalues  $(\kappa_i)_{i \ge 1}$  are related to the curvature of the boundary.

- 1. The  $\kappa_i$  are called principal curvatures of  $\partial \Omega$  at  $A_0$ .
- 2. det  $W_{A_0}$  is the Gaussian curvature from  $\partial \Omega$  at  $A_0$ .
- 3.  $\frac{\operatorname{Tr} W_{A_0}}{N-1}$  is the mean curvature from  $\partial \Omega$  at  $A_0$ .

The main result in this chapter is:

**Theorem 4.1.1.** For any positive *n*, there exists a real sequence  $\{\zeta_{j,n}\}_{j\geq 0}$  such that, for any positive  $M \in \mathbb{N}$ , we have

$$\lambda_n(h) = x_{\min} + z_1 h^{\frac{2}{3}} + \beta_n h + h^{4/3} \sum_{j=0}^M h^{j/6} \zeta_{j,n} + \mathcal{O}\left(h^{\frac{4}{3} + \frac{M+1}{6}}\right)$$

where  $\beta_n$  is the *n*-th eigenvalue of the harmonic oscillator in dimension N-1

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N-1} -\partial_{u_i}^2 + \frac{\kappa_i}{2} \, u_i^2,$$

where  $\kappa_i$  are the eigenvalues of the Weingarten map of  $\partial\Omega$  at  $A_0$ .

This result is essentially a generalization of those states in (4.3), but the proof presented here, is based on the construction of quasimodes. The "optimality" of our constructions is then established thanks to decay estimates and the reduction to model operators involving a 1-dimensional Airy operator in  $\mathbb{R}_+$  and a harmonic oscillator in dimension N - 1. One of the technical difficulties of the proof is that, there are eigenvalues of the harmonic oscillator with multiplicity greater than 1, see Section 4.6.

**Remark 4.1.3.**  $\beta_n$  is the *n*-th element counted with multiplicity of

$$\Sigma = \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sqrt{\frac{\kappa_i}{2}} \left( 2n_i - 1 \right), n \in \mathbb{N}^{*N-1} \right\}.$$

*Notice that for* N = 2 *we have* 

$$\Sigma = \left\{ (2n-1)\sqrt{\frac{\kappa_0}{2}}, n \in \mathbb{N}^* \right\},\,$$

and all the elements are of multiplicity one.

Notation 4.1.2. The notation  $\mathcal{O}(h^{\infty})$  indicates a quantity satisfying that, for all  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ , there exists  $C_N > 0$  and  $h_N > 0$  such that, for all  $h \in (0, h_N)$ ,  $|\mathcal{O}(h^{\infty})| \leq C_N h^N$ .

**Remark 4.1.4.** Since Theorem 4.1.1 is valid for all  $N \ge 2$ , it would be instructive to mention what happens in dimension one. In dimension 1, the operator involved is

$$\mathscr{L}_h = -h^2 \partial_x^2 + x,$$

acting on  $L^2((0,T))$  with Dirichlet boundary conditions, and T > 0. Using a simple change of variable  $t = h^{\frac{-2}{3}}x$ , for h small enough, we deduce that  $\mathscr{L}_h$  is unitarily equivalent to  $h^{\frac{2}{3}}\mathscr{A}_h$ , where

$$\mathscr{A}_h = -\partial_t^2 + t,$$

acting on  $L^2((0, h^{\frac{-2}{3}}T))$  with Dirichlet boundary conditions. It is then standard to deduce from the min-max principle and the exponentially decreasing of the Airy operator at  $+\infty$  (see for instance [Hell3, Section 14.5.1] and [DR12, Section 2.2.2]), the following asymptotic expansion of the low-lying eigenvalue:

$$\lambda_n(h) \underset{h \to 0}{=} z_n h^{\frac{2}{3}} + \mathcal{O}(h^{\infty}),$$

where  $z_n$  are the absolute value of the zeros of the Airy function.

**Remark 4.1.5.** – *Our strategy can be adapted to deal with a finite number of non-degenerate minima, and it would even be possible to study the tunnel effects when these minima have symmetries.* 

- It is possible to prove asymptotic expansions of the low-lying eigenvalues of the Hamiltonian  $\mathscr{L}_h$ , if we replace the potential  $x_1$  by  $V(\mathbf{x})$ , where V is a smooth real potential satisfies some additional conditions (see the perspectives).

#### 4.1.3 Organization of the chapter

This chapter is organized as follows: In Section 4.2.1, we show that low energy eigenfunctions and their derivatives are exponentially well localized around the potential minimum  $x_{\min}$ . This will allow us to work in a thin tubular neighborhood of  $A_0$ . As a consequence, we find an approximated operator  $\mathscr{L}_{h,\delta}$ , whose low energy eigenvalues are those of  $\mathscr{L}_h$  up to an exponentially small error, see Section 4.2.2. In Section 4.3, we locally straighten the boundary by introducing a system of local coordinates: "tubular coordinates". The operator  $\mathscr{L}_{h,\delta}$  is expressed in these coordinates and acts on a tiny domain around the origin with Dirichlet boundary conditions. In Section 4.4 and 4.5, we construct quasimodes, thanks to the reduction to model operators and localization estimates, we provide asymptotic upper and lower bounds for the eigenvalues of  $\mathscr{L}_{h,\delta}$ , see Section 4.6. Eventually, we deduce the full asymptotic expansion of the low-lying eigenvalues stated in Theorem 4.1.1. Section 4.7 is dedicated to the analysis of the simplified model which shall be used as local approximations for operator  $\mathscr{L}_{h,\delta}$ .

# 4.2 Preliminaries

#### **4.2.1** Concentration of bound states near the potential minimum

The following proposition states that the eigenfunctions associated with the low-lying eigenvalues are localized in  $x_1$  near  $x_{\min}$  at the scale  $h^{2/3}$ . For more details on the proofs of the proposition and corollary of this section, see [CKP<sup>+</sup>22a, Section 2].

**Proposition 4.2.1.** Let M > 0. There exist  $\varepsilon$ , C,  $h_0 > 0$  such that, for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$ , for all eigenvalues  $\lambda$  such that  $\lambda \leq x_{\min} + Mh^{\frac{2}{3}}$ , and all corresponding eigenfunctions  $\psi$ ,

$$\int_{\Omega} e^{\varepsilon |x_1 - x_{\min}|^{\frac{3}{2}}/h} |\psi|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} \leqslant C \|\psi\|^2,\tag{4.6}$$

and

$$\int_{\Omega} e^{\varepsilon |x_1 - x_{\min}|^{\frac{3}{2}}/h} |h\nabla\psi|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} \leqslant Ch^{2/3} \|\psi\|^2.$$
(4.7)

*Proof.* For all  $\psi \in \text{Dom}(\mathscr{L}_h)$  and all bounded Lipschitz functions  $\Phi$ , we have

$$\left\langle \mathscr{L}_{h}\psi, e^{2\Phi/h}\psi\right\rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega)} = \lambda \|e^{\Phi/h}\psi\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2}.$$
(4.8)

By an integration by parts, we get the useful identity:

$$\left\langle \mathscr{L}_{h}\psi, e^{2\Phi/h}\psi\right\rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega)} = \mathscr{Q}_{h}\left(e^{\Phi/h}\psi\right) - \|e^{\phi/h}\nabla\Phi\psi\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2}.$$
(4.9)

From (4.8) and (4.9), we write the Agmon formula (see for example [Ray17, Proposition 4.7])

$$\int_{\Omega} h^2 \left| \nabla e^{\Phi/h} \psi \right|^2 + \left( x_1 - \lambda - \left| \nabla \Phi \right|^2 \right) \left| e^{\Phi/h} \psi \right|^2 \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} = 0, \tag{4.10}$$

and thus

$$\int_{\Omega} h^2 \left| \nabla e^{\Phi/h} \psi \right|^2 + \left( x_1 - x_{\min} - Mh^{2/3} - |\nabla \Phi|^2 \right) \left| e^{\Phi/h} \psi \right|^2 \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} \leqslant 0.$$
(4.11)

Now, we choose  $\Phi = \varepsilon |x_1 - x_{\min}|^{3/2}$ , we obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} \left( \left( 1 - \frac{9}{4} \varepsilon^2 \right) (x_1 - x_{\min}) - Mh^{2/3} \right) |e^{\Phi/h} \psi|^2 \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} \leqslant 0.$$

We take  $\varepsilon$  such that  $1-\frac{9}{4}\varepsilon^2>0$  and fix R>0 such that

$$\left(1 - \frac{9}{4}\varepsilon^2\right)R - M = 1.$$
(4.12)

Using (4.12), we get

$$h^{2/3} \int_{|x_1 - x_{\min}| \ge Rh^{2/3}} \left| e^{\Phi/h} \psi \right|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} \le \int_{|x_1 - x_{\min}| \ge Rh^{2/3}} \left( \left( 1 - \frac{9}{4} \varepsilon^2 \right) (x_1 - x_{\min}) - Mh^{2/3} \right) \left| e^{\Phi/h} \psi \right|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} \\ \le Mh^{2/3} \int_{|x_1 - x_{\min}| < Rh^{2/3}} e^{2\Phi/h} |\psi|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} \le Ch^{2/3} \|\psi\|^2.$$

This proves (4.6). Next we prove (4.7). First observe that repeating the calculation above without dropping the first term in (4.11) we get that

$$\int_{\Omega} h^2 \left| \nabla e^{\Phi/h} \psi \right|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \leqslant C h^{2/3} \|\psi\|^2.$$

Using the triangle inequality, (4.6), (4.10) to complete the proof of (4.7).

Let  $\eta > 0$ , we denote by  $CB(A_0, \eta)$  the complement of the open ball  $B(A_0, \eta)$ .

**Corollary 4.2.2.** There exist  $c_{\eta}, C_{\eta}, h_0 > 0$  such that, for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$ , for all eigenvalues  $\lambda$  such that  $\lambda \leq x_{\min} + Mh^{\frac{2}{3}}$ , and all corresponding eigenfunctions  $\psi$ ,

$$\int_{\Omega \cap \complement B(A_0,\eta)} |\psi|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} \leqslant C_\eta e^{-c_\eta/h} \|\psi\|^2,$$

and

$$\int_{\Omega \cap \mathcal{C}B(A_0,\eta))} |\nabla \psi|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} \leqslant C_\eta e^{-c_\eta/h} \, \|\psi\|^2 \, .$$

*Proof.* Since  $\Omega$  is bounded then the set  $\overline{\Omega} \cap \mathbb{C}B(A_0, \eta)$  is compact. The map  $\overline{\Omega} \cap \mathbb{C}B(A_0, \eta) \ni (x_1, \dots, x_N) \mapsto x_1 - x_{\min}$  is continuous and positive. By compactness it has a positive minimum. The conclusion follows from Proposition 4.2.1.

As a consequence, for small h, the ground states of the operator  $\mathscr{L}_h$  are concentrated around  $x_{\min}$  (cf. Corollary 4.2.2). We can now reduce our investigation to a neighborhood of  $A_0$ .

#### 4.2.2 Reduction near the boundary

Let  $\delta > 0$  small enough, we introduce the  $\delta$ -neighborhood of the boundary

$$\Omega_{\delta} = \{ \mathbf{x} = (x_1, \cdots, x_N) \in \Omega : \operatorname{dist}(\mathbf{x}, A_0) < \delta \}.$$

Consider the quadratic form, defined on the variational space

$$W_{\delta} = \{ u \in H_0^1(\Omega_{\delta}) : u(\mathbf{x}) = 0, \forall \mathbf{x} \in \Omega \text{ such that } \operatorname{dist}(\mathbf{x}, A_0) = \delta \},\$$

by the formula

$$\mathscr{Q}_{h,\delta}(\varphi) = h^2 \int_{\Omega_{\delta}} |\nabla \varphi(\mathbf{x})|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} + \int_{\Omega_{\delta}} x_1 |\varphi(\mathbf{x})|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}.$$
(4.13)

Let the self-adjoint operator associated with the quadratic form  $\mathscr{Q}_{h,\delta}$  be defined on  $L^2(\Omega_{\delta})$  and with the Dirichlet condition on the boundary of  $\Omega_{\delta}$ ,

$$\mathscr{L}_{h,\delta} = -h^2 \Delta + x_1.$$

Let  $(\lambda_n(h, \delta))_{n \in \mathbb{N}^*}$  be the sequence of min-max values of the operator  $\mathscr{L}_{h,\delta}$ . It is standard to deduce from the min-max principle and the Agmon estimates of Proposition 4.2.1 the following proposition (see [Hel88] or Proposition 3.3.8). It is an important result that compares the eigenvalues and gives an approximation of  $\lambda_n(h)$ .

**Proposition 4.2.3.** Let  $n \ge 1$  and  $\delta > 0$  small enough. There exist constants  $C_{\delta}, k_{\delta} > 0, h_0 \in (0, 1)$  such that, for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$  and  $\lambda_n(h) \le x_{\min} + Mh^{\frac{2}{3}}$ ,

$$\lambda_n(h,\delta) \leqslant \lambda_n(h) + C_\delta \exp(-k_\delta/h). \tag{4.14}$$

*Moreover, we have, for all*  $n \ge 1$ , h > 0

$$\lambda_n(h) \leqslant \lambda_n(h,\delta). \tag{4.15}$$

*Proof.* The inequality (4.15) follows from the fact that  $\Omega_{\delta} \subset \Omega$ , the Dirichlet condition and the min-max principle.

The inequality (4.14) follows from the Agmon estimates. Let  $(u_{k,h})_{1 \le k \le n}$  an orthonormal family of eigenfunctions associated with the eigenvalues  $(\lambda_k(h))_{1 \le k \le n}$ . Let the truncation function define on  $\mathbb{R}_+$  as follows:

$$0 \leq \chi \leq 1, \ \chi = 1$$
 on  $[0, 1/2[$  and  $\chi = 0$  on  $[1, +\infty[$ .

We define the function

$$\chi_{\delta}(\mathbf{x}) = \chi \bigg( \frac{\operatorname{dist}(\mathbf{x}, A_0)}{\delta} \bigg).$$

Let

$$\mathscr{C}_n(h,\delta) = \operatorname{span}_{1 \leq k \leq n} \chi_{\delta} u_{k,h}.$$

Thus  $\mathscr{C}_n(h,\delta) \subset W_{\delta}$  and using Proposition 4.2.1, we notice that  $\dim \mathscr{C}_n(h,\delta) = n$ . Consider  $\varphi \in \mathscr{C}_n(h,\delta)$  and write

$$\varphi = \chi_{\delta} \psi$$

where  $\psi \in \operatorname{span}_{1 \leq k \leq n} u_{k,h}$ . We have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{Q}_{h,\delta}(\chi_{\delta}\psi) &= h^{2} \int_{\Omega} |\psi\nabla\chi_{\delta} + \chi_{\delta}\nabla\psi|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} + \int_{\Omega} x_{1}|\chi_{\delta}\psi(\mathbf{x})|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} \\ &\leq h^{2} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla\psi|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} + 2h^{2} \|\psi\nabla\chi_{\delta}\| \|\chi_{\delta}\nabla\psi\| + h^{2} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla\chi_{\delta}\psi|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} + \int_{\Omega} x_{1}|\psi(\mathbf{x})|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} \\ &\leq \mathscr{Q}_{h}(\psi) + 2h^{2} \|\psi\nabla\chi_{\delta}\| \|\chi_{\delta}\nabla\psi\|_{L^{2}(\Omega\setminus\Omega_{\delta/2})} + h^{2} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla\chi_{\delta}\psi|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}. \end{aligned}$$

Since the  $(u_{k,h})_{1 \le k \le n}$  are orthogonal eigenfunctions, we get

$$\mathscr{Q}_h(\psi) \leqslant \lambda_n(h) \|\psi\|^2.$$

From Proposition 4.2.1, there exist constants  $C, C_{\delta}, k_{\delta} > 0$ , such that

$$h \| \psi \nabla \chi_{\delta} \| \leq C_{\delta} \exp(-k_{\delta}/h),$$

and

$$\|\psi \nabla \chi_{\delta}\|_{L^{2}(\Omega \setminus \Omega_{\delta/2})} \leq C h^{1/3} \exp(-k_{\delta}/h).$$

Thus, the conclusion follows from the min-max principle.

#### 4.3 Local boundary coordinates

In this section, we introduce local coordinates in the neighborhood of  $\mathbf{x}_0 \in \partial \Omega$ , in order to straighten a portion of the boundary. Throughout this section, we mainly refer to [FH10b, App. F] and [HM04, Pan04], although these coordinates were also used in [AH14] in a two-dimensional framework.

#### 4.3.1 The coordinates and the metric

We fix  $\epsilon > 0$  such that the distance function

$$t(\mathbf{x}) = \operatorname{dist}(\mathbf{x}, \partial \Omega)$$

is smooth on  $\Omega_{\epsilon} = \{ \mathbf{x} \in \Omega : \operatorname{dist}(\mathbf{x}, \partial \Omega) < \epsilon \}$ . Let  $\mathbf{x}_0 \in \partial \Omega$  be fixed and choose a chart  $\phi : \mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{x}_0} \mapsto \phi(\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{x}_0})$  such that  $\mathbf{x}_0 \in \phi(\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{x}_0})$  and  $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{x}_0}$  is an open set of  $\mathbb{R}^{N-1}$ . We set

$$s_0 = \phi^{-1}(\mathbf{x}_0)$$
 and  $W_0 = \phi(\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{x}_0}).$ 

Then, in these coordinates, the metric on the surface  $\phi(\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{x}_0})$  induced by the Euclidian metric  $g_0$  of  $\mathbb{R}^N$  writes

$$G = \sum_{1 \leqslant i, j \leqslant N-1} G_{ij} ds_i \otimes ds_j,$$

where

$$\forall i, j = 1, \dots, N-1, \quad G_{ij}(s_1, \dots, s_{N-1}) = \partial_{s_i}\phi(s_1, \dots, s_{N-1}) \cdot \partial_{s_j}\phi(s_1, \dots, s_{N-1}).$$

Now, we define local coordinates in a neighborhood of  $\mathbf{x}_0$  in  $\Omega$ . For  $\epsilon > 0$  small enough, we consider

$$\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{x}_{0}} \times ]0, \epsilon[ \ni (s_{1}, ..., s_{N-1}, t) \mapsto \Phi(s, t) = \mathbf{x} = \phi(s_{1}, ..., s_{N-1}) - \nu(\phi(s_{1}, ..., s_{N-1}))t,$$
(4.16)

where  $\nu(\mathbf{x})$  is the unit outward pointing normal vector at the point  $\mathbf{x} \in \partial \Omega$ . This defines a diffeomorphism of  $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{x}_0} \times ]0, \epsilon$  [ onto  $\Phi(\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{x}_0} \times ]0, \epsilon$  [) in  $\Omega_{\epsilon}$  and its inverse gives local coordinates on  $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{x}_0}$ . We set

$$U_0 = \Phi(\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{x}_0} \times ]0, \epsilon[).$$

Note that t denotes the normal variable in the sense that for a point  $\mathbf{x} \in U_0$  such that

$$t(\mathbf{x}) = \operatorname{dist}(\mathbf{x}, \phi(s_1, ..., s_{N-1})) = \operatorname{dist}(\mathbf{x}, \partial \Omega).$$

In particular, t = 0 is the equation of the surface  $U_0 \cap \partial \Omega$ .

In the following we use the notation  $(s_1, ..., s_{N-1}, t) = (s, t), \partial_j = \partial_{s_j}$  if  $j \in \{1, ..., N-1\}$ , and  $\partial_N = \partial_t$ . The matrix of the metric  $g_0$  in these new coordinates (s, t) is  $d\Phi^T d\Phi$ . The matrix of  $d\Phi$  in the canonical basis of  $\mathbb{R}^N$  is

$$d\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} \partial_1 \Phi_1 & \dots & \partial_{N-1} \Phi_1 & \partial_n \Phi_1 \\ \vdots & \dots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \partial_1 \Phi_N & \dots & \partial_{N-1} \Phi_N & \partial_N \Phi_N \end{pmatrix} \in M_N(\mathbb{R}).$$

From (4.16), for all  $i \in \{1, ..., N\}$ , for all  $j \in \{1, ..., N-1\}$ , we have

$$\partial_j \Phi_i = \partial_j \phi_i - t \mathrm{d}\nu_i (\partial_j \phi) = \left[\partial_j \phi\right]_i - t \left[\mathrm{d}\nu(\partial_j \phi)\right]_i = \left[\partial_j \phi - t \mathrm{d}\nu(\partial_j \phi)\right]_i = \left[(Id - t \mathrm{d}\nu)(\partial_j \phi)\right]_i,$$

and

$$\partial_N \Phi_i = -\nu_i(\phi)$$

We deduce that

$$d\Phi = \left( (Id - td\nu)(\partial_1 \phi) \quad \cdots \quad (Id - td\nu)(\partial_{N-1} \phi) \quad -\nu(\phi) \right) \in M_N(\mathbb{R}),$$

where

$$\nu(\phi) = \begin{pmatrix} \nu_1(\phi) \\ \vdots \\ \nu_N(\phi) \end{pmatrix} \in M_{N \times 1}(\mathbb{R}) \quad \text{and} \quad (Id - td\nu)(\partial_i \phi) = \begin{pmatrix} \partial_i \phi_1 - td\nu_1(\partial_i \phi) \\ \vdots \\ \partial_i \phi_N - td\nu_N(\partial_i \phi) \end{pmatrix} \in M_{N \times 1}(\mathbb{R}).$$

Let us calculate the symmetric matrix  $d\Phi^T d\Phi$ .

$$d\Phi^{T}d\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} \left[ (Id - td\nu)(\partial_{1}\phi) \right]^{T} \\ \vdots \\ \left[ (Id - td\nu)(\partial_{N-1}\phi) \right]^{T} \\ \left[ -\nu(\phi) \right]^{T} \end{pmatrix} \cdot \left( (Id - td\nu)(\partial_{1}\phi) & \cdots & (Id - td\nu)(\partial_{N-1}\phi) & -\nu(\phi) \end{pmatrix},$$

we multiply the two matrices, we get

$$\mathrm{d}\Phi^{T}\mathrm{d}\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{A} & \mathcal{B} \\ \\ \hline \\ \mathcal{B}^{T} & \left[\nu(\phi)\right]^{T} \cdot \nu(\phi) \end{pmatrix},$$

where

$$\mathcal{A} = (a_{ij}) = \left( \left[ (Id - td\nu)(\partial_i \phi) \right]^T (Id - td\nu)(\partial_j \phi) \right) \in M_{N-1}(\mathbb{R}),$$

and

$$\mathcal{B} = \begin{pmatrix} -\left[(Id - td\nu)(\partial_1\phi)\right]^T \cdot \nu(\phi) \\ \vdots \\ -\left[(Id - td\nu)(\partial_{N-1}\phi)\right]^T \cdot \nu(\phi) \end{pmatrix} \in M_{(N-1)\times 1}(\mathbb{R})$$

Since  $\partial_i \phi(s)$  and  $\partial_i \nu(\phi(s))$  are tangent to  $\partial \Omega$ , we have, for all  $i = 1, \ldots, N-1$ 

$$-\left[(Id - td\nu)(\partial_i \phi)\right]^T \cdot \nu(\phi) = \sum_{j=1}^N \left[ -\partial_i \phi_j \nu_j(\phi) + t\partial_i \nu_j(\phi) \nu_j(\phi) \right]$$
$$= -\langle \partial_i \phi, \nu(\phi) \rangle + t \langle \partial_i \nu(\phi), \nu(\phi) \rangle$$
$$= 0,$$

then,

$$\mathcal{B} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

We have also,

$$[\nu(\phi)]^T \cdot \nu(\phi) = \|\nu(\phi)\|^2 = 1.$$

Now we are going to make explain what is the matrix A. Besides, for all  $i, j \in \{1, ..., N-1\}$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} a_{ij}\left(s,t\right) &= \left[ (Id - td\nu)(\partial_i\phi) \right]^T (Id - td\nu)(\partial_j\phi) \\ &= \left[ \partial_i\phi(s) - t\partial_i\nu(\phi(s)) \right] \cdot \left[ \partial_j\phi(s) - t\partial_j\nu(\phi(s)) \right] \\ &= G_{ij}(s) - t\left[ \partial_i\nu(\phi(s)) \cdot \partial_j\phi(s) + \partial_i\phi(s) \cdot \partial_j\nu(\phi(s)) \right] + t^2 \partial_i\nu(\phi(s)) \cdot \partial_j\nu(\phi(s)), \end{aligned}$$

then, we obtain

$$a_{ij}(s,t) = G_{ij}(s) - 2K_{ij}(s)t + t^2 L_{ij}(s),$$
(4.17)

where  $K_{ij} = \partial_i \phi \cdot \partial_j \nu(\phi)$  and  $L_{ij} = \partial_i \nu(\phi) \cdot \partial_j \nu(\phi)$  are the coefficients of the second and third fundamental form of  $\partial \Omega$ .

We conclude that

$$\mathrm{d}\Phi^{T}\mathrm{d}\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} (G_{ij}(s) - 2K_{ij}(s)t + t^{2}L_{ij}(s))_{i,j=1,\dots,n-1} & 0_{\mathbb{R}^{N-1}} \\ & & \\ \hline & & \\ & & \\ \hline & & \\ &$$

Finally, we conclude that

$$g_0 = dt \otimes dt + \sum_{1 \leq i, j \leq N-1} \left[ G_{ij}(s) - 2tK_{ij}(s) + t^2 L_{ij}(s) \right] ds_i \otimes ds_j$$
  
=  $dt \otimes dt + G - 2tK + t^2 L$ ,

where we denote by K and L the second and the third fundamental forms on  $\partial \Omega$ . In the coordinates y and with respect to the canonical basis, their matrices are given by

$$K = \sum_{1 \leqslant i, j \leqslant N-1} K_{ij} ds_i \otimes ds_j \quad \text{ and } \quad L = \sum_{1 \leqslant i, j \leqslant N-1} L_{ij} ds_i \otimes ds_j.$$

We denote by  $g = (g_{ij})_{i,j}$  the matrix of the metric  $g_0$  in the (s, t) coordinates; the determinant of g is denoted by |g|. We have

$$|g|^{1/2} = |d\Phi^T d\Phi|^{1/2} = \left[\det \left(G - 2tK + t^2L\right)\right]^{1/2}$$
  
=  $\left[\det G(I - 2tG^{-1}K + t^2G^{-1}L)\right]^{1/2}$   
=  $|G|^{1/2} \left[\det \left(I - 2tG^{-1}K + t^2G^{-1}L\right)\right]^{1/2}$ .

By the differential calculus of the determinant and since t close to zero, we get

$$|g|^{1/2} = \left(1 - t \operatorname{tr}(G^{-1}K) + t^2 p(s, t)\right) |G|^{1/2},$$
(4.18)

where p is a bounded function in the neighborhood  $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{x}_0} \times ]0, \epsilon[$ .



Figure 4.2 – The local tubular coordinates

## **4.3.2** The operator in boundary coordinates

For  $\varphi \in H_0^1(\Phi^{-1}(\Omega_{\delta}))$ , the quadratic form is written in the new coordinates (s, t) as follows

$$\begin{split} \mathscr{Q}_{h,\delta}(\varphi) &= h^2 \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0,\delta[} |\partial_t \tilde{\varphi}|^2 |g|^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}s_1 ... \mathrm{d}s_{N-1} \mathrm{d}t \\ &+ h^2 \sum_{1 \leqslant i,j \leqslant N-1} \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0,\delta[} g^{ij} \partial_{s_i} \tilde{\varphi} \, \overline{\partial_{s_j} \tilde{\varphi}} \, |g|^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}s_1 ... \mathrm{d}s_{N-1} \mathrm{d}t \\ &+ \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0,\delta[} \Phi_1(s,t) |\tilde{\varphi}|^2 |g|^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}s_1 ... \mathrm{d}s_{N-1} \mathrm{d}t, \end{split}$$

where  $(g^{ij})$  are the coefficients of the inverse matrix of  $(g_{ij})$  and  $\tilde{\varphi} = \varphi \circ \Phi$ . The associated operator is

$$\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\delta} = -h^2 |g|^{-1/2} \partial_t (|g|^{1/2} \partial_t) - h^2 \sum_{1 \le i, j \le N-1} |g|^{-1/2} \partial_{s_i} (g^{ij} |g|^{1/2} \partial_{s_j}) + \Phi_1(s,t),$$

acting on  $L^2(\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0, \delta[; |g|^{1/2} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t).$ 

The operator  $\mathscr{L}_{h,\delta}$  is unitarily equivalent to the Dirichlet realization of  $\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\delta}$ . Let us describe  $\Phi_1$  near zero.

**Lemma 4.3.1.** For  $(s,t) \in \mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0, \delta[$ , we have

$$\Phi_1(s,t) = x_{\min} + \frac{1}{2} Hess_{(0)} \Phi_1(s)(s) + t + \mathcal{O}(|s|^3 + t|s|^2).$$

*Proof.* From (4.16), we have

$$\Phi_1(s,t) = \phi_1(s) - t \nu_1(\phi(s)), \qquad (4.19)$$

where  $\nu = (\nu_1, ..., \nu_N)$  and  $\phi = (\phi_1, ..., \phi_N)$ .

After a dilation and a translation of the s coordinates of the Section 4.3.1, we may assume that  $A_0 = \phi(0)$ . Since  $x_1(A_0) = x_{\min}$  is the minimum, then

$$\partial_{s_i} \phi_1(0) = 0 \quad \forall j = 1, ..., N - 1.$$

By Taylor expansion near s = 0, we get

$$\begin{split} \phi_1(s) &= \phi_1(0) + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Hess}_{(0)} \phi_1(s)(s) + \mathscr{O}(|s|^3) \\ &= x_{\min} + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Hess}_{(0)} \phi_1(s)(s) + \mathscr{O}(|s|^3), \end{split}$$

and we deduce that

$$\nu_1(\phi(s)) = \nu_1(\phi(0)) + \mathcal{O}(|s|^2).$$

We notice that

$$\nu_1(\phi(0)) = \nu_1(A_0).$$

From (4.19), we have

$$\Phi_1(0,t) = x_1 = \phi_1(0) - t \,\nu_1\left(\phi(0)\right) = x_{\min} - t\nu_1(A_0),$$

or,

$$x_{\min} = \inf_{(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_N) \in \Omega} x_1,$$

then

$$\nu_1(A_0) \leqslant 0.$$

Since, for all  $j \in \{2, ..., N\}$ 

$$\Phi_j(0,t) = \phi_j(0),$$

then, from (4.19)

 $\nu_j(A_0) = 0.$ 

As  $\nu(A_0)$  is the unit outward pointing normal vector at the point  $A_0 \in \partial \Omega$ , then we get

$$\nu_1(A_0) = -1. \tag{4.20}$$

In particular,

$$\Phi_1(s,t) = x_{\min} + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Hess}_{(0)}\phi_1(s)(s) + t + \mathcal{O}(|s|^3 + t|s|^2).$$
(4.21)

## 4.3.3 Agmon Estimates in Tubular Variables

The following proposition is a slight adaptation in coordinates (s, t) of Proposition 4.2.1. The estimates state that the eigenfunctions associated with the low-lying eigenvalues are localized near  $A_0$  at a scale  $h^{1/2}$  in the  $s_i$  direction for  $i \in \{1, ..., N-1\}$ , and at a scale  $h^{2/3}$  in the t direction.

**Proposition 4.3.2.** Let M > 0. There exist  $\epsilon$ , C,  $h_0 > 0$  such that, for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$ , and for all eigenfunctions  $\psi$  of  $\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\delta}$  corresponding to eigenvalues  $\lambda$  with  $\lambda \leq x_{\min} + Mh^{2/3}$ , we have:

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0,\delta[} e^{\epsilon t^{\frac{3}{2}}/h} |\psi|^2 |g|^{1/2} \,\mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \leqslant C \|\psi\|^2,$$
$$\int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0,\delta[} e^{\epsilon t^{\frac{3}{2}}/h} |h \nabla_{s,t} \psi|^2 |g|^{1/2} \,\mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \leqslant C h^{2/3} \|\psi\|^2,$$

where  $\nabla_{s,t}$  is the differential in the tubular coordinates (s,t), defined as follows

$$|\nabla_{s,t}\psi|^2 = |\partial_t\psi|^2 + \sum_{1 \le i,j \le N-1} g^{ij}\partial_{s_i}\psi \,\overline{\partial_{s_j}\psi}.$$

*Proof.* For all  $\psi \in \text{Dom}(\mathscr{L}_{h,\delta})$  and all bounded Lipschitz functions  $\varphi$ , we write the Agmon formula (see for example [Ray17, Proposition 4.7])

$$\int_{\Omega_{\delta}} h^2 \left| \nabla e^{\varphi/h} \psi \right|^2 + \left( x_1 - \lambda - |\nabla \varphi|^2 \right) \left| e^{\varphi/h} \psi \right|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x} = 0.$$
(4.22)

From (4.22), we use the quadratic form in tubular coordinates, and for

$$\varphi = \varepsilon t^{3/2},$$

we get

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0}\times ]0,\delta[} \left( -\frac{9}{4}\varepsilon^2 t + \Phi_1 - x_{\min} - Mh^{2/3} \right) |e^{\varphi/h}\psi|^2 ||g|^{1/2} \,\mathrm{d}s\mathrm{d}t \leqslant 0.$$
(4.23)

From (4.21), as  $\Omega$  strictly convex domain near s = 0, then  $\text{Hess}_{(0)}\phi_1$  is a positive definite matrix, we obtain

$$\Phi_1(s,t) \geqslant x_{\min} + t_s$$

by (4.23), we deduce

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0}\times]0,\delta[} \left( \left[ 1 - \frac{9}{4}\varepsilon^2 \right] t - Mh^{2/3} \right) |e^{\phi/h}\psi|^2 ||g|^{1/2} \,\mathrm{d}s\mathrm{d}t \leqslant 0.$$
(4.24)

We can directly use the strategy of Proposition 4.2.1 to get the proof.

Therefore, the operator  $\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\delta}$  can be replaced by

$$\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\delta} = -h^2 |g|^{-1/2} \partial_t (|g|^{1/2} \partial_t) - h^2 \sum_{1 \leqslant i, j \leqslant N-1} |g|^{-1/2} \partial_{s_i} (g^{ij} |g|^{1/2} \partial_{s_j}) + \Phi_1(s,t),$$

with Dirichlet boundary conditions, acting on  $L^2(\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0, h^{\frac{2}{3}-\eta}[; |g|^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t)$ , for some  $\eta \in (0, 1/3)$ .

Let  $\mu_n(h)$  be the associated eigenvalues of  $\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\delta}$ . The decay estimates of Proposition 4.3.2 are still satisfied by the eigenfunctions of  $\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\delta}$  with eigenvalues  $\lambda \leq x_{\min} + Mh^{\frac{2}{3}}$ . By using this exponential decay, there exist  $C, h_0 > 0$  such that, for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$ .

$$\mu_n(h) - \frac{1}{C} e^{-Ch^{-3\eta/2}} \leqslant \lambda_n(h,\delta) \leqslant \mu_n(h).$$
(4.25)

Thus, modulo an exponentially small error, the asymptotic analysis of  $\lambda_n(h)$  is reduced to that of  $\mu_n(h)$ .

By shrinking the spectral window, we can even get a localization with respect to the *s* variable, as stated in the next proposition.

**Proposition 4.3.3.** Let M > 0 and  $\eta \in (0, 1/3)$ . There exist  $\varepsilon$ , C,  $h_0 > 0$  such that, for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$ , and for all eigenfunctions  $\psi$  of  $\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\delta}$  corresponding to eigenvalues  $\lambda$  with  $\lambda \leq x_{\min} + h^{2/3}z_1 + Mh$ , we have:

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0, h^{\frac{2}{3} - \eta}[} e^{\varepsilon |s|^2 / h} |\psi|^2 |G|^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \leqslant C \|\psi\|^2,$$

and

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0}\times]0,h^{\frac{2}{3}-\eta}[} e^{\varepsilon|s|^2/h} |h\nabla_s\psi|^2 |G|^{1/2} \,\mathrm{d}s \,\mathrm{d}t \leqslant Ch \|\psi\|^2,$$

where  $\nabla_s$  is the differential on  $\mathcal{V}_{A_0}$  seen through the metric G.

*Proof.* We let  $\varphi(s) = \varepsilon |s|^2/2$  and write the Agmon formula (see for example [Ray17, Proposition 4.7]):

$$\left\langle \widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\delta}\psi, e^{2\varphi/h}\psi \right\rangle = \left\langle \widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\delta}e^{\varphi/h}\psi, e^{\varphi/h}\psi \right\rangle - \|e^{\varphi/h}\nabla_{s,t}\varphi\psi\|^2.$$
(4.26)

Since  $\psi$  is the eigenfunction of  $\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\delta}$  corresponding to an eigenvalue  $\lambda$ , we get

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0}\times]0,h^{\frac{2}{3}-\eta}\left[\left[|h\nabla_{s,t}e^{\varphi/h}\psi|^2 + \Phi_1(s,t)|e^{\varphi/h}\psi|^2 - (\lambda + |\nabla_{s,t}\varphi|^2)|e^{\varphi/h}\psi|^2\right]|g|^{1/2}\,\mathrm{d}s\mathrm{d}t = 0,$$

with  $\nabla_{s,t}$  is the differential in the tubular coordinates (s,t).

First, we drop the tangential derivative:

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0, h^{\frac{2}{3} - \eta}} \left[ |h\partial_t e^{\varphi/h} \psi|^2 + \Phi_1(s, t) |e^{\varphi/h} \psi|^2 - (\lambda + |\nabla_{s, t} \varphi|^2) |e^{\varphi/h} \psi|^2 \right] |g|^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \leqslant 0.$$

We observe from (4.21), as s = 0 is a non degenerate minimum, then  $\text{Hess}_{(0)}\phi_1$  is a positive definite matrix, then there exists  $C^* > 0$ , such that

$$\operatorname{Hess}_{(0)}\phi_1\left(s\right)\left(s\right) \geqslant C^*|s|^2,$$

from (4.21), we obtain

$$\Phi_1(s,t) \ge x_{\min} + t + C^* |s|^2.$$

Introducing the last inequality in the above integral, we get:

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0}\times ]0,h^{\frac{2}{3}-\eta} \left[ \left[ |h\partial_t e^{\varphi/h}\psi|^2 + t|e^{\varphi/h}\psi|^2 \right] |g|^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \\ &+ \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0}\times ]0,h^{\frac{2}{3}-\eta} \left[ \left[ (-\lambda + x_{\min} + C^*|s|^2 - |\nabla_{s,t}\varphi|^2) |e^{\varphi/h}\psi|^2 \right] |g|^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \leqslant 0. \end{split}$$

From (4.18), on  $\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0, h^{\frac{2}{3}-\eta}[$ , for sufficiently small h, there exists C > 0 such that

$$|g|^{1/2} \ge (1 - Ch^{\frac{2}{3} - \eta}) |G|^{1/2}.$$

By using this in the above integrals, we have that

$$(1 - Ch^{\frac{2}{3} - \eta}) \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0, h^{\frac{2}{3} - \eta}[} \left[ |h\partial_t e^{\varphi/h} \psi|^2 + t|e^{\varphi/h} \psi|^2 - h^{\frac{2}{3}} z_1 |e^{\varphi/h} \psi|^2 \right] |G|^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \\ + \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0, h^{\frac{2}{3} - \eta}[} (-\lambda + x_{\min} + C^* |s|^2 + h^{\frac{2}{3}} z_1 - |\nabla_{s,t} \varphi|^2 - Ch^{\frac{4}{3} - \eta}) |e^{\varphi/h} \psi|^2 |g|^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \leqslant 0.$$

By using the min-max principle, we notice that

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0}\times]0,h^{\frac{2}{3}-\eta}[} \left[ |h\partial_t e^{\varphi/h}\psi|^2 + t|e^{\varphi/h}\psi|^2 \right] |G|^{1/2} \,\mathrm{d}s\mathrm{d}t \geqslant h^{\frac{2}{3}} z_1 \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0}\times]0,h^{\frac{2}{3}-\eta}[} |e^{\varphi/h}\psi|^2 |G|^{1/2} \,\mathrm{d}s\mathrm{d}t.$$

Therefore,

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0}\times]0,h^{\frac{2}{3}-\eta}[} (-\lambda + x_{\min} + C^*|s|^2 + h^{\frac{2}{3}}z_1 - |\nabla_{s,t}\varphi|^2 - Ch^{\frac{4}{3}-\eta})|e^{\varphi/h}\psi|^2|g|^{1/2} \,\mathrm{d}s\mathrm{d}t \leqslant 0.$$

So that, using the assumption of the location of  $\lambda$  and for h small enough, then:

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0}\times ]0,h^{\frac{2}{3}-\eta}} (-2Mh + C^*|s|^2 - |\nabla_{s,t}\varphi|^2) |e^{\varphi/h}\psi|^2 |G|^{1/2} \,\mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \leqslant 0.$$

We have

$$|\nabla_{s,t}\varphi|^2 = |\partial_t\varphi|^2 + \sum_{1 \leqslant i,j \leqslant N-1} g^{ij} \partial_{s_i}\varphi \,\overline{\partial_{s_j}\varphi} = \varepsilon^2 \sum_{1 \leqslant i,j \leqslant N-1} g^{ij} s_i s_j,$$

where  $(g^{ij})$  is the inverse matrix of  $(g_{ij})$ . There exists c > 0, such that

$$\varepsilon^2 \sum_{1 \leqslant i, j \leqslant N-1} g^{ij} s_i s_j \leqslant C \varepsilon^2 |s|^2,$$

It follows:

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0}\times]0,h^{\frac{2}{3}-\eta}[} \left(-2Mh + (C^* - C\varepsilon^2)|s|^2\right)|e^{\varphi/h}\psi|^2|G|^{1/2}\,\mathrm{d}s\mathrm{d}t \leqslant 0.$$

For  $\varepsilon$  small enough, the conclusion follows as in the proof of Proposition 4.2.1.

This shows that the eigenfunctions of "low energy" are localized near  $A_0$  at a scale  $h^{1/2}$  in the  $s_i$  direction for  $i \in \{1, ..., N-1\}$ .

## 4.4 Construction of quasimodes

This section aims to explain how the following proposition follows. For the proof, we will follow the same strategy as in [HK17].

**Proposition 4.4.1.** For any positive n, there exists a sequence  $(\zeta_{j,n})_{j\geq 0}$  such that, for any positive  $M \in \mathbb{N}$ , we have, as  $h \to 0$ 

$$\|\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\delta}\Phi_{n,M} - h^{2/3}\lambda_{n,M}\Phi_{n,M}\| \leqslant Ch^{\frac{4}{3} + \frac{M+1}{6}} \|\Phi_{n,M}\|,$$

with  $z_1, \beta_{1,n}$  are defined in Theorem 4.1.1,  $\lambda_{n,M}$  is defined in (4.44) and  $\Phi_{n,M}$  a family of quasimodes introduced in (4.49).

#### 4.4.1 Rescaling operator

We recall that

$$\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\delta} = -h^2 |g|^{-1/2} \partial_t (|g|^{1/2} \partial_t) - h^2 \sum_{1 \leqslant i, j \leqslant N-1} |g|^{-1/2} \partial_{s_i} (g^{ij} |g|^{1/2} \partial_{s_j}) + \Phi_1(s,t),$$

with Dirichlet boundary conditions, acting on  $L^2(\mathcal{V}_{A_0}\times]0, h^{\frac{2}{3}-\eta}[;|g|^{1/2} \,\mathrm{d}s\mathrm{d}t)$ , also we recall that

$$\Phi_1(s,t) = x_{\min} + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Hess}_{(0)} \phi_1(s)(s) + t + \mathcal{O}(|s|^3 + t|s|^2)$$

We know that, the eigenfunctions are localized near the boundary at the scale  $h^{\frac{1}{2}}$  in the  $s_i$  direction and  $h^{2/3}$  in the t direction (cf. Proposition 4.3.2 and 4.3.3). This suggests to use the rescaling:

$$(s,t) = (h^{\frac{1}{2}}\sigma, h^{\frac{2}{3}}\tau).$$

Then, we have

$$\Phi_1(h^{\frac{1}{2}}\sigma, h^{\frac{2}{3}}\tau) = x_{\min} + \frac{h}{2} \operatorname{Hess}_{(0)}\phi_1(\sigma)(\sigma) + h^{2/3}\tau + \mathcal{O}(h^{3/2}|\sigma|^3 + h^{5/3}\tau|\sigma|^2).$$

This change of variables transforms the above expression of  $\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\delta}$  into

$$\begin{aligned} \widehat{\mathscr{H}}_{h,\delta} &= -h^{2/3} \left[ |g|^{-1/2} \partial_{\tau} (|g|^{1/2} \partial_{\tau}) - \tau \right] \\ &+ h \left[ -\sum_{1 \leqslant i, j \leqslant N-1} |g|^{-1/2} \partial_{\sigma_i} (g^{ij} |g|^{1/2} \partial_{\sigma_j}) + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Hess}_{(0)} \phi_1 \left( \sigma \right) \left( \sigma \right) \right] + x_{\min} + h^{4/3} h^{1/6} q_{1,h}(\sigma,\tau), \end{aligned}$$

where the function  $q_{1,h}$  satisfies

$$|q_{1,h}(\sigma,\tau)| \leq C(|\sigma|^3 + h^{1/6}\tau|\sigma|^2).$$

## 4.4.2 Formal expansion

We have the formal expansion of the operator  $\widehat{\mathscr{H}}_{h,\delta}$  (for the details see Lemma 4.4.2)

$$h^{-2/3}\widehat{\mathscr{H}}_{h,\delta} = x_{\min}h^{-2/3} + \mathscr{L}_0 + h^{1/3}\mathscr{L}_1 + h^{2/3}Q_h,$$
(4.27)

where

$$\mathcal{L}_{0} = -\partial_{\tau}^{2} + \tau,$$
  

$$\mathcal{L}_{1} = -\Delta^{G_{0}} + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Hess}_{(0)}\phi_{1}(\sigma)(\sigma), \quad G_{0} = G(0),$$
  

$$Q_{h} = h^{1/6}q_{1,h}(\sigma,\tau) + q_{2,h}(\sigma,\tau)\partial_{\tau} + h^{1/6} \sum_{1 \le i,j \le N-1} \partial_{\sigma_{i}}(q_{3,h}(\sigma,\tau)\partial_{\sigma_{j}}),$$
(4.28)

where the Laplace-Beltrami operator on  $\partial \Omega$  in the neighborhood of  $A_0$  is

$$\Delta^{G_0} = \sum_{1 \le i, j \le N-1} |G_0|^{-1/2} \partial_{\sigma_i} (G_0^{ij} |G_0|^{1/2} \partial_{\sigma_j}), \tag{4.29}$$

with the functions  $q_{j,h}$ , for  $j \in \{2,3\}$  satisfy

$$|q_{2,h}(\sigma,\tau)| \leq C(\tau+|\sigma|)$$
 and  $|q_{3,h}(\sigma,\tau)| \leq C(h^{1/6}\tau+|\sigma|)$ .

**Lemma 4.4.2.** For  $0 < h < \frac{1}{2}$ ,  $0 \le \tau \le h^{-\eta}$  and  $\sigma_i = \mathcal{O}(h^{-1/2})$ , we have the following identities:

$$|g|^{-1/2}\partial_{\tau}(|g|^{1/2}\partial_{\tau}) = \partial_{\tau}^{2} + (\partial_{\tau}|g|^{1/2})|g|^{-1/2}\partial_{\tau} = \partial_{\tau}^{2} + h^{2/3}q_{2,h}(\sigma,\tau)\partial_{\tau},$$
(4.30)

and

$$|g|^{-1/2}\partial_{\sigma_i}(g^{ij}|g|^{1/2}\partial_{\sigma_j}) = |G_0|^{-1/2}\partial_{\sigma_i}(G_0^{ij}|G_0|^{1/2}\partial_{\sigma_j}) + h^{1/2}\partial_{\sigma_i}(q_{3,h}(\sigma,\tau)\partial_{\sigma_j}),$$
(4.31)

where the functions  $q_{j,h}$ , for  $j \in \{2,3\}$  satisfy

$$|q_{2,h}(\sigma,\tau)| \leq C(\tau+|\sigma|)$$
 and  $|q_{3,h}(\sigma,\tau)| \leq C(h^{1/6}\tau+|\sigma|).$ 

*Proof.* We have the following asymptotic expansions:

$$\begin{split} M(\sigma,\tau) &:= |g|^{1/2}(\sigma,\tau) \\ &= \left(1 - h^{\frac{2}{3}}\tau \mathrm{tr}(G^{-1}K)(h^{\frac{1}{2}}\sigma) + h^{\frac{4}{3}}\tau^{2}p(h^{\frac{1}{2}}\sigma,h^{\frac{2}{3}}\tau)\right)|G|^{1/2}(h^{\frac{1}{2}}\sigma) \\ &= M(0,0) + \tau\frac{\partial M}{\partial\tau}(0,0) + \sum_{i=1}^{N-1}\sigma_{i}\frac{\partial M}{\partial\sigma_{i}}(0,0) + hF_{1}(\sigma,\tau), \end{split}$$

where

 $- \ M(0,0) = |G|^{1/2}(0),$ 

$$\begin{split} & - \frac{\partial M}{\partial \tau}(0,0) = -h^{2/3} \mathrm{tr}(G^{-1}K)(0) |G|^{1/2}(0), \\ & - \frac{\partial M}{\partial \sigma_i}(0,0) = h^{1/2} \frac{\partial |G|^{1/2}}{\partial \sigma_i}(0). \end{split}$$

Then, we have

$$|g|^{1/2}(\sigma,\tau) = |G|^{1/2}(0) - h^{2/3}\tau \operatorname{tr}(G^{-1}K)(0)|G|^{1/2}(0) + h^{1/2}\sum_{1\leqslant i\leqslant N-1}\sigma_i\frac{\partial|G|^{1/2}}{\partial\sigma_i}(0) + hF_1(\sigma,\tau).$$

From the previous inequality, we have

$$|g|^{-1/2}(\sigma,\tau) = |G|^{-1/2}(0) + h^{1/2}F_2(\sigma,\tau).$$
(4.32)

This gives us the following identities:

$$(\partial_{\tau}|g|^{1/2})|g|^{-1/2}(\sigma,\tau) = -h^{2/3}F_3(\sigma,\tau).$$
(4.33)

From Section 4.3.1, we have

$$g_{ij}(\sigma,\tau) = G_{ij}(h^{\frac{1}{2}}\sigma) - 2h^{2/3}\tau K_{ij}(h^{\frac{1}{2}}\sigma) + h^{4/3}\tau^2 L_{ij}(h^{\frac{1}{2}}\sigma) = G_{ij}(0) + h^{1/2}F_4(\sigma,\tau),$$
(4.34)

and thus,

$$g^{ij}(\sigma,\tau) = G^{ij}(0) + h^{1/2}F_5(\sigma,\tau), \qquad (4.35)$$

where, for  $0 < h < \frac{1}{2}, 0 \le \tau \le h^{-\eta}$  and  $\sigma_i = \mathcal{O}(h^{-1/2})$ , the functions  $F_j, j = 1, \dots, 5$ , satisfy

$$F_1(\sigma,\tau) \leqslant C(h^{1/3}\tau^2 + |\sigma|^2), \quad F_3(\sigma,\tau) \leqslant C(\tau + |\sigma|) \quad \text{and}$$
$$F_j(\sigma,\tau) \leqslant C(h^{1/6}\tau + |\sigma|), \forall j = 2, 4, 5.$$

This gives us the following identities:

$$|g|^{-1/2}\partial_{\tau}(|g|^{1/2}\partial_{\tau}) = \partial_{\tau}^{2} + (\partial_{\tau}|g|^{1/2})|g|^{-1/2}\partial_{\tau} = \partial_{\tau}^{2} + h^{2/3}q_{2,h}(\sigma,\tau)\partial_{\tau},$$
(4.36)

and

$$|g|^{-1/2}\partial_{\sigma_i}(g^{ij}|g|^{1/2}\partial_{\sigma_j}) = |G|^{-1/2}(0)\partial_{\sigma_i}(G^{ij}(0)|G|^{1/2}(0)\partial_{\sigma_j}) + h^{1/2}\partial_{\sigma_i}(q_{3,h}(\sigma,\tau)\partial_{\sigma_j}),$$
(4.37)

where the functions  $q_{i,h}$ , for  $i \in \{2,3\}$  satisfy for  $0 < h < \frac{1}{2}, 0 \leqslant \tau \leqslant h^{-\eta}$  and  $|\sigma| = \mathcal{O}(h^{-1/2})$ 

$$|q_{2,h}(\sigma,\tau)| \leqslant C(\tau+|\sigma|)$$
 and  $|q_{3,h}(\sigma,\tau)| \leqslant C(h^{1/6}\tau+|\sigma|).$ 

#### 4.4.3 Construction of trial states

In this section, we construct trial states that will give together with the lower bounds, an accurate expansion of the eigenvalues of the operator  $\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\delta}$  valid to any order. The key to the construction is to expand the operator  $Q_h$  in powers of  $h^{1/6}$ .

The functions  $q_{1,h}$ ,  $q_{2,h}$  and  $q_{3,h}$  in (4.28) admit Taylor expansions that can be rearranged in the form:

$$h^{1/6}q_{1,h}(\sigma,\tau) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} q_{1,k}(\sigma,\tau)h^{k/6},$$

$$q_{2,h}(\sigma,\tau) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} q_{2,k}(\sigma,\tau)h^{k/6},$$

$$h^{1/6}q_{3,h}(\sigma,\tau) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} q_{3,k}(\sigma,\tau)h^{k/6},$$
(4.38)

with the functions  $q_{1,k}(\sigma,\tau)$ ,  $q_{2,k}(\sigma,\tau)$  and  $q_{3,k}(\sigma,\tau)$  being polynomial functions of  $(\sigma,\tau)$ . The operator  $Q_h$  in (4.28) admits the formal expansion

$$Q_h = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} Q_k h^{k/6},$$
(4.39)

where

$$Q_k = q_{1,k}(\sigma,\tau) + q_{2,k}(\sigma,\tau)\partial_\tau + \sum_{1 \le i,j \le N-1} \partial_{\sigma_i}(q_{3,k}(\sigma,\tau)\partial_{\sigma_j}).$$
(4.40)

Furthermore, for every  $k \ge 0$  and  $f \in \mathcal{S}\left(\mathbb{R}^{N-1} \times \overline{\mathbb{R}_+}\right)$ ,  $Q_k f \in \mathcal{S}\left(\mathbb{R}^{N-1} \times \overline{\mathbb{R}_+}\right)$ . For all  $M \ge 0$ , we introduce two operators

$$\widehat{\mathscr{H}}_{h,M} = x_{\min}h^{-2/3} + \mathscr{L}_0 + h^{1/3}\mathscr{L}_1 + h^{2/3}F_M \quad \text{and} \quad F_M = \sum_{k=0}^M Q_k h^{k/6}.$$
 (4.41)

Thanks to (4.27) and (4.28), for every  $f \in S(\mathbb{R}^{N-1} \times \overline{\mathbb{R}_+})$ , there exists a constant C > 0 such that, for all  $h \in (0, 1)$ ,

$$\|h^{-2/3}\widehat{\mathscr{H}}_{h,\delta}f - \widehat{\mathscr{H}}_{h,M}f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^{N-1}\times\mathbb{R}_+)} \leqslant Ch^{\frac{2}{3}+\frac{M+1}{6}}.$$
(4.42)

Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . We will construct a sequence of real numbers  $(\zeta_{n,j})_{j=0}^{\infty}$  and two sequences of real-valued Schwartz functions  $(v_{n,j})_{j=1}^{\infty} \subset S(\mathbb{R}^{N-1}), (g_{n,j})_{j=0}^{\infty} \subset S\left(\mathbb{R}^{N-1} \times \overline{\mathbb{R}_+}\right)$  such that

$$\forall j, \quad g_{n,j}\big|_{\tau=0} = 0,$$

and for all  $M \in \mathbb{N}$  , the function

$$\Psi_{n,M}(\sigma,\tau) = u_0(\tau)f_n(\sigma) + \sum_{j=1}^{M+1} h^{\frac{j+1}{6}} u_0(\tau)v_{n,j}(\sigma) + h^{2/3} \sum_{j=0}^M h^{j/6} g_{n,j}(\sigma,\tau) +$$

is in the Schwartz space  $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{N-1} \times \overline{\mathbb{R}_+})$  and satisfies (for all  $h \in (0, h_{n,M})$ )

$$\|\widehat{\mathscr{H}}_{h,M}\Psi_{n,M} - \lambda_{n,M}\Psi_{n,M}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^{N-1}\times\mathbb{R}_+)} \leqslant C_{n,M}h^{\frac{2}{3}+\frac{M+1}{6}},\tag{4.43}$$

where

$$\lambda_{n,M} = x_{\min}h^{-2/3} + \beta_{0,n} + h^{1/3}\beta_{1,n} + h^{2/3}\sum_{j=0}^{M} h^{j/6}\zeta_{j,n},$$
(4.44)

 $C_{n,M} > 0$  and  $h_{n,M}$  are two constants determined by the values of n and M solely, and  $\beta_{0,n}, \beta_{1,n}, u_0$  and  $f_n$  to be determined.

For M = 0: We want to find a real numbers  $\zeta_{0,n}$ ,  $\beta_{0,n}$ ,  $\beta_{1,n}$  and two functions  $v_{n,1}(\sigma)$ ,  $g_{n,0}(\sigma,\tau)$ ,  $u_0(\tau)$ ,  $f_n(\sigma)$  such that

$$\Psi_{n,0}(\sigma,\tau) = u_0(\tau)f_n(\sigma) + h^{1/3}u_0(\tau)v_{n,1}(\sigma) + h^{2/3}g_{n,0}(\sigma,\tau),$$

and

$$\lambda_{n,0} = x_{\min}h^{-2/3} + \beta_{0,n} + h^{1/3}\beta_{1,n} + h^{2/3}\zeta_{0,n}.$$

In order that (4.43) is satisfied for M = 0, it is sufficient to select  $\zeta_{0,n}$ ,  $g_{n,0}(\sigma, \tau)$ ,  $u_0(\tau)$ ,  $f_n(\sigma)$  and  $v_{n,1}(\sigma)$  as follows:

$$\begin{cases} (\mathscr{L}_0 - \beta_{0,n})u_0(\tau)f_n(\sigma) = 0, \\ (\mathscr{L}_0 - \beta_{0,n})u_0(\tau)v_{n,1}(\sigma) + (\mathscr{L}_1 - \beta_{1,n})u_0(\tau)f_n(\sigma) = 0, \\ (\mathscr{L}_0 - \beta_{0,n})g_{n,0}(\sigma,\tau) + (\mathscr{L}_1 - \beta_{1,n})u_0(\tau)v_{n,1}(\sigma) + (F_0 - \zeta_{0,n})u_0(\tau)f_n(\sigma) = 0. \end{cases}$$

• For the first equation, the natural choice is then to choose  $u_0$  the eigenfunction of  $\mathscr{L}_0$ , with  $\beta_{0,n}$  is the corresponding eigenvalue, therefore

$$u_0(\tau) = Ai(\tau - z_1) \quad \text{and} \quad \beta_{0,n} = z_1,$$
(4.45)

where Ai is the  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^+)$ -normalized Airy function and  $-z_1$  is its first negative zero.

• The second equation is equivalent to

$$(\mathscr{L}_1 - \beta_{1,n})u_0(\tau)f_n(\sigma) = 0,$$

then, we choose  $\beta_{1,n}$  is the *n*-th eigenvalue on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{N-1}, |G_0|^{1/2} d\sigma)$  of  $\mathscr{L}_1$  determined in Section 4.7.1 associated with eigenfunction  $f_n$ .

• For the third equation, we can select  $\zeta_{0,n}$  such that

$$(F_0 - \zeta_{0,n}) u_0(\tau) f_n(\sigma) \perp u_0(\tau) f_n(\sigma) \quad \text{in } L^2\left(\mathbb{R}^{N-1} \times \mathbb{R}_+\right).$$

This is given by the formula

$$\zeta_{0,n} = \langle F_0 \left( u_0 \otimes f_n \right), u_0 \otimes f_n \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^{N-1} \times \mathbb{R}_+)}.$$
(4.46)

Consequently,

$$h_1(\sigma) := -\int_0^\infty u_0(\tau) \left( F_0 - \zeta_{0,n} \right) u_0(\tau) f_n(\sigma) d\tau \perp f_n(\sigma) \quad \text{ in } L^2(\mathbb{R}^{N-1})$$

Since  $\mathscr{L}_1 - \beta_{1,n}$  can be inverted on the orthogonal complement of the *n*-th eigenfunction  $f_n(\sigma)$ , we may select  $v_{n,1}(\sigma)$  to be

$$v_{n,1}(\sigma) = (\mathscr{L}_1 - \beta_{1,n})^{-1} h_1(\sigma).$$

As a consequence of the choice of  $\zeta_{0,n}$  and  $v_{n,1}(\sigma)$ , we get that, for all  $\sigma$ ,

$$w_{1}(\sigma, \cdot) := -u_{0}(\cdot) \left(\mathscr{L}_{1} - \beta_{1,n}\right) v_{n,1}(\sigma) - \left(F_{0} - \zeta_{0,n}\right) u_{0}(\cdot) f_{n}(\sigma)$$
  
=  $-u_{0}(\cdot)h_{1}(\sigma) - \left(F_{0} - \zeta_{0,n}\right) u_{0}(\cdot) f_{n}(\sigma) \perp u_{0}(\cdot) \quad \text{in} \quad L^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}_{+}\right).$ 

The operator  $\mathscr{L}_0 - \beta_{0,n}$  can be inverted on the orthogonal complement of  $\{u_0(\tau)\}$ , and the inverse is an

operator in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$  which sends  $\mathcal{S}(\overline{\mathbb{R}_+})$  into itself. The proof of this is standard and follows the same argument as in [FH06, Lemma A.5]. In that way, we may select  $g_{0,n}(\sigma, \tau)$  to be

$$g_{n,0}(\sigma,\cdot) = (\mathscr{L}_0 - \beta_{0,n})^{-1} (w_1(\sigma,\cdot))$$

*The iteration process.* Here we suppose that we have selected  $(\zeta_{0,n}, \ldots, \zeta_{M,n}; \Psi_{n,0}, \ldots, \Psi_{n,M})$  such that the following induction hypothesis is satisfied

$$\left(\widehat{\mathscr{H}}_{h,M} - \lambda_{n,M}\right)\Psi_{n,M} = h^{\frac{2}{3} + \frac{M+1}{6}} \sum_{j=0}^{N_M} h^{j/6} r_{M,j}(\sigma,\tau),$$
(4.47)

where  $r_{M,j}$  are Schwartz functions. We have to select  $\zeta_{M+1,n}$  and two functions  $v_{n,M+1}(\sigma)$ ,  $g_{n,M+1}(\sigma,\tau)$  such that

$$\Psi_{n,M+1} = \Psi_{n,M} + h^{\frac{M+3}{6}} u_0(\tau) v_{n,M+2}(\sigma) + h^{\frac{2}{3} + \frac{M+1}{6}} g_{n,M+1}(\sigma,\tau) \quad \text{and}$$
$$\lambda_{n,M+1} = \lambda_{n,M} + h^{\frac{2}{3} + \frac{M+1}{6}} \zeta_{M+1,n}$$

satisfy (4.43) and (4.47) for M replaced by M + 1 (and some collection of Schwartz functions  $r_{M+1,j(\sigma,\tau)}$ ). Notice that we have

$$\widehat{\mathscr{H}}_{h,M+1} = \widehat{\mathscr{H}}_{h,M} + h^{\frac{2}{3} + \frac{M+1}{6}} Q_{M+1},$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} & \left(\mathscr{H}_{h,M+1} - \lambda_{n,M+1}\right) \Psi_{n,M+1} \\ &= \left(\widehat{\mathscr{H}}_{h,M} - \lambda_{n,M}\right) \Psi_{n,M} \\ &+ h^{\frac{2}{3} + \frac{M+1}{6}} \left[ \left(\mathscr{L}_{0} - \beta_{0,n}\right) g_{n,M+1}(\sigma,\tau) + \left(\mathscr{L}_{1} - \beta_{1,n}\right) u_{0}(\tau) v_{n,M+2}(\sigma) + \left(Q_{M+1} - \zeta_{M+1,n}\right) u_{0}(\tau) f_{n}(\sigma) \right] \\ &+ h^{\frac{2}{3} + \frac{M+1}{6}} \left[ \left(Q_{M+1} - \zeta_{M+1,n}\right) \left(\Psi_{n,M} - u_{0}(\tau) f_{n}(\sigma)\right) \right] \\ &+ h^{\frac{2}{3} + \frac{M+1}{6}} \left[ \left(h^{1/3}\mathscr{L}_{1} + h^{2/3}F_{M+1} - \left(\lambda_{n,M} - \beta_{0,n}\right)\right) g_{n,M+1} \right] \\ &+ h^{\frac{2}{3} + \frac{M+1}{6}} \left[ h^{1/3}F_{M+1} - \left(\lambda_{n,M+1} - \beta_{0,n} - \beta_{1,n}h^{1/3}\right) u_{0}(\tau) v_{n,M+2}(\sigma) \right]. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.48)$$

It is sufficient to select  $(\zeta_{M+1,n}, v_{n,M+2}, g_{n,M+1})$  such that

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathscr{L}_0 - \beta_{0,n})g_{n,M+1}(\sigma,\tau) + (\mathscr{L}_1 - \beta_{1,n})u_0(\tau)v_{n,M+2}(\sigma) \\ + (Q_{M+1} - \zeta_{M+1,n})u_0(\tau)f_n(\sigma) + r_{M,0}(\sigma,\tau) &= 0. \end{aligned}$$

We select  $\zeta_{M+1,n}$  such that

$$(Q_{M+1}-\zeta_{M+1,n})u_0(\tau)f_n(\sigma)+r_{M,0}(\sigma,\tau)\perp u_0(\tau)f_n(\sigma)\quad \text{ in } L^2\left(\mathbb{R}^{N-1}\times\mathbb{R}_+\right),$$

i.e.

$$\zeta_{M+1,n} = \langle Q_{M+1}(u_0 \otimes f_n), u_0 \otimes f_n \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^{N-1} \times \mathbb{R}_+)} + \langle r_{M,0}, u_0 \otimes f_n \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^{N-1} \times \mathbb{R}_+)}.$$

Consequently,

$$h_{M+2}(\sigma) := -\int_0^\infty u_0(\tau) \big( (Q_{M+1} - \zeta_{M+1,n}) u_0(\tau) f_n(\sigma) + r_{M,0}(\sigma,\tau) \big) d\tau \perp f_n(\sigma)$$

in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{N-1})$ . We can select  $v_{n,M+2}$  as follows:

$$v_{n,M+2}(\sigma) = (\mathscr{L}_1 - \beta_{1,n})^{-1} h_{M+2}(\sigma).$$

As a consequence of the choice of  $\zeta_{M+1,n}$  and  $v_{n,M+2}(\sigma)$ , we get that, for all  $\sigma$ 

$$w_{M+2}(\sigma, \cdot) := -u_0(\cdot) \left(\mathscr{L}_1 - \beta_{1,n}\right) v_{n,M+2}(\sigma) - \left(Q_{M+1} - \zeta_{M+1,n}\right) u_0(\tau) f_n(\sigma) - r_{M,0}(\sigma, \tau) \perp u_0(\cdot) \quad \text{in} \quad L^2(\mathbb{R}_+) \,.$$

Finally, we may select  $g_{n,M+1}(\sigma,\tau)$  as follows:

$$g_{n,M+1}(\sigma,\cdot) = \left(\mathscr{L}_0 - \beta_{0,n}\right)^{-1} \left(w_{M+2}(\sigma,\cdot)\right).$$

#### 4.4.4 End of the proof

Consider a smooth function  $\chi_h$  with compact support equal to 1 near (s,t) = (0,0) on a scale of order  $h^{1/2-\theta}$  in the s direction, and on a scale of order  $h^{2/3-\theta}$  in the t direction, for some  $\theta \in (0,\eta)$ . Let us introduce the following family of test functions

$$\Phi_{n,M}(s,t) = h^{\frac{-1}{3}\frac{-(N-1)}{4}} \underbrace{\chi\left(\frac{t}{h^{2/3-\theta}}\right)\chi\left(\frac{s}{h^{1/2-\theta}}\right)}_{\chi_h(s,t)} \Psi_{n,M}(h^{-1/2}s,h^{-2/3}t).$$
(4.49)

We notice that the support of  $\chi - 1$  and the supports of the derivative of  $\chi$  are located in a region where  $h^{-1/2}|s| \ge Ch^{-\theta}$  and  $h^{-2/3}t \ge Ch^{-\theta}$ , thus all integrals which contain such derivatives will be of order  $h^{-\infty}$  due to the exponential localization of  $\Psi_{n,M}$ . Thanks to (4.42) and (4.43), we may write

$$\left\|\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\delta}\Phi_{n,M} - h^{2/3}\lambda_{n,M}\Phi_{n,M}\right\| \leqslant Ch^{\frac{4}{3} + \frac{M+1}{6}} \|\Phi_{n,M}\|.$$

#### 4.5 Lower bound

The following proposition provides a lower bound of the eigenvalue  $\mu_n(h)$ , as  $h \to 0$ .

**Proposition 4.5.1.** For any positive n, the eigenvalue  $\mu_n(h)$  has, as  $h \to 0$ , the lower bound

$$\mu_n(h) \ge x_{\min} + z_1 h^{2/3} + \beta_{1,n} h + \mathcal{O}(h^{4/3}),$$

where  $\beta_{1,n}$  is defined in Theorem 4.1.1.

*Proof.* Let  $k \ge 1$ , and consider a family of eigenfunctions  $(\psi_{n,h})_{n=1,\dots,k}$  of  $\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\delta}$  associated with the eigenvalues  $(\mu_n(h))_{n=1,\dots,k}$ . Let  $\mathcal{E}_k(h)$  be the vector subspace of  $\text{Dom}(\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\delta})$  spanned by the family  $(\psi_{n,h})_{n=1,\dots,k}$ . For all  $\psi \in \mathcal{E}_k(h)$ ,  $\psi$  satisfies the same decay estimates as in Propositions 4.3.2 and 4.3.3. Let  $\psi \in \mathcal{E}_k(h)$ , since  $|g|^{1/2} \le (1 + C_* t)|G|^{1/2}$ , using the decay estimates of Proposition 4.3.2, we have the important inequality ( $\delta = h^{\frac{2}{3} - \eta}$ )

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0}\times]0,\delta[} |\psi|^2 |g|^{1/2} \,\mathrm{d}s \,\mathrm{d}t \leqslant \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0}\times]0,\delta[} |\psi|^2 |G|^{1/2} \,\mathrm{d}s \,\mathrm{d}t + Ch^{2/3} \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0}\times]0,\delta[} |\psi|^2 |g|^{1/2} \,\mathrm{d}s \,\mathrm{d}t, \qquad (4.50)$$

where  $C_*, C$  are constants independent of s and t (the value of C might change from one formula to another). We also have

$$\begin{split} \langle \widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\delta} \psi, \psi \rangle &= \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0,\delta[} h^2 |\partial_t \psi|^2 |g|^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t + h^2 \sum_{1 \leqslant i,j \leqslant N-1} \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0,\delta[} g^{ij} \partial_{s_i} \psi \,\,\overline{\partial_{s_j} \psi} \,|g|^{1/2} \,\,\mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \\ &+ \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0,\delta[} \Phi_1(s,t) |\psi|^2 |g|^{1/2} \,\,\mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t. \end{split}$$

We recall that  $|g|^{1/2} = (1 - t \operatorname{tr}(G^{-1}K) + t^2 p(s, t)) |G|^{1/2}$  so that, using the decay estimates of Proposition 4.3.2, there exists C > 0 such that

$$\begin{split} \langle \widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\delta} \psi, \psi \rangle \geqslant \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0,\delta[} |h\partial_t \psi|^2 |G|^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t + h^2 \sum_{1 \leqslant i,j \leqslant N-1} \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0,\delta[} g^{ij} \partial_{s_i} \psi \ \overline{\partial_{s_j} \psi} \, |G|^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \\ + \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0,\delta[} \Phi_1(s,t) |\psi|^2 |g|^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t - Ch^{4/3} \|\psi\|^2. \end{split}$$

From (4.21), we have

$$\Phi_1(s,t) \ge x_{\min} + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Hess}_{(0)}\phi_1(s)(s) + t - \tilde{C}(|s|^3 + t|s|^2).$$

We can deduce that

$$\begin{split} \langle \widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\delta} \psi, \psi \rangle \geqslant \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0,\delta[} |h\partial_t \psi|^2 |G|^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t &+ h^2 \sum_{1 \leqslant i,j \leqslant N-1} \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0,\delta[} g^{ij} \partial_{s_i} \psi \ \overline{\partial_{s_j} \psi} \, |G|^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \\ &+ \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0,\delta[} \left( x_{\min} + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Hess}_{(0)} \phi_1 \left( s \right) \left( s \right) + t \right) |\psi|^2 |g|^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \\ &- C h^{4/3} \|\psi\|^2 - \tilde{C} \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0,\delta[} (|s|^3 + t|s|^2) |\psi|^2 |g|^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t. \end{split}$$

The last integral is of order  $h^{4/3}$  (by using the exponential decay in the *s* and *t* variables; Propositions 4.3.2 and 4.3.3). Then, there exists C > 0 such that

$$\langle \widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\delta} \psi, \psi \rangle \geqslant \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0,\delta[} \left[ |h\partial_t \psi|^2 + t|\psi|^2 \right] |G|^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t + h^2 \sum_{i,j} \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0,\delta[} g^{ij} \partial_{s_i} \psi \, \overline{\partial_{s_j} \psi} |G|^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \\ + \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0,\delta[} \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Hess}_{(0)} \phi_1(s)(s) \, |\psi|^2 \, |G|^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t + x_{\min} \|\psi\|^2 - Ch^{4/3} \|\psi\|^2.$$

$$(4.51)$$

Thus, by the min max principle, we have

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0}\times ]0,\delta[} \left[ |h\partial_t \psi|^2 + t|\psi|^2 \right] |G|^{1/2} \,\mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \geqslant z_1 h^{2/3} \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0}\times ]0,\delta[} |\psi|^2 |G|^{1/2} \,\mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t,$$

using the inequalities in (4.50), we have

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0}\times]0,\delta[} \left[ |h\partial_t \psi|^2 + t|\psi|^2 \right] |G|^{1/2} \,\mathrm{d}s\mathrm{d}t \geqslant z_1 h^{2/3} \|\psi\|^2 - Ch^{4/3} \|\psi\|^2. \tag{4.52}$$

By Taylor expansion near s = 0, we get

$$\left| |G(s)|^{1/2} - |G_0|^{1/2} \right| \leqslant C |s|, \quad G_0 = G(0).$$
(4.53)

From (4.53), there exists constants C > 0 such that

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0,\delta[} \operatorname{Hess}_{(0)} \phi_1\left(s\right)\left(s\right) |\psi|^2 |G|^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t - \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0,\delta[} \operatorname{Hess}_{(0)} \phi_1\left(s\right)\left(s\right) |\psi|^2 |G(0)|^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \right| \\ &\leq \left| \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0,\delta[} \operatorname{Hess}_{(0)} \phi_1\left(s\right)\left(s\right) |\psi|^2 \left[ |G(s)|^{1/2} - |G(0)|^{1/2} \right] \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \right| \\ &\leq C \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0,\delta[} \operatorname{Hess}_{(0)} \phi_1\left(s\right)\left(s\right) |s| |\psi|^2 \, \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \\ &\leq C \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0,\delta[} |s|^3 |\psi|^2 \, \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \leq C \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0,\delta[} |s|^3 |\psi|^2 |G|^{1/2} \, \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t. \end{split}$$

From Proposition 4.3.3, we get

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0,\delta[} \operatorname{Hess}_{(0)} \phi_1(s)(s) |\psi|^2 |G|^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t$$

$$\geqslant \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0,\delta[} \operatorname{Hess}_{(0)} \phi_1(s)(s) |\psi|^2 |G(0)|^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t - Ch^{3/2} \|\psi\|^2.$$
(4.54)

The same idea proves that

$$\sum_{1\leqslant i,j\leqslant N-1} \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0}\times]0,\delta[} g^{ij}h\partial_{s_i}\psi \ \overline{h\partial_{s_j}\psi}|G|^{1/2} \,\mathrm{d}s\mathrm{d}t$$

$$\geqslant \sum_{1\leqslant i,j\leqslant N-1} \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0}\times]0,\delta[} g^{ij}h\partial_{s_i}\psi \ \overline{h\partial_{s_j}\psi}|G(0)|^{1/2} \,\mathrm{d}s\mathrm{d}t - Ch^{3/2}\|\psi\|^2.$$
(4.55)

Observing that,

$$\left|g^{ij}(s,t) - G_0^{ij}\right| \leq C\left(|s|+t\right), \quad g^{ij}(0,0) = G_0^{ij}.$$
(4.56)

From Propositions 4.3.2 and 4.3.3, we get

$$\sum_{1\leqslant i,j\leqslant N-1} \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0}\times ]0,\delta[} g^{ij}h\partial_{s_i}\psi \ \overline{h\partial_{s_j}\psi}|G(0)|^{1/2} \,\mathrm{d}s\mathrm{d}t$$

$$\geqslant \sum_{1\leqslant i,j\leqslant N-1} \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0}\times ]0,\delta[} G_0^{ij}h\partial_{s_i}\psi \ \overline{h\partial_{s_j}\psi}|G(0)|^{1/2} \,\mathrm{d}s\mathrm{d}t - Ch^{4/3} \|\psi\|^2.$$

$$(4.57)$$

From (4.54), (4.55) and (4.57), we can easily see that

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_{0}}\times]0,\delta[} \left[ \sum_{1\leqslant i,j\leqslant N-1} h^{2}g^{ij}\partial_{s_{i}}\psi \ \overline{\partial_{s_{j}}\psi} + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Hess}_{(0)}\phi_{1}\left(s\right)\left(s\right)\left|\psi\right|^{2} \right] |G|^{1/2} \,\mathrm{d}s\mathrm{d}t \\
\geqslant \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_{0}}\times]0,\delta[} \left[ \sum_{1\leqslant i,j\leqslant N-1} h^{2}G_{0}^{ij}\partial_{s_{i}}\psi \ \overline{\partial_{s_{j}}\psi} + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Hess}_{(0)}\phi_{1}\left(s\right)\left(s\right)\left|\psi\right|^{2} \right] |G_{0}|^{1/2} \,\mathrm{d}s\mathrm{d}t - Ch^{4/3} \|\psi\|^{2}.$$
(4.58)

Now, using the inequalities in (4.51), (4.52), and (4.58). By the min-max principle, we have

$$\mu_{k}(h) \|\psi\|^{2} \geq \langle \widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\delta}\psi,\psi \rangle 
\geq \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_{0}}\times]0,\delta[} \left[ \sum_{1 \leq i,j \leq N-1} h^{2} G_{0}^{ij} \partial_{s_{i}}\psi \ \overline{\partial_{s_{j}}\psi} + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Hess}_{(0)}\phi_{1}\left(s\right)\left(s\right)|\psi|^{2} \right] |G_{0}|^{1/2} \,\mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \quad (4.59) 
+ x_{\min} \|\psi\|^{2} + z_{1} h^{2/3} \|\psi\|^{2} - Ch^{4/3} \|\psi\|^{2}.$$

Therefore, we have

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_{0}}\times]0,\delta[} \left[ \sum_{1\leqslant i,j\leqslant N-1} h^{2}G_{0}^{ij}\partial_{s_{i}}\psi \ \overline{\partial_{s_{j}}\psi} + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Hess}_{(0)}\phi_{1}\left(s\right)\left(s\right)\left|\psi\right|^{2} \right] |G_{0}|^{1/2} \,\mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \\
\leqslant (\mu_{k}(h) - x_{\min} - z_{1}h^{2/3} + Ch^{4/3})\|\psi\|^{2}.$$
(4.60)

On the left hand side of the above identity, we recognize the quadratic form associated to the operator

 $\mathbb{1}\otimes \mathscr{H}_h,$ 

where  $\mathscr{H}_h = -h^2 \Delta^{G_0} + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Hess}_{(0)} \phi_1(s)(s)$  on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{N-1}, |G_0|^{1/2} ds)$ . From Sections 4.7.1 and 4.7.2, we show that, for h small enough,  $\mathscr{H}_h$  is unitarily equivalent to

$$\mathscr{M}_h = \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} -h^2 \partial_{u_i}^2 + \frac{1}{2} \lambda_i u_i^2$$

on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{N-1}, du)$ , where  $\lambda_i$  are the eigenvalues of the Weingarten map of  $\partial\Omega$  at  $A_0$ . Their spectrum is given by

$$\operatorname{Sp}(\mathscr{H}_h) = \operatorname{Sp}(\mathscr{M}_h) = \{h\beta_{1,n}, n \geqslant 1\},\label{eq:split}$$

where  $\beta_{1,n}$  is the *n*-th eigenvalue of  $\mathcal{N}_h = \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} -\partial_{v_i}^2 + \frac{1}{2}\lambda_i v_i^2$  on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{N-1}, \mathrm{d}v)$ . The decay estimates, given that  $\dim(\mathcal{E}_k(h)) = k$  on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{N-1}, |G_0|^{1/2} \mathrm{d}s)$ . Notice that the set  $\mathcal{E}_k(h)$  is contained

in the form domain of  $\mathscr{H}_h$ . Thus, by the min-max principle, we have

$$h\beta_{1,k} \leq \sup_{\psi \in \mathcal{E}_{k}(h)} \frac{\langle (\mathbb{1} \otimes \mathscr{H}_{h})\psi, \psi \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathcal{V}_{A_{0}} \times ]0, \delta[, |G_{0}|^{1/2} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t)}}{\|\psi\|_{L^{2}(\mathcal{V}_{A_{0}} \times ]0, \delta[, |G_{0}|^{1/2} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t)}} \leq (\mu_{k}(h) - x_{\min} - z_{1}h^{2/3} + Ch^{4/3}) \frac{\|\psi\|^{2}}{\|\psi\|_{L^{2}(|G_{0}|^{1/2} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t)}}.$$

$$(4.61)$$

From (4.50), (4.53) and Proposition 4.3.3, we obtain

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0,\delta[} |\psi|^2 |G_0|^{1/2} \,\mathrm{d}s \,\mathrm{d}t \ge \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0,\delta[} |\psi|^2 |G|^{1/2} \,\mathrm{d}s \,\mathrm{d}t - C \int_{\mathcal{V}_{A_0} \times ]0,\delta[} |s| |\psi|^2 \,\mathrm{d}s \,\mathrm{d}t \\\ge (1 - Ch^{1/2}) \|\psi\|^2.$$
(4.62)

Using the last inequality in (4.61), we get

$$\mu_k(h) - x_{\min} - z_1 h^{2/3} + C h^{4/3} \ge h \beta_{1,k} \frac{\|\psi\|_{L^2(|G_0|^{1/2} \operatorname{dsd} t)}^2}{\|\psi\|^2} \ge h \beta_{1,k} - C h^{3/2}$$
This implies the desired lower bound and concludes the proof of Proposition 4.5.1.

# 4.6 Full asymptotic expansion of the eigenvalues

*Proof of Theorem 4.1.1*: From Proposition 4.5.1, we have the following lower bound of  $\mu_n(h)$ :

$$\mu_1(h) \ge x_{\min} + z_1 h^{2/3} + \beta_{1,1} h + \mathcal{O}(h^{4/3}).$$

Thanks to Proposition 4.4.1, we know that, from spectral theorem, there exists an eigenvalue  $\tilde{\mu}_1(h)$  of the operator  $\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\delta}$  satisfying, as  $h \to 0_+$ ,

$$\widetilde{\mu}_1(h) = x_{\min} + h^{2/3} z_1 + \beta_{1,1} h + h^{4/3} \sum_{j=0}^M h^{j/6} \zeta_{j,1} + \mathscr{O}\left(h^{\frac{4}{3} + \frac{M+1}{6}}\right).$$

Since  $\beta_{1,1}$  is a simple eigenvalue of the harmonic oscillator ( $\beta_{1,1} < \beta_{1,2}$ , see Section 4.7.1), we deduce that

$$\mu_1(h) = x_{\min} + h^{2/3} z_1 + \beta_{1,1} h + h^{4/3} \sum_{j=0}^M h^{j/6} \zeta_{j,1} + \mathcal{O}\left(h^{\frac{4}{3} + \frac{M+1}{6}}\right).$$

Let  $n \ge 2$  and  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ . Thanks to Proposition 4.4.1, we know that, from spectral theorem, there exists a sequence of quasi eigenvalues  $(\widetilde{\mu}_n(h))_{n\ge 2}$  of the operator  $\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h,\delta}$  satisfying, as  $h \to 0_+$ ,

$$\widetilde{\mu}_n(h) = x_{\min} + h^{2/3} z_1 + \beta_{1,n} h + h^{4/3} \sum_{j=0}^N h^{j/6} \zeta_{j,n} + \mathcal{O}\left(h^{\frac{4}{3} + \frac{M+1}{6}}\right)$$

Now, we will arrange the sequence of quasi eigenvalues  $\tilde{\mu}_n(h)$  in increasing order modulo  $\mathscr{O}(h^{\frac{4}{3}+\frac{M+1}{6}})$  and we note them  $\overline{\mu}_n(h)$ . We have

$$\overline{\mu}_n(h) = x_{\min} + h^{2/3} z_1 + \beta_{1,n} \ h + h^{4/3} \sum_{j=0}^M h^{j/6} \alpha_{j,n} + \mathscr{O}\left(h^{\frac{4}{3} + \frac{M+1}{6}}\right),$$

where  $\alpha_{j,n}$  are a sequence determined from  $\zeta_{j,n}$ .

Imagine that, there exist  $C > 0, k \in \mathbb{N}$ , such that

$$\begin{cases} \overline{\mu}_{i+1}(h) = \overline{\mu}_{i}(h) + o(h), \forall i = 2, ..., k - 1\\ \overline{\mu}_{k+1}(h) - \overline{\mu}_{k}(h) \ge Ch. \end{cases}$$
(4.63)

That is

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{l} \beta_{1,2}=\ldots=\beta_{1,k}\\ \beta_{1,k+1}>\beta_{1,k} \, . \end{array} \right.$$

There are actually two possibilities:

1.  $\overline{\mu}_2(h), ..., \overline{\mu}_k(h)$  coincide modulo  $\mathscr{O}(h^{\frac{4}{3}+\frac{M+1}{6}})$ . From spectral theorem, the rank of the spectral projector near these values is at least k-1. Then, there exists an eigenvalue very close, modulo  $\mathscr{O}(h^{\frac{4}{3}+\frac{M+1}{6}})$  to  $\overline{\mu}_i(h)$  for all  $i \in \{2, ..., k\}$ : it can only be  $\mu_2(h), ..., \mu_k(h)$ , since the other eigenvalues are elsewhere (see (4.63) and Proposition 4.5.1).



2. They differ modulo  $h^{\alpha}$  with  $\alpha < \frac{4}{3} + \frac{M+1}{6}$ . There are actually three possibilities:

- There exist  $C>0,\,k\in\mathbb{N},\,\alpha_i<\frac{4}{3}+\frac{M+1}{6},\quad\forall i=2,...,k-1$  , such that

$$\begin{cases} \overline{\mu}_{i+1}(h) - \overline{\mu}_i(h) \ge Ch^{\alpha_i}, \forall i = 2, ..., k-1 \\ \overline{\mu}_{k+1}(h) - \overline{\mu}_k(h) \ge Ch. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.64)$$

The construction of quasimode implies that there exists an eigenvalue very close, modulo  $\mathscr{O}(h^{\frac{4}{3}+\frac{M+1}{6}})$ , to  $\overline{\mu}_i(h)$  for all  $i \in \{2, ..., k\}$  (it cannot be the same). Since the eigenvalues are increasing, then it can't be more than  $\mu_2(h), ..., \mu_{k-1}(h)$ , and  $\mu_k(h)$  respectively, because the other eigenvalues are somewhere else (see (4.64) and Proposition 4.5.1).



- There exist  $C > 0, k \in \mathbb{N}$ , such that

$$\begin{cases} \overline{\mu}_{3}(h) - \overline{\mu}_{2}(h) \ge Ch^{\alpha}, \\ \overline{\mu}_{i+1}(h) = \overline{\mu}_{i}(h) + \mathcal{O}\left(h^{\frac{4}{3} + \frac{M+1}{6}}\right), \forall i = 3, ..., k-1 \\ \overline{\mu}_{k+1}(h) - \overline{\mu}_{k}(h) \ge Ch. \end{cases}$$
(4.65)

The rank of the spectral projector near  $\{\overline{\mu}_i(h)\}_{i=3,\dots,k}$  is at least k-2. Thus, there exists an eigenvalue

very close, modulo  $\mathscr{O}(h^{\frac{4}{3}+\frac{M+1}{6}})$ , to  $\overline{\mu}_i(h)$  for all  $i \in \{3, ..., k\}$ . The construction of quasimode implies that there exists an eigenvalue very close, modulo  $\mathscr{O}(h^{\frac{4}{3}+\frac{M+1}{6}})$  to  $\overline{\mu}_2(h)$  (and it cannot be the same). It can't be more than  $\mu_2(h)$  near  $\overline{\mu}_2(h)$  and  $\mu_3(h), ..., \mu_k(h)$  near  $\{\overline{\mu}_i(h)\}_{i=3,...,k}$ , because the other eigenvalues are somewhere else (see (4.65) and Proposition 4.5.1).



- There exist  $C > 0, k_0, k \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $k_0 \leqslant k$  such that

$$\begin{cases} \overline{\mu}_{i+1}(h) = \overline{\mu}_{i}(h) + \mathscr{O}(h^{\frac{4}{3} + \frac{M+1}{6}}), \forall i = 2, ..., k_{0} - 1\\ \overline{\mu}_{k_{0}+1}(h) - \overline{\mu}_{k_{0}}(h) \ge Ch^{\alpha},\\ \overline{\mu}_{i+1}(h) = \overline{\mu}_{i}(h) + \mathscr{O}(h^{\frac{4}{3} + \frac{M+1}{6}}), \forall i = k_{0} + 1, ..., k - 1\\ \overline{\mu}_{k+1}(h) - \overline{\mu}_{k}(h) \ge Ch. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.66)$$

The rank of the spectral projector near  $\{\overline{\mu}_i(h)\}_{i=2,...,k_0}$  is at least  $k_0 - 1$  and near  $\{\overline{\mu}_i(h)\}_{i=k_0+1,...,k}$  is at least  $k - k_0$ . Then, there exists an eigenvalues very close, modulo  $\mathscr{O}(h^{\frac{4}{3}+\frac{M+1}{6}})$ , to  $\overline{\mu}_i(h)$  for all  $i \in \{2,...,k_0\}$ , but also another very close, modulo  $\mathscr{O}(h^{\frac{4}{3}+\frac{M+1}{6}})$  to  $\overline{\mu}_i(h)$  for all  $i \in \{k_0+1,...,k\}$ (and it cannot be the same). It can't be more than  $\mu_2(h), ..., \mu_{k_0}(h)$  near  $\{\overline{\mu}_i(h)\}_{i=2,...,k_0}$  and  $\mu_{k_0+1}(h), ..., \mu_k(h)$  near  $\{\overline{\mu}_i(h)\}_{i=k_0+1,...,k}$ , because the other eigenvalues are somewhere else (see (4.66) and Proposition 4.5.1).

Now, if (4.63) is not satisfied:

$$\overline{\mu}_3(h) - \overline{\mu}_2(h) \ge Ch.$$

As a consequence of the spectral theorem, there exists an eigenvalue very close modulo  $\mathscr{O}(h^{\frac{4}{3}+\frac{M+1}{6}})$  to  $\overline{\mu}_2(h)$ , but also another very close to  $\overline{\mu}_3(h)$  (and it cannot be the same). Since the eigenvalues are indeed separated, it can't be more than  $\mu_2(h)$  and  $\mu_3(h)$  respectively.



Thus, by (4.25) and Proposition 4.2.3, we have shown Theorem 4.1.1.

# 4.7 Analysis of the effective operator

# 4.7.1 The model operator

In this section, we want to study the spectrum of the operator defined by

$$\mathscr{L} = -\Delta^{G_0} + \frac{1}{2}H(\sigma)(\sigma), \quad H = \operatorname{Hess}_{(0)}\phi_1, \quad G_0 = G(0),$$

where  $\phi_1$  is defined in Section 4.3.1. The associated quadratic form on  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^{N-1}; |G_0|^{1/2} d\sigma)$  be

$$q_{1}(\psi) = \langle \mathscr{L}\psi, \psi \rangle_{L^{2}(|G_{0}|^{1/2} \mathrm{d}\sigma)} = \langle -\Delta^{G_{0}}\psi, \psi \rangle_{L^{2}(|G_{0}|^{1/2} \mathrm{d}\sigma)} + \frac{1}{2} \int \langle H\sigma, \sigma \rangle |\psi|^{2} |G_{0}|^{1/2} \mathrm{d}\sigma.$$

By replacing  $\Delta^{G_0}$  by its expression given by (4.29), we obtain

$$\langle -\Delta^{G_0}\psi,\psi\rangle_{L^2(|G_0|^{1/2}\,\mathrm{d}\sigma)} = -\sum_{1\leqslant i,j\leqslant N-1} \int \partial_{\sigma_i} (G_0^{ij}|G_0|^{1/2}\partial_{\sigma_j})\psi\,\overline{\psi}\,\mathrm{d}\sigma\,,\quad G_0^{ij} = G^{ij}(0).$$

By integration by parts, we have

$$\langle -\Delta^{G_0}\psi,\psi\rangle_{L^2(|G_0|^{1/2}\,\mathrm{d}\sigma)} = \sum_{1\leqslant i,j\leqslant N-1} \int G_0^{ij}\partial_{\sigma_j}\psi\,\overline{\partial_{\sigma_i}\psi}|G_0|^{1/2}\,\mathrm{d}\sigma = \int \langle G_0^{-1}\nabla_{\sigma}\psi,\nabla_{\sigma}\psi\rangle|G_0|^{1/2}\mathrm{d}\sigma.$$

Consequently, we have

$$q_1(\psi) = \int \langle G_0^{-1} \nabla_\sigma \psi, \nabla_\sigma \psi \rangle |G_0|^{1/2} \mathrm{d}\sigma + \frac{1}{2} \int \langle H\sigma, \sigma \rangle |\psi|^2 |G_0|^{1/2} \mathrm{d}\sigma.$$
(4.67)

We introduce the change of variable

$$\sigma = G_0^{-1/2} z.$$

Thus,

$$\nabla_{\sigma} = G_0^{1/2} \nabla_z$$
 and  $\mathrm{d}\sigma = |G_0|^{-1/2} \mathrm{d}z$ 

By replacing the previous equality in (4.67), and we use that  $G_0$  is self-adjoint, we get

$$q_{1}(\psi) = \int \langle G_{0}^{-1} G_{0}^{1/2} \nabla_{z} \bar{\psi}, G_{0}^{1/2} \nabla_{z} \bar{\psi} \rangle \, \mathrm{d}z + \frac{1}{2} \int \langle HG_{0}^{-1/2} z, G_{0}^{-1/2} z \rangle |\bar{\psi}|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}z \\= \int \langle \nabla_{z} \bar{\psi}, \nabla_{z} \bar{\psi} \rangle \, \mathrm{d}z + \frac{1}{2} \int \langle G_{0}^{-1/2} HG_{0}^{-1/2} z, z \rangle |\bar{\psi}|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}z,$$

with  $\bar{\psi}(z) = \psi(\sigma)$ .

We define a quadratic form on  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^{N-1})$  by

$$q_2(\psi) = \int \langle \nabla_z \psi, \nabla_z \psi \rangle \, \mathrm{d}z + \frac{1}{2} \int \langle G_0^{-1/2} H G_0^{-1/2} z, z \rangle |\psi|^2 \, \mathrm{d}z$$

The associated operator is unitarily equivalent to  $\mathcal{L}$ , and defined by

$$\mathscr{L}_2 = -\Delta_z + \frac{1}{2} \langle G_0^{-1/2} H G_0^{-1/2} z, z \rangle.$$

We set  $S = G_0^{-1/2} H G_0^{-1/2}$ . As H is a positive definite matrix, then S is also a positive definite matrix. Consequently, there exists an orthogonal matrix Q such that

$$Q^{-1}SQ = B,$$

where B is a diagonal matrix formed by the positive eigenvalues of S. Notice that

$$B = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & 0 \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & \lambda_{N-1} \end{pmatrix},$$

where  $\lambda_i$  are the eigenvalues of S. Considering z = Qu, we get

$$q_{2}(\psi) = \int |\nabla_{u}\psi|^{2} du + \frac{1}{2} \int \langle Q^{-1}SQu, u\rangle |\psi|^{2} du$$
$$= \int |\nabla_{u}\psi|^{2} du + \frac{1}{2} \int \langle Bu, u\rangle |\psi|^{2} du := q_{3}(\psi).$$

The operator associated with the quadratic form  $q_3$  is unitarily equivalent to  $\mathscr{L}$  and defined by

$$\mathscr{L}_{3} = -\Delta_{u} + \frac{1}{2} \langle Bu, u \rangle = -\sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \partial_{u_{i}}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \lambda_{i} u_{i}^{2} = \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \left( -\partial_{u_{i}}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \lambda_{i} u_{i}^{2} \right) = \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \mathscr{H}_{i},$$

where,  $\mathscr{H}_i$  is the harmonic oscillator

$$\mathscr{H}_i = -\partial_{u_i}^2 + \frac{1}{2}\lambda_i u_i^2.$$

The *n*-th eigenvalues of  $\mathcal{H}_i$  are given by

$$(2n-1)\sqrt{\frac{\lambda_i}{2}}.$$

Consequently, the *n*-th eigenvalues of  $\mathscr{L}_3$  is the same of  $\mathscr{L}_1$ , it is the *n*-th element of the following set, by grouping the elements in increasing order

$$\left\{\beta_{1,n} = \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sqrt{\frac{\lambda_i}{2}} \left(2n_i - 1\right), n \in \mathbb{N}^{N-1}\right\}.$$
(4.68)

Since the matrices S and  $G_0^{-1}H$  are similar, then they have the same spectrum and therefore  $\lambda_i$  are the eigenvalues of  $G_0^{-1}H$ .

### 4.7.2 Relation to the Weingarten map

We recall from Section 4.3.1, the coefficients of the first and second fundamental form, in the base  $(\partial_1 \phi, \ldots, \partial_{N-1} \phi)$ , are given respectively by the formulas

$$\forall i, j = 1, \dots, N-1, \quad G_{ij}(s) = \partial_i \phi(s) \cdot \partial_j \phi(s) \text{ and } K_{ij} = \partial_i \phi \cdot \partial_j \nu(\phi),$$

where  $\phi$  is a parameterization of  $\partial\Omega$  defined in Section 4.3.1, such that  $\phi(0) = A_0$  and  $\nu(A_0) = (-1, 0, \dots, 0)$ . We get

$$\begin{split} K_{ij}(s) &= \partial_i \phi(s) \cdot \partial_j \nu(\phi)(s) \\ &= \partial_i \phi(s) \cdot \mathbf{d}_s \nu(\phi)(e_j) \\ &= \partial_i \phi(s) \cdot \mathbf{d}_{\phi(s)} \nu[\partial_j \phi(s)] \\ &= \partial_i \phi(s) \cdot W_{\phi(s)}(\partial_j \phi(s)). \end{split}$$

Let  $L(s) := (l_{ij}(\phi(s)))_{1 \leq i,j \leq N-1}$  the matrix of  $W_{\phi(s)}$  in the base  $(\partial_1 \phi(s), ..., \partial_{N-1} \phi(s))$ . Then

$$W_{\phi(s)}(\partial_j \phi(s)) = \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} l_{ij}(\phi(s))\partial_i \phi(s).$$

Therefore, we can show that

$$K_{ij}(s) = \partial_i \phi(s) \cdot W_{\phi(s)}(\partial_j \phi(s))$$
  
=  $\partial_i \phi(s) \cdot \sum_{k=1}^{N-1} l_{kj}(\phi(s)) \partial_k \phi(s)$   
=  $\sum_{k=1}^{N-1} l_{kj}(\phi(s)G_{ik}(s)).$ 

We deduce that

$$K(s) = G(s)L(s).$$
 (4.69)

On the other hand

$$K_{ij}(s) = \partial_i \phi(s) \cdot \partial_j \nu(\phi)(s) = -\partial_i \partial_j \phi(s) \cdot \nu(\phi)(s)$$

In s = 0, we get

$$K_{ij}(0) = -\partial_i \partial_j \phi(s)|_{s=0} \cdot \nu(A_0) = \partial_i \partial_j \phi_1(s)|_{s=0} = h_{ij}$$

where  $H = \text{Hess}_{(0)}\phi_1 = (h_{ij})_{1 \leq i,j \leq N-1}$ . Thanks to (4.69), we obtain

 $H = G(0)L(0) = G_0L(0).$ 

Consequently,

$$L(0) = G_0^{-1} H.$$

From the previous section,  $\lambda_i$  are the eigenvalues of  $G_0^{-1}H$  and by the last equality, we deduce that  $\lambda_i$  are the eigenvalues of the Weingarten map  $W_{A_0}$  of  $\partial\Omega$  at  $A_0$ .

Chapter

5

# **Edge states for the Robin magnetic Laplacian**

#### Abstract

This chapter tackles the spectral analysis of the Robin Laplacian on a smooth bounded twodimensional domain in the presence of a constant magnetic field. In the semi-classical limit, a uniform description of the spectrum located between the Landau levels is obtained. The corresponding eigenfunctions, called the edge states, are exponentially localized near the boundary. The estimates look like Agmon's estimates, but there are not obtained via variational means as it is the case in many magnetic settings. Here, they follow from resolvent estimates using the distance to the Landau levels. By means of a microlocal dimensional reduction, our unifying approach allows on the one hand to derive a very precise Weyl law, and on the other hand to refine simultaneously old results about the low-lying eigenvalues in the Robin case and recent ones about the edge states in the Dirichlet case. This is also the opportunity to revisit the Neumann case, by establishing more uniform asymptotic expansions, with slightly more general boundary conditions.

#### Résumé

Ce chapitre aborde l'analyse spectrale du Laplacien de Robin sur un domaine bidimensionnel régulier et borné en présence d'un champ magnétique constant. Dans la limite semi-classique, une description uniforme du spectre situé entre les niveaux de Landau est obtenue. Les fonctions propres correspondantes, appelées états de bord, sont exponentiellement localisées près de la frontière. Les estimations ressemblent à celles d'Agmon, mais elles ne sont pas obtenues par des moyens variationnels comme c'est le cas dans de nombreux contextes magnétiques. Ici, elles découlent par des estimations du résolvant utilisant la distance aux niveaux de Landau. Au moyen d'une réduction dimensionnelle microlocale, notre approche unificatrice permet d'une part de dériver une loi de Weyl très précise, et d'autre part d'affiner simultanément des résultats anciens sur les valeurs propres de basse basses dans le cas de Robin et des résultats récents sur les états de bord dans le cas de Dirichlet. C'est aussi l'occasion de revisiter le cas de Neumann, en établissant des développements asymptotiques plus uniformes, avec des conditions aux bord plus générales.

" Un jour, à force de fouiller l'atome, un savant expliquera peut-être la joie et la paix de l'esprit par des formules mathématiques."

**Bernard Moitessier** 

# Contents

5.1	Motivations and results 15						
	5.1.1	About the magnetic Robin Laplacian					
	5.1.2	De Gennes operator with Robin condition					
	5.1.3	Results					
5.2	Expor	nential localization near the boundary and consequences					
	5.2.1	Preliminaries					
	5.2.2	Proof of Proposition 5.2.1					
5.3	An op	erator on a semi-cylinder					
	5.3.1	A model operator					
	5.3.2	The rescaled operator					
	5.3.3	Microlocalization of the eigenfunctions of $\mathscr{L}_h$					
	5.3.4	First spectral estimates					
5.4	A Grushin problem						
	5.4.1	Preliminaries					
	5.4.2	A pseudodifferential operator with operator-valued symbol					
	5.4.3	Dimensional reduction					
5.5	Analysis of the effective operator						
	5.5.1	Asymptotic diagonalization and end of the proof of Theorem 5.1.7					
	5.5.2	Spectral consequences					
5.6	Appendix						
	5.6.1	A rough Weyl estimate					
	5.6.2	Spectral analysis of de Gennes operator					
	5.6.3	Spectral analysis of an operator on a semi-cylinder					
	5.6.4	Agmon estimate with Fourier multiplier					

# 5.1 Motivations and results

#### 5.1.1 About the magnetic Robin Laplacian

We want to describe the spectrum of the semiclassical magnetic Laplacian

$$\mathscr{L}_h = (-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A})^2,$$

on a smooth, bounded, and simply connected open Euclidean domain  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ , with boundary conditions of Robin type. The vector potential  $\mathbf{A} : \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbb{R}^2$  is supposed to be smooth and generating a constant magnetic field of intensity 1:

$$\partial_1 A_2 - \partial_2 A_1 = 1.$$

The magnetic Robin boundary conditions are enforced by defining the operator  $\mathscr{L}_h = \mathscr{L}_{h,\gamma}$  to be the selfadjoint operator associated with the quadratic form defined for all  $\psi \in H^1(\Omega)$  by:

$$\mathcal{Q}_{h,\mathbf{A}}(\psi) = \int_{\Omega} |(-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A})\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}x + \gamma h^{\frac{3}{2}} \int_{\partial\Omega} |\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}s,$$
(5.1)

where  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ , and ds is the length measure of the boundary induced by the Euclidean metric. By convention,  $\gamma = +\infty$  corresponds to the Dirichlet boundary condition  $\psi \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ . In the whole chapter, our estimates will be uniform when  $\gamma \in [-\gamma_0, +\infty]$  for an arbitrary fixed  $\gamma_0 > 0$ . When  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ , the domain of  $\mathscr{L}_h$  is given by

$$\operatorname{Dom}(\mathscr{L}_h) = \{ \psi \in H^1(\Omega) : (-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A})^2 \psi \in L^2(\Omega), -ih\mathbf{n} \cdot (-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A})\psi = \gamma h^{\frac{3}{2}}\psi \text{ on } \partial\Omega \}$$

where **n** is the outward pointing normal to the boundary.

**Remark 5.1.1.** Note that a change of gauge can be used to ensure that  $\mathbf{A} \cdot \mathbf{n} = 0$ . In this case, the magnetic Robin condition becomes a usual Robin condition:

$$-\mathbf{n} \cdot \nabla \psi = \gamma h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \psi. \tag{5.2}$$

We would like to establish accurate spectral asymptotics for the magnetic Robin Laplacian  $\mathscr{L}_h$  in regimes where the magnetic field plays a major role, competing with the Robin condition (this is the origin, as we will see, of the factor  $h^{\frac{3}{2}}$  in the Robin condition). Until now, very accurate results are available only for the Neumann magnetic Laplacian (when  $\gamma = 0$ ). In this case, the lowest eigenvalues have been analyzed in detail in [FH06] and uniform estimates have been recently established in [BNHR22] where a purely magnetic tunnelling effect formula has been proved. When  $\gamma \neq 0$ , the only known results go back to the works by Kachmar, see [Kac06b], where only the smallest eigenvalue has been estimated. In all these situations (except when  $\gamma = +\infty$ , where the first eigenvalue is asymptotic to h times the magnetic intensity — here, 1), one can show that the first eigenvalue becomes smaller than h as soon as h is small enough. This energy bound is usually associated with a localization behavior near the boundary of the eigenfunctions, which can be quantified by semiclassical Agmon estimates.

By a simple rescaling, the semiclassical limit  $h \rightarrow 0$  translates into a quantum regime where the intensity of the magnetic field tends to infinity. In the physics literature of thin conductors or electron gases (approximated by 2D domains) subject to a strong external magnetic field, it is well known that the presence of a boundary (or, more generally, of an abruptly changing magnetic field along a curve) generates a current along the boundary due to the presence of "bouncing modes" classically localized at a distance  $\sqrt{E}/B$  to the boundary (*E* is the kinetic energy and *B* is the magnetic intensity: in this work B = 1), see for

instance [Hal82]. These so-called "edge states" or "boundary states" exist as soon as the Fermi level of the conductor lies strictly in between two consecutive Landau levels, and produce ballistic dynamics along the boundary. If the boundary  $\partial\Omega$  is compact, this dynamics is quantized and produces new discrete energy levels. These are precisely the eigenvalues that we wish to describe in this chapter.

Heuristically, the localization near  $\partial\Omega$  is often explained by the classical bouncing modes alluded to above, but it is also easy to understand from a quantum perspective. Indeed, if we forget the boundary condition,  $\mathscr{L}_h$  acts as the magnetic Laplacian with constant magnetic field, on the Euclidean plane,  $\mathscr{L}_h^{\mathbb{R}^2}$ . The spectrum of this so-called "bulk" operator is well-known and made of the famous Landau levels  $\{(2n-1)h, n \ge 1\}$ , which are infinitely degenerate eigenvalues. This suggests that, if one considers potential eigenvalues of  $\mathscr{L}_h$ in a window of the form  $I_h = [ha, hb]$  with 2n - 1 < a < b < 2n + 1 for some integer  $n \ge 0$  (for n = 0, we take  $a = -\infty$ ), they cannot correspond to any bulk state, and hence the corresponding eigenfunctions should be localized near the boundary. This phenomenon has interesting physical applications; a famous one is the quantum Hall effect, when the domain is not simply connected, which expresses the collective effects of several boundaries on the total net current. Another application is the confinement of particles in small domains, or "quantum dots" (sometimes called "anti-dots" because one takes B = 0 inside the domain, and B = 1 outside), see [RPM99, LSIC04].

On the mathematics side, the existence of edge currents in a half-plane with Dirichlet boundary condition was shown in [DBP99]. In a compact setting, the eigenfunction localization at the boundary has been observed (again in the Dirichlet case  $\gamma = +\infty$ , which is usually chosen in physics) in [GV21], leading to a description of the spectrum in a thin spectral window, see [GV21, Corollary 2.7]. However the *exponential* decay was not established. In fact, as we will see, this decay does not really follow from the usual Agmon estimates.

In this work we treat the general case  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ . This corresponds, physically to a domain  $\Omega$  coated with a very thin layer of a different material (see for instance [BL96]). Since  $\Omega$  is bounded, the spectrum in  $I_h$  is always discrete and a first rough estimate shows that the number of eigenvalues lying in  $I_h$ , denoted by  $N(\mathscr{L}_h, I_h)$ , satisfies

$$N(\mathscr{L}_h, I_h) \leqslant Ch^{-2},\tag{5.3}$$

for some C > 0 and all h > 0 small enough (see Appendix 5.6.1 where we recall the origin of this estimate).

Our goal is to obtain a very precise description, in the semiclassical regime, of the spectral elements corresponding to the interval  $I_h$ , much more accurate than (5.3). This includes the localization behavior near the boundary of the domain  $\Omega$  of the corresponding eigenfunctions. For instance, when  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ , a consequence of our main result Theorem 5.1.7 is the appearance of a quite interesting phenomenon: for a given (low) energy, one can have boundary quasimodes corresponding to classical currents flowing in opposite directions, leading to magnetic oscillations of eigenvalues.

This work is also an opportunity to revisit the Neumann case analyzed in [HM01, FH06] (see also [BNHR22]) by establishing more uniform asymptotic expansions, with slightly more general boundary conditions.

### 5.1.2 De Gennes operator with Robin condition

Our results will be expressed in terms of the eigenvalues of the de Gennes operator with Robin boundary condition. This operator, which appears naturally in the study of boundary induced magnetic effects [SJdG63, FH10b], is a differential operator of order two depending on the real parameters  $\gamma$  and  $\sigma$  and acting as

$$H[\gamma,\sigma] = -\frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}t^2} + (t-\sigma)^2,$$

on the domain

$$Dom(H[\gamma, \sigma]) = \left\{ u \in B^1(\mathbb{R}_+) : \left( -\frac{d^2}{dt^2} + (t - \sigma)^2 \right) u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+), \ u'(0) = \gamma \, u(0) \right\},\$$

where

$$B^{1}(\mathbb{R}_{+}) = \{ u \in H^{1}(\mathbb{R}_{+}) : [t \mapsto tu(t)] \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}) \}.$$

It is well-known that  $H[\gamma, \sigma]$  is a self-adjoint elliptic operator with compact resolvent.

**Notation 5.1.1.** Its spectrum can be written as a non-decreasing sequence of eigenvalues  $(\mu_n(\gamma, \sigma))_{n \ge 1}$ (which are all simple due to the Cauchy-Lipschitz theorem). We denote by  $u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}$  the normalized sequence of the corresponding eigenfunctions (with  $u_n^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(0) > 0$ ).

We let

$$\Theta^{[n-1]}(\gamma) := \inf_{\sigma \in \mathbb{R}} \mu_n(\gamma, \sigma).$$

The index n-1 is compatible with the notation used in the case of the de Gennes operator (case when  $\gamma = 0$ ), see [FH10b, Section 3.2]. The family  $(H[\gamma, \sigma])_{(\gamma, \sigma) \in \mathbb{R}^2}$  is analytic of type (B) (in the sense of Kato, see [Kat76, Chapter VII, §4]), *i.e.*, the form domain does not depend on the parameters and the sesquilinear form is analytic as a function of  $\gamma$  or  $\sigma$ .

The following proposition gathers the main properties of the functions  $\mu_n(\gamma, \cdot)$  (which are usually called *dispersion curves*) that will be used in this chapter. Most of them have been established in [Kac06b] (see also [Kac08], and [DBP99] in the Dirichlet case).

**Proposition 5.1.2.** Let us fix  $n \ge 1$ . When  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ , the function  $\mu_n(\gamma, \cdot)$  is analytic and

$$\lim_{\sigma \to -\infty} \mu_n(\gamma, \sigma) = +\infty, \quad \lim_{\sigma \to +\infty} \mu_n(\gamma, \sigma) = 2n - 1.$$
(5.4)

Moreover,  $\mu_n(\gamma, \cdot)$  has a unique minimum attained at  $\sigma = \xi_{n-1}(\gamma)$ , but not attained at infinity. This minimum is non-degenerate. The function  $\mu_n(\gamma, \cdot)$  is decreasing on  $(-\infty, \xi_{n-1}(\gamma))$  and increasing on  $(\xi_{n-1}(\gamma), +\infty)$ . In addition, we have, for all  $n \ge 2$ ,

$$2n - 3 < \Theta^{[n-1]}(\gamma) < 2n - 1.$$
(5.5)

When  $\gamma = +\infty$ , that is when the Robin condition is replaced by the Dirichlet condition,  $\mu_n(+\infty, \cdot)$  is still smooth, but now decreasing from  $+\infty$  to 2n - 1.



Figure 5.1 –  $\sigma \mapsto \mu_k(-1, \sigma)$ , for k = 1, ..., 5.

Figure 5.2 –  $\sigma \mapsto \mu_k(+\infty, \sigma)$ , for k = 1, ..., 5.

The proof of this proposition, is established in Section 2.4 of Chapter 2. This proposition has the following elementary but important consequences for our analysis, which are illustrated in Figure 5.3.

**Corollary 5.1.3.** Let  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$  be fixed. Let  $\Theta$  be the set of all critical values of the functions  $\mu_n$ : we have

$$\Theta = \{ \Theta^{[n-1]}(\gamma), \quad n \ge 1 \}.$$

Let  $\Lambda$  be the set of limit points of the functions  $\mu_n$  at infinity:

$$\Lambda := \{2n - 1, \quad n \ge 1\}.$$

Let  $[a,b] \subset \mathbb{R}$  be an interval disjoint from  $\Lambda$ . Let either n = 1 if a < 1 or  $n \ge 2$  be such that  $[a,b] \subset (2n-3,2n-1)$ . (In the case n = 1 we allow  $a = -\infty$ .) It follows from (5.4) that for any integer  $k \ge 1$ ,  $\mu_k^{-1}([a,b])$  is compact.

Let p(k) be the number of connected components of  $\mu_k^{-1}([a,b])$ : we have

$$\begin{cases} p(k) = 1 & \text{if } 1 \leq k < n \\ p(n) = 0 & \text{if } \gamma = +\infty \\ p(n) = 1 & \text{if } \gamma \in \mathbb{R} \text{ and } \Theta^{[n-1]} \in [a, b] \\ p(n) = 2 & \text{if } \gamma \in \mathbb{R} \text{ and } \Theta^{[n-1]} < a \\ p(n) = 0 & \text{if } \gamma \in \mathbb{R} \text{ and } b < \Theta^{[n-1]} \\ p(k) = 0 & \text{if } k > n \,. \end{cases}$$

*Therefore, when*  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ *,* 

$$N(\gamma, a, b) := \#\{k \ge 1 : \mu_k(\gamma, \cdot)^{-1}([a, b]) \ne \emptyset\} = \begin{cases} n & \text{if } b \ge \Theta^{[n-1]}(\gamma) \\ n-1 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

and if  $\gamma = +\infty$  (Dirichlet case) then  $\mu_1(+\infty, \cdot)$  does not take any value in  $(-\infty, 1)$ , and  $N(\gamma, a, b) = n - 1$ .

**Notation 5.1.4.** From now on, we denote by  $N(\gamma, a, b) = N$  this cardinal.

**Assumption 2.** In the following, a and b are allowed to depend on h, as soon as they stay in an h-independent compact interval inside (2n - 3, 2n - 1).

With this picture in mind, for each  $k \ge 1$ , we may construct a smooth function  $\mathring{\mu}_k$ , bounded with all its derivatives, which coincide with  $\mu_k$  in a neighborhood of  $\mu_k^{-1}([a, b])$ .

**Notation 5.1.5.** Indeed, let  $\Xi_0 : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  be a smooth, bounded with all its derivatives, and increasing function such that for all  $k \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$ ,  $\mu_k(\gamma, \Xi_0(\sigma)) = \mu_k(\gamma, \sigma)$  in a neighborhood of  $\mu_k^{-1}([a, b])$  and  $\mu_k \circ \Xi_0$  takes its values in  $(-\infty, a) \cup (b, +\infty)$  away from it. We consider

$$\ddot{\mu}_k := \mu_k(\gamma, \Xi_0(\cdot)), \tag{5.6}$$

,

where we omit the reference to the parameter  $\gamma$  to lighten the notation. In the following, we will more generally denote by  $\overset{\circ}{\varphi}$ , the function  $\varphi$  after composition with  $\Xi_0$ .



Figure 5.3 – This figure shows the dispersion curves  $\mu_k(\gamma, \cdot)$ , for  $\gamma = -1$ . We visualise the preimage of a given interval  $[a, b] \subset (2n - 3, 2n - 1)$  with n = 3. The curves are obtained by a standard finite difference numerical scheme.

# 5.1.3 Results

Let us now describe the main results of our article, which will be expressed in terms of pseudo-differential operators in one dimension.

#### 5.1.3.1 A pseudo-differential framework

The bounded functions  $\mathring{\mu}_k$  will be convenient to state our main theorem, which involves  $h^{\frac{1}{2}}$ -pseudo-differential operators with symbols in the usual class  $S_{\mathbb{R}^2}(1)$  given by

$$S_{\mathbb{R}^2}(1) = \{ a \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2_{s,\sigma}) : \forall \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^2, \exists C_\alpha > 0 : |\partial^\alpha a| \leqslant C_\alpha \}$$

As we said before, the eigenfunctions of  $\mathscr{L}_h$  will be localized near the boundary of  $\Omega$ , which is a closed smooth curve with length 2L. Our main result describes their distribution with the help of an  $h^{\frac{1}{2}}$ -pseudo-differential operator on the boundary (see for instance [FHKR22, Section 4.1] where similar considerations have been done in the context of discontinuous magnetic fields). Let us denote  $\hbar = h^{\frac{1}{2}}$ . We recall that the

Weyl quantization of a symbol p is given by the formula:

$$(\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{W}}p)\psi(x) = \frac{1}{2\pi\hbar} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} e^{i(x-y)\eta/\hbar} p\left(\frac{x+y}{2},\eta\right)\psi(y)\mathrm{d}y\mathrm{d}\eta, \quad \forall \psi \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}),$$
(5.7)

and that this formula defines a bounded operator form  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  to  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  if  $p \in S_{\mathbb{R}^2}(1)$ , by the Calderón-Vaillancourt theorem. To shorten the notation, we will sometimes write  $p^W$  instead of  $Op_{\hbar}^W p$ .

Let  $\mathbf{T}_{2L} = \mathbb{R}/2L\mathbb{Z}$ , and  $L^2(\mathbf{T}_{2L})$  be the subset of  $L^2_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R})$  of 2*L*-periodic functions, equipped with the usual  $L^2$  norm on [0, 2L]. When  $p \in S_{\mathbf{T}_{2L} \times \mathbb{R}}(1)$ , *i.e.*  $p \in S_{\mathbb{R}^2}(1)$  and is 2*L*-periodic in its first variable *s*, then for any  $\theta \in \mathbb{R}$ , the operator given in (5.7) induces a bounded operator from  $e^{i\theta \cdot}L^2(\mathbf{T}_{2L})$  to  $e^{i\theta \cdot}L^2(\mathbf{T}_{2L})$  — we denote by  $e^{i\theta \cdot}$  the function  $x \mapsto e^{i\theta \cdot x}$ .

**Remark 5.1.2.** The space  $e^{i\theta \cdot}L^2(\mathbf{T}_{2L})$  only depends on the class of  $\theta$  modulo  $\frac{\pi}{L}$ ; it is equal to the subspace of functions in  $L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R})$  equipped with the Floquet boundary condition  $\psi(x+2L) = e^{i2L\theta}\psi(x)$ . The operator  $Op^W_\hbar p$  acting on  $e^{i\theta \cdot}L^2(\mathbf{T}_{2L})$  is unitarily equivalent to  $Op^W_\hbar p(x, \eta + \hbar\theta)$  acting on  $L^2(\mathbf{T}_{2L})$ .

#### 5.1.3.2 Main theorem

Since our main result describes the spectrum of  $\mathscr{L}_h$  "modulo  $\mathscr{O}(h^{\infty})$ ", we need to make this notion precise.

**Definition 5.1.6.** we will say that the spectra of two self-adjoint operators  $T_1$  and  $T_2$  depending on h coincide in  $I_h$  modulo  $\mathcal{O}(h^{\alpha})$ ,  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R} \sqcup \{+\infty\}$ , when there exists  $C, h_0 > 0$  such that, for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$ ,

- $T_1$  and  $T_2$  have discrete spectrum in  $I_h + [-Ch^{\alpha}, Ch^{\alpha}]$ ,
- for all interval  $J_h \subset I_h$  we can find an interval  $K_h$  such that  $J_h \subset K_h$  with  $d_H(K_h, J_h) \leq Ch^{\alpha}$  and

 $\operatorname{rank} \mathbb{1}_{J_h}(T_1) \leqslant \operatorname{rank} \mathbb{1}_{K_h}(T_2), \quad \operatorname{rank} \mathbb{1}_{J_h}(T_2) \leqslant \operatorname{rank} \mathbb{1}_{K_h}(T_1),$ 

where  $d_H$  denotes the Hausdorff distance:

$$d_H(A,B) = \sup_{(a,b)\in A\times B} \max(d(a,B), d(b,A)).$$

This definition translates to discrete subsets of  $\mathbb{R}$  as follows: for each discrete subset  $S \subset \mathbb{R}$ , we associate the sum of Dirac masses  $\delta_S := \sum_{s \in S} \delta_s$ , and consider the corresponding self-adjoint operator whose spectral measure is  $\delta_S$ . Then we say that two discrete subsets  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  coincide modulo  $\mathcal{O}(h^{\alpha})$  when the spectra of the corresponding operators coincide modulo  $\mathcal{O}(h^{\alpha})$  in the above sense. In order to deal with multiplicities, we will, by convention, associate with the disjoint union  $S \sqcup S'$  the operator corresponding to the spectral measure  $\delta_S + \delta_{S'}$ .

- **Remark 5.1.3.** The relation "the spectra of  $T_1$  and  $T_2$  coincide in  $I_h$  modulo  $\mathcal{O}(h^{\alpha})$ " is an equivalence relation. It is obviously symmetric and reflexive (taking  $K_h = J_h$ ). The transitivity follows from the triangle inequality for  $d_H$ .
- If the spectra of  $T_1$  and  $T_2$  coincide in  $I_h$  modulo  $\mathcal{O}(h^{\alpha})$ , then, for all  $\tilde{I}_h \subset I_h$ , the spectra of  $T_1$  and  $T_2$  coincide in  $\tilde{I}_h$  modulo  $\mathcal{O}(h^{\alpha})$ .
- If the spectra of  $T_1$  and  $T_2$  coincide in  $I_h$  modulo  $\mathcal{O}(h^{\alpha})$ , we have

 $d_H(\operatorname{Sp}(T_1) \cap I_h, \operatorname{Sp}(T_2) \cap I_h) = \mathscr{O}(h^{\alpha}).$ 

- If the endpoints of the interval  $I_{\hbar}$  stay away from an  $h^{\beta}$ -neighborhood of the spectrum, with  $\beta < \alpha$ , then for h small enough  $T_1$  and  $T_2$  have exactly the same number of eigenvalues inside  $I_h$ , counted with multiplicities.
- The notion described in Definition 5.1.6 already appears under various forms in the literature (see, for instance, the view point in [HS84, Section 1] and [Hel88, §4]).

We can now state our main result, where we use, among others, the eigenvalues  $\mu_k(\gamma, \sigma)$  and eigenfunctions  $u_k^{[\gamma,\sigma]}$  of the de Gennes operator (Section 5.1.2), the integer N defined in Notation 5.1.4, and the notation introduced in (5.6).

**Theorem 5.1.7.** Under Assumption 2, the spectrum of  $\mathscr{L}_h$  in [ha, hb] coincides with that of  $h\mathfrak{M}_h$  modulo  $\mathcal{O}(h^2)$ , where

$$\mathfrak{M}_{h} := \begin{bmatrix} m_{1}^{\mathbf{W}} & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & m_{2}^{\mathbf{W}} & \vdots \\ \vdots & & \ddots & 0 \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & m_{N}^{\mathbf{W}} \end{bmatrix}$$

is a bounded operator acting diagonally on  $e^{i\alpha(h)} L^2(\mathbf{T}_{2L})^N$ . Here

$$\alpha(h) = \frac{|\Omega|}{|\partial \Omega|h}$$

and each  $m_k^{W}$  is an  $h^{\frac{1}{2}}$ -pseudodifferential operator with symbol in  $S_{\mathbf{T}_{2L} \times \mathbb{R}}(1)$ . Let us denote by  $(s, \sigma)$  the (canonical) variables in  $\mathbf{T}_{2L} \times \mathbb{R}$ . Then we have: — the principal symbol of  $m_k^W$  is  $\mathring{\mu}_k(\sigma)$ ;

— its subprincipal symbol is  $-\kappa(s)\ddot{C}_k(\sigma)$  with

$$C_k(\sigma) = \left\langle \left( (\tau - \sigma)\tau^2 - \partial_\tau - 2\tau(\sigma - \tau)^2 \right) u_k^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(\tau), \ u_k^{[\gamma,\sigma]}(\tau) \right\rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)},\tag{5.8}$$

and  $\kappa(s)$  is the curvature of the boundary at the point of curvilinear abscissa s.

**Remark 5.1.4.** Note that N will be constant as soon as a, b are chosen carefully enough in Assumption 2. Nevertheless, it is not necessary in our result.

**Remark 5.1.5.** We can check that, for all  $j \ge 1$ ,  $C_j(\xi_{j-1}(\gamma))$  has the same sign as  $\gamma_0^{[j-1]} - \gamma$ , see Proposition 5.6.2 where the threshold  $\gamma_0^{[j-1]}$  is discussed. Proposition 5.6.2 also corrects a mistake in [Kac06b, Lemma II.3 & (2.24)], where it is stated that  $C_1(\xi_0(\gamma))$  is always positive.

It is important to notice that Theorem 5.1.7 is actually a diagonalization result since it reduces the spectral analysis of  $\mathscr{L}_h$  to that of a family of pseudo-differential operators in one dimension: the spectrum of  $\mathfrak{M}_h$  is the superposition (counting multiplicities) of the spectra of the  $m_k^W$ , k = 1, ..., N. As it turns out, the spectrum of each of these pseudo-differential operators can be completely described using (refinements of) old and new results in the literature. Indeed, notice that the principal symbols  $\mu_k^{\circ}$  have a special feature: they depend only on the frequency variable  $\sigma$ , and, as functions of  $\sigma$ , they have at most a unique critical point, which is a nondegenerate minimum (Proposition 5.1.2). Hence, from a microlocal viewpoint, only two situations must be considered. Let  $E \in [a, b]$ , either E is a regular value of  $\overset{\circ}{\mu_k}$  (or  $\mu_k(\gamma, \cdot)$ , equivalently), and then the well-known Bohr-Sommerfeld rules apply, or E is a critical value of  $\overset{\circ}{\mu_k}$ , in which case the Hamiltonian  $(s,\sigma)\mapsto \overset{\circ}{\mu_k}(\sigma)$  admits a transversally non-degenerate minimum on a circle, and the recent study [DV21] of folded quantum action variables applies.

#### 5.1.3.3 Eigenvalues in a regular spectral window

Our first application concerns the case where the interval [a, b] consists of regular values of all  $\mu_k$ . We will use the following well-known spectral result, an extension to all orders of the Bohr-Sommerfeld rules (see, for instance, [Roz75, HR82, HR84, Dui74]), which we prove in Section 5.5.2.1.

**Proposition 5.1.8.** Consider an  $\hbar$ -pseudo-differential operator  $\mathsf{P}_{\hbar} \in \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{W}(S_{\mathbb{R}^{2}}(1))$  with symbol 2*L*-periodic with respect to *s* and with principal symbol  $(s, \sigma) \mapsto \mu(\sigma)$  and subprincipal symbol  $(s, \sigma) \mapsto -\kappa(s)C(\sigma)$ . We consider its realization on  $e^{is\alpha(\hbar^{2})}L^{2}(\mathbf{T}_{2L})$ . Let *E* be a regular value of  $\mu$  for which  $\mu^{-1}(E)$  is a finite set of points  $\sigma_{1}^{E}, \ldots, \sigma_{p}^{E}$ .

Then, there exists  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that  $[E - \varepsilon, E + \varepsilon]$  is a set of regular values of  $\mu$ , and  $\mu^{-1}([E - \varepsilon, E + \varepsilon])$ is the disjoint union  $\Sigma_1 \sqcup \cdots \sqcup \Sigma_p$  where each  $\Sigma_q \subset \mathbb{R}$  is a compact interval containing  $\sigma_q^E$  in its interior. Let  $\varepsilon > 0$  be any value satisfying the above conditions. For each  $q = 1, \ldots, p$ , let  $\tilde{\Sigma}_q$  be an open interval containing  $\Sigma_q$  such that the  $\tilde{\Sigma}_q$ 's are pairwise disjoint. Then the following holds.

For each q = 1, ..., p, there exists a smooth map  $\tilde{\Sigma}_q \ni \sigma \mapsto f_q(\sigma, \hbar) \in \mathbb{R}$  with an asymptotic expansion

$$f_q(\sigma,\hbar) \sim f_{q,0}(\sigma) + \hbar f_{q,1}(\sigma) + \hbar^2 f_{q,2}(\sigma) + \cdots$$

depending only on the symbol of  $\mathsf{P}_{\hbar}$  in the cylinder  $\mathbf{T}_{2L} \times \Sigma_q$ , such that the spectrum of  $\mathsf{P}_{\hbar}$  inside  $[E - \varepsilon, E + \varepsilon]$  coincides, modulo  $\mathscr{O}(\hbar^{\infty})$ , with the disjoint union

$$\left(\bigsqcup_{q=1}^{p} \left\{ f_q(\sigma, \hbar), \, \sigma \in \hbar(\frac{\pi}{L}\mathbb{Z} + \alpha(\hbar^2)) \cap \tilde{\Sigma}_q \right\} \right) \cap [E - \varepsilon, E + \varepsilon],$$

see Definition 5.1.6. Moreover, we have

$$f_{q,0}(\sigma) = \mu(\sigma)_{|\Sigma_q} \tag{5.9}$$

$$f_{q,1}(\sigma) = \frac{-C(\sigma)_{|\Sigma_q|}}{2L} \int_0^{2L} \kappa(s) \mathrm{d}s.$$
(5.10)

Combining Proposition 5.1.8 and Theorem 5.1.7, we get the following result, where we use the notation of Corollary 5.1.3 and Theorem 5.1.7.

**Corollary 5.1.9** (Spectrum at Regular Values). Let [a, b] be an interval disjoint from  $\Theta$  and  $\Lambda$ . For each k = 1, ..., N, for each q = 1, ..., p(k), let  $\Sigma_{k,q} \subset \mathbb{R}$  be an interval such that  $\mu_k(\gamma, \cdot)$  is a diffeomorphism from  $\Sigma_{k,q}$  to a neighborhood of [a, b] (i.e.  $\mu_k$  must be monotone on  $\Sigma_{k,q}$ ), in such a way that all  $\Sigma_{k,q}$  are pairwise disjoint and  $\bigcup_{q=1}^{p(k)} \Sigma_{k,q}$  contains  $\mu_k(\gamma, \cdot)^{-1}([a, b])$ . Then there exists a smooth map  $\Sigma_{k,q} \ni \sigma \mapsto f_{k,q}(\sigma, \hbar) \in \mathbb{R}$  with an asymptotic expansion

$$f_{k,q}(\sigma,\hbar) \sim f_{k,q,0}(\sigma) + \hbar f_{k,q,1}(\sigma) + \hbar^2 f_{k,q,2}(\sigma) + \cdots$$

such that the spectrum of  $\mathscr{L}_h$  in [ha, hb] coincides, modulo  $\mathscr{O}(h^2)$ , with the disjoint union

$$\left(\bigsqcup_{k=1}^{N}\bigsqcup_{q=1}^{p(k)}\left\{hf_{k,q}(\sigma,h^{\frac{1}{2}}),\,\sigma\in h^{\frac{1}{2}}(\frac{\pi}{L}\mathbb{Z}+\alpha(h))\cap\Sigma_{k,q}\right\}\right)\cap[ha,hb].$$

Moreover, we have, when  $\sigma \in \Sigma_{k,q}$ ,

$$f_{k,q,0}(\sigma) = \mu_k(\gamma, \sigma) \tag{5.11}$$

$$f_{k,q,1}(\sigma) = -\langle \kappa \rangle C_k(\sigma) \tag{5.12}$$

where  $\langle \kappa \rangle$  is the average curvature:

$$\langle \kappa \rangle = \frac{1}{2L} \int_0^{2L} \kappa(s) \mathrm{d}s.$$

Since the leading terms (5.11) and (5.12) do not depend on q (apart from the domain of definition  $\Sigma_{k,q}$ ) we obtain that the spectrum of  $\mathscr{L}_h$  in [ha, hb] coincides, modulo  $\mathscr{O}(h^2)$ , with the disjoint union

$$\bigsqcup_{k=1}^{N} \left\{ h\mu_{k}(\gamma,\sigma) - h^{\frac{3}{2}} \langle \kappa \rangle \overset{\circ}{C}_{k}(\sigma), \quad \sigma \in h^{\frac{1}{2}}(\frac{\pi}{L}\mathbb{Z} + \alpha(h)) \right\} \cap [ha, hb].$$

**Remark 5.1.6.** Corollary 5.1.9 gives a very accurate description of the spectrum of  $\mathcal{L}_h$  by providing us with explicit approximations of the eigenvalues in [ha, hb] modulo  $\mathcal{O}(h^2)$ . When  $\gamma = +\infty$  (i.e. in the Dirichlet case), it also improves the description given in [GV21, Corollary 2.7] concerned with a thin spectral window containing a regular value. Moreover, although our results are formulated in terms of approximation of the eigenvalues, the strategy, based on microlocal projections, leading to Theorem 5.1.7 can also be used to describe the eigenspaces of  $\mathcal{L}_h$  in terms of those of  $\mathfrak{M}_h$ .

As a first application of this corollary, we obtain a very accurate formula for the number of eigenvalues of  $\mathscr{L}_h$  in [ha, hb], which is much less than the crude estimate (5.3):

**Theorem 5.1.10** (Precise Weyl formula). Let  $I_h = [ha, hb]$  where [a, b] is an interval disjoint from  $\Theta$  and  $\Lambda$ . Then the number of eigenvalues of  $\mathscr{L}_h$  in  $I_h$  is

$$N(\mathscr{L}_h, I_h) = \left\lfloor \frac{L}{\pi h^{1/2}} \sum_{k,q} \delta_{k,q}^{[0]} + \frac{L\langle \kappa \rangle}{\pi} \sum_{k,q} \delta_{k,q}^{[1]} + \mathscr{O}(h^{1/2}) \right\rfloor,$$

where we use the notation  $\sum_{k,q} := \sum_{k=1}^{N} \sum_{q=1}^{p(k)}$ , and

$$\delta_{k,q}^{[0]} := |\alpha_{k,q} - \beta_{k,q}|, \qquad \delta_{k,q}^{[1]} := \frac{C_k(\beta_{k,q})}{|\mu'_k(\beta_{k,q})|} - \frac{C_k(\alpha_{k,q})}{|\mu'_k(\alpha_{k,q})|},$$

with  $\alpha_{k,q} := \mu_{k,q}^{-1}(a)$ ,  $\beta_{k,q} := \mu_{k,q}^{-1}(b)$ .

In this statement we have denoted  $\mu_{k,q} := \mu_k(\gamma, \cdot)_{|\Sigma_{k,q}}$ . Notice that, since the remainder term  $\mathscr{O}(h^{1/2})$  tends to 0, we obtain that, when h is small enough,  $N(\mathscr{L}_h, I_h)$  is equal to the integer part of  $\frac{L}{\pi h^{1/2}} \sum_{k,q} \delta_{k,q}^{[0]} + \frac{L\langle\kappa\rangle}{\pi} \sum_{k,q} \delta_{k,q}^{[1]}$ , or this plus or minus 1.

#### 5.1.3.4 Critical values

Our main theorem also applies to the case when the spectral window contains a critical value, *i.e.* an element of  $\Theta$ , see Corollary 5.1.3 (such a critical value is the unique non-degenerate global minimum of a unique dispersion curve, see Proposition 5.1.2). To illustrate this, let us focus on the low-lying eigenvalues. The following corollary improves [Kac06b, Theorem I.5,  $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}$ ] by establishing the spectral asymptotics of the lowest eigenvalues and by exhibiting spectral gaps of order  $h^{\frac{3}{4}}$  instead of  $h^{\frac{3}{2}}$  in the case of regular values

for each given dispersion curve. It also extends to any Robin parameter the result obtained by Fournais and Helffer in [FH10b] when  $\gamma = 0$ .

Once Theorem 5.1.7 is applied and reduces the analysis to a single  $\hbar$ -pseudo-differential operator, this corollary becomes essentially an application of [DV21, Proposition 6.8], see details in Section 5.5.2.2.

**Corollary 5.1.11.** Consider  $\gamma \neq \gamma_0^{[0]}$  with  $\gamma_0^{[0]}$  defined in Remark 5.1.5, and let  $\epsilon = \operatorname{sign}(\gamma_0^{[0]} - \gamma) = \operatorname{sign}(C_1(\xi_0(\gamma)))$ . Assume that  $\epsilon \kappa$  admits a unique maximum at  $s_{\max}$ , which is non-degenerate. Then, for all  $j \ge 1$ , uniformly when  $jh^{\frac{1}{4}} = o(1)$ ,

$$\lambda_j(\gamma,h) = \Theta^{[0]}(\gamma)h - \kappa_{\max}C_1(\xi_0(\gamma))h^{\frac{3}{2}} + \left((2j-1)\sqrt{\frac{C_1(\xi_0(\gamma))k_2\mu_1''(\gamma,\xi_0(\gamma))}{4}}\right)h^{\frac{7}{4}} + o(h^{\frac{7}{4}})$$

with  $k_2 = -\kappa''(s_{\text{max}}) > 0$ , and where we recall that  $\xi_0(\gamma)$  is given in Proposition 5.1.2.

**Remark 5.1.7.** Let us end the description of our results with a few comments about consequences and extensions following from our approach.

- (i) Corollary 5.1.11 describes the low-lying eigenvalues with some uniformity in j (which was not the case in [FH06]), in an interval of the form (-∞, Θ<sup>[0]</sup>(γ)h + Ch<sup>3/2</sup>]. On the other hand, Corollary 5.1.9 gives the spectrum in any interval of the form [ha, hb] with a > Θ<sup>0</sup>(γ) and b < 1. Hence we have a spectral interval between these two regimes which we don't describe here. But actually, by using refined spectral results for 1D pseudodifferential operators, and in particular the strategy of [DV21] in the case where κ is a Morse function, it should also be possible to close this gap. However, this would require an analysis of the hyperbolic singularities arising from the minima of εκ, where we expect both a concentration of the eigenfunctions and a higher density of eigenvalues.
- (ii) When  $\gamma > \gamma_0^{[0]}$ , Corollary 5.1.11 shows that the eigenfunctions (associated with the low-lying eigenvalues) are concentrated near the points of minimal curvature. This contrasts with the Neumann case when the points of maximal curvature play the role of attractive wells. This phenomenon was not observed before, see Remark 5.1.5.
- (iii) The case  $\gamma = \gamma_0^{[0]}$  is critical since  $C_1(\xi_0(\gamma)) = 0$ . However, our analysis can still be used by computing additional subprincipal terms in our effective operator method. A similar phenomenon has recently been observed in the study of the magnetic Dirac operator [BLTRS23, Section 8] and also in the analysis of the magnetic Schrödinger operator with discontinuous magnetic fields [FHKR22]. In this case, we have, for all  $j \ge 1$ ,

$$\lambda_j(\gamma, h) = \Theta^{[0]}(\gamma)h + h^2\lambda_j(\mathscr{A}_h) + o(h^2),$$

where

$$\mathscr{A}_h = \frac{\partial_\sigma^2 \mu(\gamma, \xi_0(\gamma))}{2} (D_s + \alpha(h) - h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \xi_0(\gamma))^2 + C_\gamma \kappa^2(s),$$

for some  $C_{\gamma} \in \mathbb{R}$ . In this transition regime, the effective operator is not semiclassical.

(iv) When the curvature  $\kappa$  is constant, in the case  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ , we are in a degenerate situation rather similar to the case when  $\gamma = \gamma_0^{[0]}$ . Concerning the operators  $m_k^W$  of Theorem 5.1.7, this case corresponds to [DV21, Proposition 6.4]. We can prove an expansion in the form

$$\lambda_j(\gamma, h) = \Theta^{[0]}(\gamma)h - \kappa C_1(\xi_0(\gamma))h^{\frac{3}{2}} + h^2\lambda_j(\mathscr{A}_h) + o(h^2).$$

Here, the eigenvalues of  $\mathscr{A}_h$  will generate magnetic oscillations, see [DV21, Theorem 2.2; k = 0]. When  $\gamma = 0$  and j = 1, a similar estimate is described in [FH06, Theorem 5.3.1].

# 5.1.4 Organization of the chapter

In Section 5.2, we prove that the eigenfunctions associated with eigenvalues of  $\mathcal{L}_h$  in [ha, hb] are exponentially localized near the boundary of  $\Omega$ , see Proposition 5.2.1. Note that the strategy used to derive this localization deviates from the usual variational method (see, for instance, [Hel88] or [Ray17, Prop. 4.7]), which fails since we want to consider eigenvalues between two consecutive Landau levels. To overcome this issue, our strategy, which eventually generalizes the variational method, is based on establishing the bijectivity of the magnetic Laplacian between exponentially weighted  $L^2$  spaces. In Section 5.3, by means of tubular coordinates (s,t) near the boundary and a rescaling  $t = h^{\frac{1}{2}}\tau$ , we introduce a model operator  $\mathcal{N}_{\hbar}$ depending on the effective semiclassical parameter  $\hbar = h^{\frac{1}{2}}$ , acting on 2L-periodic functions and involving a flux term  $f_0$ , see (5.28) and (5.27). We also show that the eigenfunctions of  $\mathscr{L}_h$  are roughly microlocalized in a compact set of the phase space attached to the boundary, see Proposition 5.3.1. This allows to prove that the spectrum of  $\mathscr{L}_h$  (between the Landau levels) is located near that of  $\mathscr{N}_h$ , see Proposition 5.3.2. However, one will see that Proposition 5.3.2 is not directly useful to establish our main theorems. It is rather a pretext to motivate the introduction of  $\mathcal{N}_{\hbar}$  and to describe the spectral estimates required to prove that spectra coincide modulo  $\mathscr{O}(h^{\infty})$ . Actually, one will compare directly the spectrum of  $\mathscr{L}_h$  to that of an effective operator on the boundary of  $\Omega$ . For that purpose, in Section 5.4, we construct a Grushin problem in order to invert the (pseudo)differential operator  $\mathfrak{N}_{\hbar}$  (which acts as  $\mathscr{N}_{\hbar}$  with  $\mathfrak{f}_0$  replaced by 0). This method, inspired by the works of Martinez and Sjöstrand (and adapted to magnetic operators by Keraval, see [Ker18]), has recently shown its efficiency to describe the low-lying eigenvalues of various magnetic operators (see, for instance, [BNHR22] and [FHKR22]). The novelty in the present paper is to use it to tackle the description of larger eigenvalues for magnetic Schrödinger operators with boundaries, when several dispersion curves are involved (see Figure 5.3), and not only the first one as in [BNHR22] or [FHKR22]. In order to use this method, we write a semiclassical expansion of  $\mathcal{N}_{\hbar}$ , see Proposition 5.4.4. The principal operator symbol is the de Gennes operator (with Robin condition), which can be inverted in the spectral window [a, b] up to considering an augmented matrix involving the eigenfunctions of the de Gennes operator, see Lemma 5.4.5. This allows to build an approximate inverse of an augmented version of  $\mathfrak{N}_{\hbar}$  denoted by  $Op_{\hbar}^{W} \mathscr{P}_{\hbar}$ , see (5.43) (and the left and right quasi inverses (5.44) and (5.45)). Thanks to these quasi inverses, the bijectivity of  $\mathcal{L}_h - z$  is reduced to that of a pseudodifferential operator on  $T_{2L}$  whose matrix symbol is  $M_{\hbar}$ , modulo some remainders, see Proposition 5.4.6 where the eigenfunctions of  $\mathscr{L}_h$  are directly used as quasimodes for  $M_h^W$ . In Section 5.5, we perform the spectral analysis of  $M_{\hbar}^{\rm W}$  by using that the principal matrix symbol  $M_0^{\rm w}$  is diagonal with uniform gaps between the diagonal entries. We deduce Proposition 5.1.8 and Corollary 5.1.11. In Appendix 5.6.1, we recall the origin of the estimate (5.3). Appendix 5.6.2 is devoted to the de Gennes operator with Robin conditions: a couple of known results are recalled and useful new ones are established.

# 5.2 Exponential localization near the boundary and consequences

Let us consider a smooth function  $\Phi_0 : \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbb{R}_+$  that coincides with  $\operatorname{dist}(x, \partial\Omega)$  near  $\partial\Omega$ . We assume, as we may, that  $\Phi_0$  is extended to a smooth function on  $\mathbb{R}^2$  that also belongs to  $W^{\infty,2}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ . The following proposition states that the eigenfunctions associated with eigenvalues in  $I_h$  are localized near the boundary of  $\Omega$ . The estimates look like Agmon's estimates, but there are not obtained via variational means as it is the case in many magnetic settings. Here, they follow from resolvent estimates using the distance to the Landau levels.

**Proposition 5.2.1.** There exist  $\alpha > 0, C > 0, h_0 > 0$  such that for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$  and all eigenfunctions  $\psi$  associated with an eigenvalue in  $I_h$ , we have

$$\int_{\Omega} e^{2\alpha \Phi_0(x)/h^{\frac{1}{2}}} |\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}x \leqslant C \|\psi\|^2,$$
(5.13)

and

$$\int_{\Omega} e^{2\alpha\Phi_0(x)/h^{\frac{1}{2}}} |(-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A})\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}x \leqslant Ch \|\psi\|^2.$$
(5.14)

#### 5.2.1 Preliminaries

In the following,  $\mathscr{L}_{h}^{\mathbb{R}^{2}}$  denotes the operator  $(-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A})^{2}$  acting on the Hilbert space  $L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{2})$ . By using the gauge invariance, we assume in the whole section that  $\mathbf{A} = \frac{1}{2}(-x_{2}, x_{1})$ . Due to our choice of  $\lambda$ , we deduce that  $\mathscr{L}_{h}^{\mathbb{R}^{2}} - \lambda$  is bijective and that there exists C > 0 such that, for all h > 0,

$$\|(\mathscr{L}_h^{\mathbb{R}^2} - \lambda)^{-1}\| \leqslant Ch^{-1}.$$

More precisely, we can take  $C = \min(|2n - 3 - a|, |2n - 1 - b|)^{-1}$ . We let  $\Phi = \alpha \Phi_0$ , with  $\alpha > 0$  to be determined, and consider the conjugated operator

$$\mathscr{L}_{h}^{\Phi} := e^{\Phi/h^{1/2}} \mathscr{L}_{h}^{\mathbb{R}^{2}} e^{-\Phi/h^{1/2}} = (-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A} + ih^{\frac{1}{2}}\nabla\Phi)^{2}$$
(5.15)

$$=\mathscr{L}_{h}^{\mathbb{R}^{2}}+2ih^{\frac{1}{2}}\nabla\Phi\cdot\left(-ih\nabla-\mathbf{A}\right)-h\left|\nabla\Phi\right|^{2}-ih^{\frac{3}{2}}\Delta\Phi.$$
(5.16)

The following lemma tells us that the invertibility is preserved for  $\mathscr{L}_h^{\Phi} - \lambda$  if  $\alpha$  is small enough.

**Lemma 5.2.2.** There exists C > 0 such that for all h > 0 and all  $\alpha > 0$ ,

$$h^{\frac{1}{2}} \|\nabla \Phi \cdot (-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A})(\mathscr{L}_{h}^{\mathbb{R}^{2}} - \lambda)^{-1}\| \leq C\alpha.$$
(5.17)

In particular,  $\mathscr{L}_h^{\Phi} - \lambda$  is bijective as soon as  $\alpha$  is chosen small enough. With such a choice of  $\alpha$ , there exists C > 0 such that, for all h > 0,

$$\left\| \left( \mathscr{L}_{h}^{\Phi} - \lambda \right)^{-1} \right\| \leqslant \frac{C}{h} \,. \tag{5.18}$$

*Proof.* Consider  $v \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$  and let  $u = (\mathscr{L}_h^{\mathbb{R}^2} - \lambda)^{-1}v$ . We have

$$(\mathscr{L}_h^{\mathbb{R}^2} - \lambda)u = v,$$

so that, by taking the scalar product with u and using that  $\lambda \leq Ch$ ,

$$\|(-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A})u\|^2 \leq Ch\|u\|^2 + \|u\|\|v\|.$$

Therefore, since  $\nabla \Phi_0 \in L^{\infty}$ , there is a new constant C' > 0 such that

$$h^{\frac{1}{2}} \| \nabla \Phi \cdot (-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A}) u \| \leq C' \alpha h \| u \| + C' h^{\frac{1}{2}} \alpha \| u \|^{\frac{1}{2}} \| v \|^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Since  $||u|| = \left||(\mathscr{L}_{h}^{\mathbb{R}^{2}} - \lambda)^{-1}v|| \le Ch^{-1}||v||$ , we see that

$$h^{\frac{1}{2}} \| \nabla \Phi \cdot (-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A}) (\mathscr{L}_{h}^{\mathbb{R}^{2}} - \lambda)^{-1} v \| \leq \tilde{C} \alpha \| v \|,$$

which gives (5.17).

Let us now deal with the bijectivity. We have

$$\mathscr{L}_h^{\Phi} - \lambda = \mathscr{L}_h^{\mathbb{R}^2} - \lambda + B,$$

with

$$B := 2ih^{\frac{1}{2}} \nabla \Phi \cdot (-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A}) - h |\nabla \Phi|^2 - ih^{\frac{3}{2}} \Delta \Phi.$$

Since  $\nabla \Phi_0$  and  $\Delta \Phi_0$  are bounded, we deduce from (5.17) that

$$\|B(\mathscr{L}_h^{\mathbb{R}^2} - \lambda)^{-1}\| \leq C\alpha + C_1\alpha + h^{1/2}C_2\alpha^2 \leq \tilde{C}\alpha,$$

when  $\alpha$  is small enough. On the other hand,

$$\mathscr{L}_{h}^{\Phi} - \lambda = \left( \mathrm{Id} + B(\mathscr{L}_{h}^{\mathbb{R}^{2}} - \lambda)^{-1} \right) (\mathscr{L}_{h}^{\mathbb{R}^{2}} - \lambda)^{-1}$$

For  $\alpha$  small enough, we deduce that  $\mathrm{Id} + B(\mathscr{L}_h^{\mathbb{R}^2} - \lambda)^{-1}$  is invertible, and thus so is  $\mathscr{L}_h^{\Phi} - \lambda$ .

In order to prove Proposition 5.2.1, we need to localize on an  $h^{1/2}$ -neighborhood of  $\partial\Omega$ . For this purpose, we introduce two functions  $\chi_h \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  and  $\tilde{\chi}_h \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega})$  as follows.

$$\chi_h \colon \begin{cases} \Omega \longrightarrow [0,1] \\ x \longmapsto g(\Phi_0(x)/h^{\frac{1}{2}}) \end{cases} \text{ and } \widetilde{\chi}_h \colon \begin{cases} \overline{\Omega} \longrightarrow [0,1] \\ x \longmapsto 1 - g(\Phi_0(x)/2h^{\frac{1}{2}}) \end{cases}$$

where g is a smooth non-decreasing function on  $\mathbb{R}$ , valued in [0,1], equal to 0 on  $(-\infty,1)$  and to 1 on  $(2,+\infty)$ . In particular,

$$\operatorname{supp}(\chi_h) \cap \overline{\Omega} \subset \{ x \in \Omega, h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \Phi_0(x) \ge 1 \},$$
(5.19)

and

$$\operatorname{supp}(\nabla\chi_h) \cap \overline{\Omega} \subset \{x \in \Omega : h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \Phi_0(x) \in [1,2]\} \subset \{x \in \Omega : \widetilde{\chi}_h(x) = 1\}.$$
(5.20)

Note that the following properties hold:

- $\chi_h = 1$  away from an  $h^{1/2}$ -neighborhood  $\partial \Omega$ ,
- $\nabla \chi_h$  is supported in an  $h^{1/2}$ -neighborhood of  $\partial \Omega$ ,
- $\mathbb{1}_{\mathrm{supp}\nabla\chi_h} \leqslant \widetilde{\chi}_h,$
- $\tilde{\chi}_h = 0$  away from an  $h^{1/2}$ -neighborhood of  $\partial \Omega$ .

### 5.2.2 **Proof of Proposition 5.2.1**

Let us consider  $\lambda \in [ha, hb] \cap \operatorname{Sp}(\mathscr{L}_h)$  and an associated eigenfunction  $\psi \in \operatorname{Dom}(\mathscr{L}_h)$ . We have

$$\left((-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A})^2 - \lambda\right)\psi = 0.$$

Let  $\varphi = e^{\Phi/h^{1/2}}\psi$ . Using (5.16) in  $\Omega$ , the equation becomes

$$\left(\mathscr{L}_{h}^{\Phi}-\lambda\right)\varphi=0.$$
(5.21)

Then, we have

$$\left(\mathscr{L}_{h}^{\Phi}-\lambda\right)\left(\chi_{h}\varphi\right) = \left[\mathscr{L}_{h}^{\Phi},\chi_{h}\right]\varphi$$
$$= e^{\Phi/h^{1/2}}\left[\mathscr{L}_{h},\chi_{h}\right]e^{-\Phi/h^{1/2}}\varphi$$
$$= e^{\Phi/h^{1/2}}\left(-h^{2}\Delta\chi_{h}-2ih\nabla\chi_{h}\cdot\left(-ih\nabla-\mathbf{A}\right)\right)e^{-\Phi/h^{1/2}}\varphi$$
$$= \left(-h^{2}\Delta\chi_{h}-2ih\nabla\chi_{h}\cdot\left(-ih\nabla-\mathbf{A}+ih^{\frac{1}{2}}\nabla\Phi\right)\right)\varphi.$$
(5.22)

We have  $||h^2(\Delta \chi_h)\varphi|| \leq Ch ||\tilde{\chi}_h\varphi||$ . (Here and in the rest of the paper, C denotes a constant that is independent on h but that can vary from line to line.) Let us explain how to deal with the last term. We have

$$h \|\nabla \chi_h \cdot (-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A} + ih^{\frac{1}{2}} \nabla \Phi) \varphi\| \leq h \|\nabla \chi_h \cdot (-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A})\varphi\| + Ch \|\tilde{\chi}_h \varphi\|.$$

Let us temporarily admit that, for  $\alpha$  small enough,

$$h \|\nabla \chi_h \cdot (-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A})\varphi\| \leqslant Ch \|\tilde{\chi}_h \varphi\|.$$
(5.23)

We then immediately deduce from (5.22) that

$$\|\left(\mathscr{L}_{h}^{\Phi}-\lambda\right)(\chi_{h}\varphi)\| \leqslant \tilde{C}h\|\tilde{\chi}_{h}\varphi\|.$$
(5.24)

Since  $\chi_h \varphi \in \operatorname{Dom}(\mathscr{L}_h^{\mathbb{R}^2})$  we obtain from (5.18) that

$$\|\chi_h\varphi\| \leqslant C \|\tilde{\chi}_h\varphi\|,$$

which implies that

$$\|\varphi\| \leqslant \tilde{C}(\|\tilde{\chi}_h \varphi\| + \|(1 - \chi_h)\varphi\|),$$

showing that  $\varphi$  is localized near  $\partial\Omega$ . More precisely, recalling that  $\varphi = e^{\Phi/h^{\frac{1}{2}}}\psi$ , using that  $\Phi_0(x) = \operatorname{dist}(x,\partial\Omega)$  near the boundary, and the fact that the supports of  $\tilde{\chi}_h$  and  $1 - \chi_h$  lie in neighborhood of the boundary of size  $h^{\frac{1}{2}}$ , we deduce (5.13).

Let us now deal with (5.14). We have the Agmon identity

$$\operatorname{Re}\left\langle\mathscr{L}_{h}\psi,\,e^{2\Phi/h^{1/2}}\psi\right\rangle=\mathscr{Q}_{h,\mathbf{A}}(e^{\Phi/h^{1/2}}\psi)-h\|e^{\Phi/h^{1/2}}\psi\nabla\Phi\|^{2},$$

which follows from (5.16) where we see that  $\operatorname{Re} \mathscr{L}_{h}^{\Phi} = \mathscr{L}_{h} - h |\nabla \Phi|^{2}$  and we notice that  $\operatorname{Re} \langle \mathscr{L}_{h} \psi, e^{2\Phi/h^{1/2}} \psi \rangle = \langle (\operatorname{Re} \mathscr{L}_{h}^{\Phi}) e^{\Phi/h^{1/2}} \psi, e^{\Phi/h^{1/2}} \psi \rangle$ . Recall also that, when  $u \in \operatorname{Dom}(\mathscr{L}_{h})$ , then  $\langle \mathscr{L}_{h} u, u \rangle = \mathscr{D}_{h,\mathbf{A}}(u)$ , see (5.1).

Then, by using that  $\psi$  is an eigenfunction, we get

$$\int_{\Omega} \left| (-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A}) \left( e^{\Phi/h^{1/2}} \psi \right) \right|^2 \mathrm{d}x + \gamma h^{\frac{3}{2}} \int_{\partial\Omega} |e^{\Phi/h^{1/2}} \psi|^2 \mathrm{d}s - h \|e^{\Phi/h^{1/2}} \psi \nabla \Phi\|^2 = \lambda \|e^{\Phi/h^{1/2}} \psi\|^2.$$

With (5.13), we find

$$\int_{\Omega} \left| (-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A}) \left( e^{\Phi/h^{1/2}} \psi \right) \right|^2 \mathrm{d}x + \gamma h^{\frac{3}{2}} \int_{\partial\Omega} |e^{\Phi/h^{1/2}} \psi|^2 \mathrm{d}s \leqslant Ch \|\psi\|^2.$$

From a classical trace theorem, there exists C > 0 such that for all  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we have

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} |\varphi|^2 \mathrm{d}s \leqslant C \left( \varepsilon^{-1} \|\varphi\|^2 + \varepsilon \|\nabla|\varphi|\|^2 \right).$$

With the diamagnetic inequality (Theorem A.1.3), we deduce that

$$h^{2} \int_{\partial \Omega} |\varphi|^{2} \mathrm{d}s \leq C \left( h^{2} \varepsilon^{-1} \|\varphi\|^{2} + \varepsilon \|(-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A})\varphi\|^{2} \right),$$

and then

$$h^{\frac{3}{2}} \int_{\partial \Omega} |\varphi|^2 \mathrm{d}s \leqslant C \left( h^{\frac{3}{2}} \varepsilon^{-1} \|\varphi\|^2 + \varepsilon h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \|(-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A})\varphi\|^2 \right).$$

Taking  $\varepsilon = \frac{h^{\frac{1}{2}}}{2|c|C}$  implies that

$$\int_{\Omega} \left| (-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A}) \left( e^{\Phi/h^{1/2}} \psi \right) \right|^2 \mathrm{d}x \leqslant \tilde{C}h \|\psi\|^2.$$

Computing a commutator gives (5.14).

It remains to explain why (5.23) holds. From (5.16) we can write

$$\mathscr{L}_{h}^{\Phi} = L_{1} + ih^{\frac{1}{2}}L_{2}, \tag{5.25}$$

with

$$L_1 = (-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A})^2 - h|\nabla\Phi|^2, \quad L_2 = 2\nabla\Phi \cdot (-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A}) - ih\Delta\Phi.$$

From (5.25) and (5.21), we get

$$(L_1 - \lambda + ih^{\frac{1}{2}}L_2)\varphi = 0.$$

For j = 1, 2, we have

$$\operatorname{Re}\langle (L_1 - \lambda)\varphi, (\partial_j \chi_h)^2 \varphi \rangle - h^{\frac{1}{2}} \Im \langle L_2 \varphi, (\partial_j \chi_h)^2 \varphi \rangle = 0.$$

Thanks to the classical localization formula (see, for instance, [Ray17, Prop. 4.2]), we have

$$\operatorname{Re}\langle (L_1 - \lambda)\varphi, (\partial_j \chi_h)^2 \varphi \rangle \\ = \|(-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A})[(\partial_j \chi_h)\varphi]\|^2 - h \int_{\Omega} |\nabla \Phi|^2 |(\partial_j \chi_h)\varphi|^2 \mathrm{d}x - \lambda \|\partial_j \chi_h \varphi\|^2 - h^2 \|\nabla (\partial_j \chi_h)\varphi\|^2$$

Moreover,

$$\begin{split} &|\Im\langle L_{2}\varphi,(\partial_{j}\chi_{h})^{2}\varphi\rangle|\\ &=|\Im\langle(\partial_{j}\chi_{h})L_{2}\varphi,(\partial_{j}\chi_{h})\varphi\rangle|\\ &\leqslant|\Im\langle L_{2}((\partial_{j}\chi_{h})\varphi),(\partial_{j}\chi_{h})\varphi\rangle|+|\langle[L_{2},\partial_{j}\chi_{h}]\varphi,(\partial_{j}\chi_{h})\varphi\rangle|\\ &\leqslant Ch\|(\partial_{j}\chi_{h})\varphi\|^{2}+C\alpha\|(-ih\nabla-\mathbf{A})(\partial_{j}\chi_{h})\varphi\|\|\partial_{j}\chi_{h}\varphi\|+Ch\|\nabla(\partial_{j}\chi_{h})\varphi\|\|\partial_{j}\chi_{h}\varphi\|. \end{split}$$

Due to the properties of  $\chi_h$ , we have

$$|\Im\langle L_2\varphi, (\partial_j\chi_h)^2\varphi\rangle| \leqslant C \|\tilde{\chi}_h\varphi\| + Ch^{-\frac{1}{2}}\alpha\|(-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A})(\partial_j\chi_h)\varphi\|^2 + Ch^{-\frac{1}{2}}\alpha\|\tilde{\chi}_h\varphi\|^2 + Ch^{-\frac{1}{2}}\|\tilde{\chi}_h\varphi\|^2.$$

Therefore,

$$\|(-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A})[(\partial_j\chi_h)\varphi]\|^2 \leq C \|\tilde{\chi}_h\varphi\|^2 + C\alpha\|(-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A})(\partial_j\chi_h)\varphi\|^2$$

Taking  $\alpha$  small enough, we get

$$\|(-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A})[(\partial_j \chi_h)\varphi]\|^2 \leq C \|\tilde{\chi}_h \varphi\|^2.$$

Computing a commutator, we get (5.23).

# 5.3 An operator on a semi-cylinder

#### 5.3.1 A model operator

The exponential localization near the boundary at a scale of order  $h^{\frac{1}{2}}$  given by Proposition 5.2.1 invites us to use the classical tubular coordinates (s, t) near the boundary. We recall that these coordinates are defined thanks to the application

$$\Gamma : \mathbb{R}/2L\mathbb{Z} \times (0, t_0) \ni (s, t) \mapsto \Gamma(s) - t\mathbf{n}(s),$$

which is injective if  $t_0$  is small enough. Its Jacobian is  $a(s,t) = 1 - t\kappa(s)$ , where  $\kappa$  is the curvature of the boundary at the point  $\Gamma(s)$ . Here  $\Gamma$  is a counterclockwise parametrization by the curvilinear abscissa. Thus,  $\Gamma$  induces a smooth diffeomorphism between  $\mathbb{R}/2L\mathbb{Z} \times (0, t_0)$  and  $\Omega_{t_0} := \Gamma(\mathbb{R}/2L\mathbb{Z} \times (0, t_0))$ .

By using [FH10b, Appendix F], we can check that the magnetic Laplacian acts locally near the boundary in these coordinates as

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{L}}_h = a(s,t)^{-1} \left( -ih\partial_s - t + \mathfrak{f}_0 + \kappa(s)\frac{t^2}{2} \right) a(s,t)^{-1} \left( -ih\partial_s - t + \mathfrak{f}_0 + \kappa(s)\frac{t^2}{2} \right) \\ - h^2 a(s,t)^{-1} \partial_t a(s,t) \partial_t \,,$$

in the ambient Hilbert space  $L^2(adsdt)$ . Here  $\mathfrak{f}_0 = \frac{|\Omega|}{|\partial\Omega|}$ . The boundary condition (5.2) becomes

$$\partial_t \psi(s,0) = \gamma h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \psi(s,0).$$

Of course the operator  $\mathcal{L}_h$  is only defined near t = 0. We would like to consider a global operator, whose eigenfunctions satisfy Agmon type estimates with respect to t. This can be done by inserting cutoff functions with respect to t. We let  $\check{t} = t\zeta(h^{-\frac{1}{2}+\eta}t)$  with  $\eta \in (0, \frac{1}{2})$  and  $\zeta$  a smooth cutoff function equal to 1 near 0.

**Remark 5.3.1.** We cannot directly reduce the problem to a problem near the boundary, as we have seen in previous chapters. In fact, if we consider the problem in a tubular neighborhood with Dirichlet condition on the outer and inner edge and since we have shown that the eigenfunctions are localized near the  $\partial \Omega$ , this also works on the edges of the tubular neighborhood, then we cannot localize the problem in this tubular neighborhood. To do this, we introduce the cutoff function  $\zeta$ .

Let us consider the differential operator acting as

$$\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h} = a(s,\check{t})^{-1} \left( -ih\partial_{s} - t + \mathfrak{f}_{0} + \kappa(s)\frac{\check{t}^{2}}{2} \right) a(s,\check{t})^{-1} \left( -ih\partial_{s} - t + \mathfrak{f}_{0} + \kappa(s)\frac{\check{t}^{2}}{2} \right) \\ - h^{2}a(s,\check{t})^{-1}\partial_{t}a(s,\check{t})\partial_{t},$$

on the domain

$$Dom(\widehat{\mathscr{I}}_{h}) = \{ u \in L^{2}(\mathbf{T}_{2L} \times \mathbb{R}_{+}) : -\partial_{t}^{2}u \in L^{2}(\mathbf{T}_{2L} \times \mathbb{R}_{+}), \\ (-ih\partial_{s} - t + \mathfrak{f}_{0})^{2}u \in L^{2}(\mathbf{T}_{2L} \times \mathbb{R}_{+}), \\ \partial_{t}u(\cdot, 0) = \gamma h^{-\frac{1}{2}}u(\cdot, 0) \}.$$

The ambient Hilbert space is  $L^2(a(s, \check{t}) ds dt) = L^2(ds dt)$ , with 2L-periodic condition with respect to s.

# 5.3.2 The rescaled operator

The exponential localization at the scale  $h^{\frac{1}{2}}$  near the boundary suggests to consider the partial rescaling

$$(s,t) = (s,\hbar\tau),$$

where  $\hbar = h^{\frac{1}{2}}$ . We consider the new operator, acting in the ambient Hilbert space  $L^2(\hat{a}_{\hbar} ds dt) = L^2(ds dt)$ ,

$$\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{\hbar} = \hat{a}_{\hbar}(s,\tau)^{-1} p_{s,\hbar} \hat{a}_{\hbar}(s,\tau)^{-1} p_{s,\hbar} - \hat{a}_{\hbar}(s,\tau)^{-1} \partial_{\tau} \hat{a}_{\hbar}(s,\tau) \partial_{\tau}, \qquad (5.26)$$

with

$$p_{s,\hbar} = -i\hbar\partial_s - \tau + \theta + \hbar\kappa(s)\frac{\hat{\tau}^2}{2}, \quad \theta = \hbar^{-1}\mathfrak{f}_0, \tag{5.27}$$

and where  $\hat{a}_{\hbar}(s,\tau) = 1 - \hbar \hat{\tau} \kappa$  with  $\hat{\tau} = \zeta(\hbar^{2\eta}\tau)\tau$ . In the following, we let  $\mu = \hbar^{2\eta}$  and  $\zeta_{\mu}(\tau) = \zeta(\hbar^{2\eta}\tau)\tau$ . This will be convenient when expanding the operator in powers of  $\hbar$  ( $\mu$  will be considered a parameter).

The boundary condition becomes

$$\partial_{\tau}\psi(s,0) = \gamma\psi(s,0).$$

The domain is given by

$$\operatorname{Dom}(\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h}) = \left\{ u \in L^{2}(\mathbf{T}_{2L} \times \mathbb{R}_{+}) : -\partial_{\tau}^{2} u \in L^{2}(\mathbf{T}_{2L} \times \mathbb{R}_{+}), \\ \left(-i\hbar\partial_{s} - \tau + \hbar^{-1}\mathfrak{f}_{0}\right)^{2} u \in L^{2}(\mathbf{T}_{2L} \times \mathbb{R}_{+}), \partial_{\tau}u(\cdot, 0) = \gamma u(\cdot, 0) \right\}.$$

In fact, it will even be more convenient to deal with the following operator

$$\mathcal{N}_{\hbar} = \hat{a}_{\hbar}(s,\tau)^{-1} p_{s,\hbar}^{\Xi_0} \hat{a}_{\hbar}(s,\tau)^{-1} p_{s,\hbar}^{\Xi_0} - \hat{a}_{\hbar}(s,\tau)^{-1} \partial_{\tau} \hat{a}_{\hbar}(s,\tau) \partial_{\tau}, \qquad (5.28)$$

where

$$p_{s,\hbar}^{\Xi_0} = \Xi_0 (\cdot + \theta)^{\mathrm{W}} - \tau + \hbar \kappa(s) \frac{\hat{\tau}^2}{2}.$$
(5.29)

$$Dom(\mathscr{N}_{\hbar}) = \{ u \in L^{2}(\mathbf{T}_{2L} \times \mathbb{R}_{+}) : -\partial_{\tau}^{2} u \in L^{2}(\mathbf{T}_{2L} \times \mathbb{R}_{+}), \\ \tau^{2} u \in L^{2}(\mathbf{T}_{2L} \times \mathbb{R}_{+}), \\ \partial_{\tau} u(\cdot, 0) = \gamma u(\cdot, 0) \}.$$

# **5.3.3** Microlocalization of the eigenfunctions of $\mathscr{L}_h$

In fact, we can prove that the eigenfunctions of  $\mathscr{L}_h$  associated with eigenvalues in [ha, hb] are roughly microlocalized with respect to  $\sigma + \hbar^{-1}\mathfrak{f}_0$ , the (shifted) dual variable of s. In order to quantify this, we consider the compact set

$$K = \bigcup_{j \ge 1} \{ \sigma \in \mathbb{R} : \mu_j(\sigma) \in [a, b] \} \subset [\sigma_{\min}, \sigma_{\max}] =: \tilde{K}.$$
(5.30)

Note that K is indeed compact due to the properties of the  $\mu_j$  (tending to  $+\infty$  at  $-\infty$ ) and to the choice of [a, b], which does not contain Landau levels (the limits of the  $\mu_j$  in  $+\infty$ ).

The following result establishes a rather rough microlocalization result (with respect to  $\sigma$ ) for the eigenfunctions: it tells us that the eigenfunctions are microlocalized in the compact set  $\tilde{K}$ . To quantify this, we consider a smooth function  $\Xi$  with values in [0, 1] such that  $\Xi = 0$  near  $\tilde{K}$  and 1 away from  $\tilde{K}$ .

We let  $\hat{\lambda} = h^{-1}\lambda$ .

**Proposition 5.3.1.** Let us consider the eigenvalue equation  $\mathscr{L}_h \psi = \lambda \psi$  for  $\lambda \in [ha, hb]$ . Then,

$$\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h}\varphi = \hat{\lambda}\varphi + \mathscr{O}(h^{\infty}) \|\psi\|, \qquad (5.31)$$

with  $\varphi = \hat{\chi}_{\hbar}\hat{\psi}$ , where  $\hat{\psi} = \psi \circ \Gamma(s, \hbar\tau)$  and  $\hat{\chi}_{\hbar}(\tau) = \chi(\hbar^{\eta}\tau)$  for a smooth cutoff function  $\chi$  equal to 0 away from  $\tau = 0$ .

Moreover,

$$Op_{\hbar}^{W}(\Xi(\sigma + \hbar^{-1}\mathfrak{f}_{0}))\varphi = \mathscr{O}(\hbar^{\infty}) \|\psi\|.$$
(5.32)

*Proof.* The estimate (5.31) follows from the Agmon estimates (Proposition 5.2.1).

Then, let us only prove that (5.32) holds when  $\Xi$  is 0 near  $(-\infty, \sigma_{\max} + \frac{\epsilon}{2})$  and 1 on  $(\sigma_{\max} + \epsilon, +\infty)$ , the estimate following from similar arguments on  $(-\infty, \sigma_{\min} - \epsilon)$ .

In order to lighten the notation, we will use a slight abuse of notation by writing

$$\Xi^{\mathrm{W}} := \mathrm{Op}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{W}}(\Xi(\sigma + \hbar^{-1}\mathfrak{f}_{0})).$$
(5.33)

Then, we write

$$\left(\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h}-\hat{\lambda}\right)\Xi^{W}\varphi=[\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h},\Xi^{W}]\varphi+\mathscr{O}(\hbar^{\infty})\|\psi\|.$$

Let us consider the commutator. Thanks to the explicit expression (5.26), one of the terms is

$$\begin{split} \left\| \begin{bmatrix} \hat{a}_{\hbar}^{-1} D_{\tau} \hat{a}_{\hbar} D_{\tau}, \Xi^{\mathrm{W}} \end{bmatrix} \varphi \right\| &= \left\| \begin{bmatrix} \hat{a}_{\hbar}^{-1} D_{\tau} \hat{a}_{\hbar}, \Xi^{\mathrm{W}} \end{bmatrix} D_{\tau} \varphi \right\| \\ &\leqslant \mathcal{O}\left(\hbar^{\infty}\right) \| D_{\tau} \varphi \| + \hbar \left\| \underline{\Xi}^{\mathrm{W}} D_{\tau} \varphi \right\|, \end{split}$$

where  $\Xi$  has a support slightly larger than the one of  $\Xi$ , and where we used classical results of composition of pseudo-differential operators. The other term is

$$\begin{split} & \left\| \left[ a_{\hbar}^{-1} p_{s,\hbar} a_{\hbar}^{-1} p_{s,\hbar}, \Xi^{\mathrm{W}} \right] \varphi \right\| \\ &= \left\| \left[ a_{\hbar}^{-1} (\hbar D_{s} - \tau + \hbar^{-1} \mathfrak{f}_{0} + \hbar \kappa(s) \frac{\hat{\tau}^{2}}{2}) a_{\hbar}^{-1} (\hbar D_{s} - \tau + \hbar^{-1} \mathfrak{f}_{0} + \hbar \kappa(s) \frac{\hat{\tau}^{2}}{2}), \Xi^{\mathrm{W}} \right] \varphi \right\| \\ &\leq \mathcal{O} \left( \hbar^{\infty} \right) \| \psi \| + C \hbar \left\| \underline{\Xi}^{\mathrm{W}} \varphi \right\|. \end{split}$$

Thanks to the explicit expression (5.26) and the Agmon estimate, we get

$$\|[\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h},\Xi^{W}]\varphi\| \leqslant C\hbar\|\underline{\Xi}^{W}\varphi\| + C\hbar\|\underline{\Xi}^{W}\partial_{\tau}\varphi\| + \mathscr{O}(\hbar^{\infty})\|\psi\|,$$
(5.34)

and we can write, by using the support of  $\zeta(h^{-\frac{1}{2}+\eta}t)$ ,

$$\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h} = \widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{0} + \mathscr{R}_{\hbar}, \qquad \widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{0} = -\partial_{\tau}^{2} + p_{s,\hbar,0}^{2}, \qquad p_{s,\hbar,0} = -i\hbar\partial_{s} + \hbar^{-1}\mathfrak{f}_{0} - \tau, \qquad (5.35)$$

where the remainder  $\mathscr{R}_{\hbar}$  can be written as

$$\mathscr{R}_{\hbar} = \hbar^{1-2\eta} R_{\hbar,2}(s,\tau) p_{s,\hbar,0}^2 + \hbar^{1-4\eta} R_{\hbar,1}(s,\tau) p_{s,\hbar,0} + \hbar^{2-8\eta} R_{\hbar,3} + \hbar R_{\hbar,4} \partial_{\tau}$$

the  $R_{\hbar,j}$  being smooth functions, uniformly bounded in  $\hbar$ .

Then, we consider an increasing function  $\sigma \mapsto \tilde{\Xi}(\sigma) \in (\sigma_{\max} + \frac{\epsilon}{4}, +\infty)$  that coincides with Id on  $(\sigma_{\max} + \frac{\epsilon}{2}, +\infty)$ . We let

$$\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{0}^{cut} = \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{W} \left( -\partial_{\tau}^{2} + (\tilde{\Xi}(\sigma + \hbar^{-1}\mathfrak{f}_{0}) - \tau)^{2} \right),$$

where the superscript "cut" refers to the replacement of  $-i\hbar\partial_s + \hbar^{-1}\mathfrak{f}_0$  by  $\tilde{\Xi}^W$  (with the same abuse of notation as in (5.33)). We notice that  $\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_0^{\text{cut}} - \hat{\lambda}$  is bijective (with an inverse uniformly bounded in  $\hbar$ ) due to the choice of  $\tilde{\Xi}$  and the definition of  $\sigma_{\text{max}}$ . Moreover, we have  $\{\Xi \neq 0\} \subset \{\tilde{\Xi} = \text{Id}\}$  so that, with (5.35),

$$\left(\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{0}^{\mathrm{cut}}-\hat{\lambda}+\mathscr{R}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{cut}}\right)\Xi^{\mathrm{W}}\varphi=\left[\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h},\Xi^{\mathrm{W}}\right]\varphi+\mathscr{O}(\hbar^{\infty})\|\psi\|,$$

which can be written as

$$\left(\mathrm{Id} + \mathscr{R}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{cut}} (\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{0}^{\mathrm{cut}} - \hat{\lambda})^{-1} \right) (\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{0}^{\mathrm{cut}} - \hat{\lambda}) \Xi^{\mathrm{W}} \varphi = [\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h}, \Xi^{\mathrm{W}}] \varphi + \mathscr{O}(\hbar^{\infty}) \|\psi\|.$$

The operator Id +  $\mathscr{R}^{\text{cut}}_{\hbar}(\widehat{\mathscr{L}}^{\text{cut}}_0 - \hat{\lambda})^{-1}$  is bijective as soon as  $\hbar$  is small enough.

With (5.34), this provides us first with

$$\|\Xi^{W}\varphi\|^{2} \leq C\hbar \|\underline{\Xi}^{W}\varphi\|^{2} + C\hbar \|\underline{\Xi}^{W}\partial_{\tau}\varphi\|^{2} + \mathscr{O}(\hbar^{\infty})\|\psi\|^{2},$$

and then

$$\|\Xi^{W}\partial_{\tau}\varphi\|^{2} + \|\Xi^{W}\varphi\|^{2} \leq C\hbar\|\underline{\Xi}^{W}\varphi\|^{2} + C\hbar\|\underline{\Xi}^{W}\partial_{\tau}\varphi\|^{2} + \mathscr{O}(\hbar^{\infty})\|\psi\|^{2}.$$

The estimate (5.32) follows by induction on the size of the support of  $\Xi$ .

#### **5.3.4** First spectral estimates

The aim of the following proposition is to establish that the spectrum of  $\mathscr{L}_h$  in  $I_h$  is close to that of  $h\mathscr{N}_h$ and thus that  $\mathscr{N}_h$  is a nice auxilliary operator to describe the spectrum of  $\mathscr{L}_h$ . In fact, we will see that this proposition is not necessary to prove our spectral estimates, but its proof is instructive.

**Proposition 5.3.2.** There exists  $h_0 > 0$  such that for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$  the following holds. Let us consider an interval  $J_h \subset I_h$ . Then, there exists an interval  $\hat{J}_h$  such that  $J_h \subset \hat{J}_h \subset I_h$  with  $d_H(J_h, \hat{J}_h) = \mathcal{O}(h^{\infty})$  and

$$\operatorname{rank} \mathbb{1}_{J_h}(\mathscr{L}_h) \leqslant \operatorname{rank} \mathbb{1}_{\hat{J}_h}(h\mathscr{N}_{\hbar}).$$
(5.36)

*Moreover, for all*  $\lambda \in I_h \cap \text{Sp}(\mathscr{L}_h)$ *,* 

$$\operatorname{dist}(\lambda, h\operatorname{Sp}(\mathscr{N}_{\hbar})) = \mathscr{O}(h^{\infty}).$$
(5.37)

*Proof.* Let us start by proving (5.37). Let us consider an eigenvalue  $\lambda \in I_h$  of  $\mathscr{L}_h$ . We write the eigenvalue equation  $\mathscr{L}_h \psi = \lambda \psi$ .

With Proposition 5.3.1, we can write (5.31). Then, with (5.32), we deduce that

$$h\mathscr{N}_{\hbar}\varphi = \lambda \varphi + \mathscr{O}(\hbar^{\infty}) \|\psi\|$$

Thus, (5.37) follows from the spectral theorem.

Let us now consider (5.36), which deals with multiplicities. Let us write  $Sp(\mathscr{L}_h) \cap J_h = \{\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_p\}$ 

(where the  $\lambda_j$  are distinct) and underline that these eigenvalues depend on h as well as p. Consider the associated eigenspaces  $(E_j)_{1 \leq j \leq p}$  and note that  $\dim \bigoplus_{j=1}^p E_j = \mathcal{O}(h^{-2})$  thanks to the Weyl estimate (5.3). With the same notation as above, we consider the spaces of quasimodes  $(\hat{\chi}_{\hbar}\hat{E}_j)_{1 \leq j \leq p}$ . Thanks to Proposition 5.3.1 (and the rough Weyl estimate),  $\dim(\hat{\chi}_{\hbar}\hat{E}_j) = \dim E_j$ , as soon as h is small enough. Moreover, we have

$$\left\| (\oplus_{j=1}^{p} h \mathscr{N}_{\hbar} - \lambda) \varphi \right\| \leqslant \varepsilon_{h} \|\varphi\|, \quad \varepsilon_{h} = \mathscr{O}(h^{\infty}),$$

for all  $\varphi = (\varphi_1, \dots, \varphi_p) \in \bigoplus_{j=1}^p \hat{\chi}_\hbar \hat{E}_j$  and where  $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_p)$ . We set  $J_h = [a_h, b_h]$  and  $\hat{J}_h = [a_h - \varepsilon_h, b_h + \varepsilon_h]$ . If rank  $\mathbb{1}_{\hat{J}_h}(h\mathcal{N}_\hbar) < \operatorname{rank} \mathbb{1}_{J_h}(\mathcal{L}_h)$ , then the projection

$$\Pi: \bigoplus_{j=1}^{p} \hat{\chi}_{\hbar} \hat{E}_{j} \to \operatorname{ran} \mathbb{1}_{\hat{J}_{h}}(\widetilde{\mathscr{L}_{h}})$$

could not be injective. Indeed, If  $\Pi$  is injective, then

$$\dim(\bigoplus_{j=1}^p \hat{\chi}_{\hbar} \hat{E}_j) = \dim(\operatorname{ran} \mathbb{1}_{\hat{J}_h}(h\mathscr{N}_{\hbar})) = \operatorname{rank} \mathbb{1}_{\hat{J}_h}(h\mathscr{N}_{\hbar}).$$

On the other hand,

$$\dim(\bigoplus_{j=1}^{p} \hat{\chi}_{\hbar} \hat{E}_{j}) = \dim(\bigoplus_{j=1}^{p} E_{j}) \geqslant \operatorname{rank} \mathbb{1}_{J_{h}}(\mathscr{L}_{h}),$$

which gives a contradiction. Since  $\Pi$  is not injective, then

$$\dim(\operatorname{ran} 1_{\hat{J}_h}(h\mathcal{N}_{\hbar})) < \dim(\bigoplus_{j=1}^{\nu} \hat{\chi}_{\hbar} \hat{E}_j).$$

Considering a non-zero  $\varphi \in \bigoplus_{j=1}^{p} \hat{\chi}_{\hbar} \hat{E}_{j}$  (in the kernel of  $\Pi$ ), the spectral theorem (Proposition A.1.6) would give

$$\left\| (\oplus_{i=1}^{p} h \mathcal{N}_{\hbar} - \lambda) \varphi \right\| > \varepsilon_{h} \|\varphi\|_{2}$$

which is a contradiction when  $\varphi \neq 0$ . Therefore, (5.36) follows.

# 5.4 A Grushin problem

#### 5.4.1 Preliminaries

Let us prove that an operator given by (5.7) with a 2*L* periodic symbol,  $p(s+2L, \sigma) = p(s, \sigma)$ , preserves 2*L*-periodic distributions and also locally square integrable 2*L*-periodic functions (is the subset of  $L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R})$  of 2*L*-periodic functions).

**Proposition 5.4.1.** If p is 2L-periodic, the operator given in (5.7) induces a bounded operator from  $e^{is\theta}L^2(\mathbf{T}_{2L})$  to  $e^{is\theta}L^2(\mathbf{T}_{2L})$ , where  $\mathbf{T}_{2L} = \mathbb{R}/2L\mathbb{Z}$  (in other words  $L^2(\mathbf{T}_{2L})$  is the subset of  $L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R})$  of 2L-periodic functions, equipped with the usual  $L^2$  norm on [0, 2L]).

We notice that  $e^{is\theta}L^2_{2L}(\mathbb{R})$  is the set of functions

$$e^{is\theta}L^2_{2L}(\mathbb{R}) = \{u \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}) : u(s+2L) = e^{i2L\theta}u(s)\},\$$

equipped with  $L^2$ -norm on a period [0, 2L].

*Proof.* We recall that the Weyl quantization of a symbol p is given by the formula:

$$\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{W}} p \, u(s) = \frac{1}{2\pi\hbar} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} e^{i(s-y)\sigma/\hbar} p\left(\frac{s+y}{2}, \sigma\right) u(y) \mathrm{d}y \mathrm{d}\sigma, \quad \forall u \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}).$$

Let  $u \in e^{is\theta} L^2_{2L}(\mathbb{R})$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{W} p \, u(s+2L) &= \frac{1}{2\pi\hbar} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} e^{i(s+2L-y)\sigma/\hbar} p\left(\frac{s+2L+y}{2}, \sigma\right) u(y) \mathrm{d}y \mathrm{d}\sigma \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi\hbar} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} e^{i(s-y)\sigma/\hbar} p\left(\frac{s+4L+y}{2}, \sigma\right) u(y+2L) \mathrm{d}y \mathrm{d}\sigma \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi\hbar} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} e^{i(s-y)\sigma/\hbar} p\left(\frac{s+4L+y}{2}, \sigma\right) e^{i2L\theta} u(y) \mathrm{d}y \mathrm{d}\sigma. \end{aligned}$$

Using that p is 2L periodic symbol, then

$$\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{W} p \, u(s+2L) = e^{i2L\theta} \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{W} p \, u(s).$$
(5.38)

From the composition theorem for pseudodifferential operators (see Theorem A.2.4), we see that  $\langle s \rangle^{-1} \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{W} p \langle s \rangle$  is a pseudo differential operator with symbol in  $S_{\mathbb{R}^2}(1)$ , and thus it is bounded on  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  thanks to the Calderon-Vaillancourt theorem, see Theorem A.2.5. This shows that  $\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{W} p$  is bounded on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}, \langle s \rangle^{-2} ds)$ . It is equivalent to:

For  $u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}, \langle s \rangle^{-2} ds)$ , there exist C > 0, such that  $\|\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^W p\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}, \langle s \rangle^{-2} ds)} \leq \|u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}, \langle s \rangle^{-2} ds)}$ . Since  $\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^W p$  is bounded on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}, \langle s \rangle^{-2} ds)$  and the norms on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}, \langle s \rangle^{-2} ds)$  and  $L^2_{2L}(\mathbb{R})$  are equivalent, we deduce that  $\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^W p$  is bounded on  $L^2_{2L}(\mathbb{R})$ . Then, the conclusion follows.

Let us explain why  $\|\cdot\|_{L^2_{2L}(\mathbb{R})}$  and  $\|\cdot\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R},\langle s\rangle^{-2} ds)}$  are equivalent. Notice that there exists  $C_1(L) > 0$ ,  $C_2(L) > 0$  and  $C_3(L) > 0$  such that for all  $u \in L^2_{2L}(\mathbb{R})$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} \|u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R},\langle s\rangle^{-2} \mathrm{d}s)}^{2} &= \int_{\mathbb{R}} |u(s)|^{2} \langle s\rangle^{-2} \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{(2l-1)L}^{(2l+1)L} |u(s)|^{2} \langle s\rangle^{-2} \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leqslant C_{1}(L) \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}} \langle l\rangle^{-2} \int_{(2l-1)L}^{(2l+1)L} |u(s)|^{2} \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leqslant C_{2}(L) \|u\|_{L^{2}_{2L}(\mathbb{R})}^{2} \\ &\leqslant C_{3}(L) \|u\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R},\langle s\rangle^{-2} \mathrm{d}s)}^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

Г		
L		
L		

**Proposition 5.4.2.** The operator  $\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{W} p$  acting on  $e^{is\theta} L_{2L}^{2}(\mathbb{R})$  is unitarily equivalent to  $\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{W} p(s, \sigma + \hbar \theta)$  acting on  $L_{2L}^{2}(\mathbb{R})$ .

*Proof.* Let  $u \in e^{is\theta}L^2_{2L}(\mathbb{R})$ , then there exists  $v \in L^2_{2L}(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $u(s) = e^{is\theta}v(s)$ . We have

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{W} p \, u(s) &= \frac{1}{2\pi\hbar} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} e^{i(s-y)\sigma/\hbar} p\left(\frac{s+y}{2}, \sigma\right) u(y) \mathrm{d}y \mathrm{d}\sigma \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi\hbar} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} e^{i(s-y)(\sigma+\hbar\theta)/\hbar)} p\left(\frac{s+y}{2}, \sigma+\hbar\theta\right) u(y) \mathrm{d}y \mathrm{d}\sigma \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi\hbar} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} e^{i(s-y)\sigma/\hbar} e^{i(s-y)\theta} p\left(\frac{s+y}{2}, \sigma+\hbar\theta\right) e^{iy\theta} v(y) \mathrm{d}y \mathrm{d}\sigma \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi\hbar} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} e^{i(s-y)\sigma/\hbar} e^{is\theta} p\left(\frac{s+y}{2}, \sigma+\hbar\theta\right) v(y) \mathrm{d}y \mathrm{d}\sigma \\ &= e^{is\theta} \frac{1}{2\pi\hbar} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} e^{i(s-y)\sigma/\hbar} p\left(\frac{s+y}{2}, \sigma+\hbar\theta\right) e^{-iy\theta} u(y) \mathrm{d}y \mathrm{d}\sigma. \end{aligned}$$

We deduce that:

$$Op_{\hbar}^{W}p = e^{is\theta}Op_{\hbar}^{W}p\left(s,\sigma+\hbar\theta\right) \, e^{-is\theta},$$

and then the conclusion follows.

#### 5.4.2 A pseudodifferential operator with operator-valued symbol

Recalling Remark 5.1.2, we notice that the operator  $\mathcal{N}_{\hbar}$  can be seen as a pseudo-differential operator acting as

$$\mathfrak{N}_{\hbar} = \hat{a}_{\hbar}(s,\tau)^{-1} \mathcal{T}_{\hbar} \hat{a}_{\hbar}(s,\tau)^{-1} \mathcal{T}_{\hbar} - \hat{a}_{\hbar}(s,\tau)^{-1} \partial_{\tau} \hat{a}_{\hbar}(s,\tau) \partial_{\tau}$$

on functions of the form  $e^{is\mathfrak{f}_0/h}L^2(\mathbf{T}_{2L}\times\mathbb{R}_+)$  and where

$$\mathcal{T}_{\hbar} = \Xi_0^{\mathrm{W}} - \tau + \hbar \frac{\kappa}{2} \hat{\tau}^2.$$
(5.39)

In fact, it will be convenient to see  $\mathfrak{N}_{\hbar}$  as a pseudo-differential operator with operator-valued symbol. At a formal level, the principal symbol of  $\mathfrak{N}_{\hbar}$  is  $n_0(s,\sigma) = -\partial_{\tau}^2 + (\sigma - \tau)^2$  equipped with the domain

$$Dom(n_0) = \{ \psi \in B^2(\mathbb{R}_+) : \psi'(0) = \gamma \psi(0) \}.$$

The vector space  $B^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$  is equipped with the  $(s, \sigma)$ -independent norm

$$\|\psi\|_{B^2(\mathbb{R}_+)}^2 = \|\psi''\|^2 + \|\psi'\|^2 + \|\langle t\rangle^2 \psi\|^2.$$

With this convention, we may write that  $n_0 \in S(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathscr{L}(B^2(\mathbb{R}_+), L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)))$ . We say that  $\Psi \in S(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathscr{L}(B^2(\mathbb{R}_+), L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)))$  when, for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^2$ , there exists  $C_\alpha > 0$  such that for all  $(s,\sigma) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ ,

$$\|\partial^{\alpha}\Psi\|_{\mathscr{L}(B^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}),L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}))} \leqslant C_{\alpha}.$$

Such symbols might also depend on  $\hbar$ ; in this case, the constant  $C_{\alpha}$  is uniform in  $\hbar$ .

**Lemma 5.4.3.** The operator  $\mathfrak{N}_{\hbar}$  can be written as the Weyl quantization of a symbol in  $S(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathscr{L}(B^2(\mathbb{R}_+), L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))).$ 

Proof. We can write

$$\mathcal{T}_{\hbar} = \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{W}} \left( \Xi_{0}(\sigma) - \tau + \hbar \frac{\kappa}{2} \hat{\tau}^{2} \right),$$

the symbol (2L-periodic with respect to s) belonging to the class  $S(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathscr{L}(B^1(\mathbb{R}_+), L^2(\mathbb{R}_+))) \cap S(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathscr{L}(B^2(\mathbb{R}_+), B^1(\mathbb{R}_+)))$ . The functions  $a_{\hbar}(s, \tau)$  and  $a_{\hbar}(s, \tau)^{-1}$  are

bounded uniformly with respect to  $\hbar$  (and so are all their derivatives). Then, the conclusion follows from the composition theorem for pseudo-differential operators, see Theorem A.2.4.

In fact, we can describe more accurately the symbol of  $\mathfrak{N}_{\hbar}$  by expanding it in powers of  $\hbar$ . An analogous description for a very similar operator can be found in great detail in [FHKR22, Section 4.2].

**Proposition 5.4.4.** *The operator*  $\mathfrak{N}_{\hbar}$  *can be written as follows:* 

$$\mathfrak{N}_{\hbar} = \mathfrak{n}_0 + \hbar \mathfrak{n}_1 + \hbar^2 \mathscr{R}_{\hbar}^{(2)} + \hbar w_{\hbar} \partial_{\tau}, \qquad (5.40)$$

where, for some  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $C, \hbar_0 > 0$ , we have, for all  $\hbar \in (0, \hbar_0)$ ,

- (i)  $w_{\hbar}$  is a smooth function supported in  $\{(s,\tau): C^{-1}\hbar^{-2\eta} \leq \langle \tau \rangle \leq C\hbar^{-2\eta}\}$  and such that  $w_{\hbar} = \mathcal{O}(\langle \tau \rangle)$ ,
- (ii)  $\mathscr{R}_{\hbar}^{(2)}$  is a pseudodifferential operator whose symbol belongs to a bounded set in the space of symbols  $S(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathscr{L}(B^2(\mathbb{R}_+), L^2(\mathbb{R}_+, \langle \tau \rangle^{-N} d\tau))).$

Moreover, the  $n_j$  are given by  $n_j = Op_{\hbar}^W n_j$  with

$$n_{0} = -\partial_{\tau}^{2} + (\Xi_{0}(\sigma) - \tau)^{2},$$
  

$$n_{1} = \kappa(s) \left[ (\Xi_{0}(\sigma) - \tau)\zeta_{\mu}^{2}\tau^{2} + \zeta_{\mu}\partial_{\tau} + 2\zeta_{\mu}\tau(\Xi_{0}(\sigma) - \tau)^{2} \right].$$
(5.41)

In particular, we can write  $\mathfrak{N}_{\hbar} = Op^{W}_{\hbar}(n_{\hbar})$  with a symbol  $n_{\hbar}$  satisfying

$$n_{\hbar} = n_0 + \hbar n_1 + \hbar^2 r_{\hbar}^{(2)} + \hbar w_{\hbar} \partial_{\tau},$$

where  $r_{\hbar}^{(2)}$  belongs to the class of operator symbols  $S(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathscr{L}(B^2(\mathbb{R}_+), L^2(\mathbb{R}_+, \langle \tau \rangle^{-N} d\tau)))$  uniformly in  $\hbar$ .

Proof. Let us provide a Taylor expansion of

$$\mathcal{N}_{\hbar} = \hat{a}_{\hbar}(s,\tau)^{-1} \mathcal{T}_{\hbar} \hat{a}_{\hbar}(s,\tau)^{-1} \mathcal{T}_{\hbar} - \hat{a}_{\hbar}(s,\tau)^{-1} \partial_{\tau} \hat{a}_{\hbar}(s,\tau) \partial_{\tau}$$
$$= (\hat{a}_{\hbar}(s,\tau)^{-1} \mathcal{T}_{\hbar})^{2} - \hat{a}_{\hbar}(s,\tau)^{-1} \partial_{\tau} \hat{a}_{\hbar}(s,\tau) \partial_{\tau},$$

where  $\mathcal{T}_{\hbar}$  is defined in (5.39) and can be rewritten in the form

$$\mathcal{T}_{\hbar} = \mathfrak{p}_0 + \hbar \frac{\kappa}{2} \zeta_{\mu}^2 \tau^2.$$

Now, we expand  $\hat{a}_{\hbar}^{-1}$  in powers of  $\hbar,$  we get

$$\hat{a}_{\hbar}^{-1} = 1 + \hbar \kappa \zeta_{\mu} \tau + \hbar^2 \frac{(\kappa \zeta_{\mu} \tau)^2}{1 - \hbar \kappa \zeta_{\mu} \tau},$$

so that

$$\hbar \hat{a}_{\hbar}^{-1} = \hbar + \hbar^2 \frac{\kappa \zeta_{\mu} \tau}{1 - \hbar \kappa \zeta_{\mu} \tau}.$$

We have the following expansion

$$\begin{aligned} \hat{a}_{\hbar}^{-1}\mathcal{T}_{\hbar} &= \hat{a}_{\hbar}^{-1}\mathfrak{p}_{0} + \hbar\hat{a}_{\hbar}^{-1}\frac{\kappa}{2}\zeta_{\mu}^{2}\tau^{2} \\ &= \left(1 + \hbar\kappa\zeta_{\mu}\tau + \hbar^{2}\frac{(\kappa\zeta_{\mu}\tau)^{2}}{1 - \hbar\kappa\zeta_{\mu}\tau}\right)\mathfrak{p}_{0} + \left(\hbar + \hbar^{2}\frac{\kappa\zeta_{\mu}\tau}{1 - \hbar\kappa\zeta_{\mu}\tau}\right)\frac{\kappa}{2}\zeta_{\mu}^{2}\tau^{2} \\ &= \mathfrak{p}_{0} + \hbar\kappa\zeta_{\mu}\tau\left(\mathfrak{p}_{0} + \frac{1}{2}\zeta_{\mu}\tau\right) + \hbar^{2}\frac{(\kappa\zeta_{\mu}\tau)^{2}}{1 - \hbar\kappa\zeta_{\mu}\tau}\left(\mathfrak{p}_{0} + \frac{1}{2}\zeta_{\mu}\tau\right).\end{aligned}$$

The previous expression can be rearranged as follows

$$\hat{a}_{\hbar}^{-1}\mathcal{T}_{\hbar} = \mathfrak{p}_0 + \hbar \mathfrak{p}_1 + \hbar^2 \mathscr{R}_{\hbar},$$

where

$$\mathfrak{p}_1 = \kappa \zeta_\mu \tau \left( \mathfrak{p}_0 + \frac{1}{2} \zeta_\mu \tau \right), \quad \mathscr{R}_\hbar = \frac{(\kappa \zeta_\mu \tau)^2}{1 - \hbar \kappa \zeta_\mu \tau} \left( \mathfrak{p}_0 + \frac{1}{2} \zeta_\mu \tau \right).$$

We can also expand the operator in the transversal variable and get

$$\begin{aligned} -\hat{a}_{\hbar}^{-1}\partial_{\tau}\hat{a}_{\hbar}\partial_{\tau} &= -\partial_{\tau}^{2} - (\hat{a}_{\hbar}^{-1}\partial_{\tau}\hat{a}_{\hbar})\partial_{\tau} \\ &= -\partial_{\tau}^{2} + \hbar\hat{a}_{\hbar}^{-1}(\zeta_{\mu}\kappa + \tau\kappa\partial_{\tau}\zeta_{\mu})\partial_{\tau} \\ &= -\partial_{\tau}^{2} + \hbar\zeta_{\mu}\kappa\partial_{\tau} + \hbar w_{\hbar,2}\partial_{\tau} + \hbar^{2}v_{\hbar} \end{aligned}$$

where the functions  $v_{\hbar}$  and  $w_{\hbar,2}$  are smooth functions satisfy, uniformly with respect to s, and  $\hbar$ ,

$$v_{\hbar} = \mathscr{O}(\langle \tau \rangle) \partial_{\tau}$$
 and  $w_{\hbar,2} = \mathscr{O}(|\langle \tau \rangle \partial_{\tau} \zeta_{\mu}|).$ 

We get this expansion of the operator

$$\begin{split} \mathscr{N}_{\hbar} &= \left(-\partial_{\tau}^2+\mathfrak{p}_0^2
ight)+\hbar\left(\mathfrak{p}_0\mathfrak{p}_1+\mathfrak{p}_1\mathfrak{p}_0+\zeta_{\mu}\kappa\partial_{ au}
ight)+\hbar w_{\hbar,2}\partial_{ au} \ &+\hbar^2\left(v_{\hbar}+\mathfrak{p}_0\mathscr{R}_{\hbar}+\mathscr{R}_{\hbar}\mathfrak{p}_0+\mathfrak{p}_1^2+\hbar(\mathfrak{p}_1\mathscr{R}_{\hbar}+\mathscr{R}_{\hbar}\mathfrak{p}_1)+\hbar^2\mathscr{R}_{\hbar}^2
ight), \end{split}$$

then, the conclusion follows from the composition theorem for pseudo-differential operators, see Theorem A.2.4 .  $\hfill \Box$ 

### 5.4.3 Dimensional reduction

The aim of this section is to analyse the spectrum of  $\mathcal{N}_{\hbar}$ . This can be done thanks to a Grushin reduction. The principal symbol of  $\mathfrak{N}_{\hbar}$  is the "de Gennes operator" with Robin boundary conditions. Explicitly, we have

$$n_0(s,\sigma) = -\partial_\tau^2 + (\Xi_0(\sigma) - \tau)^2.$$

The increasing sequence of its (simple) eigenvalues is  $(\mu_k(\Xi_0(\sigma)))_{k \ge 1}$ . We recall that the functions  $\mu_k$  are described in Proposition 5.1.2.

Now, consider the window  $[a, b] \subset (2n - 1, 2n + 1)$ .

**Lemma 5.4.5.** For all  $z \in [a, b]$ , let us consider the matrix operator

$$\mathscr{P}_0(z) = \begin{pmatrix} n_0(s,\sigma) - z & \Pi^* \\ \Pi & 0 \end{pmatrix} : B^2(\mathbb{R}_+) \times \mathbb{C}^N \longrightarrow L^2(\mathbb{R}_+) \times \mathbb{C}^N,$$

where  $\Pi^*(\alpha) = \sum_{j=1}^N \alpha_j \hat{u}_j$  and  $\Pi \psi = (\langle \psi, \hat{u}_j \rangle)_{1 \leq k \leq N}$ . Then,  $\mathscr{P}_0(z)$  is bijective with inverse

$$\mathscr{Q}_{0}(z) = \begin{pmatrix} q_{0} & \Pi^{*} \\ \Pi & z - M_{0}(\sigma) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad q_{0} = (n_{0}(s,\sigma) - z)^{-1} (\Pi^{*}\Pi)^{\perp},$$

where  $M_0(\sigma)$  is the diagonal  $N \times N$  matrix whose diagonal is  $(\overset{\circ}{\mu}_1, \ldots, \overset{\circ}{\mu}_N)$ .

*Proof.* Let  $g \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^+)$  and  $\beta \in \mathbb{C}^N$ . Let us look for  $f \in \text{Dom}(n_0)$  and  $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}^N$  such that

$$\mathscr{P}_0(z)(f \oplus \alpha) = g \oplus \beta.$$

In other words,

$$\begin{cases} (n_0(s,\sigma) - z)f + \Pi^* \alpha = g, \\ \Pi f = \beta. \end{cases}$$

Let  $E = \operatorname{span}(\overset{\circ}{u}_1, \ldots, \overset{\circ}{u}_N)$ , and  $F = E^{\perp}$ . We can write

$$f = f_E + f_F,$$

where

$$f_E = \sum_{j=1}^N \langle f, \overset{\circ}{u}_j \rangle \overset{\circ}{u}_j$$

Or  $\Pi f = \beta$ , then  $\langle f, \overset{\circ}{u}_j \rangle = \beta_j$ . Therefore,

$$f_E = \Pi^* \beta = \Pi^* \Pi f, \quad f_F = (\Pi^* \Pi)^{\perp} f.$$

We have

$$(n_0(s,\sigma) - z)f_F = -(n_0(s,\sigma) - z)f_E - \Pi^* \alpha + g$$
  
= -(n\_0(s,\sigma) - z)  $\sum_{j=1}^N \beta_j \mathring{u}_j - \Pi^* \alpha + g$ ,

so that

$$(n_0(s,\sigma) - z)f_F = -\sum_{j=1}^N \beta_j (\mathring{\mu}_j - z) \mathring{u}_j - \Pi^* \alpha + g.$$
(5.42)

The space F is stable by  $n_0(s, \sigma) - z$  in the sense that: For all  $u \in \text{Dom}(n_0) \cap F$ , we have

$$\langle (n_0(s,\sigma)-z)u, \overset{\circ}{u}_j \rangle = \langle u, (n_0(s,\sigma)-z)\overset{\circ}{u}_j \rangle = \langle u, \overset{\circ}{\mu}_j \overset{\circ}{u}_j - z\overset{\circ}{u}_j \rangle = 0.$$

The operator  $n_0(s, \sigma) - z$  stabilizes F and thus induces an operator on  $Dom(n_0) \cap F$ .

Moreover, thanks to the self-adjointness of  $n_0$ , the min-max principle and the fact that  $\min \overset{\circ}{\mu}_{N+1} \ge$ 2N + 1 > z, there exists c > 0 such that, for all  $u \in \text{Dom}(n_0) \cap F$ ,

$$\langle (n_0 - z)u, u \rangle = \langle n_0 u, u \rangle - z ||u||^2 \ge (\overset{\circ}{\mu}_{N+1} - z) ||u||^2 \ge c ||u||^2.$$

Thus, the operator  $(n_0 - z)_{|F}$  is injective with closed range and, by considering the adjoint, we deduce that

it is bijective. We also notice that

$$||(n_0 - z)_{|F}^{-1}|| \leq (\overset{\circ}{\mu}_{N+1} - z)^{-1} \leq c^{-1}.$$

Then (5.42) has a solution if and only if the right-hand-side belongs to F, that is

$$-\sum_{j=1}^{N} \beta_j (\overset{\circ}{\mu}_j - z) \overset{\circ}{u}_j - \Pi^* \alpha + g \in F$$
$$\Rightarrow -\sum_{j=1}^{N} \beta_j (\overset{\circ}{\mu}_j - z) \overset{\circ}{u}_j - \sum_{j=1}^{N} \alpha_j \overset{\circ}{u}_j + g \in F,$$

then,

$$\left\langle -\sum_{j=1}^N \beta_j (\mathring{\mu}_j - z) \mathring{u}_j - \sum_{j=1}^N \alpha_j \mathring{u}_j + g, \mathring{u}_k \right\rangle = 0, \quad \forall \, k = 1, \dots, N.$$

As,  $\overset{\mathrm{o}}{u}_j$  is an orthonormal family, then

$$-\beta_k(\mathring{\mu}_k - z) - \alpha_k + \langle g, \mathring{u}_k \rangle = 0,$$

we deduce that,

$$\alpha_k = \beta_k (z - \overset{\circ}{\mu}_k) + \langle g, \overset{\circ}{u}_k \rangle$$

and

$$\alpha = \begin{pmatrix} \beta_1(z - \mathring{\mu}_1) + \langle g, \mathring{u}_1 \rangle \\ \vdots \\ \beta_N(z - \mathring{\mu}_N) + \langle g, \mathring{u}_N \rangle \end{pmatrix} = \Pi g + (z - M_0(\sigma)\beta)$$

This unique solution is given by

$$f_F = (\Pi^*\Pi)^{\perp} \Big[ -\sum_{j=1}^N \beta_j (\overset{\circ}{\mu}_j - z) (n_0(s,\sigma) - z)^{-1} \overset{\circ}{u}_j - (n_0(s,\sigma) - z)^{-1} \Pi^* \alpha + (n_0(s,\sigma) - z)^{-1} g \Big]$$
  
=  $(\Pi^*\Pi)^{\perp} (n_0(s,\sigma) - z)^{-1} g.$ 

Therefore,

$$f = f_E + f_F = \Pi^* \beta + (\Pi^* \Pi)^{\perp} (n_0(s, \sigma) - z)^{-1} g.$$

Let us now consider the full symbol

$$\mathscr{P}_{\hbar}(z) := \begin{pmatrix} n_{\hbar} - z & \Pi^* \\ \Pi & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

which may be expanded in powers of  $\hbar$  as

$$\mathscr{P}_{\hbar}(z) = \mathscr{P}_{0}(z) + \hbar \mathscr{P}_{1}(z) + \mathscr{R}_{\hbar},$$

with

$$\mathscr{P}_0(z) = \begin{pmatrix} n_0(s,\sigma) - z & \Pi^* \\ \Pi & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathscr{P}_1(z) = \begin{pmatrix} n_1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathscr{R}_{\hbar}(z) = \begin{pmatrix} r_{\hbar} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

where  $r_{\hbar} = \hbar^2 r_{\hbar}^{(2)} + \hbar w_{\hbar} \partial_{\tau}$ , see Proposition 5.4.4. We notice that

$$\mathscr{P}^{\mathrm{W}}_{\hbar} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathfrak{N}_{\hbar} - z & \mathfrak{P}^* \\ \mathfrak{P} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \mathfrak{P} = \Pi^{\mathrm{W}}.$$
(5.43)

Since the principal symbol of  $\mathscr{P}^{W}_{\hbar}$  is bijective, it is natural to try to construct an approximate inverse in the semiclassical limit. Let us look for an approximate inverse whose symbol is in the form

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\hbar,1} = \mathcal{Q}_0(z) + \hbar \mathcal{Q}_1(z).$$

As in [Ker18], we are led to choose

$$\mathcal{Q}_1 = -\mathcal{Q}_0 \mathscr{P}_1 \mathcal{Q}_0 = -\begin{pmatrix} q_0 n_1 q_0 & q_0 n_1 \Pi^* \\ \Pi n_1 q_0 & \Pi n_1 \Pi^* \end{pmatrix}.$$

This choice is convenient since the composition theorem for pseudo-differential operators (see [Ker18]) implies that

$$\begin{split} \mathscr{Q}^{\mathrm{W}}_{\hbar,1}\left(\mathscr{P}_{0}(z)+\hbar\mathscr{P}_{1}\right)^{\mathrm{W}} &= \mathrm{Id} + \hbar\left(\frac{1}{i}\{\mathscr{Q}_{0},\mathscr{P}_{0}\}+\mathscr{Q}_{0}\mathscr{P}_{1}+\mathscr{Q}_{1}\mathscr{P}_{0}\right)^{\mathrm{W}} \\ &+\mathscr{O}_{L^{2}(\mathbf{T}_{2L}\times\mathbb{R}_{+},\langle\tau\rangle^{N}\mathrm{d}s\mathrm{d}\tau)\times L^{2}(\mathbf{T}_{2L})\to L^{2}(\mathbf{T}_{2L}\times\mathbb{R}_{+})\times L^{2}(\mathbf{T}_{2L})}(\hbar^{2}), \end{split}$$

where the remainder is estimated thanks to the Calderón-Vaillancourt theorem (see [Ker18, Theorem 2.1.16]) and the resolvent estimate in Lemma 5.6.3 (applied with an appropriate  $\alpha > 0$ ). The  $\hbar$ -term vanishes due the choice of  $\mathcal{Q}_1$  and that fact that the Poisson bracket is actually 0 since the principal symbol does not depend on *s*. With this choice, the bottom right coefficient, denoted by  $\mathcal{Q}_{\hbar,1}^{\pm}$ , of the matrix  $\mathcal{Q}_{\hbar,1}$  is

$$\mathscr{Q}_{\hbar,1}^{\pm} = z - M_0(\sigma) - \hbar \Pi n_1 \Pi^*$$

This invites to consider the effective matrix pseudo-differential operator whose symbol is

$$M_{\hbar} = M_0(\sigma) + \hbar M_1(s,\sigma),$$

with

$$M_1(s,\sigma) = \kappa(s)\Pi \mathscr{C}(\tau,\chi_0(\sigma))\Pi^*, \quad \mathscr{C}(\tau,\xi) = (\xi-\tau)\zeta_{\mu}^2\tau^2 + \zeta_{\mu}\partial_{\tau} + 2\zeta_{\mu}\tau(\xi-\tau)^2.$$

Using again the composition theorem to deal with the remainder  $\mathscr{R}_{\hbar}$ , we get

$$\mathscr{Q}_{\hbar,1}^{\mathrm{W}}\mathscr{P}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{W}} = \mathrm{Id} + \mathscr{O}_{L^{2}(\mathbf{T}_{2L} \times \mathbb{R}_{+}, \langle \tau \rangle^{N} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}\tau) \times L^{2}(\mathbf{T}_{2L}) \to L^{2}(\mathbf{T}_{2L} \times \mathbb{R}_{+}) \times L^{2}(\mathbf{T}_{2L})}(\hbar^{2}) + \mathscr{Q}_{\hbar,1}^{\mathrm{W}} \begin{pmatrix} \hbar w_{\hbar} \partial_{\tau} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}^{\mathrm{W}}.$$
(5.44)

Moreover, similar arguments show that  $\mathscr{Q}_{\hbar,1}^{W}$  is also an approximate right inverse of  $\mathscr{P}_{\hbar}^{W}$  in the sense that

$$\mathscr{P}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{W}}\mathscr{Q}_{\hbar,1}^{\mathrm{W}} = \mathrm{Id} + \mathscr{O}_{L^{2}(\mathbf{T}_{2L} \times \mathbb{R}_{+}, \langle \tau \rangle^{N} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}\tau) \times L^{2}(\mathbf{T}_{2L}) \to L^{2}(\mathbf{T}_{2L} \times \mathbb{R}_{+}) \times L^{2}(\mathbf{T}_{2L})}(\hbar^{2}) + \begin{pmatrix} \hbar w_{\hbar} \partial_{\tau} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}^{\mathrm{W}} \mathscr{Q}_{\hbar,1}^{\mathrm{W}}.$$
(5.45)
**Proposition 5.4.6.** The spectrum of  $\mathscr{L}_h$  in [ah, bh] coincides (with multiplicity) with that of  $hOp_h^W M_h$  modulo  $\mathscr{O}(h^2)$ .

*Proof.* First, we consider  $\psi$  an eigenfunction of  $\mathscr{L}_h$  associated with  $\lambda \in [ah, bh]$ . We use (5.44) with  $z = h^{-1}\lambda$  we get that

$$\mathscr{Q}_{\hbar,1}^{\mathrm{W}}\mathscr{P}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{W}}\begin{pmatrix}\varphi\\0\end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix}\varphi\\0\end{pmatrix} + \mathscr{O}(\hbar^{2})\|\varphi\|,$$

where  $\varphi$  denotes the function  $\psi$  after multiplication by a cutoff function in t and rescaling as in Proposition 5.3.1. Note that we used the exponential decay in  $\tau$  of our quasimode  $\varphi$  (which comes from that of  $\psi$ ) to control the remainder term in (5.44). We infer that

$$\mathfrak{P}^*\mathfrak{P}\varphi = \varphi + \mathscr{O}(\hbar) \|\varphi\|, \quad (\hat{\lambda} - \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{W} M_{\hbar}) \mathfrak{P}\varphi = \mathscr{O}(\hbar^2) \|\varphi\|,$$
(5.46)

where we used that the principal symbol of the top right coefficient of  $\mathcal{Q}_{\hbar,1}$  is  $\Pi^*$ . Since  $\mathfrak{P}^*$  is bounded uniformly in  $\hbar$  (as the quantization of a bounded symbol), the first relation implies that

$$\|\varphi\| \leqslant C \|\mathfrak{P}\varphi\|.$$

Then, from the second relation and the spectral theorem, we deduce that

$$\operatorname{dist}(\hat{\lambda}, \operatorname{Sp}(\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{W} M_{\hbar})) \leqslant C\hbar^{2}.$$

This means that the spectrum of  $h^{-1}\mathscr{L}_h$  in the window [ah, bh] is at a distance of order  $\hbar^2$  to the spectrum of the effective operator  $\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^W M_{\hbar}$ .

Let us now proceed as in the proof of Proposition 5.3.2 and keep the same notation. We have

$$\left\| (\oplus_{j=1}^{p} \mathscr{N}_{\hbar} - \hat{\lambda}) \varphi \right\| \leqslant \varepsilon_{h} \|\varphi\|, \quad \varepsilon_{h} = \mathscr{O}(h^{\infty}),$$

for all  $\varphi = (\varphi_1, \dots, \varphi_p) \in \bigoplus_{j=1}^p \hat{\chi}_{\hbar} \hat{E}_j$  and where  $\hat{\lambda} = (\hat{\lambda}_1, \dots, \hat{\lambda}_p)$ .

Similarly as (5.46), we have

$$\|\varphi\| \leqslant C \|\mathfrak{P}\varphi\|,\tag{5.47}$$

and

$$(\oplus_{j=1}^{p} \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{W} M_{\hbar} - \hat{\lambda}) \mathfrak{P} \varphi = \mathscr{O}(\hbar^{2}) \| \mathfrak{P} \varphi \|,$$

where  $\mathfrak{P}\varphi = (\mathfrak{P}\varphi_1, \dots, \mathfrak{P}\varphi_p)$ . Due to (5.47), the action of the map  $\mathfrak{P}$  is injective on  $\bigoplus_{j=1}^p \hat{\chi}_h \hat{E}_j$ . Therefore, as in the proof of Proposition 5.3.2, the spectral theorem provides us with

$$\operatorname{rank} \mathbb{1}_{J_h}(\mathscr{L}_h) \leqslant \operatorname{rank} \mathbb{1}_{K_h}(hM_{\hbar}^{W}),$$

where  $J_h \subset I_h$  and  $K_h$  is an interval such that  $J_h \subset K_h$  and  $d_H(J_h, K_h) = \mathcal{O}(h^2)$ .

Let us now prove the converse estimate. We use (5.45) with an eigenvalue  $z = \hat{\lambda}$  of  $M_{\hbar}^{W}$  and for f a corresponding eigenfunction. We have

$$\mathscr{P}^{\mathrm{W}}_{\hbar}\mathscr{Q}^{\mathrm{W}}_{\hbar,1}\begin{pmatrix}0\\f\end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix}0\\f\end{pmatrix} + \mathscr{O}(\hbar^2)||f||,$$
(5.48)

where the remainder term involving  $w_{\hbar}$  has been controled by using the exponential decay of the eigenfunctions of the de Gennes - Robin operator  $n_0$ .

Then, the first line in (5.48) gives

$$\left(\mathscr{N}_{\hbar} - \hat{\lambda}\right) \left(\mathscr{Q}^{+}_{\hbar,1}\right)^{\mathrm{W}} f = \mathscr{O}(\hbar^{2}) \|f\|,$$
(5.49)

where as the second line gives

$$\mathfrak{P}\left(\mathscr{Q}_{\hbar,1}^{+}\right)^{\mathsf{W}} f = \mathscr{O}(\hbar^{2}) \|f\|,$$
$$\|f\| \leq C \left\| \left(\mathscr{Q}_{\hbar,1}^{+}\right)^{\mathsf{W}} f \right\|$$

\*\*\*

which leads to

$$\|f\| \leq C \left\| \left( \mathscr{Q}_{\hbar,1}^+ \right)^{\mathsf{W}} f \right\|$$

With (5.49), we get

$$(\mathscr{N}_{\hbar} - \hat{\lambda}) \left(\mathscr{Q}^{+}_{\hbar,1}\right)^{\mathrm{W}} f = \mathscr{O}(\hbar^{2}) \left\| \left(\mathscr{Q}^{+}_{\hbar,1}\right)^{\mathrm{W}} f \right\|.$$

Now, by using the exponential decay of  $\left(\mathcal{Q}_{\hbar,1}^+\right)^W f$  and the rough microlocalization of f in the support of  $\Xi_0$  (since the principal symbol of the scalar pseudodifferential operator  $M_{\hbar}$  is  $n_0$ ), we get the quasimode estimate

$$(\mathscr{L}_h - \lambda)\psi^{\text{quasi}} = \mathscr{O}(h^2) \|\psi^{\text{quasi}}\|$$

with  $\psi^{\rm quasi}(x) = \chi(t(x)/\hbar^{1-\gamma}) \Psi^{\rm quasi} \circ \Gamma^{-1}(x)$  where

$$\Psi^{\text{quasi}}(s,t) = \left(\mathscr{Q}^+_{\hbar,1}\right)^{\mathsf{W}} f(s,\hbar^{-1}t),$$

and  $\chi$  is a smooth cutoff function equal to 1 near 0 and 0 away from a neighborhood of t = 0 and  $\gamma \in (0, 1)$  is chosen small enough so that  $t\zeta(h^{-\frac{1}{2}+\rho}t) = t$  on the support of  $\chi(t/\hbar^{1-\gamma})$ .

The spectral theorem shows that  $\lambda$  is close to the spectrum of  $\mathscr{L}_h$  at a distance or order at most  $\mathscr{O}(h^2)$ . The argument concerning the multiplicities can again be used (as above) by exchanging the roles of  $\mathscr{N}_h$  and  $M_h^W$ . The conclusion follows.

**Remark 5.4.1.** In Proposition 5.3.2 we only proved one inclusion of spectra. In contrast, Proposition 5.4.6 is stronger, since it provides an equality  $\mathcal{O}(h^2)$ , in the sense of Definition 5.1.6. Indeed, in the proof of Proposition 5.4.6, we only have to use quasimodes for  $\mathcal{N}_h$  and not necessarily the true eigenfunctions of  $\mathcal{N}_h$  (whose existence in the spectral window of interest is not obvious). Our presentation avoids the spectral analysis of  $\mathcal{N}_h$  (existence of the discrete spectrum, Agmon estimates, etc.) by comparing directly the spectra of  $\mathcal{L}_h$  and of the effective operator.

### 5.5 Analysis of the effective operator

This section is devoted to the spectral study of  $M_{\hbar}^{W}$  in [a, b]. Let us diagonalize this operator, up to a remainder of order  $\mathcal{O}(\hbar^2)$ . Note that, by using the exponential decay of the eigenfunctions of  $n_0$ , we may (and so do we) replace  $\zeta_{\mu}$  by 1.

### 5.5.1 Asymptotic diagonalization and end of the proof of Theorem 5.1.7

We notice that the spectrum of

$$\mathscr{T}_{\hbar} = \exp(\hbar A^{\mathrm{W}}) M_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{W}} \exp(-\hbar A^{\mathrm{W}})$$

is the same as the one of  $M_{\hbar}^{W}$ , as soon as A belongs to S(1) and is 2L-periodic with respect to s. In this case, we recall that  $A^{W}$  is bounded from  $L^{2}(\mathbf{T}_{2L})$  to  $L^{2}(\mathbf{T}_{2L})$  (and thus its exponential is well-defined as an element of  $\mathscr{L}(L^{2}(\mathbf{T}_{2L}))$  thanks to the classical power series). Let us explain how to choose A. By expanding the exponential, we have

$$\mathscr{T}_{\hbar} = (\mathrm{Id} + \hbar A^{\mathrm{W}}) M_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{W}} (\mathrm{Id} - \hbar A^{\mathrm{W}}) + \mathscr{O}(\hbar^2),$$

and thus

$$\mathscr{T}_{\hbar} = M_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{W}} + \hbar[A^{\mathrm{W}}, M_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{W}}] + \mathscr{O}(\hbar^2),$$

so that

$$\mathscr{T}_{\hbar} = M_0^{\mathrm{W}} + \hbar \left( M_1 + [A, M_0] \right)^{\mathrm{W}} + \mathscr{O}(\hbar^2).$$

Therefore, A should be chosen so that  $M_1 - [M_0, A]$  is diagonal. The map  $\operatorname{Skew}_n(\mathbb{R}) \ni A \mapsto [M_0, A] \in \operatorname{Sym}_n^0(\mathbb{R})$  is well-defined and an isomorphism since  $M_0$  is diagonal with distinct real entries, where  $\operatorname{Skew}_n(\mathbb{R})$  is the vector space of skew-symmetric matrices and  $\operatorname{Sym}_n^0(\mathbb{R})$  the space of symmetric matrices with null diagonal. It is actually easy to compute its inverse. Consider M a symmetric matrix with null diagonal. We want to find  $A \in \operatorname{Skew}_n(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $[M_0, A] = M$ . For all  $j \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ , we have

$$(M_0 - \check{\mu}_j)Ae_j = Me_j,$$

and then, for all  $k \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ ,

$$(\overset{\circ}{\mu}_{k}-\overset{\circ}{\mu}_{j})\langle Ae_{j},e_{k}\rangle=\langle Me_{j},e_{k}\rangle$$

Thus, for all  $k \neq j$ ,

$$\langle Ae_j, e_k \rangle = (\overset{\circ}{\mu}_k - \overset{\circ}{\mu}_j)^{-1} \langle Me_j, e_k \rangle,$$

which determines a unique  $A \in \operatorname{Skew}_n(\mathbb{R})$ .

Since there is a uniform gap between the  $\mathring{\mu}_j$  (with respect to  $\sigma$ ), we get the existence of a skew-symmetric A in S(1) such that

$$\underbrace{M_1 - \operatorname{diag}(M_1)}_{\in \operatorname{Sym}_n^0(\mathbb{R})} + [A, M_0] = 0.$$

With this choice, we get

$$\mathscr{T}_{\hbar} = M_0^{\mathrm{W}} + \hbar \mathrm{diag}(M_1^{\mathrm{W}}) + \mathscr{O}(\hbar^2).$$

Note that, for all  $j \in \{1, ..., n\}$ , we have  $\langle M_1 e_j, e_j \rangle = \kappa(s) \langle \mathscr{C}(\tau, \Xi_0(\sigma)) u_j^{[\Xi_0(\sigma), \gamma]}, u_j^{[\Xi_0(\sigma), \gamma]} \rangle$ . By the spectral theorem, we deduce that the spectra of  $M_{\hbar}^{W}$  and  $M_0^{W} + \hbar \operatorname{diag}(M_1^{W})$  coincide modulo  $\mathscr{O}(\hbar^2)$ . This procedure can be continued at any order.

### 5.5.2 Spectral consequences

The aim of this last section is to prove Proposition 5.1.8 and Corollary 5.1.11.

### 5.5.2.1 Proof of Proposition 5.1.8

We could not find this particular statement in the literature, because a) we have to deal with non-connected level sets of the principal symbol, and b) we have Floquet periodic conditions, with  $\hbar$ -dependent Floquet exponent.. The first issue is treated with usual microlocal arguments: each connected component carries with itself a Bohr-Sommerfeld asymptotic series, as in [HR84], and the initial spectrum is obtained, modulo  $\mathcal{O}(\hbar^{\infty})$ , by the superposition (with multiplicities) of all these series. The second one is easily included in

the general theory thanks to the "sheaf" approach of [VN00]. Indeed, near each point of the energy level curve  $\sigma = \text{const}$ , the operator  $P_{\hbar}$  is microlocally a usual  $\hbar$ -pseudo-differential operator, and the quantum Darboux-Carathéodory normal form holds. Therefore, the Bohr-Sommerfeld cocycle of [VN00, Proposition 5.6] holds; the difference being that the condition for a global section should include the Floquet exponent  $\alpha$ . This gives a Bohr-Sommerfeld rule for quantized energies E (for each connected component) of the form

$$\mathcal{A}(E) + \hbar m(E)\frac{\pi}{2} + \hbar \mathcal{K}(E) + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^2) = 2\pi\hbar(\ell + \frac{L}{\pi}\alpha), \quad \ell \in \mathbb{Z},$$
(5.50)

where  $\mathcal{A}(E)$  is the action integral (here  $\mathcal{A}(E) = 2L\sigma$  when  $E = \mu(\sigma)$ ), m(E) the Maslov index (which vanishes here, because the curves  $\sigma = \text{const}$  project diffeomorphically on the *s* variable), and  $\mathcal{K}(E)$  is the integral of the subprincipal form [VN00, Definition 3.2] along the energy level set. In order to compute  $\mathcal{K}$ , we notice that the Hamiltonian vector field of  $\mu(\sigma)$  is  $\mu'(\sigma)\frac{\partial}{\partial s}$  and hence the subprincipal form is  $\frac{-r}{\mu'(\sigma)}ds$ , where *r* is the subprincipal symbol of P<sub>h</sub> (here  $r = -C(\sigma)\kappa(s)$ ). Hence, for  $E = \mu(\sigma)$ , we have

$$\mathcal{K}(E) = \frac{C(\sigma)}{\mu'(\sigma)} \int_{|\Sigma_q}^{2L} \kappa(s) \mathrm{d}s$$

Inverting the formal series (5.50), we get

$$E = \mu(\sigma) - \mathcal{K}(\mu(\sigma)) \frac{1}{2L} \mu'(\sigma) + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^2), \quad \sigma = \frac{\pi}{L} \hbar (\ell + \frac{L}{\pi} \alpha)$$

which gives (5.9) and (5.10).

#### 5.5.2.2 Proof of Corollary 5.1.11

Thanks to Proposition 5.4.6 and the considerations in Section 5.5.1, we know that the spectrum of  $\mathscr{L}_h$  in [ah, bh] coincides with that of  $hM_{\hbar}^{W}$  modulo  $\mathscr{O}(h^2)$ . In the present section, since we are interested in the low-lying eigenvalues, we take  $a = -\infty$  and  $b = \Theta_0(\gamma) + \varepsilon < 1$  (for  $\varepsilon > 0$  small enough). Therefore, we have n = 1 and the matrix symbol  $M_{\hbar}$  reduces to a scalar symbol:

$$M_{\hbar}(s,\sigma) = \mu_1(\gamma,\sigma) + \hbar\kappa(s) \langle \mathscr{C}(\tau,\Xi_0(\sigma))u_1^{[\Xi_0(\sigma),\gamma]}, u_1^{[\Xi_0(\sigma),\gamma]} \rangle.$$

We are interested in the spectrum of  $M_{\hbar}^{W}$  (when acting on  $e^{isf_0/h}L^2(\mathbf{T}_{2L})$ ). Thanks to the Weyl asymptotic formula for pseudodifferential operators (see, for instance, [Zwo12, Theorem 14.11]), the counting function  $N(M_{\hbar}^{W}, \Theta_0(\gamma) + \varepsilon)$  (giving the number of eigenvalues less than  $\Theta_0(\gamma) + \varepsilon$ ) satisfies

$$N(M_{\hbar}^{W}, \Theta_{0}(\gamma) + \varepsilon) = \frac{1}{2\pi\hbar} \int_{\{(s,\sigma):\mu_{1}(\sigma) \leqslant \Theta_{0}(\gamma) + \varepsilon\}} ds d\sigma + o(\hbar^{-1})$$
$$= \frac{L}{\pi\hbar} |\{\sigma: \mu_{1}(\sigma) \leqslant \Theta_{0}(\gamma) + \varepsilon\}| (1 + o(1)).$$

Now, we take  $\varepsilon = \hbar^{\eta}$ , for some given  $\eta > 0$ .

Due to the non-degeneracy of the minimum of  $\sigma \mapsto \mu_1(\gamma, \Xi_0(\sigma))$ , the eigenfunctions associated with eigenvalues less than b are microlocalized in a neighborhood of  $\xi_0(\gamma)$  of size  $\hbar^{\eta/2}$  (and so are all the linear combinations of such eigenfunctions due to the Weyl estimate). This invites us to expand the symbol near  $\xi_0(\gamma)$ :

$$M_{\hbar}(s,\sigma) = \Theta_0(\gamma) + \frac{\partial_{\sigma}^2 \mu(\gamma,\xi_0(\gamma))}{2} (\sigma - \xi_0(\gamma))^2 - \hbar \kappa(s) C_1(\xi_0(\gamma)) + \mathcal{O}(|\sigma - \xi_0(\gamma)|^3 + \hbar |\sigma - \xi_0(\gamma)|), \quad (5.51)$$

where  $C_1(\xi_0(\gamma)) > 0$ , as soon as  $\gamma < \gamma_0^{[0]}$  (see Remark 5.1.5). Therefore,  $M_{\hbar}$  is relative perturbation of the symbol of a classical electric Schrödinger operator. The corresponding operator is

$$\mathscr{M}_{\hbar} = \Theta_0(\gamma) + \frac{\partial_{\sigma}^2 \mu(\gamma, \xi_0(\gamma))}{2} (\hbar D_s - \xi_0(\gamma))^2 - \hbar \kappa(s) C_1(\xi_0(\gamma)).$$

The assumption that  $\kappa$  has a unique maximum, which is non-degenerate, allows to use the harmonic approximation near the maximum of  $\kappa$  (and even a Birkhoff normal form, see, for instance, [Ray17, Chapter 5]). The eigenvalues of  $\mathcal{M}_{\hbar}$  satisfy

$$\lambda_j(\mathscr{M}_{\hbar}) = \Theta_0(\gamma) - \kappa_{\max} C_1(\xi_0(\gamma))\hbar + \left( (2j-1)\sqrt{\frac{C_1(\xi_0(\gamma))k_2\mu_1''(\gamma,\xi_0(\gamma))}{4}} \right)\hbar^{\frac{3}{2}} + o(\hbar^{\frac{3}{2}}),$$

uniformly in  $j \ge 1$  such that  $j\hbar^{\frac{1}{2}} = o(1)$ .

We recall that  $\hbar = h^{\frac{1}{2}}$ . We get Corollary 5.1.11 by noticing, thanks to a perturbative analysis using (5.51), that the spectra of  $hM_{\hbar}^{W}$  and  $h\mathcal{M}_{\hbar}$  below  $h(\Theta_0(\gamma) + \hbar^{\eta})$  coincide modulo  $o(h^{\frac{7}{4}})$ .

### 5.5.2.3 **Proof of Theorem 5.1.10**

By Theorem 5.1.7, and Definition 5.1.6 we have, for  $\epsilon = \mathcal{O}(h)$ ,

$$N(h\mathfrak{M}_h, [h(a+\epsilon), h(b-\epsilon)]) \leqslant N(\mathscr{L}_h, [ha, hb]) \leqslant N(h\mathfrak{M}_h, [h(a-\epsilon), h(b+\epsilon)]).$$
(5.52)

From Corollary 5.1.9, for any interval [a', b'] disjoint from  $\Theta$  and  $\Lambda$ , the number of eigenvalues of  $h\mathfrak{M}_h$  in [ha', hb'] is bounded by  $C\frac{b'-a'}{h^{1/2}}$  for some constant C > 0. Applying this with (a', b') equal, respectively, to the four intervals  $(a, a + \epsilon)$ ,  $(b - \epsilon, b)$ ,  $(a - \epsilon, a)$ , and  $(b, b + \epsilon)$ , it follows from (5.52) that

$$N(\mathscr{L}_h, [ha, hb]) = N(h\mathfrak{M}_h, [ha, hb]) + \mathscr{O}(\epsilon h^{-1/2}) = N(h\mathfrak{M}_h, [ha, hb]) + \mathscr{O}(h^{1/2})$$

Therefore, it is enough to estimate  $N(h\mathfrak{M}_h, [ha, hb])$ , for which we apply Corollary 5.1.9 (which is actually a description of the spectrum of  $\mathfrak{M}_h$ ). This corollary says that the number of eigenvalues of  $\mathfrak{M}_h$  inside [ha, hb], including multiplicities, is given, modulo  $\mathscr{O}(h^2)$ , by the number of integers  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that

$$h^{\frac{1}{2}}(\frac{\pi}{L}\ell + \alpha(h)) \in f^{-1}_{k,q,h}([a,b]),$$
(5.53)

for some admissible (k, q), where  $f_{k,q,h}(\sigma) := f_{k,q}(\sigma, h^{1/2})$ .

To simplify notations, let us momentarily fix (k, q) and denote

$$f_h := f_{k,q,h} =: f_0 + h^{1/2} f_1 + \mathcal{O}(h),$$

where  $f_0$  and  $f_1$  are defined in (5.11) and (5.12). By assumption,  $f_0$  is monotonous on  $\Sigma_{k,q}$ , let us assume that it is increasing; the decreasing case is obtained by swapping (a, b). For h small enough,  $f_h$  is also increasing and hence  $f_h^{-1}([a, b]) = [f_h^{-1}(a), f_h^{-1}(b)]$ . Therefore, the solutions to (5.53) are exactly the integers belonging to the interval

$$\frac{Lh^{-1/2}}{\pi} [f_h^{-1}(a), f_h^{-1}(b)] - \frac{L}{\pi} \alpha(h).$$
(5.54)

Let  $\sigma = f_h^{-1}(a)$ ; of course  $\sigma$  depends on h, but since  $\sigma \in \Sigma_{k,q}$ , it is bounded and we have  $\sigma = f_0^{-1}(a) + c_0^{-1}(a)$ 

 $\mathscr{O}(h^{1/2})$ . Therefore,  $f_1(\sigma) = f_1(f_0^{-1}(a)) + \mathscr{O}(h^{1/2})$ . According to the statement of Theorem 5.1.10, we denote  $\alpha := f_0^{-1}(a)$ . Writing

$$f_0(\sigma) = a - h^{1/2} f_1(\beta) + \mathcal{O}(h)$$

we get, by Taylor expansion,

$$\sigma = \alpha - h^{1/2} (f_0^{-1})'(a) f_1(\alpha) + \mathscr{O}(h) = \alpha + h^{1/2} \frac{\langle \kappa \rangle C_k(\alpha)}{\mu'_k(\alpha)} + \mathscr{O}(h).$$

Using the analogous formula for  $f_h^{-1}(b)$ , we may compute the difference  $f_h^{-1}(b) - f_h^{-1}(a)$  and obtain the length of the interval (5.54) (with  $\beta := f_0^{-1}(b)$ ):

$$\frac{Lh^{-1/2}}{\pi}(f_h^{-1}(b) - f_h^{-1}(a)) = \frac{Lh^{-1/2}}{\pi}(\beta - \alpha) + \frac{L\langle\kappa\rangle}{\pi}\left(\frac{C_k(\beta)}{\mu'_k(\beta)} - \frac{C_k(\alpha)}{\mu'_k(\alpha)}\right) + \mathcal{O}(h^{1/2}),$$

which gives Theorem 5.1.10 by summing over admissible (k, q).

### 5.6 Appendix

### 5.6.1 A rough Weyl estimate

The aim of this section is recall why (5.3) holds.

– For  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ : Thanks to the Young inequality, we have, for all  $\psi \in H^1(\Omega)$ ,

$$Q_{h,\mathbf{A}}(\psi) \ge \frac{h^2}{2} \|\nabla\psi\|^2 - 2\|A\|_{\infty}^2 \|\psi\|^2 + \gamma h^{\frac{3}{2}} \int_{\partial\Omega} |\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}s.$$

- When  $\gamma \ge 0$ , we get that

$$\mathcal{Q}_{h,\mathbf{A}}(\psi) \ge \frac{h^2}{2} \|\nabla\psi\|^2 - 2\|A\|_{\infty}^2 \|\psi\|^2.$$

- When  $\gamma < 0$ , we use a classical trace theorem: there exists C > 0 such that, for all  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} |\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}s \leqslant \varepsilon \|\nabla\psi\|^2 + C\varepsilon^{-1} \|\psi\|^2.$$

By choosing  $\varepsilon = -\frac{\sqrt{h}}{4\gamma} > 0$ , we deduce that

$$\mathcal{Q}_{h,\mathbf{A}}(\psi) \ge \frac{h^2}{4} \|\nabla\psi\|^2 - 2\|A\|_{\infty}^2 \|\psi\|^2 - 4\gamma^2 Ch\|\psi\|^2.$$

In both cases, there exists  $\tilde{C} > 0$  such that, for all  $h \in (0, 1)$  and all  $\psi \in H^1(\Omega)$ ,

$$\mathcal{Q}_{h,\mathbf{A}}(\psi) \ge \frac{h^2}{4} \|\nabla\psi\|^2 - \tilde{C} \|\psi\|^2.$$

With the min-max principle, this shows that, for all  $\lambda$ ,

$$N(\mathscr{L}_h, \lambda) \leqslant N\left(-\Delta^{\operatorname{Neu}}, 4\frac{\lambda + \tilde{C}}{h^2}\right).$$

The conclusion follows from the Weyl aymptotics for the Neumann Laplacian, which is the same at the

main order as in the Dirichlet case, see, for instance, [NS05, Introduction].

- For  $\gamma = +\infty$ : Thanks to the Young inequality, we have, for all  $\psi \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ ,

$$Q_{h,\mathbf{A}}(\psi) \ge \frac{h^2}{2} \|\nabla\psi\|^2 - 2\|A\|_{\infty}^2 \|\psi\|^2.$$

There exists  $\tilde{C} > 0$  such that, for all  $h \in (0, 1)$  and all  $\psi \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ ,

$$\mathcal{Q}_{h,\mathbf{A}}(\psi) \ge \frac{h^2}{2} \|\nabla\psi\|^2 - \tilde{C} \|\psi\|^2.$$

With the min-max principle, this shows that, for all  $\lambda$ ,

$$N(\mathscr{L}_h, \lambda) \leqslant N\left(-\Delta^{\mathrm{Dir}}, 2\frac{\lambda + \tilde{C}}{h^2}\right).$$

The conclusion follows from the Weyl aymptotics for the Dirichlet Laplacian, see, for instance, [NS05, Introduction].

### 5.6.2 Spectral analysis of de Gennes operator

Lemma 5.6.1. We let

$$u_j^{[\gamma]} = u_j^{[\gamma,\xi_{j-1}(\gamma)]}$$

We have

$$C_{j}(\xi_{j-1}(\gamma)) = \frac{1}{2} \left( u_{j}^{[\gamma]}(0) \right)^{2} - \int_{0}^{+\infty} (t - \xi_{j-1}(\gamma))^{3} \left( u_{j}^{[\gamma]}(t) \right)^{2} dt$$
$$= \frac{1}{3} (1 - \gamma \xi_{j-1}(\gamma)) \left( u_{j}^{[\gamma]}(0) \right)^{2},$$

where  $C_j$  is defined in (5.8).

Proof. We write

$$(\sigma - t)t^2 + 2t(\sigma - t)^2 = (t - \sigma)^3 - \sigma^2(t - \sigma)^2$$

We take  $\sigma = \xi_{j-1}(\gamma)$ . The conclusion follows from Proposition 2.4.11.

**Proposition 5.6.2.** Let us fix  $j \ge 1$ . When  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ , there exists  $\gamma_0^{[j-1]} > 0$ , such that,  $C_j(\xi_{j-1}(\gamma))$  is positive if  $\gamma < \gamma_0^{[j-1]}$  and negative if  $\gamma > \gamma_0^{[j-1]}$ .

*Proof.* We notice that, for  $\gamma \leq 0$ , we get  $C_j(\xi_{j-1}(\gamma)) < 0$ .

Now, for  $\gamma > 0$ . From Proposition 2.4.8, we can rewrite  $C_j(\xi_{j-1}(\gamma))$  as

$$C_{j}(\xi_{j-1}(\gamma)) = \frac{1}{3} \left( 1 - \gamma \sqrt{\gamma^{2} + \Theta^{[j-1]}(\gamma)} \right) \left( u_{j}^{[\gamma]}(0) \right)^{2}.$$

Since  $(u_j^{[\gamma]}(0))^2 > 0$ , then, to study the sign of  $C_j(\xi_{j-1}(\gamma))$  it is sufficient to study the sign of the function

f defined by  $f(\gamma) = 1 - \gamma \sqrt{\gamma^2 + \Theta^{[j-1]}(\gamma)}.$  We have

$$f'(\gamma) = -\sqrt{\gamma^2 + \Theta^{[j-1]}(\gamma)} - \gamma \frac{\left(\Theta^{[j-1]}(\gamma)\right)' + 2\gamma}{\sqrt{\gamma^2 + \Theta^{[j-1]}(\gamma)}}.$$

We can use [Kac06b, Section B] (which can be adapted to  $j \ge 1$ ) to deduce that  $f'(\gamma) < 0$ . Therefore, f is increasing on  $[0, +\infty[$ .

Let us notice now that f(0) = 1 and  $\lim_{\gamma \to +\infty} f(\gamma) = -\infty$ . This establishes the existence of a unique zero of  $f(\gamma)$ , denoted by  $\gamma_0^{[j-1]}$ .

**Lemma 5.6.3.** Let  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\beta \in \mathbb{N}$ . Consider the interval [a, b]. We consider  $\Pi \psi = (\langle \psi, u_j^{[\gamma, \sigma]} \rangle)_{1 \leq j \leq n}$ , where *n* is the number of dispersion curves  $\mu_j(\gamma, \sigma)$  taking values in [a, b] (see the discussion at the beginning of Section 5.3.3). We consider  $\hat{K}$  a neighborhood of  $\tilde{K}$ .

There exists  $C_{\alpha,\beta} > 0$  such that for all  $z \in [a, b]$  and all  $\sigma \in \hat{K}$ , the following holds. For all  $v \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$  such that  $\langle t \rangle^{\alpha} v \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_+)$ , we have

$$\|\langle t \rangle^{-\alpha} \partial_{\sigma}^{\beta} (H[\gamma, \sigma] - z)^{-1} (\Pi^* \Pi)^{\perp} (\langle t \rangle^{\alpha} v)\| \leqslant C_{\alpha, \beta} \|v\|$$

where  $(\Pi^*\Pi)^{\perp} = Id - \Pi^*\Pi$ .

*Proof.* Let us only prove this estimate for  $\beta = 0$ . We consider  $z \in [a, b]$ . Let us consider  $v \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_+)$  and let u be the unique solution to the equation

$$(H[\gamma,\sigma]-z)u = (\Pi^*\Pi)^{\perp}(\langle \epsilon t \rangle_k^{\alpha} v)$$
(5.55)

that is orthogonal to  $(u_j^{[\gamma,\sigma]})_{1\leqslant j\leqslant n},$  with

$$\langle t \rangle_k = \left( 1 + t^2 \chi_k^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

where  $\chi_k$  is a smooth non-negative function equal to 0 on [0, 1] and to 1 on  $[2k, +\infty)$  and such that  $|\chi'_k| \leq k^{-1}$ . In particular, the weight is 1 near 0. Here  $\epsilon > 0$  is a parameter to be chosen small enough.

We have seen in Lemma 5.2.2 that

$$\begin{pmatrix} H[\gamma,\sigma]-z & \Pi^*\\ \Pi & 0 \end{pmatrix} : B^2(\mathbb{R}_+) \times \mathbb{C}^n \longrightarrow L^2(\mathbb{R}_+) \times \mathbb{C}^n$$

is bijective. Thus, the equation (5.55) is equivalent to

$$\begin{pmatrix} H[\gamma,\sigma]-z & \Pi^* \\ \Pi & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} u \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} (\Pi^*\Pi)^{\perp}(\langle t \rangle_k^{\alpha} v) \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Note that

$$\begin{pmatrix} \langle \epsilon t \rangle_k^{-\alpha} & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} H[\gamma, \sigma] - z & \Pi^* \\ \Pi & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \langle \epsilon t \rangle_k^{\alpha} & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} H[\gamma, \sigma] + R_{\epsilon,k} - z & \langle \epsilon t \rangle_k^{-\alpha} \Pi^* \\ \Pi(\cdot \langle \epsilon t \rangle_k^{\alpha}) & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

where

$$R_{\epsilon,k} = -\alpha\epsilon^2 (t^2 \chi_k^2)' \frac{1}{1 + \epsilon^2 t^2 \chi_k^2} \partial_t - \left(\frac{\epsilon^2 \alpha}{2} \frac{(t^2 \chi_k^2)''}{1 + \epsilon^2 t^2 \chi_k^2} + \left(\frac{\alpha}{2} - 1\right) \frac{\epsilon^4 \alpha}{2} \frac{(t^2 \chi_k^2)'^2}{(1 + \epsilon^2 t^2 \chi_k^2)^2}\right)$$

With

we get

$$\mathscr{H}[\gamma,\sigma,\epsilon,k] \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{u} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \langle \epsilon t \rangle_k^{-\alpha} (\Pi^* \Pi)^{\perp} (\langle \epsilon t \rangle_k^{\alpha} v) \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

 $u = \langle \epsilon t \rangle_k^{\alpha} \tilde{u},$ 

with

$$\mathscr{H}[\gamma,\sigma,\epsilon,k] = \begin{pmatrix} H[\gamma,\sigma] + R_{\epsilon,k} - z & \langle \epsilon t \rangle_k^{-\alpha} \Pi^* \\ \Pi(\cdot \langle \epsilon t \rangle_k^{\alpha}) & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Thanks to the exponential decay of the  $u_j^{[\gamma,\sigma]}$  (which is uniform for  $\sigma \in \hat{K}$ ), we notice that  $\mathscr{H}[\gamma, \sigma, \epsilon, k]$  is bijective as soon as  $\epsilon$  is small enough and k large enough. Moreover,

$$\left\|\mathscr{H}[\gamma,\sigma,\epsilon,k]^{-1}\right\| \leqslant C.$$

This implies that

$$\|\tilde{u}\| \leqslant C \|\langle \epsilon t \rangle_k^{-\alpha} (\Pi^* \Pi)^{\perp} (\langle \epsilon t \rangle_k^{\alpha} v) \|$$

and then (by using again the exponential decay of the eigenfunctions)

$$\|\langle \epsilon t \rangle_k^{-\alpha} u\| \leqslant C \|v\|.$$

Taking the limit  $k \to +\infty$ , the Fatou lemma gives

$$\|\langle \epsilon t \rangle^{-\alpha} u\| \leqslant C \|v\|.$$

This provides us with the desired estimate since  $\langle \epsilon t \rangle \langle t \rangle^{-1} \in [\epsilon, 1]$ .

For  $\beta \neq 0$ , simply note that  $(\partial^{\beta} u = \partial^{\beta} H[\gamma, \sigma] - z)(\Pi^*\Pi)^{\perp}(\langle \epsilon t \rangle_k^{\alpha} v)$  and follow the same demonstration steps, by replacing u with  $\partial^{\beta} u$ .

### 5.6.3 Spectral analysis of an operator on a semi-cylinder

In this section, we will establish that the spectra of  $\mathscr{L}_h$  and  $\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_h$  coincide in  $I_h$  modulo  $\mathscr{O}(h^{\infty})$ . Then, we can now focus on the spectral analysis of  $\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_h$ . But, in fact, as we have already seen, our presentation avoids the spectral analysis of  $\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_h$ , but it is important to write the proof because we have used new techniques (in tubular coordinates) without going through the variational method like most magnetic works.

Thanks to the Agmon estimates of the eigenfunctions of  $\mathscr{L}_h$ , we can establish that the spectrum of  $\mathscr{L}_h$  in  $I_h$  is close to that of  $\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_h$ .

**Proposition 5.6.4.** There exists  $h_0 > 0$  such that for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$  the following holds. Let us consider an interval  $J_h \subset I_h$ . Then, there exists an interval  $\hat{J}_h$  such that  $J_h \subset \hat{J}_h \subset I_h$  with  $d_H(J_h, \hat{J}_h) = \mathcal{O}(h^{\infty})$  and

$$\operatorname{rank} \mathbb{1}_{J_h}(\mathscr{L}_h) \leqslant \operatorname{rank} \mathbb{1}_{\hat{J}_h}(\mathscr{L}_h).$$
(5.56)

*Moreover, for all*  $\lambda \in I_h \cap \text{Sp}(\mathscr{L}_h)$ *,* 

$$\operatorname{dist}(\lambda, \operatorname{Sp}(\mathscr{L}_h)) = \mathscr{O}(h^{\infty}).$$
(5.57)

*Proof.* Let us start by proving (5.57). Let us consider an eigenvalue  $\lambda \in I_h$  of  $\mathscr{L}_h$ . We write the eigenvalue equation

$$\mathscr{L}_h \psi = \lambda \psi.$$

Since  $\psi$  satisfies the Agmon estimates of Proposition 5.2.1, we see that

$$\|\chi\psi\| = \|\psi\| + \mathcal{O}(h^{\infty}) \text{ and } \mathcal{L}_h(\chi\psi) = \lambda\chi\psi + \mathcal{O}(h^{\infty}),$$

where  $\chi$  is a smooth function equal to 1 near the boundary and 0 away from a small enough neighborhood of the boundary. On the support of  $\chi$ , we may use the tubular coordinates and we deduce that

$$\widetilde{\mathscr{L}_h}(\tilde{\chi}\tilde{\psi}) = \lambda \tilde{\chi}\tilde{\psi} + \mathscr{O}(h^\infty),$$

where  $\tilde{\chi}, \tilde{\psi}$  is the expression of  $\chi, \psi$  in the tubular coordinates (s, t). Thus, (5.57) follows from the spectral theorem.

Let us now consider (5.56), which deals with multiplicities. Let us write  $\operatorname{Sp}(\mathscr{L}_h) \cap J_h = \{\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_p\}$ (where the  $\lambda_j$  are distinct) and underline that these eigenvalues depend on h as well as p. Consider the associated eigenspaces  $(E_j)_{1 \leq j \leq p}$  and note that  $\dim \bigoplus_{j=1}^p E_j = \mathscr{O}(h^{-2})$ , thanks to the Weyl estimate (5.3). With the same notation as above, we consider the spaces of quasimodes  $(\tilde{\chi}\tilde{E}_j)_{1 \leq j \leq p}$ . Thanks to the Agmon estimates (and the rough Weyl estimate),  $\dim(\tilde{\chi}\tilde{E}_j) = \dim E_j$ , as soon as h is small enough. Moreover, we have

$$\|(\oplus_{j=1}^{p}\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h}-\lambda)\varphi\|\leqslant\varepsilon_{h}\|\varphi\|,\quad\varepsilon_{h}=\mathscr{O}(h^{\infty}),$$

for all  $\varphi = (\varphi_1, \dots, \varphi_p) \in \bigoplus_{j=1}^p \tilde{\chi} \tilde{E}_j$  and where  $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_p)$ .

We set  $J_h = [a_h, b_h]$  and  $\hat{J}_h = [a_h - \varepsilon_h, b_h + \varepsilon_h]$ . If rank  $\mathbb{1}_{\hat{J}_h}(\widetilde{\mathscr{L}_h}) < \operatorname{rank} \mathbb{1}_{J_h}(\mathscr{L}_h)$ , then the projection

$$\Pi: \bigoplus_{j=1}^{p} \tilde{\chi} \tilde{E}_{j} \to \operatorname{ran} \mathbb{1}_{\hat{J}_{h}}(\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h})$$

could not be injective. Considering a non-zero  $\varphi$  in its kernel, the spectral theorem would give

$$\|(\oplus_{j=1}^{p}\widetilde{\mathscr{L}_{h}}-\lambda)\varphi\|>\varepsilon_{h}\|\varphi\|,$$

which is a contradiction when  $\varphi \neq 0$ . Therefore, (5.56) follows.

The aim of the following section is to prove the converse estimate. For this, one needs to prove that the eigenfunctions of  $\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_h$  have an exponential decay with respect to t, and thus that they can serve a good quasimodes for  $\mathscr{L}_h$ .

### **5.6.3.1** Agmon estimates for $\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_h$

In this section, we establish the following.

**Proposition 5.6.5.** There exist  $\alpha > 0, C > 0, h_0 > 0$  such that for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$  and all eigenfunctions  $\psi$  of  $\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_h$  associated with an eigenvalue in  $I_h$ , we have

$$\int_{[-L,L)\times\mathbb{R}_+} e^{2\alpha t/h^{\frac{1}{2}}} |\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \leqslant C \|\psi\|^2, \tag{5.58}$$

and

$$\int_{[-L,L)\times\mathbb{R}_+} e^{2\alpha t/h^{\frac{1}{2}}} \left[ \left| \left( -ih\partial_s - t + \mathfrak{f}_0 \right) \psi \right|^2 + h^2 |\partial_t \psi|^2 \right] \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \leqslant Ch \|\psi\|^2.$$
(5.59)

The proof will follow from the same strategy as that of Proposition 5.2.1. Let us consider  $\lambda \in [ah, bh] \cap$ Sp $(\widetilde{\mathscr{L}_h})$  and an associated eigenfunction  $\psi$ . We have

$$\left(\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_h - \lambda\right)\psi = 0. \tag{5.60}$$

We let  $\varphi = e^{\Phi/h^{\frac{1}{2}}}\psi$ , where  $\Phi = \Phi_m(t) = \alpha t \chi(m^{-1}t)$ , with  $m \ge 1$  and  $\chi$  a smooth non-negative function equal to 1 near t = 0. Here  $\alpha > 0$  is to be determined. The parameter m will be sent to  $+\infty$  at the end. This gives that

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\mathscr{Z}_{h}}\psi &= \widetilde{\mathscr{Z}_{h}}e^{-\Phi/h^{\frac{1}{2}}}\varphi \\ &= e^{-\Phi/h^{\frac{1}{2}}}a(s,\check{t})^{-1}\left(-ih\partial_{s}-t+\mathfrak{f}_{0}+\kappa(s)\frac{\check{t}^{2}}{2}\right)a(s,\check{t})^{-1}\left(-ih\partial_{s}-t+\mathfrak{f}_{0}+\kappa(s)\frac{\check{t}^{2}}{2}\right)\varphi \\ &\quad -h^{2}a(s,\check{t})^{-1}\partial_{t}a(s,\check{t})\partial_{t}(e^{-\Phi/h^{\frac{1}{2}}}\varphi) \\ &= e^{-\Phi/h^{\frac{1}{2}}}a(s,\check{t})^{-1}\left(-ih\partial_{s}-t+\mathfrak{f}_{0}+\kappa(s)\frac{\check{t}^{2}}{2}\right)a(s,\check{t})^{-1}\left(-ih\partial_{s}-t+\mathfrak{f}_{0}+\kappa(s)\frac{\check{t}^{2}}{2}\right)\varphi \\ &\quad -h^{2}a(s,\check{t})^{-1}\partial_{t}\left[a(s,\check{t})\left(-\frac{\Phi'}{h^{\frac{1}{2}}}\varphi+\partial_{t}\varphi\right)e^{-\Phi/h^{\frac{1}{2}}}\right] \\ &= e^{-\Phi/h^{\frac{1}{2}}}\left[a(s,\check{t})^{-1}\left(-ih\partial_{s}-t+\mathfrak{f}_{0}+\kappa(s)\frac{\check{t}^{2}}{2}\right)a(s,\check{t})^{-1}\left(-ih\partial_{s}-t+\mathfrak{f}_{0}+\kappa(s)\frac{\check{t}^{2}}{2}\right)\varphi \\ &\quad +a(s,\check{t})^{-1}(hD_{t}+ih^{\frac{1}{2}}\Phi')a(s,\check{t})(hD_{t}+ih^{\frac{1}{2}}\Phi')\varphi\right]. \end{split}$$

The equations (5.60) becomes

$$a(s,\check{t})^{-1}P_{s,h}a(s,\check{t})^{-1}P_{s,h}\varphi + a(s,\check{t})^{-1}(hD_t + ih^{\frac{1}{2}}\Phi')a(s,\check{t})(hD_t + ih^{\frac{1}{2}}\Phi')\varphi = \lambda\varphi,$$

where  $P_{s,h} = -ih\partial_s - t + \mathfrak{f}_0 + \kappa(s)\frac{\check{t}^2}{2}$ . Then, we obtain

$$(\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_h^{\Phi} - \lambda)\varphi = 0,$$

where

$$\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\Phi} = a(s,\check{t})^{-1} P_{s,h} a(s,\check{t})^{-1} P_{s,h} + a(s,\check{t})^{-1} P_{t,h}^{\Phi} a(s,\check{t}) P_{t,h}^{\Phi}, \quad P_{t,h}^{\Phi} = h D_t + i h^{\frac{1}{2}} \Phi'.$$
(5.61)

### 5.6.3.2 Preliminary estimates

Let us consider a function  $t \mapsto \chi_h(t)$  equal to 0 near t = 0 on a neighborhood of size  $h^{\frac{1}{2}}$ . The following lemma is just a commutator estimate.

#### Lemma 5.6.6. We have

$$(\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\Phi}-\lambda)(\chi_{h}\varphi)=-2ih\chi_{h}'P_{t,h}^{\Phi}\varphi-h^{2}\chi_{h}''\varphi-h^{2}\chi_{h}'(a(s,\check{t})^{-1}\partial_{t}[a(s,\check{t})])\varphi.$$

*Proof.* Since  $\chi_h$  does not depend on s, we have

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathscr{L}_{h}^{\Phi} - \lambda)(\chi_{h}\varphi) &= [\mathscr{L}_{h}^{\Phi}, \chi_{h}]\varphi \\ &= [a(s,\check{t})^{-1}P_{s,h}a(s,\check{t})^{-1}P_{s,h} + a(s,\check{t})^{-1}P_{t,h}^{\Phi}a(s,\check{t})P_{t,h}^{\Phi}, \chi_{h}]\varphi \\ &= [a(s,\check{t})^{-1}P_{s,h}a(s,\check{t})^{-1}P_{s,h}, \chi_{h}]\varphi + [a(s,\check{t})^{-1}P_{t,h}^{\Phi}a(s,\check{t})P_{t,h}^{\Phi}, \chi_{h}]\varphi \\ &= [a(s,\check{t})^{-1}P_{t,h}^{\Phi}a(s,\check{t})P_{t,h}^{\Phi}, \chi_{h}]\varphi \\ &= a(s,\check{t})^{-1}[P_{t,h}^{\Phi}a(s,\check{t})P_{t,h}^{\Phi}, \chi_{h}]\varphi \\ &= a(s,\check{t})^{-1}P_{t,h}^{\Phi}a(s,\check{t})[P_{t,h}^{\Phi}, \chi_{h}]\varphi + a(s,\check{t})^{-1}[P_{t,h}^{\Phi}, \chi_{h}]a(s,\check{t})P_{t,h}^{\Phi}\varphi. \end{aligned}$$

Note that  $[P^{\Phi}_{t,h},\chi_h] = -ih\chi'_h$  and thus

$$(\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\Phi} - \lambda)(\chi_{h}\varphi) = -iha^{-1}P_{t,h}^{\Phi}(a\chi_{h}'\varphi) - ih\chi_{h}'P_{t,h}^{\Phi}\varphi$$
$$= -2ih\chi_{h}'P_{t,h}^{\Phi}\varphi - h^{2}a^{-1}\partial_{t}(a\chi_{h}')\varphi.$$

From Lemma 5.6.6, we deduce the following estimate.

Lemma 5.6.7. We have

$$\|(\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\Phi}-\lambda)(\chi_{h}\varphi)\| \leq Ch \|\tilde{\chi}_{h}\varphi\| + Ch \|\chi_{h}'P_{t,h}^{\Phi}\varphi\|,$$

where  $\tilde{\chi}_h$  is bounded uniformly in h and supported in a neighborhood of t = 0 of size  $h^{\frac{1}{2}}$ .

Lemma 5.6.8. We have

$$h\|\chi_h' P_{t,h}^{\Phi}\varphi\| \leq Ch\|\tilde{\chi}_h\varphi\|.$$

*Proof.* First, we notice that

$$h\|\chi_h' P_{t,h}^{\Phi}\varphi\| = h\|\chi_h'(hD_t + ih^{\frac{1}{2}}\Phi')\varphi\| \le h\|\chi_h'(hD_t)\varphi\| + Ch\|\tilde{\chi}_h\varphi\|.$$

$$(5.62)$$

Then, we write

$$0 = \operatorname{Re}\langle (\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\Phi} - \lambda)\varphi, \chi_{h}^{\prime 2}\varphi \rangle_{L^{2}(adsdt)} = \int_{[-L,L)\times\mathbb{R}} a(s,\check{t})^{-1} |P_{s,h}(\chi_{h}^{\prime}\varphi)|^{2} dsdt + \operatorname{Re}\langle P_{t,h}^{\Phi}aP_{t,h}^{\Phi}\varphi, (\chi_{h}^{\prime})^{2}\varphi \rangle_{L^{2}(dsdt)} - \lambda \|\chi_{h}^{\prime}\varphi\|^{2},$$

we obtain,

$$\operatorname{Re}\langle P_{t,h}^{\Phi}aP_{t,h}^{\Phi}\varphi, (\chi_{h}')^{2}\varphi\rangle_{L^{2}(\operatorname{dsd}t)} \leq \lambda \|\chi_{h}'\varphi\|^{2}.$$
(5.63)

By computing commutators (and using the Dirichlet condition due to  $\chi_h'$ ), we get

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Re} &\langle P_{t,h}^{\Phi} a P_{t,h}^{\Phi} \varphi, (\chi'_{h})^{2} \varphi \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathrm{dsdt})} \\ &= \operatorname{Re} \langle P_{t,h}^{\Phi} \varphi, P_{t,h}^{-\Phi} (\chi'_{h})^{2} \varphi \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathrm{adsdt})} \\ &= \operatorname{Re} \langle \chi'_{h} P_{t,h}^{\Phi}(\varphi), P_{t,h}^{-\Phi} (\chi'_{h} \varphi) \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathrm{adsdt})} + \operatorname{Re} \langle P_{t,h}^{\Phi} \varphi, [P_{t,h}^{-\Phi}, \chi'_{h}] \chi'_{h} \varphi \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathrm{adsdt})} \\ &= \operatorname{Re} \langle P_{t,h}^{\Phi} (\chi'_{h} \varphi), P_{t,h}^{-\Phi} (\chi'_{h} \varphi) \rangle + \operatorname{Re} \langle P_{t,h}^{\Phi} \varphi, [P_{t,h}^{-\Phi}, \chi'_{h}] \chi'_{h} \varphi \rangle + \operatorname{Re} \langle [\chi'_{h}, P_{t,h}^{\Phi}] \varphi, P_{t,h}^{-\Phi} (\chi'_{h} \varphi) \rangle \\ &= \operatorname{Re} \langle P_{t,h}^{\Phi} (\chi'_{h} \varphi), P_{t,h}^{-\Phi} (\chi'_{h} \varphi) \rangle + \operatorname{Re} \langle \chi'_{h} P_{t,h}^{\Phi} \varphi, (-ih\chi''_{h}) \varphi \rangle + \operatorname{Re} \langle ih\chi''_{h} \varphi, P_{t,h}^{-\Phi} (\chi'_{h} \varphi) \rangle \\ &= \operatorname{Re} \langle P_{t,h}^{\Phi} (\chi'_{h} \varphi), P_{t,h}^{-\Phi} (\chi'_{h} \varphi) \rangle + \operatorname{Re} \langle P_{t,h}^{\Phi} \chi'_{h} \varphi, (-ih\chi''_{h}) \varphi \rangle - \operatorname{Re} \langle [P_{t,h}^{\Phi}, \chi'_{h}] \varphi, (-ih\chi''_{h}) \varphi \rangle \\ &+ \operatorname{Re} \langle ih\chi''_{h} \varphi, P_{t,h}^{-\Phi} (\chi'_{h} \varphi) \rangle. \end{split}$$

We get

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Re} \langle P^{\Phi}_{t,h} a P^{\Phi}_{t,h} \varphi, (\chi'_{h})^{2} \varphi \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathrm{dsd}t)} &= \operatorname{Re} \langle P^{\Phi}_{t,h}(\chi'_{h}\varphi), P^{-\Phi}_{t,h}(\chi'_{h}\varphi) \rangle + \operatorname{Re} \langle P^{\Phi}_{t,h}(\chi'_{h}\varphi), (-ih\chi''_{h})\varphi \rangle \\ &\quad + \operatorname{Re} \langle ih\chi''_{h}\varphi, P^{-\Phi}_{t,h}(\chi'_{h}\varphi) \rangle + \operatorname{Re} \langle ih\chi''_{h}\varphi, (-ih\chi''_{h})\varphi \rangle, \end{split}$$

and thus

$$\operatorname{Re}\langle P_{t,h}^{\Phi}aP_{t,h}^{\Phi}\varphi,(\chi_{h}')^{2}\varphi\rangle_{L^{2}(\operatorname{dsd}t)} \geq \|hD_{t}(\chi_{h}'\varphi)\|^{2} - C\|\tilde{\chi}_{h}\varphi\|^{2} - C\alpha\|\tilde{\chi}_{h}\varphi\|\|hD_{t}(\chi_{h}'\varphi)\|.$$

By using the Young inequality and (5.63), for  $\alpha$  small enough, this gives

$$\|hD_t(\chi'_h\varphi)\|^2 \leq C \|\tilde{\chi}_h\varphi\|^2$$

Coming back to (5.62), the result follows.

Let us now consider the following operator

$$\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\mathrm{Cyl}} = (-ih\partial_{s} - t + \mathfrak{f}_{0})^{2} - h^{2}\partial_{t}^{2},$$

acting in the ambient Hilbert space  $L^2(\text{Cyl}, dsdt)$ , with  $\text{Cyl} = [-L, L) \times \mathbb{R}$ , with 2*L*-periodic boundary conditions. As we will see,  $\mathscr{L}_h^{\Phi}$  is perturbation of  $\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_h^{\text{Cyl}}$ .

We use the completeness of the orthonormal family  $\left\{e^{\frac{im\pi s}{L}}/\sqrt{2L}\right\}_{m\in\mathbb{Z}}$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}/2L\mathbb{Z})$ . For all  $\varphi \in H^1(\mathbb{R}/2L\mathbb{Z}\times\mathbb{R})$ , we have

$$\varphi(s,t) = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \widehat{\varphi}_t(m) e^{\frac{im\pi s}{L}} = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \psi_m(s,t),$$

where

$$\widehat{\varphi}_t(m) = \frac{1}{2L} \int_{-L}^{L} \varphi(s, t) e^{\frac{-im\pi s}{L}} \,\mathrm{d}s,$$

and

$$\psi_m(s,t) = \widehat{\varphi}_t(m) e^{\frac{im\pi s}{L}}.$$

We have

$$\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\mathrm{Cyl}}\varphi = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \left[ \left( h \frac{\pi m}{L} - t + \gamma_{0} \right)^{2} - h^{2} \partial_{t}^{2} \right] \psi_{m}.$$

Therefore, we may write

$$\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\mathrm{Cyl}} = \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h,n}^{\mathrm{Cyl}}, \quad \widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h,n}^{\mathrm{Cyl}} = \left(h\frac{\pi n}{L} - t + \gamma_0\right)^2 - h^2 \partial_t^2.$$

By translation invariance, we see that  $\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h,n}^{Cyl}$  is unitarily equivalent to the harmonic oscillator and thus that its spectrum is  $\{(2p-1)h, p \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}\}$ . Due our choice of  $\lambda$ , we get that

$$\left\| (\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\mathrm{Cyl}} - \lambda)^{-1} \right\| \leqslant Ch^{-1}.$$
(5.64)

The following lemma shows in which sense  $\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\Phi}$  is a perturbation of  $\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\text{Cyl}}$ . Lemma 5.6.9. Let  $\eta < \frac{1}{2}$ . We have

$$\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\Phi} = \widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\mathrm{Cyl}} + \mathscr{O}(h^{1-2\eta})P_{h} + \mathscr{O}(h^{\frac{1}{2}-\eta})P_{h}^{2} + 2ih^{\frac{1}{2}}\Phi'(hD_{t}) + \mathscr{O}(h)(hD_{t}) - h\Phi'^{2} + o(h),$$

where  $P_h = hD_s - t + \mathfrak{f}_0$ .

*Proof.* From (5.61), we have

$$\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\Phi} = a^{-2}P_{s,h}^{2} + a^{-1}[P_{s,h}, a^{-1}]P_{s,h} + (P_{t,h}^{\Phi})^{2} + a^{-1}[P_{t,h}^{\Phi}, a]P_{t,h}^{\Phi}$$

We recall that  $a(s,\check{t}) = 1 - \check{t}k(s)$ , with  $\check{t} = t\zeta(h^{-\frac{1}{2}+\eta}t)$ , and  $\eta \in (0,\frac{1}{2})$ . We get these estimates

$$a^{-2} = 1 + \mathcal{O}(h^{\frac{1}{2}-\eta}), \quad a^{-1}[P_{s,h}, a^{-1}] = \mathcal{O}(h), \quad a^{-1}[P_{t,h}^{\Phi}, a] = \mathcal{O}(h^{\frac{3}{2}-\eta}).$$

Then, we can write

$$\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\Phi} = P_{s,h}^{2} + (P_{t,h}^{\Phi})^{2} + \mathscr{O}(h^{\frac{1}{2}-\eta})P_{s,h}^{2} + \mathscr{O}(h^{\frac{3}{2}-\eta})P_{t,h}^{\Phi} + \mathscr{O}(h)P_{s,h}$$

Thus,

$$\begin{split} \widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\Phi} &= P_{s,h}^{2} + h^{2}D_{t}^{2} + 2ih^{\frac{1}{2}}\Phi'(hD_{t}) - h\Phi'^{2} + h^{\frac{3}{2}}\Phi'' \\ &+ \mathscr{O}(h^{\frac{1}{2}-\eta})P_{s,h}^{2} + \mathscr{O}(h^{\frac{3}{2}-\eta})P_{t,h}^{\Phi} + \mathscr{O}(h)P_{s,h}, \end{split}$$

and then

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\Phi} &= \widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\mathrm{Cyl}} + \mathscr{O}(h^{1-2\eta})(hD_{s} - t + \mathfrak{f}_{0}) + \mathscr{O}(h^{2-4\eta}) + 2ih^{\frac{1}{2}}\Phi'(hD_{t}) - h\Phi'^{2} + h^{\frac{3}{2}}\Phi'' \\ &+ \mathscr{O}(h^{\frac{1}{2}-\eta})P_{s,h}^{2} + \mathscr{O}(h^{\frac{3}{2}-\eta})P_{t,h}^{\Phi} + \mathscr{O}(h)P_{s,h}. \end{split}$$

We can choose  $\eta$  small enough to obtain the result.

Proposition 5.6.10. We have

$$\|(\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\mathrm{Cyl}} - \lambda + \mathscr{R}_{h})(\chi_{h}\varphi)\| \leq Ch \|\tilde{\chi}_{h}\varphi\| + C\alpha^{2}h\|\chi_{h}\varphi\| + o(h)\|\chi_{h}\varphi\|,$$

where  $\mathscr{R}_h$  is in the form

$$\mathscr{R}_{h} = \mathscr{O}(h^{1-2\eta})P_{h} + \mathscr{O}(h^{\frac{1}{2}-\eta})P_{h}^{2} + 2ih^{\frac{1}{2}}\Phi'(hD_{t}) + \mathscr{O}(h)(hD_{t}).$$

Proof. From Lemmas 5.6.7 and 5.6.8, we get

$$\left\| (\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\Phi} - \lambda)(\chi_{h}\varphi) \right\| \leq Ch \| \tilde{\chi}_{h}\varphi \|_{2}$$

and with Lemma 5.6.9, we deduce the estimate.

### 5.6.3.3 End of the proof of Agmon estimate

From Proposition 5.6.10, we see that we have to estimate the terms

$$P_h(\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_h^{\mathrm{Cyl}} - \lambda)^{-1}, \quad P_h^2(\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_h^{\mathrm{Cyl}} - \lambda)^{-1}, \quad hD_t(\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_h^{\mathrm{Cyl}} - \lambda)^{-1}.$$

This is the aim of the following two lemmas.

Lemma 5.6.11. We have

$$\|P_h(\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_h^{\mathrm{Cyl}} - \lambda)^{-1}\| + \|hD_t(\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_h^{\mathrm{Cyl}} - \lambda)^{-1}\| \leqslant Ch^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$$

*Proof.* Consider  $v \in L^2([-L, L) \times \mathbb{R})$  and  $u = (\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_h^{Cyl} - \lambda)^{-1}v$ . We write

$$(\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_h^{\mathrm{Cyl}} - \lambda)u = v.$$

Taking the inner product with u, we get

$$\begin{split} &(\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\mathrm{Cyl}}-\lambda)u=v\\ &\Rightarrow \langle (\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\mathrm{Cyl}}-\lambda)u,u\rangle = \langle u,v\rangle\\ &\Rightarrow \int_{\mathbb{R}}\int_{\mathbb{S}^{1}}|P_{h}u|^{2}\mathrm{d}s\mathrm{d}t + \int_{\mathbb{R}}\int_{\mathbb{S}^{1}}|hD_{t}u|^{2}\mathrm{d}s\mathrm{d}t = \langle u,v\rangle + \lambda \|u\|^{2}. \end{split}$$

Using that  $\lambda \leq Ch$ ; from Young inequality, we obtain

$$||P_h u||^2 + ||hD_t u||^2 \leq Ch||u||^2 + ||u|||v||.$$

From (5.64) we see that

$$\|u\| = \left\| (\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\mathrm{Cyl}} - \lambda)^{-1} v \right\| \leqslant C h^{-1} \|v\|,$$

then the conclusion follows.

Lemma 5.6.12. We have

$$\|P_h^2(\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_h^{\mathrm{Cyl}} - \lambda)^{-1}\| \leqslant C.$$

*Proof.* Consider  $v \in L^2([-L,L) \times \mathbb{R})$  and  $u = (\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_h^{\mathrm{Cyl}} - \lambda)^{-1}v$ . We have

$$(\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_h^{\mathrm{Cyl}} - \lambda)u = v,$$

so that, by taking the scalar product with  ${\cal P}_h^2 u\,$  we get

$$\langle P_h^2 u, (\widehat{\mathscr{Q}}_h^{\text{Cyl}} - \lambda) u \rangle = \langle P_h^2 u, v \rangle$$
  

$$\Rightarrow \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^1} |P_h^2 u|^2 \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t - \lambda \|P_h u\|^2 - h^2 \langle (P_h)^2 u, \partial_t^2 u \rangle = \langle P_h^2 u, v \rangle$$
  

$$\Rightarrow \|P_h^2 u\|^2 - \lambda \|P_h u\|^2 + h^2 \|P_h \partial_t u\|^2 - 2h^2 \langle \partial_t u, P_h u \rangle = \langle P_h^2 u, v \rangle .$$

Then, we obtain

$$\|P_h^2 u\|^2 \leqslant \lambda \|P_h u\|^2 + 2\langle h^{3/2} \partial_t u, h^{1/2} P_h u \rangle + \langle P_h^2 u, v \rangle.$$

From Young inequality, we obtain

$$||P_h^2 u||^2 \leq \lambda ||P_h u||^2 + h ||hD_t u||^2 + h ||P_h u||^2 + \frac{1}{2} ||P_h^2 u||^2 + \frac{1}{2} ||v||^2.$$

The conclusion follows by using the proof of the previous lemma.

We can now give the proof of Proposition 5.6.5. We see that

$$\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\mathrm{Cyl}} - \lambda + \mathscr{R}_{h} = \left(\mathrm{Id} + \mathscr{R}_{h}(\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\mathrm{Cyl}} - \lambda)^{-1}\right)(\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\mathrm{Cyl}} - \lambda).$$

Thanks to Lemmas 5.6.11 and 5.6.12, we deduce that  $\mathrm{Id} + \mathscr{R}_h (\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_h^{\mathrm{Cyl}} - \lambda)^{-1}$  is bijective and thus so is  $\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_h^{\mathrm{Cyl}} - \lambda + \mathscr{R}_h$  as soon as  $\alpha$  and h are small enough and that

$$\|(\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\mathrm{Cyl}} - \lambda + \mathscr{R}_{h})^{-1}\| \leqslant Ch^{-1}.$$

With Proposition 5.6.10, this implies that

$$\|\chi_h\varphi\| \leq C \|\tilde{\chi}_h\varphi\| + C\alpha^2 \|\chi_h\varphi\| + o(1)\|\chi_h\varphi\|.$$

Let us underline that the constant C does not depend on m. By proceeding as in the proof of Proposition 5.2.1, we deduce that

$$\int_{[-L,L)\times\mathbb{R}_{+}} e^{2\alpha t \chi_{m}(t)/h^{\frac{1}{2}}} |\psi|^{2} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}t \leqslant C \|\psi\|^{2}.$$
(5.65)

By using the Fatou lemma  $(m \to +\infty)$ , we get (5.58). The estimate (5.59) follows from (5.65) and the same considerations as at the end of the proof of Proposition 5.2.1. By using the same considerations as in Proposition 5.6.4, we get the following.

**Proposition 5.6.13.** There exists  $h_0 > 0$  such that for all  $h \in (0, h_0)$  the following holds. Let us consider an interval  $J_h \subset I_h$ . Then, there exists an interval  $\check{J}_h$  such that  $\check{J}_h \subset J_h \subset I_h$  with  $d_H(J_h, \check{J}_h) = \mathcal{O}(h^{\infty})$  and

$$\operatorname{rank} \mathbb{1}_{\check{J}_h}(\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_h) \leqslant \operatorname{rank} \mathbb{1}_{J_h}(\mathscr{L}_h).$$
(5.66)

*Moreover, for all*  $\lambda \in I_h \cap \operatorname{Sp}(\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_h)$ *,* 

$$\operatorname{dist}(\lambda, \operatorname{Sp}(\mathscr{L}_h)) = \mathscr{O}(h^{\infty}).$$
(5.67)

In particular, we have established that the spectra of  $\mathscr{L}_h$  and  $\widetilde{\mathscr{L}}_h$  coincide in  $I_h$  modulo  $\mathscr{O}(h^{\infty})$ .

### 5.6.4 Agmon estimate with Fourier multiplier

We will prove an Agmon estimates compatible with the Fourier multiplier  $Op_{\hbar}^{W}(\Xi(\sigma + \hbar^{-1}\mathfrak{f}_{0}))$ . In order to lighten the notation, we will use a slight abuse of notation by writing

$$\Xi^{\mathrm{W}} := \mathrm{Op}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{W}}(\Xi(\sigma + \hbar^{-1}\mathfrak{f}_{0})).$$
(5.68)

The proof of the following proposition is an adaptation of that of Proposition 5.6.5. Although we did not use the following proposition in our presentation, it should be noted that it is a new result on exponential decay compatible with the Fourier multiplier.

**Proposition 5.6.14.** There exist  $\alpha > 0, C > 0, \hbar_0 > 0$  such that for all  $\hbar \in (0, \hbar_0)$  and all eigenfunctions  $\psi$  of  $\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_h$  associated with an eigenvalue in [a, b], we have

$$\int_{[-L,L)\times\mathbb{R}_+} e^{2\alpha\tau} |\Xi^{\mathsf{W}}\psi|^2 \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}\tau \leqslant C(\|\Xi^{\mathsf{W}}\psi\|^2 + \hbar^2\|\underline{\Xi}^{\mathsf{W}}\psi\|^2 + \hbar^2\|\underline{\Xi}^{\mathsf{W}}\partial_\tau\psi\|^2) + \mathscr{O}(\hbar^\infty)\|\psi\|^2, \quad (5.69)$$

and

$$\int_{[-L,L)\times\mathbb{R}_{+}} e^{2\alpha\tau} \Big[ \big| \big( -i\hbar\partial_{s} - \tau + \hbar^{-1}\mathfrak{f}_{0} \big) \Xi^{W}\psi \big|^{2} + |\partial_{\tau}\Xi^{W}\psi |^{2} \Big] \mathrm{d}s\mathrm{d}\tau \\ \leq C(\|\Xi^{W}\psi\|^{2} + \hbar^{2}\|\underline{\Xi}^{W}\psi\|^{2} + \hbar^{2}\|\underline{\Xi}^{W}\partial_{\tau}\psi\|^{2}) + \mathscr{O}(\hbar^{\infty})\|\psi\|^{2}, \quad (5.70)$$

where  $\underline{\Xi}$  has the same properties as  $\Xi$  and is 1 on support of  $\Xi$ .

*Proof.* Let us consider  $\lambda \in [a, b] \cap \operatorname{Sp}(\widehat{\mathscr{L}_h})$  and an associated eigenfunction  $\psi$ . We have

$$\left(\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_h - \lambda\right)\psi = 0. \tag{5.71}$$

We let  $\varphi = e^{\Phi}\psi$  where  $\Phi = \alpha\tau$  and  $\alpha$  to be determined. Note that we know that the integrals in the left-hand-sides are finite (due to the Agmon estimates). The point is to deal with the microlocal support of the functions in the right-hand-side.

Similarly to (5.61), we can write  $(\widehat{\mathscr{L}_h^\Phi} - \lambda)\varphi = 0$  with

$$\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\Phi} = a(s,\hat{\tau})^{-1} p_{s,\hbar} a(s,\hat{\tau})^{-1} p_{s,\hbar} + a(s,\hat{\tau})^{-1} p_{\tau}^{\Phi} a(s,\hat{\tau}) p_{\tau}^{\Phi}, \qquad (5.72)$$

where  $p_{s,\hbar}$  is given in (5.27) and

$$p_{\tau}^{\Phi} = D_{\tau} + i\Phi'.$$

Let is now consider a function  $t \mapsto \chi(t)$  equal to 0 near t = 0 on a neighborhood of size 1.

Similarly to Lemma 5.6.6, we see that

$$(\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\Phi} - \lambda)(\chi\varphi) = -2i\chi' p_{\tau}^{\Phi}\varphi - \chi''\varphi - \chi'(a(s,\hat{\tau})^{-1}\partial_{\tau}[a(s,\hat{\tau})])\varphi.$$

Then, we apply  $\Xi^{\mathrm{W}}$  and get

$$\begin{aligned} (\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\Phi} - \lambda)(\chi \Xi^{W} \varphi) &= -2i\chi' p_{\tau}^{\Phi} \Xi^{W} \varphi - \chi'' \Xi^{W} \varphi - \Xi^{W} \left( \chi'(a(s,\hat{\tau})^{-1} \partial_{\tau}[a(s,\hat{\tau})]) \varphi \right) \\ &+ [\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\Phi}, \Xi^{W}](\chi \varphi). \end{aligned}$$

Since  $\Phi'$  is bounded, this implies that

$$\begin{aligned} \|(\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\Phi} - \lambda)(\chi \Xi^{W} \varphi)\| &\leq C \|\chi' \Xi^{W} \varphi\| + \|\chi' \partial_{\tau} \Xi^{W} \varphi\| \\ &+ \|\Xi^{W} \left(\chi'(a(s, \hat{\tau})^{-1} \partial_{\tau}[a(s, \hat{\tau})])\varphi\right)\| + \|[\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\Phi}, \Xi^{W}](\chi \varphi)\|. \end{aligned}$$

Thus,

$$\begin{aligned} \|(\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\Phi}-\lambda)(\chi\Xi^{W}\varphi)\| &\leq C\|\tilde{\chi}\Xi^{W}\varphi\| + \|\chi'\partial_{\tau}\Xi^{W}\varphi\| + \|\chi'(\Xi^{W}\left(a(s,\hat{\tau})^{-1}\partial_{\tau}[a(s,\hat{\tau})])\varphi\right)\| \\ &+ \|[\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\Phi},\Xi^{W}](\chi\varphi)\|. \end{aligned}$$

By commuting  $\Xi^{W}$  and  $a(s, \hat{\tau})^{-1} \partial_{\tau}[a(s, \hat{\tau})]$ , we get a pseudo-differential operator (say with respect to s) of order  $\hbar$ , uniformly in  $\tau$ , and thus

$$\|(\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\Phi} - \lambda)(\chi \Xi^{W} \varphi)\| \leq C \|\widetilde{\chi} \Xi^{W} \varphi\| + \|\chi' \partial_{\tau} \Xi^{W} \varphi\| + \|[\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\Phi}, \Xi^{W}](\chi \varphi)\|.$$
(5.73)

Let us estimate the right-hand-side of (5.73). This is the aim of the following two lemmas.

### Lemma 5.6.15. We have

$$\|[\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\Phi},\Xi^{W}](\chi\varphi)\| \leqslant C\hbar\|\underline{\Xi}^{W}(\chi\varphi)\| + C\hbar\|\underline{\Xi}^{W}\partial_{\tau}(\chi\varphi)\| + \mathscr{O}(\hbar^{\infty})\|\varphi\|.$$

*Proof.* The proof is the same as (5.34) in the Proposition 5.3.1.

### Lemma 5.6.16. We have

$$\|\Xi^{W}\chi'\partial_{\tau}\varphi\| \leqslant C\|\tilde{\chi}\Xi^{W}\varphi\| + C\hbar\|\tilde{\chi}\Xi^{W}\varphi\| + C\hbar\|\tilde{\chi}\Xi^{W}\partial_{\tau}\varphi\| + \mathscr{O}(\hbar^{\infty})\|\varphi\|.$$

Proof. The proof follows the same lines as for Lemma 5.6.8. As in the proof of Lemma 5.6.8, we can write

$$\operatorname{Re}\langle (\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{\hbar}^{\Phi} - \lambda) \Xi^{W} \varphi, \chi'^{2} \Xi^{W} \varphi \rangle_{L^{2}(\hat{a}_{\hbar} \mathrm{dsdt})} = \int_{\operatorname{Cyl}} \hat{a}_{\hbar}^{-1} |p_{s,\hbar}(\chi_{h}'(\Xi^{W}\varphi))|^{2} \mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}\tau + \operatorname{Re}\langle p_{\tau}^{\Phi} \hat{a}_{\hbar} p_{\tau}^{\Phi}(\Xi^{W}\varphi), (\chi')^{2}(\Xi^{W}\varphi) \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathrm{d}s \mathrm{d}\tau)} - \lambda \|\chi'\Xi^{W}\varphi\|^{2}, \quad (5.74)$$

and similar commutator estimates provide us with

$$\operatorname{Re}\langle p_{\tau}^{\Phi}\hat{a}_{\hbar}p_{\tau}^{\Phi}(\Xi^{W}\varphi), (\chi')^{2}(\Xi^{W}\varphi)\rangle_{L^{2}(\mathrm{dsd}\tau)} \geq c \|D_{\tau}(\chi'\Xi^{W}\varphi)\|^{2} - C\|\tilde{\chi}\Xi^{W}\varphi\|^{2}.$$
(5.75)

Let us now look at the left-hand-side of (5.74). Thanks to a commutator and by using the eigenvalue equation, we find that

$$\left|\operatorname{Re}\langle (\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\Phi} - \lambda)\Xi^{W}\varphi, \chi'^{2}\Xi^{W}\varphi\rangle_{L^{2}(\hat{a}_{h}\mathrm{dsdt})}\right| \leq C \|\chi'[\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\Phi}, \Xi^{W}]\varphi\| \|\chi'\Xi^{W}\varphi\|.$$

Then, similarly as for Lemma 5.6.15, we have

$$\|\chi'[\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\Phi},\Xi^{W}]\varphi\| \leqslant C\hbar \|\tilde{\chi}\Xi^{W}\varphi\| + C\hbar \|\tilde{\chi}\Xi^{W}\partial_{\tau}\varphi\| + \mathscr{O}(\hbar^{\infty})\|\varphi\|.$$

With the Young inequality, (5.74) and (5.75) give that

$$\|\partial_{\tau}(\chi'\Xi^{W}\varphi)\|^{2} \leqslant C \|\tilde{\chi}\Xi^{W}\varphi\|^{2} + C\hbar^{2}\|\tilde{\chi}\Xi^{W}\varphi\|^{2} + C\hbar^{2}\|\tilde{\chi}\Xi^{W}\partial_{\tau}\varphi\|^{2} + \mathscr{O}(\hbar^{\infty})\|\varphi\|^{2},$$

which implies the desired estimate.

Let us now come back to (5.73). Lemmas 5.6.15 and 5.6.16 imply that

$$\|(\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{\hbar}^{\Phi} - \lambda)(\chi \Xi^{W} \varphi)\| \leq C \|\tilde{\chi} \Xi^{W} \varphi\| + C\hbar \|\chi \underline{\Xi}^{W} \varphi\| + C\hbar \|\tilde{\chi} \underline{\Xi}^{W} \varphi\| + C\hbar \|\chi \underline{\Xi}^{W} \partial_{\tau} \varphi\| + C\hbar \|\tilde{\chi} \underline{\Xi}^{W} \partial_{\tau} \varphi\| + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^{\infty}) \|\varphi\|.$$
(5.76)

Similarly as in Lemma 5.6.9 and Proposition 5.6.10 (in the original coordinates), our rescaled operator  $\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\Phi} - \lambda$  can be written as a perturbation of a bijective operator, whose inverse is bounded uniformly in  $\hbar$ . This shows that

$$\|\chi\Xi^{W}\varphi\| \leq C\|\tilde{\chi}\Xi^{W}\varphi\| + C\hbar\|\chi\Xi^{W}\varphi\| + C\hbar\|\tilde{\chi}\Xi^{W}\varphi\| + C\hbar\|\chi\Xi^{W}\partial_{\tau}\varphi\| + C\hbar\|\tilde{\chi}\Xi^{W}\partial_{\tau}\varphi\| + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^{\infty})\|\varphi\|.$$

In fact, considering again (5.76) and  $\operatorname{Re}\langle(\widehat{\mathscr{L}}_{h}^{\Phi}-\lambda)(\chi\Xi^{W}\varphi),\chi\Xi^{W}\varphi\rangle$ , we infer that

$$\|\chi \Xi^{W} \varphi\| + \|\chi \Xi^{W} \partial_{\tau} \varphi\| \leq C \|\tilde{\chi} \Xi^{W} \varphi\| + C\hbar \|\tilde{\chi} \Xi^{W} \varphi\| + C\hbar \|\tilde{\chi} \Xi^{W} \partial_{\tau} \varphi\| + \mathcal{O}(\hbar^{\infty}) \|\varphi\|,$$

and then

$$\|\Xi^{W}\varphi\| + \|\Xi^{W}\partial_{\tau}\varphi\| \leq C\|\tilde{\chi}\Xi^{W}\varphi\| + C\hbar\|\tilde{\chi}\Xi^{W}\varphi\| + C\hbar\|\tilde{\chi}\Xi^{W}\partial_{\tau}\varphi\| + \mathscr{O}(\hbar^{\infty})\|\varphi\|.$$

Recalling that  $\varphi = e^{\Phi}\psi$  (with  $\Phi'$  small enough) and also that  $\psi$  already satisfies Agmon type estimates, we get

$$\|e^{\Phi}\Xi^{\mathsf{W}}\psi\| + \|e^{\Phi}\Xi^{\mathsf{W}}\partial_{\tau}\psi\| \leq C\|\Xi^{\mathsf{W}}\psi\| + C\hbar\|\underline{\Xi}^{\mathsf{W}}\psi\| + C\hbar\|\underline{\Xi}^{\mathsf{W}}\partial_{\tau}\psi\| + \mathscr{O}(\hbar^{\infty})\|\psi\|.$$



## Appendix

### A.1 Spectral theory

### A.1.1 Spectrum of self-adjoint operators

In the following H denotes a Hilbert space over  $\mathbb{C}$  and T is a self-adjoint operator of domain Dom(T).

**Definition A.1.1.** *The spectrum of the operator* T *is the set noted* Sp(T) *and defined by :* 

$$\operatorname{Sp}(T) = \mathbb{C} \setminus \rho(T)$$

where  $\rho(T) = \{z \in \mathbb{C}, (T-z) \text{ is bijective}\}$  denotes the resolvent set.

Recall that  $\lambda$  is an eigenvalue if there exists a nonzero vector  $u \in \text{Dom}(T)$  such that  $Tu = \lambda u$ . The geometric multiplicity of  $\lambda$  is the dimension of  $\text{Ker}(T - \lambda)$ . Recall the following characterization of the spectrum:

**Definition A.1.2.** The discrete spectrum of the operator T, denoted  $\operatorname{Sp}_{disc}(T)$  is the set of its isolated eigenvalues of finite multiplicity. The essential spectrum of T, denoted  $\operatorname{Sp}_{ess}(T)$ , is given by  $\operatorname{Sp}_{ess}(T) = \operatorname{Sp}(T) \setminus \operatorname{Sp}_{disc}(T)$ .

### A.1.2 Diamagnetic inequality

**Theorem A.1.3** (Diamagnetic inequality). It is assumed that  $f \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$  such that  $(\nabla - ibA)f \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$ . Then  $|f| \in H^1_{loc}(\Omega)$  and

$$\nabla |f| \leq |(\nabla - ibA)f|,$$

almost everywhere, with

$$\nabla |f|(x) = \operatorname{Re}\{\operatorname{sign}(f(x))\nabla f(x)\},\$$

for almost everywhere  $x \in \Omega$ . In particular,

 $\nabla |f| \leqslant |\nabla f|.$ 

The proof of this theorem is in the book of Fournais-Helffer [FH10b].

### A.1.3 Spectral theorem

**Theorem A.1.4** (Spectral theorem). Let T be a self-adjoint operator. For any element z of the resolvent set, we have:

$$||(T-z)^{-1}|| \leq \frac{1}{d(z, \operatorname{Sp}(T))}.$$

This result gives the following corollary, useful in practice:

**Corollary A.1.5.** Let T be a self-adjoint operator. For any  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$  and  $\psi \in \text{Dom}(T)$ , the distance between  $\lambda$  and the spectrum of T verifies the inequality :

$$d(\lambda, \operatorname{Sp}(T)) \|\psi\| \leq \|(T-\lambda)\psi\|.$$

An elementary consequence which will be used quite often is that if we find a good normalized test function  $\psi$  (called quasimode) in Dom(T) and a complex number  $\lambda$  such that, for  $\epsilon > 0$ ,

$$\|(T-\lambda)\psi\| < \epsilon\,,$$

then

 $d(\lambda, \operatorname{Sp}(T)) < \epsilon.$ 

Proof. See for example in Cheverry-Raymond's book [CR21].

**Proposition A.1.6** (Generalized spectral theorem). Let T be a self-adjoint operator and let  $\varepsilon > 0$ . It is assumed that there exists  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$  such that for any  $\psi \in F \subset \text{Dom}(T)$  (where F is an N-dimensional vector subspace), the following inequality exists:

$$\|(T-\lambda)\psi\| \leqslant \varepsilon \|\psi\|.$$

Then, we have

$$\dim \operatorname{Im}(\mathbb{1}_{[\lambda-\varepsilon,\lambda+\varepsilon]}) \geqslant N.$$

*Proof.* See for example the Ph.D thesis of Miqueu [Miq16, Prop. A.8].

### A.1.4 Min-Max principle

**Theorem A.1.7.** Let T be a self-adjoint operator with domain Dom(T). We assume that T is semi-bounded from below. Let Q the quadratic form associated to T with domain Dom(Q). The Rayleigh quotients which are associated with T are defined for all positive natural numbers  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$  by

$$\mu_n = \sup_{u_1, \dots, u_{n-1} \in \text{Dom}(Q)} \left( \inf_{u \in [u_1, \dots, u_{n-1}] \perp \setminus \{0\}} \frac{Q(u)}{\|u\|^2} \right) = \inf_{u_1, \dots, u_n \in \text{Dom}(Q)} \left( \sup_{u \in [u_1, \dots, u_n] \setminus \{0\}} \frac{Q(u)}{\|u\|^2} \right)$$

where  $[u_1, \ldots, u_n]$  is the vector subspace generated by  $u_1, \ldots, u_n$ . Then for any integer  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , we have the following alternative:

- a. The operator T has at least n eigenvalues (counted with multiplicity) under its essential spectrum, and  $\mu_n$  is the n-th eigenvalue (counted with multiplicity).
- b. The quantity  $\mu_n$  corresponds to the bottom of the essential spectrum of the operator T. In this case  $\mu_n = \mu_{n+1} = \ldots$  and the operator T has less than n eigenvalues (counted with multiplicity) under  $\mu_n$ .

### A.2 Pseudo-differential operators with operator valued symbols

We denote a point  $(x, \eta) \in \mathbb{R}^2$  by X. We shall consider a family of Hilbert spaces  $\mathscr{A}_X$ ,  $X \in \mathbb{R}^2$  satisfying:

For all 
$$X \in \mathbb{R}^2$$
,  $\mathscr{A}_X = \mathscr{A}_0(=\mathscr{A})$  as vector space. (A.1)

There exist  $N \ge 0$  and  $C \ge 0$  such that  $||a||_{\mathscr{A}_X} \le C \langle X - Y \rangle^N ||a||_{\mathscr{A}_Y}$  for all  $a \in \mathscr{A}$  and  $X, Y \in \mathbb{R}^2$ . (A.2)

Let  $\mathscr{B}_X$ , be a second family with the same properties.

**Definition A.2.1.**  $S(\mathbb{R}^2; \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{A}_X, \mathscr{B}_X))$  is the set of functions  $p \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2; \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{B}))$  such that, for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^2$ , there exists  $C_{\alpha}$  such that

$$\|\partial^{\alpha} p(X)\|_{\mathscr{L}(\mathscr{A}_{X},\mathscr{B}_{X})} \leqslant C_{\alpha}, \quad X \in \mathbb{R}^{2}.$$
(A.3)

If p depends on the additional parameter  $h \in [0, h_0]$ ,  $h_0 > 0$ , the constant  $C_{\alpha}$  must be uniform in h.

This class can be thought as generalization of the standard class of scalar symbols

$$S_{\mathbb{R}^2}(1) = \{ p \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2_{x,\eta}, \mathbb{C}) : \forall \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^2, \exists C_{\alpha} > 0 : |\partial^{\alpha} p(x,\eta)| \leqslant C_{\alpha} \}$$

to operator-valued symbols. More details can be found in [Ker18, Chapter 2].

**Remark A.2.1.** If the family of norms on  $\mathscr{A}$  and  $\mathscr{B}$  are constants, we denotes  $S(\mathbb{R}^2; \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{A}_X, \mathscr{B}_X))$  by  $S(\mathbb{R}^2; \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{B})).$ 

**Definition A.2.2.** The Weyl quantization of a symbol  $p \in S(\mathbb{R}^2; \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{A}_X, \mathscr{B}_X))$  is the operator, acting on  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}; \mathscr{A})$ , given by the formula

$$\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{W}}(p)\,\psi(x) := \frac{1}{2\pi\hbar} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} e^{i(x-y)\eta/\hbar} p\left(\frac{x+y}{2},\eta\right) \psi(y) \mathrm{d}y \mathrm{d}\eta\,.$$

We also define the standard quantization by the formula

$$\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}(p)\,\psi(x) := \frac{1}{2\pi\hbar} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} e^{i(x-y)\eta/\hbar} p(x,\eta)\psi(y) \mathrm{d}y \mathrm{d}\eta \,.$$

For an introduction to pseudo-differential operators, the reader is referred for instance to [Ker18], where rigorous definitions are given and several fundamental properties are established.

Notation A.2.3. We sometimes note

$$\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{W}}(p) = p^{\mathrm{W}}(x, \hbar D),$$

and

$$\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}(p) = p(x, \hbar D).$$

**Remark A.2.2.** We recall that the operator and its Weyl symbol are related by the following exact formula (see for instance [Ker18, Theorems 2.1.14 & 2.1.15])

$$p(x,\eta) = e^{-i\frac{\hbar}{2}D_x D_\eta} \left[ e^{-ix\cdot\eta/\hbar} \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}(p) \left( e^{i\cdot\eta/\hbar} \right) \right] (x,\eta),$$

where  $e^{-i\frac{\hbar}{2}D_xD_\eta}$  is defined as a Fourier multiplier thanks to the Fourier transform with respect to  $(x, \eta)$ .

**Theorem A.2.4** (Composition). Let  $p \in S(\mathbb{R}^2; \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{B}_X, \mathscr{C}_X))$ , and  $q \in S(\mathbb{R}^2; \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{A}_X, \mathscr{B}_X))$ . Then

 $\operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{W}}(p) \circ \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{W}}(q) = \operatorname{Op}_{\hbar}^{\mathrm{W}}(r),$ 

where  $r \in S(\mathbb{R}^2; \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{A}_X, \mathscr{C}_X))$ , is given by the formula

$$r(X) = p \sharp q(X) := e^{i\frac{\hbar}{2}\sigma(D_X:D_Y)}(p(X)q(Y))|_{Y=X},$$

with  $\sigma$  denotes the usual symplectic form on  $\mathbb{R}^2$  defined by

$$\sigma(X:Y) := \xi y - x\eta,$$

for  $X = (x, \xi), Y = (y, \eta) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ .

*Moreover, for all*  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ *, we have* 

$$r = \sum_{k=0}^{N} \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{i\hbar}{2}\right)^{k} \sigma(D_{X}:D_{Y})^{k} (p(X)q(Y))|_{Y=X} + h^{N+1}r_{N+1},$$

where  $r_{N+1} \in S(\mathbb{R}^2; \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{A}_X, \mathscr{C}_X))$ . In particular.

$$r = p \circ q + \frac{h}{2i} \{p,q\} + \frac{h^2}{8} \left( \{\partial_x p, \partial_\xi q\} - \{\partial_\xi p, \partial_x q\} \right) + h^3 r_3.$$

The  $L^2$ -boundedness can be established exactly as in the scalar case:

**Theorem A.2.5** (Calderón-Vaillancourt). Let  $p \in S(\mathbb{R}^2; \mathscr{L}(\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{B}))$ . Then

$$\operatorname{Op}^{\mathrm{W}}_{\hbar}(p): L^{2}(\mathbb{R}; \mathscr{A}) \to L^{2}(\mathbb{R}; \mathscr{B})$$

is uniformly bounded for  $\hbar \in (0, \hbar_0)$ . More precisely, there exists C, M > 0 such that

$$\|\mathrm{Op}^{\mathrm{W}}_{\hbar}(p)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R})\to L^{2}(\mathbb{R})} \leqslant C \sum_{|\alpha|\leqslant M} h^{|\alpha|/2} \sup_{X\in\mathbb{R}^{2}} \|\partial^{\alpha}p(X)\|_{\mathscr{L}(\mathscr{A},\mathscr{B})}$$

**Remark A.2.3.** We can generalize the results of this section to symbols in more general spaces, as in [Ker18, Chapter 2].

### **Perspectives**

We discuss the different perspectives and questions raised by this thesis.

### I. Robin electro-magnetic Laplacian

Consider the semiclassical electromagnetic Schrödinger operator on a smooth, bounded, and simply connected open Euclidean domain  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $d \ge 2$ 

$$\mathscr{L}_{h,V} = (-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A})^2 + hV,$$

with domain given by

$$\operatorname{Dom}(\mathscr{L}_{h,V}) = \{ \psi \in H^1(\Omega) : (-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A})^2 \psi \in L^2(\Omega), -ih\mathbf{n} \cdot (-ih\nabla - \mathbf{A})\psi = \gamma h^{\frac{3}{2}} \psi \text{ on } \partial\Omega \},\$$

where **A** is a smooth real magnetic vector potential, V is a smooth *complex* scalar potential, **n** is the outward pointing normal to the boundary, and  $\gamma$  is a smooth coefficient. In dimension 2, when V = 0, and with  $\gamma \in \mathbf{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ , we established a uniform description of the spectrum of  $\mathscr{L}_{h,0}$  located between the Landau levels.

Many interesting questions that naturally arise in the theory of superconductivity could be the subject of future research.

- \* We can analyse the effect of an electric field and of the Robin condition on the behavior of the magnetic eigenvalues of  $\mathscr{L}_{h,V}$  and the associated eigenfunctions when the semiclassical parameter h tends to zero. Of course, some conditions must be imposed on the magnetic field  $\mathbf{B} = \text{curl}\mathbf{A}$  and the potential V to understand this question. We might find a pseudo-differential operator that would allow us to describe the spectrum. It is not obvious that our method [Fah23a, FLTRVuN23] can be directly adapted, but it opens up possibilities for such a study.
- \* In my research, we consider only the case of a smooth domain  $\Omega$ . The most physically relevant areas would instead contain singularities, such as corners. Using the strategy developed in [BP16] (in the non-magnetic Robin case), it would be quite interesting to analyze the behavior of the principal eigenvalue of  $\mathscr{L}_{h,V}$ , in domains with corners. One could also study the bottom of the essential spectrum on the associated tangent structures given by the cones. A natural question that does not seem obvious concerns the semi-continuity property of the eigenvalue.

### **II.** Schrödinger operators with electric potentials

Let  $\Omega$  be a smooth open bounded and connected domain of  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $N \ge 2$ . We consider the N-dimensional Stark Hamiltonian with Dirichlet boundary conditions in  $L^2(\Omega)$ 

$$\mathscr{L}_h := -h^2 \Delta + x_1.$$

In [Fah23b], thanks to decay estimates and the reduction to model operators, we established a full asymptotic expansion of the low-lying eigenvalues, and we also shown that their eigenfunctions are localized near the potential minimum.

It is possible to prove asymptotic expansions of the low-lying eigenvalues of the Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{L}_h$ , if we replace the potential  $x_1$  by  $V(\mathbf{x})$ , where V is a smooth real potential satisfies some additional conditions.

Assumption 3. We assume the following :

*1. V* has a unique minimum non degenerate  $\mathbf{x}_0 \in \partial \Omega$ .

2. 
$$\nabla V(\mathbf{x}_0) \cdot \nu(\mathbf{x}_0) = \frac{\partial V}{\partial \nu}(\mathbf{x}_0)$$
 ("normal derivative") < 0.

Under these conditions, we can deduce :

**Theorem.** For any positive n, there exists a real sequence  $\{\zeta_{j,n}\}_{j\geq 0}$  such that, for any positive  $M \in \mathbb{N}$ , we have

$$\lambda_n(h) \underset{h \to 0}{=} V(\mathbf{x}_0) + z_1 (\nabla V(\mathbf{x}_0) \cdot \nu(\mathbf{x}_0))^{\frac{2}{3}} h^{\frac{2}{3}} + \beta_n h + h^{7/6} \sum_{j=0}^M h^{j/6} \zeta_{j,n} + \mathscr{O}(h^{\frac{7}{6} + \frac{M+1}{6}}),$$

with  $\beta_n$  is the *n*-th eigenvalue of the harmonic oscillator in dimension N-1

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N-1} -\partial_{u_i}^2 + \frac{\Lambda_i}{2} u_i^2,$$

where  $\Lambda_i$  are the eigenvalues of the matrix  $G(0)^{-1}H$ , G the induced metrics on  $\partial\Omega$ , and  $H = \text{Hess}_{s=0}V \circ \phi$ with  $\phi$  denoting the embedding of  $\partial\Omega$  in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  such that  $\phi(0) = \mathbf{x}_0$ .

Firstly, we can show that the low energy eigenfunctions will be localized around  $x_0$ . We can quantify this thanks to classical Agmon estimates. We use this to find an effective Hamiltonian on a tiny domain around  $x_0$ .

Secondly, we can introduce local boundary coordinates in the neighborhood of  $\mathbf{x}_0 \in \partial \Omega$  in order to straighten a portion of the boundary. Let  $\phi$  denote the embedding of  $\partial \Omega$  in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and G the induced metrics on  $\partial \Omega$ . If dist $(\mathbf{x}, \partial \Omega) \leq \delta$ , for  $\delta$  sufficiently small, we introduce the diffeomorphism  $\Phi$  defined by the formula

$$\mathbf{x} = \Phi(s, t) = \phi(s) - t\nu(\phi(s)),$$

where  $\nu(\mathbf{x})$  is the unit outward pointing normal vector at the point  $\mathbf{x} \in \partial\Omega$ , t is the distance to the boundary and  $s = (s_1, \ldots, s_{N-1})$  is the tangential variable on  $\partial\Omega$ . We assume that  $\mathbf{x}_0 = \Phi(0, 0)$ . Thanks to the Agmon estimates in coordinates (s, t), the operator  $\mathscr{L}_h$  is expressed formally in coordinates (s, t) as :

$$\mathscr{L}_{h} = V(\mathbf{x}_{0}) - h^{2}\partial_{t}^{2} - \nabla V(\mathbf{x}_{0}) \cdot \nu(\mathbf{x}_{0})t - h^{2}\Delta^{G(0)} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{d^{2}}{ds^{2}}V(\phi)|_{s=0}(s)(s) + \mathscr{O}(h^{\frac{7}{6}}),$$

where  $\Delta^{G(0)}$  is the Laplace-Beltrami operator on  $\partial\Omega$  in the neighborhood of  $\mathbf{x}_0$ .

We assume the following :

- 1.  $\nabla V(\mathbf{x}_0) \cdot \nu(\mathbf{x}_0) = \frac{\partial V}{\partial \nu}(\mathbf{x}_0) < 0.$
- 2.  $\frac{d^2}{ds^2}V(\phi)|_{s=0} := H$  is positive definite matrix, *i.e.*  $\mathbf{x}_0$  is a non degenerate minimum of V.

Under these conditions, our analysis can be adapted to get

$$\lambda_n(h) =_{h \to 0} V(\mathbf{x}_0) + z_1 (\nabla V(\mathbf{x}_0) \cdot \nu(\mathbf{x}_0))^{\frac{2}{3}} h^{\frac{2}{3}} + \beta_n h + \mathcal{O}(h^{\frac{7}{6}}),$$

where  $\beta_n$  is the *n*-th eigenvalue of the harmonic oscillator in dimension N-1

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N-1} -\partial_{u_i}^2 + \frac{\Lambda_i}{2} \, u_i^2 \,,$$

where  $\Lambda_i$  are the eigenvalues of the matrix  $G(0)^{-1}H$ . The full asymptotic expansion can be computed, by constructing a sequence of trial states (quasimodes) as Section 4.4.

It would be interesting to study somme related spectral questions.

- \* We could improve and generalize the results obtained in [Fah23b]. Moreover, under these conditions for V in the semiclassical limit, we could to apply other advanced methods of reduction (the so-called Grushin's method), microlocal analysis, and the use of pseudo differential calculus techniques used in [FLTRVuN23], and we could be able to find a uniform description of the spectrum of  $\mathscr{H}_h = -h^2\Delta + V(\mathbf{x})$  (not only the bottom of the spectrum) by establishing a Weyl estimate  $N(\mathscr{H}_h, h^{\frac{2}{3}}E)$ , which is the number of eigenvalues of  $\mathscr{H}_h$  below the energy level  $h^{\frac{2}{3}}E$  where E is close to the absolute value of the second zero of the Airy function.
- \* Our strategy can be adapted to deal with a finite number of non-degenerate minima, and it would even be possible to study the tunnel effects when these minima have symmetries. We could establish the asymptotic formula for the splitting of the first two eigenvalues (tunneling effect) and give an approximation of the eigenfunctions by the WKB expansions.
- \* Replacing the potential V by W, where W is a smooth complex electric potential, we have a nonselfadjoint operator  $-h^2\Delta + W$  (lack of a "spectral theorem"). Going from the self-adjoint case to the non-self-adjoint case is rarely anecdotal, and it requires doing really different things. Under some assumptions about W, by a uniform resolvent estimate, one could fully understand the behavior of the eigenvalues (not only the left margin of the spectrum as in [HA19]).

# **Publication**

#### Title : "Magnetic perturbations of the Robin Laplacian in the strong coupling limit".

<u>Abstract</u>: This paper is devoted to the asymptotic analysis of the eigenvalues of the Laplace operator with a strong magnetic field and Robin boundary condition on a smooth planar domain and with a negative boundary parameter. We study the singular limit when the Robin parameter tends to infinity which is equivalent to a semi-classical limit involving a small positive semi-classical parameter. The main result is a comparison between the spectrum of the Robin Laplacian with an effective operator defined on the boundary of the domain via the Born-Oppenheimer approximation. More precisely, the low-lying eigenvalue of the Robin Laplacian is approximated by the those of the effective operator. When the curvature has a unique non-degenerate maximum, we estimate the spectral gap and find that the magnetic field does not contribute to the three-term expansion of the eigenvalues. In the case of the disc domains, the eigenvalue asymptotics displays the contribution of the magnetic field explicitly.

Lien: https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0101330, published in the Journal of Mathematical Physics.

<u>Title</u>: "On the semi-classical analysis of Schrödinger operators with linear electric potentials in a bounded domain".

<u>Abstract</u>: The aim of this paper is to improve the asymptotic expansion of the eigenvalues of the Laplace operator, with strong uniform electric field and Dirichlet boundary conditions on a smooth bounded domain of  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . This work aims at generalizing the recent results of Cornean, Krejčiřík, Pedersen, Raymond and Stockmeyer in dimension 2. More precisely, in dimension N, in the strong electric field limit, we derive, under certain local convexity conditions, a full asymptotic expansion of the low-lying eigenvalues. To establish our main result, we perform the construction of quasi-modes that will make it possible to obtain the upper bounds for the eigenvalues. The "optimality" of our constructions is then established thanks to reduction to model operators and localization estimates.

Lien: https://doi.org/10.3233/ASY-231848, in press, to appear in the journal Asymptotic Analysis.

#### <u>Title</u> : "Edge states of the Robin magnetic Laplacian".

<u>Abstract</u>: This article tackles the spectral analysis of the Robin Laplacian on a smooth bounded twodimensional domain in the presence of a constant magnetic field. In the semiclassical limit, a uniform description of the spectrum located between the Landau levels is obtained. The corresponding eigenfunctions, called edge states, are exponentially localized near the boundary. By means of a microlocal dimensional reduction, our unifying approach allows to refine simultaneously old results about the low-lying eigenvalues in the Robin case and recent ones about edge states in the Dirichlet case.

## **Bibliographie**

- [AGH18] Y. Almog, D. S. Grebenkov, and B. Helffer. Spectral semi-classical analysis of a complex Schrödinger operator in exterior domains. J. Math. Phys., 59(4) :041501, 12, 2018. https: //doi.org/10.1063/1.4999625.
- [AGH19] Y. Almog, D. S. Grebenkov, and B. Helffer. On a Schrödinger operator with a purely imaginary potential in the semiclassical limit. *Comm. Partial Differential Equations*, 44(12):1542–1604, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1080/03605302.2019.1646281.
  - [AH14] Y. Almog and B. Helffer. Global stability of the normal state of superconductors in the presence of a strong electric current. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 330(3):1021–1094, 2014. https: //doi.org/10.1007/s00220-014-1970-8.
- [BEL14] J. Behrndt, P. Exner, and V. Lotoreichik. Schrödinger operators with δ- and δ'-interactions on Lipschitz surfaces and chromatic numbers of associated partitions. *Rev. Math. Phys.*, 26(8):1450015, 43, 2014. https://doi.org/10.1142/S0129055X14500159.
- [BL96] A. Bendali and K. Lemrabet. The effect of a thin coating on the scattering of a timeharmonic wave for the Helmholtz equation. SIAM J. Appl. Math., 56(6) :1664–1693, 1996. https://doi.org/10.1137/S0036139995281822.
- [BLTRS23] J.-M. Barbaroux, L. Le Treust, N. Raymond, and E. Stockmeyer. On the Dirac bag model in strong magnetic fields. *To appear in Pure Appl. Anal.*, 2023.
- [BMCE83] G. Bastard, E. E. Mendez, L. L. Chang, and L. Esaki. Variational calculations on a quantum well in an electric field. *Phys. Rev. B*, 28 :3241–3245, 1983. https://link.aps.org/ doi/10.1103/PhysRevB.28.3241.
- [BNHR16] V. Bonnaillie-Noël, F. Hérau, and N. Raymond. Magnetic WKB constructions. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 221(2):817–891, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00205-016-0987-x.
- [BNHR22] V. Bonnaillie-Noël, F. Hérau, and N. Raymond. Purely magnetic tunneling effect in two dimensions. *Invent. Math.*, 227(2) :745–793, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00222-021-01073-x.
  - [BO27] M. Born and R. Oppenheimer. Zur Quantentheorie der Molekeln. Annalen der Physik, 389(20):457-484, 1927. https://doi.org/10.1002/andp.19273892002.
  - [Bol92] C. Bolley. Modélisation du champ de retard à la condensation d'un supraconducteur par un problème de bifurcation. *RAIRO Modél. Math. Anal. Numér.*, 26(2) :235–287, 1992. https://doi.org/10.1051/m2an/1992260202351.

- [BP16] V. Bruneau and N. Popoff. On the negative spectrum of the Robin Laplacian in corner domains. Analysis & PDE, 9(5):1259–1283, 2016.
- [BPT98] P. Bauman, D. Phillips, and Q. Tang. Stable nucleation for the Ginzburg-Landau system with an applied magnetic field. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., 142(1):1–43, 1998. https: //doi.org/10.1007/s002050050082.
- [BS98] A. Bernoff and P. Sternberg. Onset of superconductivity in decreasing fields for general domains. J. Math. Phys., 39(3):1272–1284, 1998. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.532379.
- [CKP<sup>+</sup>22a] H. Cornean, D. Krejčiřík, T. G. Pedersen, N. Raymond, and E. Stockmeyer. On the twodimensional quantum confined Stark effect in strong electric fields. SIAM J. Math. Anal., 54(2):2114–2127, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1137/20M1386712.
- [CKP<sup>+</sup>22b] H. Cornean, D. Krejčiřík, T. G. Pedersen, N. Raymond, and E. Stockmeyer. Stark-localization as a probe of nanostructure geometry. *New Journal of Physics*, 24(9) :093005, 2022.
  - [CR21] C. Cheverry and N. Raymond. A guide to spectral theory—applications and exercises. Birkhäuser Advanced Texts : Basler Lehrbücher. [Birkhäuser Advanced Texts : Basel Textbooks]. Birkhäuser/Springer, Cham, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-67462-5.
  - [CTDL21] C. Cohen-Tannoudji, B. Diu, and F. Laloë. Mécanique quantique-tome 1. pages 1–88. EDP Sciences, 2021.
    - [DBP99] S. De Bièvre and J.V. Pulé. Propagating edge states for a magnetic Hamiltonian. *Math. Phys. Electron. J.*, 5 :Paper 3, 17, 1999.
    - [dG66] P.G. de Gennes. Superconductivity of metals and alloys. 1966.
    - [DH93a] M. Dauge and B. Helffer. Eigenvalues variation. I. Neumann problem for Sturm-Liouville operators. J. Differential Equations, 104(2):243–262, 1993. https://doi.org/10.1006/ jdeq.1993.1071.
    - [DH93b] M. Dauge and B. Helffer. Eigenvalues variation. II. Multidimensional problems. J. Differential Equations, 104(2):263–297, 1993. https://doi.org/10.1006/jdeq.1993.1072.
  - [dPFS00] M. del Pino, P. L. Felmer, and P. Sternberg. Boundary concentration for eigenvalue problems related to the onset of superconductivity. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 210(2) :413–446, 2000. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002200050786.
    - [DR12] M. Dauge and N. Raymond. Plane waveguides with corners in the small angle limit. J. Math. Phys., 53(12) :123529, 34, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4769993.
    - [DS99] M. Dimassi and J. Sjöstrand. Spectral asymptotics in the semi-classical limit, volume 268 of London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1999. https://doi.org/10.1017/CB09780511662195.
    - [Dui74] J. J. Duistermaat. Oscillatory integrals, lagrange immersions and unfolding of singularities. Communications on Pure and Applied Mathematics, 27(2) :207–281, 1974. https:// onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/cpa.3160270205.
    - [DV21] A. Deleporte and S. Vũ Ngọc. Uniform spectral asymptotics for semiclassical wells on phase space loops. *Indag. Math.*, 32(1):3–32, 2021. https://perso.univ-rennes1.fr/san. vu-ngoc/articles/puits-circulaire.pdf.

- [EMP14] P. Exner, A. Minakov, and L. Parnovski. Asymptotic eigenvalue estimates for a Robin problem with a large parameter. *Port. Math.*, 71(2):141–156, 2014. https://doi.org/10.4171/ PM/1945.
- [Fah23a] R. Fahs. Magnetic perturbations of the Robin Laplacian in the strong coupling limit. J. Math. Phys., 64(4):042104, 22, 2023. https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0101330.
- [Fah23b] R. Fahs. On the semi-classical analysis of Schrödinger operators with linear electric potentials in a bounded domain, to appear in Asymptotic Analysis. 2023. https://doi.org/10. 3233/ASY-231848.
- [FH06] S. Fournais and B. Helffer. Accurate eigenvalue asymptotics for the magnetic Neumann Laplacian. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble), 56(1):1–67, 2006. http://aif.cedram.org/ item?id=AIF\_2006\_56\_1\_1\_0.
- [FH10a] R. P. Feynman and A. R. Hibbs. *Quantum mechanics and path integrals*. Dover Publications, Inc., Mineola, NY, emended edition, 2010.
- [FH10b] S. Fournais and B. Helffer. Spectral methods in surface superconductivity, volume 77 of Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and their Applications. Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 2010.
- [FHKR22] S. Fournais, B. Helffer, A. Kachmar, and N. Raymond. Effective operators on an attractive magnetic edge. arxiv : 2207.13391, 2022.
  - [FJ69] H.J. Fink and W.C. Joiner. Surface nucleation and boundary conditions in superconductors. *Physical Review Letters*, 23(3):120, 1969.
  - [FK15] P. Freitas and D. Krejčiřík. The first Robin eigenvalue with negative boundary parameter. *Adv. Math.*, 280:322–339, 2015. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aim.2015.04.023.
- [FLTRVuN23] R. Fahs, L. Le Treust, N. Raymond, and S. Vũ Ngọc. Edge states for the Robin magnetic Laplacian, in preparation, to appear soon on arxiv. 2023.
  - [GH18] D. S. Grebenkov and B. Helffer. On spectral properties of the Bloch-Torrey operator in two dimensions. SIAM J. Math. Anal., 50(1) :622–676, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1137/ 16M1088387.
  - [GP99] T. Giorgi and D. Phillips. The breakdown of superconductivity due to strong fields for the Ginzburg-Landau model. SIAM J. Math. Anal., 30(2):341–359, 1999. https://doi.org/ 10.1137/S0036141097323163.
  - [Gri11] P. Grisvard. Elliptic problems in nonsmooth domains, volume 69 of Classics in Applied Mathematics. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (SIAM), Philadelphia, PA, 2011. https://doi.org/10.1137/1.9781611972030.ch1.
  - [GV21] A. Giunti and J. J. L. Velázquez. Edge states for the magnetic Laplacian in domains with smooth boundary. SIAM J. Math. Anal., 53(3) :3602–3643, 2021. https://doi.org/10. 1137/20M1370471.
  - [HA19] B. Helffer and Y. Almog. The spectrum of a Schrödinger operator in a wire-like domain with a purely imaginary degenerate potential in the semiclassical limit. *Mémoires de la Société Mathématique de France*, 2019.

- [Hal82] B.I. Halperin. Quantized hall conductance, current-carrying edge states, and the existence of extended states in a two-dimensional disordered potential. *Phys. Rev. B*, 25 :2185–2190, 1982. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevB.25.2185.
- [Har09] V.A. Harutyunyan. Cylindrical nanolayer in the strong uniform electrical field : The field localization of carriers and electrooptical transitions. *Physica E : Low-dimensional Systems* and Nanostructures, 41(4):695–700, 2009. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physe.2008. 11.011.
- [Hel88] B. Helffer. Semi-classical analysis for the Schrödinger operator and applications, volume 1336 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1988. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/BFb0078115.
- [Hel13] B. Helffer. *Spectral theory and its applications*, volume 139 of *Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2013.
- [HK09] H. Haug and S. W. Koch. Quantum theory of the optical and electronic properties of semiconductors. World Scientific Publishing Co. Pte. Ltd., Hackensack, NJ, fifth edition, 2009. https://doi.org/10.1142/7184.
- [HK17] B. Helffer and A. Kachmar. Eigenvalues for the Robin Laplacian in domains with variable curvature. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 369(5) :3253–3287, 2017. https://doi.org/10. 1090/tran/6743.
- [HK22] B. Helffer and A. Kachmar. Semi-classical edge states for the Robin Laplacian. Mathematika, 68(2):454–485, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1112/mtk.12134.
- [HKR17] B. Helffer, A. Kachmar, and N. Raymond. Tunneling for the Robin Laplacian in smooth planar domains. *Commun. Contemp. Math.*, 19(1):1650030, 38, 2017. https://doi.org/ 10.1142/S0219199716500309.
- [HM01] B. Helffer and A. Morame. Magnetic bottles in connection with superconductivity. J. Funct. Anal., 185(2):604–680, 2001. https://doi.org/10.1006/jfan.2001.3773.
- [HM04] B. Helffer and A. Morame. Magnetic bottles for the Neumann problem : curvature effects in the case of dimension 3 (general case). Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4), 37(1) :105–170, 2004. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ansens.2003.04.003.
- [HP03] B. Helffer and X.-B. Pan. Upper critical field and location of surface nucleation of superconductivity. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré C Anal. Non Linéaire, 20(1) :145–181, 2003. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0294-1449(02)00005-7.
- [HP15] B. Helffer and K. Pankrashkin. Tunneling between corners for Robin Laplacians. J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2), 91(1):225–248, 2015. https://doi.org/10.1112/jlms/jdu070.
- [HR82] B. Helffer and D. Robert. Asymptotique des niveaux d'énergie pour des hamiltoniens à un degré de liberté. *Duke Math. J.*, 49(4) :853–868, 1982. http://projecteuclid.org/ euclid.dmj/1077315534.
- [HR84] B. Helffer and D. Robert. Puits de potentiel généralisés et asymptotique semi-classique. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Phys. Théor., 41(3):291–331, 1984. http://www.numdam.org/item? id=AIHPB\_1984\_41\_3\_291\_0.

- [HS84] B. Helffer and J. Sjostrand. Multiple wells in the semi-classical limit i. Communications in Partial Differential Equations, 9(4):337–408, 1984. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 03605308408820335.
- [HV16] P. Harrison and A. Valavanis. *Quantum wells, wires and dots : theoretical and computational physics of semiconductor nanostructures.* John Wiley & Sons, 2016.
- [Inc26] E.L. Ince. Ordinary differential equations dover, new york, 1956. Dover, New York, 1926.
- [Jac07] V. Jacques. Source de photons uniques et interférences à un seul photon. De l'expérience des fentes d'Young au choix retardé. PhD thesis, École normale supérieure de Cachan-ENS Cachan, 2007.
- [Jec14] T. Jecko. On the mathematical treatment of the Born-Oppenheimer approximation. J. Math. Phys., 55(5):053504, 26, 2014. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4870855.
- [Kac06a] A. Kachmar. On the ground state energy for a magnetic Schrödinger operator and the effect of the de Gennes boundary condition. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, 342(9):701–706, 2006. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crma.2006.03.001.
- [Kac06b] A. Kachmar. On the ground state energy for a magnetic Schrödinger operator and the effect of the De Gennes boundary condition. *Journal of mathematical physics*, 47(7):072106, 2006. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.2424790.
- [Kac07] A. Kachmar. Problèmes aux limites issus de la supraconductivité : estimations semiclassiques et comportement asymptotique des solutions. PhD thesis, Univ. Paris Saclay, 2007.
- [Kac08] A. Kachmar. Weyl asymptotics for Magnetic schrödinger operators and de Gennes'boundary condition. *Reviews in Mathematical Physics*, 20(08) :901–932, 2008.
- [Kac16] A. Kachmar. Diamagnetism versus Robin condition and concentration of ground states. *Asymptot. Anal.*, 98(4):341–375, 2016. https://doi.org/10.3233/ASY-161372.
- [Kat76] T. Kato. *Perturbation theory for linear operators*. Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 132. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, second edition, 1976.
- [Ker18] P. Keraval. Formules de Weyl par réduction de dimension : application à des Laplaciens électromagnétiques. PhD thesis, Rennes 1, 2018.
- [KKR16] A. Kachmar, P. Keraval, and N. Raymond. Weyl formulae for the Robin Laplacian in the semiclassical limit. *Confluentes Math.*, 8(2):39–57, 2016. https://doi.org/10.5802/ cml.32.
- [KL22] A. Kachmar and V. Lotoreichik. On the isoperimetric inequality for the magnetic Robin Laplacian with negative boundary parameter. J. Geom. Anal., 32(9) :Paper No. 237, 2, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12220-022-00974-4.
- [KMSW92] M. Klein, A. Martinez, R. Seiler, and X. P. Wang. On the Born-Oppenheimer expansion for polyatomic molecules. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 143(3) :607–639, 1992. http: //projecteuclid.org/euclid.cmp/1104249085.

- [KR14] D. Krejčiřík and N. Raymond. Magnetic effects in curved quantum waveguides. Ann. Henri Poincaré, 15(10):1993–2024, 2014. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00023-013-0298-9.
- [KRRS18] D. Krejčiřík, N. Raymond, J. Royer, and P. Siegl. Reduction of dimension as a consequence of norm-resolvent convergence and applications. *Mathematika*, 64(2):406–429, 2018. https: //doi.org/10.1112/S0025579318000013.
  - [KS20] A. Kachmar and M. P. Sundqvist. Counterexample to strong diamagnetism for the magnetic Robin Laplacian. *Math. Phys. Anal. Geom.*, 23(3) :Paper No. 27, 15, 2020. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11040-020-09350-6.
  - [Küh15] W. Kühnel. Differential geometry. Curves Surfaces Manifolds, volume 77. American Mathematical Society, 2015. http://dx.doi.org/10.1090/stml/077.
  - [LB03] P. Lévy-Bruhl. Introduction à la théorie spectrale : cours et exercices corrigés. Dunod Paris, 2003.
  - [LL66] L. Landau and E. Lifchitz. *Physique théorique. Tome III : Mécanique quantique. Théorie non relativiste.* Éditions Mir, Moscow, 1966.
  - [LL77] L.D. Landau and E. Lifshitz. Quantum mechanics, pergamon, oxford. 1977.
  - [LL01] E. Lieb and M. Loss. Analysis, volume 14 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, second edition, 2001. https://doi.org/10.1090/ gsm/014.
  - [LM54] P. D. Lax and A. N. Milgram. Parabolic equations. In *Contributions to the theory of partial differential equations*, Annals of Mathematics Studies, no. 33, pages 167–190. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1954.
  - [LOS98] A. A. Lacey, J. R. Ockendon, and J. Sabina. Multidimensional reaction diffusion equations with nonlinear boundary conditions. SIAM J. Appl. Math., 58(5):1622–1647, 1998. https: //doi.org/10.1137/S0036139996308121.
    - [LP99] K. Lu and X.-B. Pan. Eigenvalue problems of Ginzburg-Landau operator in bounded domains. J. Math. Phys., 40(6):2647–2670, 1999. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.532721.
    - [LP00] K. Lu and X.-B. Pan. Surface nucleation of superconductivity in 3-dimensions. J. Differential Equations, 168(2):386–452, 2000. https://doi.org/10.1006/jdeq.2000.3892.
    - [LP08] M. Levitin and L. Parnovski. On the principal eigenvalue of a Robin problem with a large parameter. *Math. Nachr.*, 281(2) :272–281, 2008. https://doi.org/10.1002/mana. 200510600.
  - [LS05] J. Lee and H. N. Spector. Stark effect in the optical absorption in quantum wires. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 97(4):043511, 2005. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1849430.
- [LSIC04] S. J. Lee, S. Souma, G. Ihm, and K. J. Chang. Magnetic quantum dots and magnetic edge states. *Physics Reports*, 394(1):1–40, 2004. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physrep. 2003.11.004.
  - [LT13] J. Lampart and S. Teufel. The adiabatic limit of the Laplacian on thin fibre bundles. In *Microlocal methods in mathematical physics and global analysis*, Trends Math., pages 33–36. Birkhäuser/Springer, Basel, 2013. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-0348-0466-0\_8.

- [Mar02] A. Martinez. An introduction to semiclassical and microlocal analysis. Universitext. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2002. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4757-4495-8.
- [MCD<sup>+</sup>84] D. Miller, D. Chemla, T.C. Damen, A. Gossard, W. Wiegmann, T. Wood, and C. Burrus. Band-edge electroabsorption in quantum well structures : The quantum-confined Stark effect. *Physical Review Letters*, 53(22) :2173, 1984.
  - [Miq16] J.-P. Miqueu. Étude des états fondamentaux du Laplacien magnétique avec annulation locale du champ. PhD thesis, Université de Rennes 1, 2016.
  - [Mir23] G. Miranda. Non-monotonicity of the first eigenvalue for the 3d magnetic Robin Laplacian. *Archiv der Mathematik*, 2023. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00013-023-01848-z.
  - [MM94] A. Martinez and B. Messirdi. Resonances of diatomic molecules in the Born-Oppenheimer approximation. *Comm. Partial Differential Equations*, 19(7-8) :1139–1162, 1994. https: //doi.org/10.1080/03605309408821048.
  - [MS02] A. Martinez and V. Sordoni. A general reduction scheme for the time-dependent Born-Oppenheimer approximation. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, 334(3):185–188, 2002. https: //doi.org/10.1016/S1631-073X(02)02212-4.
  - [NS05] Y. Netrusov and Y. Safarov. Weyl asymptotic formula for the Laplacian on domains with rough boundaries. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 253(2):481–509, 2005. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s00220-004-1158-8.
  - [OB14] T. Ourmières-Bonafos. *Quelques asymptotiques spectrales pour le Laplacien de Dirichlet : triangles, cônes et couches coniques.* PhD thesis, Université Rennes 1, 2014.
  - [Pan04] X. B. Pan. Surface superconductivity in 3 dimensions. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 356(10):3899–3937, 2004. https://doi.org/10.1090/S0002-9947-04-03530-5.
  - [Pan13] K. Pankrashkin. On the asymptotics of the principal eigenvalue for a Robin problem with a large parameter in planar domains. *Nanosystems : Physics, Chemistry, Mathematics*, 4:474– 483, 2013.
  - [Ped17] T. G. Pedersen. Stark effect in finite-barrier quantum wells, wires, and dots. New Journal of Physics, 19(4):043011, apr 2017. https://doi.org/10.1088/1367-2630/aa6499.
  - [Ped19] T.G. Pedersen. Stark effect in spherical quantum dots. Phys. Rev. A, 99 :063410, 2019. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevA.99.063410.
  - [PP15] K. Pankrashkin and N. Popoff. Mean curvature bounds and eigenvalues of Robin Laplacians. Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations, 54(2):1947–1961, 2015. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s00526-015-0850-1.
  - [PP16] K. Pankrashkin and N. Popoff. An effective Hamiltonian for the eigenvalue asymptotics of the Robin Laplacian with a large parameter. J. Math. Pures Appl. (9), 106(4):615–650, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matpur.2016.03.005.
  - [PST03] G. Panati, H. Spohn, and S. Teufel. Space-adiabatic perturbation theory. Adv. Theor. Math. Phys., 7(1):145–204, 2003. http://projecteuclid.org/euclid.atmp/1112627977.
- [PST07] G. Panati, H. Spohn, and S. Teufel. The time-dependent Born-Oppenheimer approximation. M2AN Math. Model. Numer. Anal., 41(2):297–314, 2007. https://doi.org/10.1051/ m2an:2007023.
- [Ray09] N. Raymond. Sharp asymptotics for the Neumann Laplacian with variable magnetic field : case of dimension 2. Ann. Henri Poincaré, 10(1) :95–122, 2009. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s00023-009-0405-0.
- [Ray17] N. Raymond. Bound states of the magnetic Schrödinger operator, volume 27 of EMS Tracts in Mathematics. European Mathematical Society (EMS), Zürich, 2017. https://doi.org/ 10.4171/169.
- [Rob87] D. Robert. Autour de l'approximation semi-classique, volume 68 of Progress in Mathematics. Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 1987.
- [Rou15] Damien Roulier. Production et détection de neutrons ultra-froids pour le spectromètre GRANIT. PhD thesis, Université Grenoble Alpes, 2015.
- [Roz75] G. V. Rozenblum. Near-similarity of pseudodifferential systems on the circle. *Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR*, 223(3) :569–571, 1975.
- [RPM99] J. Reijniers, F. M. Peeters, and A. Matulis. Quantum states in a magnetic antidot. *Phys. Rev. B*, 59 :2817–2823, Jan 1999. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevB.59.2817.
  - [RS78] M. Reed and B. Simon. *Methods of modern mathematical physics. IV. Analysis of operators*. Academic Press [Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, Publishers], New York-London, 1978.
- [Sch26] E. Schrödinger. Quantisierung als eigenwertproblem. *Annalen der physik*, 385(13):437–490, 1926.
- [SJdG63] D. Saint-James and P.-G. de Gennes. Onset of superconductivity in decreasing fields. *Physics Letters*, 7(5):306–308, 1963. https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9163(63)90047-7.
  - [SN90] B. Sukumar and K. Navaneethakrishnan. Polarizability of a carrier in an isolated well of a quantum-well wire. *Phys. Rev. B*, 41 :12911–12914, 1990. https://link.aps.org/doi/ 10.1103/PhysRevB.41.12911.
  - [Teu03] S. Teufel. Adiabatic perturbation theory in quantum dynamics, volume 1821 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2003. https://doi.org/10.1007/b13355.
- [Tho79] J. A. Thorpe. *Elementary Topics in Differential Geometry*. Springer New York, NY, 1979. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-6153-7.
- [Uch77] K. Uchiyama. Quelques résultats de (non) monotonie des valeurs propres du problème de neumann. Journal of the Faculty of Science, the University of Tokyo. Sect. 1 A, Mathematics, 24 :281–294, 1977. https://doi.org/10.15083/00039696.
- [VdCMS03] G. J. Vázquez, M. del Castillo-Mussot, and H. N. Spector. Transverse Stark effect of electrons in a semiconducting quantum wire. *physica status solidi* (b), 240(3):561–564, 2003. https: //doi.org/10.1002/pssb.200301865.

- [VN00] S. Vũ Ngọc. Bohr-Sommerfeld conditions for integrable systems with critical manifolds of focus-focus type. Communications on Pure and Applied Mathematics, 53(2):143–217, 2000. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0312(200002)53: 2<143::AID-CPA1>3.0.CO;2-D.
- [WKH13] S. Wang, Y. Kang, and C. Han. Transverse Stark effect in the optical absorption in a square semiconducting quantum wire. *Journal of Semiconductors*, 34(10) :102001, 2013. https://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1674-4926/34/10/102001.
  - [WT14] J. Wachsmuth and S. Teufel. Effective Hamiltonians for constrained quantum systems. *Mem. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 230(1083) :vi+83, 2014.
- [WWY07] G. Wei, H. Wu, and G. Yi. Transverse Stark effect in a rectangular semiconducting quantum wire. *physica status solidi* (b), 244(12) :4651–4659, 2007. https://doi.org/10.1002/ pssb.200743045.
- [WWY08] G. Wei, S. Wang, and G. Yi. Stark effect of electrons in semiconducting rectangular quantum boxes. *Microelectronics Journal*, 39(5):786–791, 2008. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. mejo.2007.12.012.
  - [Zwo12] M. Zworski. Semiclassical analysis, volume 138 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1090/gsm/138.





Titre : Influence des conditions de Robin sur le spectre du Laplacien magnétique.

**Mot clés :** théorie spectrale, analyse microlocale, limite semiclassique, Laplacien magnétique, condition de Robin, estimation d'Agmon.

**Résumé :** Cette thèse concerne l'étude spectrale dans le régime semi-classique de l'opérateur de Schrödinger en présence d'un champ magnétique sur un domaine borné et régulier avec condition de Robin au bord. L'objectif est de décrire l'influence des conditions de Robin sur le spectre magnétique lorsque le paramètre semi-classique tend vers zéro et lorsque le champ magnétique joue un rôle majeur en concurrence avec la condition de Robin. La description précise des éléments propres passe par la compréhension de différents opérateurs modèles.

Dans la première partie, lorsque le champ magnétique est d'intensité modérée et dans la limite du couplage fort, on montre que les valeurs propres du Laplacien de Robin sont bien approchées par celles d'un opérateur de Schrödinger périodique 1D sur la frontière. Lorsque la courbure a un unique maximum non dégénéré, on estime l'écart spectral entre les valeurs propres successives. Dans le cas du disque, on révèle explicitement la contribution du champ magnétique sur la première valeur propre.

Dans la deuxième partie, on étudie l'effet de Stark en toutes les dimensions. On considère l'opérateur de Laplace avec un champ électrique fort et uniforme et des conditions de Dirichlet sur le bord d'un domaine borné et régulier. Dans la limite du champ électrique fort, on dérive, sous certaines conditions de convexité locale, une description précise des valeurs propres et des fonctions propres associées.

Dans la troisième partie, lorsque le champ magnétique est plus intense, et dans la limite semiclassique, en utilisant la méthode de Grushin et les outils d'analyse microlocale, on établit une description uniforme du spectre du Laplacien magnétique de Robin situé entre les niveaux de Landau, incluant les Laplaciens de Neumann et Dirichlet. De plus, on examine les propriétés de localisation des états fondamentaux. Les estimations ressemblent à celles d'Agmon, mais elles ne sont pas obtenues par des moyens variationnels comme c'est le cas dans de nombreux contextes magnétiques.

Title: Influence of Robin's conditions on the spectrum of the magnetic Laplacian.

**Keywords:** spectral theory, microlocal analysis, semiclassical limit, magnetic Laplacian, Robin condition, Agmon estimates.

**Abstract:** This thesis concerns the spectral study in the semiclassical regime of the Schrödinger operator in the presence of a magnetic field on a bounded and regular domain with the Robin condition at the boundary. The aim is to describe the influence of the Robin conditions on the magnetic spectrum when the semiclassical parameter tends to zero and when the magnetic field plays an important role in competition with the Robin condition. The precise description of the eigenpairs requires an understanding of effective operators.

In the first part, when the magnetic field is of moderate intensity and in the strong coupling limit, we show that the eigenvalues of the Robin Laplacian are well approximated by those of a 1D periodic Schrödinger operator on the boundary. When the curvature has a unique maximum that is not degenerate, we estimate the spectral gap between successive eigenvalues. In the case of the disk, we explicitly display the contribution of the magnetic field to the first eigenvalue.

In the second part, we study the Stark effect in any dimension. We consider the Laplace operator with a strong and uniform electric field and Dirichlet conditions at the boundary of a bounded and regular domain. In the limit of the strong electric field, under certain local convexity conditions, we derive an asymptotic expansion of the low-lying eigenvalues at any order and also study the localization of the ground states.

In the third part, when the magnetic field is stronger, and in the semiclassical limit, we establish a uniform description of the spectrum between the Landau levels, of the magnetic Robin Laplacian including the Neumann and Dirichlet Laplacians, using the Grushin method and microlocal analysis tools. We also investigate the localization properties of the ground states. The estimates look like Agmon's estimates, but they are not obtained via variational methods, as is the case in many magnetic settings.